

UNIVERSITÉ CATHOLIQUE DE LOUVAIN ICTEAM INSTITUTE ECOLE POLYTECHNIQUE DE LOUVAIN ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

MICROWAVE LABORATORY

WIDE BAND AND NOISE CHARACTERIZATION OF VARIOUS MOSFETS FOR OPTIMIZED USE IN RF CIRCUITS

Mostafa Emam

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of *Docteur en Sciences d'Ingénieur*

Dissertation committee: Prof. D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier (ICTEAM, UCLouvain, Belgium), co-adviser Prof. F. Danneville (IEMN, USTL, France), co-adviser Prof. J.-P. Raskin (ICTEAM, UCLouvain, Belgium), member Prof. J.-P. Colinge (Tyndall National Institute, Ireland), member Prof. J.-L. Gautier (ENSEA Cergy, France), member Dr. P. Scheer (ST-Microelectronics, France), member Prof. M. Verleysen (ICTEAM, UCLouvain, Belgium), President

November 2010

WIDE BAND AND NOISE CHARACTERIZATION OF VARIOUS MOSFETS FOR OPTIMIZED USE IN RF CIRCUITS

Mostafa Emam

ICTEAM Institute Ecole Polytechnique de Louvain Electrical Engineering Department Microwave laboratory



Université catholique de Louvain Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)

To my parents, to my wife, and to my daughter

CONTENTS

Acknowledgments			xiii	
A	bstrac	xvii		
A	cronyı	\mathbf{ms}		xix
List of Symbols				xxi
A	uthor'	s Publi	ication List	xxvii
1	Intro	oductio	on	1
2	Vari	ous M	OSFET Structures	3
	2.1	MOS	FET	3
	2.2	SOI a	and Bulk	6
	2.3	Partia	ally- and Fully-Depleted	9
	2.4	DNW	Bulk	10
	2.5	Float	ing-Body and Body-Tied Structures	11
	2.6	Dyna	mic Threshold MOSFET (DTMOS)	13
		2.6.1	DTMOS Operation	15
		2.6.2	Channel Engineering of DTMOS	18
		2.6.3	Effect of Different Gate Structures	19
			Modeling of DTMOS	20
	2.7	GCM		20
	2.8	Sumn	nary of Devices-under-Test	22
3	Wid	e band	and High Temperature Characterization	33
	3.1	Meas	urement Setup	34
		3.1.1	Calibration	36
		3.1.2	De-Embedding	38
	3.2	DC C	Characterization	39
		3.2.1	Threshold Voltage	39
		3.2.2	Current-Voltage Characteristics	44
				vii

viii contents

		3.2.3	Maximum Transconductance	47
		3.2.4	Subthreshold Slope	49
		3.2.5	$I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ Ratio	53
		3.2.6	Leakage Current	54
		3.2.7	Zero Temperature Coefficient	59
	3.3	Analo	og Characterization	64
		3.3.1	Transconductance to Drain Current Ratio $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$	66
		3.3.2	Early Voltage $V_{\rm EA}$	69
	3.4	RF C	haracterization	71
		3.4.1	Cutoff Frequencies	72
		3.4.2	Extrinsic Resistances	79
		3.4.3	Intrinsic Elements	81
	3.5	Concl	lusion	87
4	Low	Voltag	ge Low Power Characterization	99
	4.1	Abov	e Threshold Operation	100
		4.1.1	At Room Temperature	100
		4.1.2	At High Temperatures	104
	4.2	Sub-7	Threshold Operation	106
		4.2.1	Operation below ZTC_{am}	108
	4.3	Concl		111
5	Non	linear	Characterization	117
	5.1	Intro	duction	117
	5.1		nearity	117
	0.2	5.2.1	Harmonic Distortion	110
		5.2.1	Gain Compression	113
		5.2.3	Desensitization and Blocking	121
		5.2.4	Cross Modulation	122
		5.2.5	Intermodulation	123
	5.3		ral Function Method	123
	0.0	5.3.1	Mathematical Basis	127
		5.3.2	Harmonic Distortions	130
		5.3.3	Intermodulation Distortions	130
		5.3.4	Voltage Intercept Points	131
		5.3.5	Extension to Higher Frequencies	131
	5.4		nearities in MOSFETs	132
			GMOS and Classical nMOS	132

5.4.2 High Temperature 5.5 Conclusion	135 138 141 143 143
	138 141 143 143
0.0 Conclusion	141 143 143
	143 143
6 Thermal Noise Characterization	143
6.1 What is Noise?	-
6.1.1 Definition	
6.1.2 Types of Noise	144
6.2 Thermal Noise in MOSFETs	145
6.2.1 Introduction	145
6.2.2 Different Representations	146
6.3 Models of Thermal Noise	152
6.3.1 Three-parameter model	153
6.3.2 Two-parameter model	154
6.3.3 One-parameter model	154
6.3.4 Summary	155
6.4 Thermal Noise Measurements	155
6.4.1 Concept	155
6.4.2 Tuner Method	156
6.4.3 F50 Method	157
6.5 Thermal Noise in GCMOS	160
6.5.1 Introduction	160
6.5.2 TCAD Simulations	162
6.5.3 Analytical Explanation	163
6.5.4 Measurements	164
6.5.5 Intrinsic Noise Performance	166
6.5.6 Extrinsic Noise Performance	170
6.5.7 Validity of the Two-parameter Model	172
6.5.8 Scaling	176
6.6 Conclusion	177
7 RF Antenna Switch	193
7.1 Introduction	193
7.2 Circuit Design	194
7.2.1 Insertion Loss and Isolation	195
7.2.2 Power Handling	196
7.3 Layout	197
7.4 Operation	199
7.5 Measurement Setup	199

X CONTENTS

	7.6	Room Temperature Measurements	200
	7.7	High Temperature Measurements	205
	7.8	Simulation	207
		7.8.1 Transistors in Common Gate Configuration	208
		7.8.2 Eldo Simulations of Common Gate Transistors	209
		7.8.3 Measurements versus Simulations	209
		7.8.4 Effect of Metal Lines	210
		7.8.5 Simple Simulation Approach	213
	7.9	Linearity Measurements	217
		7.9.1 Gain Compression P_{1-dB}	218
		7.9.2 Third Intercept Point IP_3	219
	7.10	Conclusion	221
8	Con	clusions	225
	8.1	General Remarks	225
	8.2	Applicability	228
	8.3	The design of a Low Noise Amplifier	229
	8.4	Conclusion	230
Appendix A: De-Embedding: S-Parameters			243
A	opend	ix B: De-Embedding: Noise	249
	B.1	Theoretically	249
	B.2	Practically	251
	B.3	Intrinsic Noise Parameters	252
A	opend	ix C: Transformation of Electrical Matrices	253
Appendix D: Noise Matrices			257
A	Appendix E: Analytical Formula for the Intrinsic Associated Gain		
A	opend	ix F: F_{50} Calculation	263
F.1 Simplified Expression		0.60	
	F.1	Simplified Expression	263
	F.1 F.2	Exact Equation (with pads)	$\frac{263}{265}$

	CONTENTS	xi
Appendix G: Noise Measurements: Tuner Calibration		267

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All praise is due to ALLAH, the almighty, for giving me the strength and power to start and finish this work.

Words are incapable of expressing my gratitude and thankfulness to my mother Yousr Abdel-Mawgoud and my father Mohammad Emam. Every day and every hour of my life are marked with their love, care, sacrifice, education, example, encouragement, guidance and support. I cannot by all means and all words reward them for what they have done for me. The values that they taught me helped me to go through so many difficulties in my life, and for this thesis I mention the patience and dedication that I learned from my mother and the wisdom and hard work that I learned from my father. The pride that I see in their eyes and hear in their voices every time I achieve something, even a paper accepted in a small conference, is the main fuel for my motivation and enthusiasm to finish this PhD, and to finish it to the quality that deserve their pride.

I would not have finished this thesis if it were not for my wife, *Dina*. The love, patience and support that she gave me during these four years were unprecedented. So many days and nights by herself in a country far away from her family because I was either away at a conference on the other side of the world or in the characterization room for overnight measurements. So many days and nights in which I was under a lot of stress, especially during the months of writing the thesis. She has always been there to support, encourage, relief, help and even discuss and advise scientifically. Also her experience in the analog and digital circuit design were of great help for me. Despite the difficulties of pregnancy during the last nine months of my PhD, she always provided the adequate environment for me to finalize this work and write my thesis. She has always been there to raise my morale with her lovely words and she has always been proud of me.

I would like to sincerely thank *Prof. Danielle Vanhoenacker-Janvier*, my adviser, for giving me the chance to do this PhD and for the four great years I spent in the microwave laboratory under her supervision. The help and support she gave me, both scientifically and administratively, and her guidance through the PhD provided the environment for progress and success.

I would like also to express my thanks and appreciation for *Prof. François* Danneville, my co-adviser at the IEMN (Lille, France), for accepting and

encouraging this joint work. It has been a great honor to have worked with him during three months each year. I feel that what I have learned from Prof. Danneville during this short period in the field of RF noise is, for me, a standalone PhD of high quality. The long discussions that we had in his office constitute a landmark in my life, both scientifically and personally.

Although not officially an adviser, I have always considered *Prof. Jean-Pierre Raskin* as a co-adviser of this thesis. In fact, I am indebted to him for the opportunity of doing the PhD in the microwave laboratory at UCL. Since the first day we met during an interview in 2005, he showed confidence and trust in me, which inspired me to conduct my PhD studies here at UCL, even if not under his supervision. The belief and support that he gave my spin-off project since the beginning made it come true at the end. I believe that the values and qualities that I learned from Prof. Raskin during these four years, besides the scientific knowledge, will stay with me throughout my life.

I would like to sincerely thank the dissertation committee, *Prof. Jean-Pierre Colinge*, *Prof. Jean-Luc Gautier*, *Dr. Patrick Scheer* and *Prof. Michel Verleysen* for accepting to be members of this committee, for the time they took to read this thesis and for the very valuable advice, comments and corrections that they gave during the private defense. I specifically thank Prof. Jean-Pierre Colinge and Prof. Jean-Luc Gautier for the reports they wrote about this thesis.

I cannot forget my elder brother *Hesham* and my younger brother *Yasser*. Despite the thousands of kilometers that physically separate us now, I have always felt like we are as close as we have always been since our early childhood. They have always been there to encourage, to support and to show me how proud they are of me. The love they have shown me, the dreams that we have shared together, the beautiful moments that we have spent together and the family warmth that have always filled our home have defined me as a person and are the reasons behind my success today, which is actually "our" success.

I will never forget the support, encouragement and advice of my father-in-law, *Heidar Kamel.* He always tried to impart on me his long experience in life and his wisdom and he was always proud of my achievements. My special thanks also go to my mother-in-law *Mona* and my brother-in-law *Abdel Fattah* for their continuous support and encouragement. My sincere appreciation for their morale and sentimental support towards my wife and myself during these four years far away from home.

The fact that I am presenting a PhD thesis today in the field of microelectronics and device characterization is owed to two key people in my personal and scientific life; my uncle *Magdy Abdel-Mawgoud* and *Prof. Wael Fikry*. The first has always been my inspiration since I was a young boy. I do not even remember when I decided to be an electrical engineer like my uncle Magdy. The advice that he gave me since I was a kid and later when I became a student at the faculty of engineering have always guided me.

Prof. Wael Fikry, from Ain Shams University (Cairo, Egypt) is a rare example of professors. Since I first met him in my first year of electrical engineering I have been learning something new each time I meet him. He taught me the basics of electronic devices and physics and he taught me all about characterization and on-wafer measurements. I feel that what I learned from him during the many hours of discussion in his office or in his home is priceless, both on the personal and the scientific levels.

I cannot forget my friends, *Mohamed Abu-Rahma* and *Hani Gamal*. We started the same road together in the faculty of engineering, Ain Shams university in 1996, and we are still close. Thank you so much for these long years of support and encouragement, for what you have added to my personality, for the advice along the years and for your availability at any time and under any circumstances to help and support me.

I would like to pay special thanks to *Pascal Simon*, the technical manager of the characterization platform at UCL. The time, effort, patience, training and troubleshooting that he was willing to give at all times were a cornerstone in my work.

I would like also to sincerely thank Dr. Paulius Sakalas (Dresden University of Technology, Germany) for the great help with the RF noise measurements which constitute a key element of this thesis. I am also grateful to Prof. Michael Schroter for giving me access to the facilities of the CEDIC laboratory.

This work would not have seen the light if it were not for the help and cooperation, not only scientifically but also emotionally, from all my colleagues. At UCL, I would like to thank my colleagues in the microwave laboratory especially César Roda Neve (who helped me a lot with Matlab scripts and who is my partner in my First Spin-Off project) and Samer Houri (who started with me on the same day and in the same office) for many scientific discussions and brainstorming. I would like to thank Majid El Kaamouchi and Mehdi Si Moussa with whom I started my research work at UCL and who helped me to get on track and with several publications. Special thanks also goes to Julio Tinoco for all the time, help and discussions on the extraction techniques of MOSFET small-signal equivalent circuit, to Vikram Passi for the long discussions and exchange and to Pat Chambers for his kind willingness to help me. I would like to thank Prof. Isabelle Huynen and Prof. Claude Oestges from the microwave laboratory. I would like also to thank my colleagues Dirk Adang, Khairuddin Arshad, Stéphane Burignat, Mouloud Challal, Khaled Ben Ali, Dragos Dancila, Stéphanie Eggermont, Nizabat Khan, Lingfing Lieu, Francesco Mani, Isabel Molenberg, Belén Montenegro, Benoît Olbrechts, Ibtissem Oueriemi, Olivier

Renaudin, Stanislas Sobieski, Judith Spiegel, Azeem Zulfiqar, Marie-Christine Vandingenen, François Hubin, David Spot and Nicolas Focant.

Also at the Microelectronics laboratory (UCL) I would like to express my appreciation to *Prof. Denis Flandre* for scientific discussions and guidance and to *Valeriya Kilchytska* for many fruitful scientific discussions and brainstorming.

At the IEMN, I would like to thank *Prof. Gilles Dambrine*, the former head of the Anode group and the current vice president of the IEMN. I would like also to thank *Sylvie Lepilliet* for the RF noise measurements. I also thank my colleagues in the Anode group (for the scientific discussions and the free/coffee time we spent together) especially *Raphaël Valentin*, *Nicolas Waldhoff*, *Tao Chuan Lim*, *Albert Noudeviwa*, *Laurianne Nougaret*, *Aurélien Olivier*, *Estelle Mairiaux*, *Laurent Poulain*, *Thiam Ndeye Arame* and *Nan Meng*.

I acknowledge the Walloon Region for the financial support of this work through the CORMORAN project.

Finally, I would like to conclude with the joy and light of my life, my daughter *Mona*, who accompanied me through the last year of my thesis and for giving me double the happiness since her birth coincided with the approval of my thesis.

Mostafa Emam

November 24, 2010

ABSTRACT

Wireless, portable and performance are becoming the keywords for both the consumer electronics and the telecommunication markets. These key requirements are very demanding on the circuit design level as well as on the technology level. In fact, the circuit design is no more separated from the technology. The passage from *micro*-electronic to *nano*-electronic devices was accompanied by a great deal of revolutionary enhancements and modifications of device modeling. In order to meet the new challenges of advanced applications and circuit designs, it is indispensable for the device model to approach from the device physics, as opposed to the empirical models known earlier. This leads, *de facto*, to a more complicated device model. As a result, a good circuit designer should coercively comprehend the device physics. A profound research is indeed compulsory in this gray area between the circuit design and the device characterization conventional areas.

The first keyword, *wireless*, is intuitively interpreted by electronics engineers to RF. The term RF being an old notation of *radio frequency* is now the synonym of any high frequency application, circuit, or device. By high frequency, engineers refer to the frequency range starting from few hundreds of mega hertz to the tera hertz range. Advanced applications tend to adopt one or more forms of wireless communication schemes. Many standards already exist which include GSM, WLAN, WiFi, WiMax ... etc. Nevertheless, the inclusion of the wireless feature requires area, power and cost. These requirements contradict the second keyword; portable.

Portability compels a smaller product that consumes less power, and hence has longer battery life time. Theoretically, an optimum portable product is not optimized in terms of *performance*. Fortunately, the continuous down scaling of transistors made it possible to include enormous number of transistors on a single small chip, thus more functions and better performance. Yet, increasing the number of transistors yields to higher power consumption and certainly shorter battery life time. Another challenge is to be able to efficiently include the wireless functionality on the same chip. It is well known that digital circuitry will interfere with the analog/RF circuitry in the form of what is known as crosstalk resulting in many problems not to mention malfunctioning of the application.

Silicon-on-Insulator SOI technology is introduced as an excellent candidate to overcome the problem of crosstalk through an enhanced device isolation. SOI also provides the possibility of using high resistive substrates that help to reduce losses. Thus, the use of lower power signals becomes possible and longer battery life times can be achieved.

In this context, the work of this PhD thesis is devoted to:

xviii ABSTRACT

- provide the link between the device engineering/characterization domain and the circuit design domain, pronouncedly for RF applications. This is achieved through an elaborated research of already existing transistor structures (floating-body and body-tied) as well as new structures (graded channel). Different technologies such as bulk, partially-depleted SOI, and fully-depleted SOI are also considered. Based on a complete flow (design of layout to on-wafer measurements), a detailed comparison of all mentioned variations of transistors is presented in order to render the RF circuit designer with adequate information for a successful RF product.
- $-\,$ cover the whole area of operation of the device:
 - In terms of frequency, the device characterization phase starts from dc to 40 GHz. The small-signal equivalent circuit is extracted (intrinsic and extrinsic parts). A specific tool has been developed to facilitate the extraction steps and also to verify the extracted parameters and the extraction procedures. All dc, ac, and RF figures of merit are then readily compared.
 - Nonlinear performance including harmonic distortion and intermodulation figures of merit are extracted using the well known Integral Function Method (IFM).
 - High-frequency noise performance is studied in detail. Based on Tuner measurements, a profound analytical interpretation and the extraction of the parameters of different models are achieved. A validation of the adequacy of specific noise models to specific transistor structures is presented.
 - Low voltage low power regime of operation is highlighted and compared for different transistor structures as a necessary requirement of new portable applications.
 - High-temperature dc and RF performances are measured and compared. Temperature range of 25°C to 250°C is considered. This includes dc, ac, RF, and nonlinear performances.
- apply the acquired knowledge and results from the device characterization phase to a sample RF circuit, namely the RF antenna switch, in order to prove and show the advantages/drawbacks of different characterized structures/technologies. This includes the design, simulation, layout, and on-wafer measurement steps. The figures of merit of RF antenna switches (isolation and insertion-loss) are then compared for different switches built using different transistor structures and technologies.

At the end of this complete cycle (from device engineering to circuit testing), the PhD thesis is meant to serve as a guideline for circuit designers to show the optimum operation regimes and conditions for a specific transistor structure.

ACRONYMS

BOX	Buried oxide
BT	Body-Tied
CMOS	Complementary metal-oxide semiconductor
DIBL	Drain-induced barrier lowering
DT	Dynamic Threshold
FB	Floating-Body
FBE	Floating Body Effects
FD	Fully-Depleted
HF	High Frequency
ISS	Impedance Standard Substrate
LVLP	Low Voltage Low Power
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor
PD	Partially-Depleted
RF	Radio Frequency
SOI	Silicon-on-Insulator

LIST OF SYMBOLS

A_{v0}	Low-frequency open-loop gain (intrinsic gain)	
$B_{\rm cor}$	Noise correlation susceptance $(\Im(Y_{cor}))$	Ω^{-1}
B_{opt}	Noise optimum susceptance $(\Im(Y_{\text{opt}}))$	Ω^{-1}
$B_{\rm s}$	Noise source susceptance $(\Im(Y_s))$	Ω^{-1}
C_A	Noise correlation matrix for chain representation	
C_Y	Noise correlation matrix for admittance representation	
C_Z	Noise correlation matrix for impedance representation	_
C_{bd}	Body-to-drain capacitance	fF/mm
$C_{\rm bs}$	Body-to-source capacitance	fF/mm
C_{D}	Channel depletion-layer capacitance	$\rm fF/\mu m^2$
$C_{\rm ds}$	Drain-to-source capacitance	fF/mm
$C_{\rm gs}$	Gate-to-source capacitance	fF/mm
$C_{ m gd}$	Gate-to-drain capacitance	fF/mm
$C_{ m gg}$	Total gate capacitance	fF/mm
$C_{\rm it}$	Capacitance associated with interface traps	$\mathrm{fF}/\mathrm{\mu m}$
$C_{\rm OFF}$	Drain-to-source OFF capacitance	fF/mm
C_{ox}	Gate oxide capacitance	$\rm fF/\mu m^2$
$C_{\rm ox1}$	Front gate oxide capacitance	${\rm fF}/{\mu { m m}^2}$
$C_{\rm ox2}$	Back gate/buried oxide capacitance	$\rm fF/\mu m^2$
C_{p}	Pad capacitances	${\rm fF}/{\mu { m m}^2}$
$C_{ m si}$	Depleted silicon film capacitance	$\mathrm{fF}/\mu\mathrm{m}^2$

xxii List of Symbols

$C_{ m tot}$	Total gate capacitance including pad capacitances	$\mathrm{fF}/\mathrm{\mu m^2}$
$\Delta A_{\rm d}$	Impedance field of the drain which represents the noise propagation	
$\Delta A_{\rm g}$	Impedance field of the gate which represents the induced noise propagation	
ΔS	Variation of subthreshold slope with temperatu	ıre %∕°C
ΔV_T	Variation of threshold voltage with temperatur	$e mV/^{o}C$
$D_{\rm n}$	Electron diffusion coefficient	cm^2/s
$\overline{e^2}$	Spectral density of voltage noise source	V^2/Hz
$E_{\rm g}$	Energy gap	eV
$\varepsilon_{ m Si}$	Silicon permittivity (= 1.04×10^{-12})	F/cm
F_{50}	Noise figure for a system with a source of 50 Ω impedance	GHz
$f_{\rm MAG}$	Maximum available gain cutoff frequency	GHz
f_{\max}	Maximum oscillation frequency (unilateral gain cutoff frequency)	ı GHz
f_T	Current gain cutoff frequency	GHz
Γ_{opt}	Optimum input reflection coefficient	dB
$G_{\rm ass}$	Associated gain	dB
$G_{\rm cor}$	Noise correlation conductance $(\Re(Y_{\rm cor}))$	Ω^{-1}
g_D	Output conductance extracted from dc measurements	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$
$G_{\rm dsi}$	Intrinsic output conductance extracted from RF measurements	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$
g_m	Transconductance extracted from dc measurements	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$
$g_{m\mathrm{b}}$	Body to source transconductance	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$
G_{mi}	Intrinsic transconductance extracted from RF measurements	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$
$g_{m,\max}$	Maximum transconductance extracted from dc measurements	$\mathrm{mS/mm}$

List of Symbols **XXIII**

G_n	Equivalent noise conductance	Ω^{-1}
G_{opt}	Noise optimum conductance $(\Re(Y_{\text{opt}}))$	Ω^{-1}
$G_{\rm s}$	Noise source conductance $(\Re(Y_s))$	Ω^{-1}
HD	Harmonic distortion	dB
HD_n	Harmonic distortion or order n	dB
HD2	Second harmonic distortion	dB
HD3	Third harmonic distortion	dB
$\overline{i^2}$	Spectral density of current noise source	A^2/Hz
i_d	Drain noise current source	А
$I_{\rm DS}$	Drain current normalized with respect to total gate width	mA/mm
$I_{\rm Dsat}$	Drain saturation current normalized with respect to total gate width	mA/mm
i_g	Gate noise current source (induced gate noise)	А
$I_{\rm GS}$	Gate current normalized with respect to total gate width	mA/mm
$I_{\rm Leakage}$	Drain leakage current normalized with respect to total gate width	$\mathrm{mA/mm}$
$I_{\rm OFF}$	Drain current in OFF state normalized with respect to total gate width	mA/mm
$I_{\rm ON}$	Drain current in ON state normalized with respect to total gate width	mA/mm
IP_3	Third intercept point	dBm
$L_{\rm eff}$	Effective channel length	nm
$L_{\rm LD}$	Lightly doped region of the channel	nm
$n_{ m i}$	Intrinsic carrier density	${\rm cm}^{-3}$
N_A	P-type doping density in the channel region	${\rm cm}^{-3}$
NF	Noise Figure	dB
NF_{\min}	Minimum Noise Figure	dB
$N_{\rm finger}$	Number of parallel gate fingers	
$P_{\rm av}$	Available thermal noise power	W

xxiv List of Symbols

P_{dc}	DC power consumption	W
$\Phi_{ m MS}$	Work-function difference between metal and sil	icon V
$\psi_{ m F}$	Fermi potential	V
$\psi_{ m B}$	Difference between the Fermi potential and the intrinsic potential (mid-gab potential)	V
$\psi_{ m S}$	Surface potential	V
$P_{1-\mathrm{dB}}$	1-dB compression point	dBm
Q_{D}	Depletion Charge per unit area	$\rm C.cm^{-2}$
Q_{i}	Inversion Charge per unit area	$\rm C.cm^{-2}$
$Q_{ m ox}$	Equivalent oxide charge density per unit area	$\rm C.cm^{-2}$
$R_{\rm d}$	Extrinsic drain resistance	Ω
$R_{ m g}$	Extrinsic gate resistance	Ω
$R_{\rm gsi}$	Intrinsic gate-to-source resistance or the input resistance of the small signal equivalent circuit of the transistor	Ω
$R_{\rm i}$	Intrinsic gate-to-source resistance or the input resistance of the small signal equivalent circuit of the transistor	Ω
R_n	Equivalent noise resistance	Ω
$R_{\rm ON}$	Channel ON (strong inversion) resistance	Ω
$R_{\rm s}$	Extrinsic source resistance	Ω
S	Subthreshold slope	$\mathrm{mV/dec}$
T_{a}	Ambient temperature	Κ
$t_{\rm box}$	Buried-oxide thickness	nm
$T_{\rm C}$	Equivalent temperature of noise source in its constate	old K
$ au_{ m d}$	Delay	\mathbf{S}
T_d	Drain equivalent noise temperature	Κ
$ au_{ m e}$	Effective lifetime related to the thermal generat process in the depletion region	tion s
T_g	Gate equivalent noise temperature	Κ
$T_{ m in}$	Input equivalent noise temperature	Κ

List of Symbols XXV

THD	Total harmonic distortion	dB
THD_0	Total harmonic distortion including dc offset	dB
$T_{ m H}$	Equivalent temperature of noise source in its h state	not K
$ au_{\mathrm{n}}$	Electron lifetime in p-type neutral silicon	\mathbf{S}
$T_{\rm out}$	Output equivalent noise temperature	Κ
$t_{\rm ox}$	Gate-oxide thickness	nm
$ au_{ m p}$	Hole lifetime in n-type neutral silicon	\mathbf{S}
$t_{ m Si}$	Silicon film thickness	nm
T_0	Standard noise temperature (=290 K)	Κ
$\mu_{ ext{eff}}$	Effective mobility	$\mathrm{m}^2/(\mathrm{V.s})$
$V_{\rm BS}$	Body-to-source voltage	V
$V_{\rm DD}$	Power supply voltage	V
$V_{\rm DS}$	Drain-to-source voltage	V
$V_{\rm DS,sat}$	Drain-to-source saturation voltage	V
$V_{\rm EA}$	Early voltage	V
$V_{\rm FB}$	Flat-band voltage	V
$V_{\rm GS}$	Gate-to-source voltage	V
$V_{\rm GT}$	Gate overdrive voltage $(V_{\rm GS} - V_T)$	V
V_T	Threshold voltage	V
V_{T0}	Threshold voltage at zero body bias	V
$V_{T,\mathrm{off}}$	Threshold voltage at zero gate bias (OFF state for DTMOS)	e V
$X_{\rm D}$	Depletion width	nm
X_{Dmax}	Maximum depletion width	nm
$Y_{\rm cor}$	Noise correlation admittance	Ω^{-1}
$Y_{\rm opt}$	Noise optimum admittance	Ω^{-1}
$Y_{\rm out}$	Output admittance	Ω^{-1}
$Y_{ m s}$	Noise source admittance	Ω^{-1}

AUTHOR'S PUBLICATION LIST

Journal papers

- M. Emam, J. C. Tinoco, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Hightemperature RF behavior of partially-depleted SOI MOSFET transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 1924–1932, Dec. 2008.
- [2] <u>M. Emam</u>, P. Sakalas, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Experimental investigation of RF noise performance improvement in graded channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 1516–1522, Jul. 2009.
- [3] <u>M. Emam</u>, S. Houri, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "The impact of externally applied mechanical stress on analog and RF performances of SOI MOSFETs," *Journal of Telecommunications and Information Technology*, no. 4, pp. 18–24, 2009.
- [4] <u>M. Emam</u>, P. Sakalas, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Thermal noise in MOSFETs: A two- or a three-parameter noise model?" *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1188–1191, May 2010.
- [5] C. Urban, <u>M. Emam</u>, C. Sandow, J. Knoch, Q.-T. Zhao, J.-P. Raskin, and S. Mantl, "Radio frequency study of dopant-segregated n-type SB-MOSFETs on thin-body SOI," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 537–539, Jun. 2010.
- [6] C. Urban, <u>M. Emam</u>, C. Sandow, Q. T. Zhao, A. Fox, J.-P. Raskin, and S. Mantl, "Small signal analysis of high-performance p- and n-type SOI SB-MOSFETs with dopant segregation," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 877–882, Sep. 2010.
- [7] <u>M. Emam</u>, M. A. Pavanello, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature effects on harmonic distortions in submicron graded-channel MOSFETs," *Advanced Materials Research, Special Issue*, submitted.
- [8] <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Partially-depleted and fully-depleted SOI versus deep n-well protected bulk-Si MOSFETs: A high temperature RF study for low power low voltage applications," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, in preparation.

XXVIII AUTHOR'S PUBLICATION LIST

Conference proceedings

- [9] A. A. Salman, S. G. Beebe, <u>M. Emam</u>, M. M. Palella, and D. E. Ioannou, "Field effect diode (FED): A novel device for ESD protection in deep submicron SOI technologies," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM'06*) Tech. Dig., Dec. 11–13, 2006, pp. 1–4.
- [10] M. Emam, M. E. Kaamouchi, M. S. Moussa, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "RF antenna switches based on 130 nm floating and body-tied SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc. The Third Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits -EuroSOI'07*, Leuven, Belgium, Jan. 24–26, 2007, pp. 78–79.
- [11] —, "Conception d'un commutateur d'antenne en technologie silicium-surisolant 130 nm," in Proc. Journées Nationales du Réseau Doctoral en Microélectronique, Lille, France, May 14–16, 2007, pp. 78–79.
- [12] <u>M. Emam</u>, M. El Kaamouchi, M. S. Moussa, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "High temperature antenna switches in 130 nm SOI technology," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Indian Wells, CA, Oct. 1–4, 2007, pp. 121–122.
- [13] M. E. Kaamouchi, G. Dambrine, M. S. Moussa, <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Body-biasing control on zero-temperature-coefficient in partially depleted SOI MOSFET," in *Proc. IEEE Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF* Systems (SiRF'08), Orlando, FL, Jan. 23–25, 2008, pp. 114–117.
- [14] M. Emam, J. C. Tinoco, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Hightemperature RF behavior of partially-depleted SOI MOSFET transistors," in *Proc. The Fourth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'08*, Cork, Ireland, Jan. 23–25, 2008, pp. 53–54.
- [15] S. Houri, <u>M. Emam</u>, and J.-P. Raskin, "RF behavior of strained fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc. The Fourth Workshop of the Thematic Net*work on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'08, Cork, Ireland, Jan. 23–25, 2008, pp. 55–56.
- [16] M. E. Kaamouchi, <u>M. Emam</u>, C. R. Neve, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "CMOS technologies for RF applications in harsh environment," in *Microwave Technology and Techniques Workshop*, ESA, May 2008.
- [17] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, A. Kumar, J. Ida, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature RF behavior of SOI MOSFETs for low-power low-voltage applications," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, New Paltz, NY, Oct. 6–9, 2008, pp. 139–140.

- [18] <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature dc and RF behavior of partially depleted SOI versus deep n-well protected bulk MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE Topical meeting on Silicon Monolithic Inte*grated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'09), San Diego, CA, Jan. 19–21, 2009, pp. 185–188.
- [19] <u>M. Emam</u>, M. A. Pavanello, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Analog, RF and nonlinear behaviors of submicron graded channel partially depleted SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc. European Solid State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC'09)*, Athens, Greece, Sep. 14–18, 2009, pp. 125–128.
- [20] C. Urban, <u>M. Emam</u>, C. Sandow, Q.-T. Zhao, A. Fox, J.-P. Raskin, and S. Mantl, "High-frequency performance of dopant-segregated NiSi S/D SOI SB-MOSFETs," in *Proc. European Solid State Device Research Conference* (*ESSDERC'09*), Athens, Greece, Sep. 14–18, 2009, pp. 149–152.
- [21] <u>M. Emam</u>, A. Kumar, J. Ida, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "DC and RF temperature behavior of deep submicron graded channel MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Francisco, CA, Oct. 5–8, 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [22] F. Danneville, T. Lim, <u>M. Emam</u>, P. Sakalas, G. Dambrine, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "Noise properties of low-power Si MOSFETs through different channel engineering," in WSL Workshop, IEEE International Microwave Symposium IMS'09, Boston, MA, Jun. 6–12, 2009.
- [23] <u>M. Emam</u>, S. Houri, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "The impact of externally applied mechanical stress on analog and RF performances of SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc. Design and Yield Symposium (D&Y'09)*, Warsaw, Poland, Jun. 2009.
- [24] M. Emam, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Graded channel MOS transistors for low power low voltage applications," in Proc. The Sixth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'10, Grenoble, France, Jan. 25–27, 2010, pp. 113–114.
- [25] J. C. Tinoco, A. G. Martinez-Lopez, <u>M. Emam</u>, and J.-P. Raskin, "New RF intrinsic parameters extraction procedure for advanced MOS transistors," in *Proc. IEEE International conference on Microelectronics Test Structures* (*ICMTS'10*), Hiroshima, Japan, Mar. 22–25, 2010, pp. 86–89.
- [26] M. Emam, P. Sakalas, A. Kumar, J. Ida, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, and F. Danneville, "Graded channel concept for improving RF noise of an industrial 0.15 μm SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc.* 5th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC'10), Paris, France, Sep./Oct. 26–1, 2010, pp. 170–173.

- [27] J. C. Tinoco, C. Urban, <u>M. Emam</u>, S. Mantl, Q. T. Zhao, and J.-P. Raskin, "Non-linear analysis of n-type schottky-barrier MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Diego, CA, Oct. 11–14, 2010, pp. 76–77.
- [28] M. de Souza, <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, D. Flandre, and M. A. Pavanello, "Comparison between the behavior of submicron graded-channel SOI nmosfets with fully- and partially-depleted operations in a wide temperature range," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Diego, CA, Oct. 11–14, 2010, pp. 82–83.
- [29] <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature RF behavior of SOI MOSFET transistors for low power low voltage applications," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Diego, CA, Oct. 11–14, 2010, pp. 147–148.
- [30] <u>M. Emam</u>, M. A. Pavanello, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature effect on harmonic distortions in submicron graded-channel MOSFETs," in Proc. 6th International SemOI Conference (SemOI'10) and 1st Ukrainian-French Seminar "Semiconductor-on-Insulator materials, devices and circuits: physics, technology and diagnostics", Kyiv, Ukraine, Oct. 25–28, 2010, pp. 119–120.
- [31] <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Effect of gate oxide scaling on RF performance of SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE Topical meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'11)*, Phoenix, Arizona, Jan. 17–19, 2011, to be published.
- [32] M. Emam, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "RF antenna switch using dynamic threshold SOI MOSFET," in *Proc. IEEE Topical meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'11)*, Phoenix, Arizona, Jan. 17–19, 2011, to be published.
- [33] <u>M. Emam</u>, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Zero temperature coefficient of current gain cutoff frequency and maximum oscillation frequency for various MOSFETs," in *Proc. 219th Electrochemical Society (ECS) Meeting*, Montreal, Canada, May 1–6, 2011, submitted.

Research is the effort of the mind to comprehend relationships which no one has previously known, and in its finest exemplification it is practical as well as theoretical, trending always toward worthwhile relationships, demanding common sense as well as uncommon ability.

> H. D. Arnold, 1925, first research director at Bell Labs

The transistor was probably the most important invention of the 20th Century, and the story behind the invention is one of clashing egos and top secret research ...

> Ira Flatow, Transistorized!, PBS (www.pbs.org)

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

 $T^{\rm HE}$ main objective of this work is to provide a link between the device level engineering and the RF circuit design world. To fulfill this objective, a wide variety of MOSFET devices are studied. The study is meant to cover different aspects of operation in order to ensure a correct choice of the device based on a complete knowledge of its characteristics. From the RF point of view, for this study to be as complete as possible, it should include dc, analog, RF, nonlinear, low voltage low power, high frequency noise, and high temperature characterizations. The dc and analog characteristics of the device form the base for the figures of merit for the RF operation. In other words, the formula of any RF figure of merit consists basically of dc and ac parameters. A good understanding of the dc and analog characteristics help to improve and optimize the RF behavior of the device. This is made clear in chapter 3 which also includes the high temperature aspect of the dc, analog, and RF characteristics. The high temperature characterization is essential for the new and emerging technologies due to the cohabitation of a large number of transistors on a small area resulting in elevated temperature operation conditions. The shift in the device characteristics due to this high temperature operation should be taken into account while designing the RF circuit to avoid failures and malfunctions. In addition, the high temperature operation conditions are gaining more grounds since the RF circuits are used more and more in applications related to harsh environments, such as

2 INTRODUCTION

automotive electronics, on-engine, wheel-mounted, aerospace and environmental monitoring, including mining and well logging. All these applications are increasingly employing RF circuits especially for wireless communication systems and detectors.

The wireless communication is, in fact, a highly accelerating market especially the consumer applications sector. Competition pushes RF circuits to deliver better performance while minimizing its area and its power consumption. The target is to ensure portability and maximize the battery life time. Low voltage low power operation scheme is therefore a crucial solution. A complete chapter is devoted for this operation scheme including novel ideas aiming to optimize RF characteristics under conditions of low voltage low power and high temperature conditions.

The performance of RF circuits has two axes; frequency and amplitude. The frequency axis is usually limited by the cutoff frequency figures of merit (current gain cutoff frequency and maximum oscillation frequency) which are studied in chapter 3. On the other hand, the amplitude axis has a maximum and a minimum limit, or a floor and a ceiling. The minimum limit is the high frequency noise level, characterized by the noise figure NF or the minimum noise figure NF_{\min} along with the other noise parameters as presented in chapter 6. The maximum limit is the linearity of the devices and the circuit. Nonlinear figures of merit such as the 1-dB compression point and the third intercept point quantify the ceiling of the performance of the RF circuit, which is the subject of chapter 5. The area between these two limits constitutes the dynamic range of the RF device or circuit. The wider this area the more adapted the device for a better performance. There are solutions to maximize the dynamic range at the circuit design level. In this work, the focus is directed to the solutions based on the device level. Novel device structures such as the Graded Channel MOSFET (GCMOS) is presented as one solution that could fulfill this task.

In order to close the loop, the RF performance of the variety of MOSFET devices considered in this work is examined through design, fabrication and, testing of one simple RF circuit, yet very important, the RF antenna switch, presented in chapter 7. Including only four transistors and four resistors, the RF antenna switch serves as a good demonstrator of the RF characteristics of the different devices. Nevertheless, not all the aspects of operation, presented through the different chapters of the thesis, could be directly verified through such a simple circuit. Thus, a table of different figures of merit is built gradually throughout the chapters in order to provide a complete comparison between the devices at the conclusion of the thesis.

It is worth noticing that all results presented in this thesis are based on real on-wafer measurements, with the exception of few ADS simulations presented for the RF antenna switch in chapter 7. All results are either published, submitted for publication, or under preparation for publication. Publications are referenced in their appropriate locations throughout the thesis and are also listed in the author's publication list.
CHAPTER 2

VARIOUS MOSFET STRUCTURES

 $T^{\rm HE}$ understanding of the basic characteristics of the building block of any work is a key point in the success of this work. The transistor constitutes the main building block of any electronic circuit nowadays. In the context of this work, high frequency electronic circuits are concerned. Several flavours of Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (MOSFET) are studied. This chapter introduces the characteristics of these different flavours in preparation to the next chapter where the measurements and analysis of various operation aspects as well as detailed comparisons are presented for all of the considered devices.

2.1 MOSFET

Garner, L. E., Jr. once defined the transistor as [1]:

"The transistor is basically a current operated device. Thus, the transistor operates as a current amplifier \dots The vacuum tube, on the other hand, operates as a voltage amplifier \dots "

The concept of a Field-Effect Transistor (FET) was patented in the year 1926 by the polish-american physicist and inventor Julius E. Lilienfeld [2] (filed October 8th, 1926 in US and earlier on October 22nd, 1925 in Canada). Lilienfeld's patent described a three-electrode amplifying device based on the semiconducting properties of copper sulfide. He then added two other patents describing the

control of current in a device by means of an electric field [3, 4]. This pioneering work was followed by a patent by Oskar Heil of the university of Berlin in 1935 which contained the first description of an insulated-gate FET that hinted at the new semiconductor concepts. [5].¹

After the successful invention of the first solar cell using a pn junction diode by Russel Ohl [12] (patent filed May 27th, 1941), Bell labs started a research group in 1945 led by William Shockley and including John Bardeen, Walter Brattain, and others, with the target of finding a replacement of the vacuum tubes.² Mission was accomplished on December 23rd, 1947 when Bardeen and Brattain designed an amplifying circuit using a point contact "transfer resistance", to be known later as a "transistor". This device was patented later in 1950 (filed June 17th, 1948) as the first transistor ever: The germanium "Point Contact Transistor" [9, 10, 14–17] (see Fig. 2.1). However, this transistor was not easy to fabricate, hence, W. Shockley introduced the first junction transistor [18], patented in 1951 [19] (filed June 26th, 1948) which took its place in commercial products within few years [20].

Although the point contact transistor was not a field-effect transistor (which was the aim of the research of Shockley's group from the begining), the idea of field-effect was not completely abandoned. Shockley's group patented several field-effect devices. Bardeen's patent in 1950 [9, 10] (two complementary patents) is a sourceless MOSFET, whereas Brattain and Gibney's patent in 1950 [23] is a gated p-n junction, i.e. an inversion-channel insulated-gate FET.

The first junction field-effect transistor (JFET) was invented and tested by W. Shockley and his group in 1952 [11]. The effort of this research group was rewarded by the Nobel prize of physics in 1956 [24]. Although, this research group started working on a FET, where Shockley failed to realize a working

¹It has been long believed that the FET was first invented in the 1940's by Shockley, Bardeen, and Brattain. However, Robert G. Arns published a detailed article of the history of FET in 1998 [6]. Arns showed that as early as 1964, Virgil Bottom published a paper drawing the attention to the preceding work of Lilienfeld and his right to be declared the first to invent the FET [7]. Three months later, J. B. Johnson (then recently retired from Bell Labs) published a reply saying that the he tried himself to reproduce the transistor patented by Lilienfeld and it failed to work [8]. Nevertheless, in 1991 Bret Crawford, in his physics MS thesis, was able to reproduce a working version of Lilienfeld transistor, though not stable. However, in 1995, Joel Ross replicated the same transistor described by Lilienfeld and this time it was functioning and stable for several months. Arns also showed that he himself examined the files of the patents of Bardeen and Brattein [9, 10] and that of Shockley [11], and he found that a total of 65 claims were abandoned or disallowed in these two patents; the reason most frequently cited for disallowing a claim was Lilienfeld's prior art.

²According to the information available on the official site of Alcatel-Lucent Bell Labs [13], in the 1930s, Bell Lab's director of research, Mervin Kelly, recognized that a better device was needed for the telephone business to continue to grow. He felt that the answer might lie in a strange class of materials called semiconductors but, in order to get there, they had to pioneer a whole new class of science. After the end of World War II, Kelly put together a team of scientists to develop a solid-state semiconductor switch to replace the problematic vacuum tube. The team would use some of the advances in semiconductor research during the war that had made radar possible. A young, brilliant theoretician, Bill Shockley, was selected as the team leader.

MOSFET 5



(a) A replica of the first transistor: The "Point Contact Transistor" [21].



(b) William Shockley, (seated), John Bardeen (left), and Walter Brattain (right) invented the transistor in 1947 (Photo credit: Alcatel-Lucent/Bell Labs) [22].

Fig. 2.1.: The first transistor and its inventors.

FET in the early 1940's [20], the invention of the point contact transistor and the junction transistor took Bell Labs away from the path of FETs, as Bell Labs got committed to the silicon BJT in 1955 [6] (although they were able to solve the interface states problems at the surface of silicon by 1955 as published by G. C. Dacey and I. M. Ross in the Bell Systems Technical Journal [25]).

Nevertheless, it was Texas Instruments who introduced the first commercial silicon transistor when Semiconductor R&D chief Gordon Teal (ex-researcher at Bell Labs) presented it at the Institute of Radio Engineers National Convention in Dayton, Ohio, on May 10th, 1954 [26] (see Fig. 2.2).

In 1956, M. M. Atalla was made head of a group to work on surface problems at Bell Labs. Three years later, in the Bell Systems Technical Journal, M. M. Atalla presented the first p-channel MOSFET device [27]. A year later, the pchannel MOSFET device was presented by a researcher of his group, Dawon Kahng, in the Solid State Device Research Conference in Carnegie Institute of Technology [28]. However, due to the comittement of Bell Labs to BJT, the first commercial MOS transistor was not fabricated in Bell Labs. It was fabricated by Jean Hoerni at Fairchild Semiconductor Corp in 1960 [29] (who presented it in the same conference where Kahng and Atalla described their p-channel MOSFET). Hoerni used his patented planar process which allowed transistors to be fabricated from silicon rather than from germanium [30]. Bell did not start a development project using MOS technology until 1966 [6].

The MOSFET device was then studied and characterized by Ihantola and Moll [31], Sah [32] and Hofstein and Heiman [33]. The technology, the application, and the device physics were the objective of many text books, e.g. [34–37].

The concept of the integrated circuit (IC) was first published by Geoffrey W. A. Dummer in the US Electronic Components Symposium in Washington D.C. on May 7th, 1952 [38]. He stated that

"With the advent of the transistor and the work on semi-conductors generally, it now seems possible to envisage electronic equipment in a solid block with no connecting wires. The block may consist of layers of insulating, conducting, rectifying, and amplifying materials, the electronic functions being connected directly by cutting out areas of the various layers."

However, his trial to build an integrated circuit in 1956 was not successful. Later, in 1958, Jack Kilby, a newly hired engineer at Texas Instruments, was able to build the first integrated circuit which was patented few years later [39] (filed on February $6^{\rm th}$, 1959). In 1961, Fairchild and Texas Instruments both introduced the first commercial IC.

In 1963, Wanlass and Sah of Fairchild introduced one of the most important milestones in the transistor history, the Complementary MOSFET (CMOS) [6]. In the same year, RCA introduced the first MOS IC [38].

The market of MOSFET continued to grow up (mainly thanks to the computer industry) until it surpassed a \$1 billion in sales in 1962, \$10 billion in 1978 and \$100 billion in 1994 [38]. Since the begining, the MOSFET technology has been following the famous Moore's law, given by Dr. Gordon E. Moore (then one of the founders of Fairchild Semiconductor and Director of the research and development laboratories) in 1965 [40] in which he observed that "The complexity for minimum component cost has increased at a rate of roughly a factor of two per year". Thus he predicted that the number of components the industry would be able to place on a computer chip would double every year. In 1975, he updated his prediction to once every two years. It has become the guiding principle for the semiconductor industry to deliver ever-more-powerful chips while decreasing the cost of electronics [41].³

2.2 SOI AND BULK

The idea of building MOSFET transistors on top of an isolator layer is nearly as old as the MOSFET transistor itself. The story started with the successful work of H. M. Manasevit and W. I. Simpson to grow a single-crystal silicon on sapphire substrate in 1964 [43]. Most probably, another research group was working on the same idea in parallel and by the end of the same year C. W. Mueller and P. H. Robinson introduced the first Silicon-on-Sapphire (SOS) transistor fabricated using standard diffusion and photoetching techniques whereas the gate oxide was thermally grown [44, 45]. This later work inspired C. A. T. Salama and L. Young to realize transistors on sapphire but using evaporation silicon films on sapphire [46]. Later, the first silicon on insulator (not yet named SOI) was introduced by C. H. Fa and T. T. Jew [47]. They called it the Poly-Silicon Field-Effect Transistor (PSFET) because the active element was fabricated in an epitaxially deposited film of polycrystalline silicon on an oxidized single crystal silicon substrate. In 1972, T. I. Kamins introduced the first Dielectric Isolation

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{In}$ 2005, Gordon E. Moore himself expected that his law cannot hold anymore and he declared it dead! [42]



(a) When TI announced commercial availability of the silicon transistor in 1954, this photograph of a silicon transistor superimposed on a three-cent U.S. postage stamp was used to show its relative size (Courtesy of Texas Instruments) [26].



(b) The silicon transistor development team from a photograph in the company's internal publication, Texins, in June 1954. Pictured, left to right, are Willis Adcock, Mort Jones, Ed Jackson, and Jay Thornhill. Pat Haggerty honored the team at the company's strategic planning conference in 1980 (Courtesy of Texas Instruments) [26].

Fig. 2.2.: The first commercial silicon transistor and its inventors.

(DI) technique (still not named SOI, although it is practically an SOI) using an electrochemical etching process [48]. His idea was to to form a thin silicon film from a thick single-crystal silicon wafer by an electrochemical etching technique that stops at a well-defined $n-n^+$ interface. As opposed to the heteroepitaxial case of SOS, the DI technique does not suffer from mismatch limitations and the minority carrier lifetime is significantly improved.

Between 1976 and 1979, a new device, attractive for its high speed switching operation, was introduced. This device used a localized buried oxide layer beneath the active area of the transistor and was called the Buried Oxide MOS-FET (BO-MOS) [49–52]. In their work, they aimed to mimic the advantages of SOS MOS devices (high speed switching) while eliminating its drawbacks (expensive substrate and high junction leakage due to high defect density in the epitaxial silicon) [49]. In 1978, K. Izumi *et al.* introduced the SIMOX technique ("Separation by IMplanted OXygen") to create a buried SiO₂ layer and presented a fabricated 19 stage MOSFET ring oscillator on top of it [53].

It was not until 1979 that the term Silicon-on-Insulator was introduced by A. F. Tasch *et al.* when he introduced the first MOSFET transistor built on top of a thick SiO₂ layer which covers the whole silicon substrate [54]. He used the laser-recrystallised polysilicon films technique introduced by K. F. Lee *et al.* earlier to build a MOSFET on top of a nitride insulator layer [55]. Tasch *et al.* argued the better properties of SiO₂ as an insulator than the nitride Si₃N₄ used by Lee *et al.* [55].

Over the last 40 years, the fabrication of SOI enormously evolved through many academic and laboratory techniques including polysilicon melting and recrystallization, homoepitaxial, FIPOS, ion beam synthesis (such as SIMOX),

wafer bonding and etch back (BESOI), and finally through large scale commercialized techniques which are basically layer transfer techniques such as Smart-Cut[®] [56] and Eltran[®] [57] (see [58] for detailed description of different techniques).

The principal motivation for why researches have been giving all this attention for the development of the SOI technology is its high speed switching characterisitcs, which is directly related to its highly reduced junction capacitance of the drain diffusion compared to bulk (conventional) MOSFET devices [49]. Depending on the buried oxide thickness, a remarkable decrease in the drain (source) junction capacitance ($C_{\rm bd}$ and $C_{\rm bs}$) can be achieved in comparison to the bulk case, both for the bottom and the side-wall components (see Fig. 2.3) [59]. For a 1- μ m CMOS process, a reduction up to one seventh could be obtained for these capacitances. This factor can be increased to the order of 10 for recent technologies [59]. This is also manifested in the reduction of Metal-1-to-substrate capacitance, which can be reduced by 40% in SOI compared to bulk [58]. Typically, this reduction in parasitic capacitances is translated into a SOI device that can deliver 30 to 40% less power and operate faster by 30 to 40% than a bulk device [59].



Fig. 2.3.: Comparison of bulk and SOI junction capacitances for a typical CMOS process, $C_{\rm j}$ and $C_{\rm jsw}$ denote the bottom area and sidewall peripheral junction components at zero bias, respectively (Courtesy of [59]).

It is also worth mentioning that the SOI CMOS technology offers a great advantage at the level of the layout design, since a significant gain of area can be achieved using the SOI technology [60].

SOI devices are more reliable for harsh environment applications (space applications, high temperature applications, etc.) thanks to their buried-oxide. While bulk devices would fail to operate at temperatures higher than 180°C, due to elevated leakage current, SOI devices can function correctly up to 300°C [58].

On the other hand, the presence of the buried oxide prevents a good heat dissipation path through the substrate due to the poor thermal conductivity of SiO_2 . A "Self Heating" phenomenon results due to the substantial increase in the device temperature. The dissipation of the excess heat is deviated towards the contacts and the metal layers. As a result, a negative resistance can be seen in

the output characteristics of the SOI device due to the reduction of the mobility as a direct consequence of the elevated temperature.

2.3 PARTIALLY- AND FULLY-DEPLETED

Two main categories of SOI MOSFETs exist: the Partially-Depleted (PD) and the Fully-Depleted (FD) SOI MOSFETs. The PD SOI MOSFET is more commonly used in the electronics market. This is because it is easier to fabricate than the FD SOI MOSFET. It is simply completely compatible with the traditional bulk fabrication process with the use of a SOI wafer. On the other hand, the FD SOI MOSFET is a delicate process in which the silicon film thickness $t_{\rm Si}$ is a very sensitive parameter and its homogeneity all over the wafer is crucial for a successful FD process.

In fact, based on the thickness of the silicon film and its doping level, and knowing that the maximum depletion width is given by (2.1)

$$X_{\rm Dmax} = \sqrt{\frac{4\varepsilon_{\rm Si}\psi_{\rm F}}{qN_A}} \tag{2.1}$$

a device could be categorized in one of three categories (see Fig. 2.4) [58]:

- Partially-Depleted (PD) SOI: in which the film thickness, $t_{\rm Si}$, is larger than twice the value of $X_{\rm Dmax}$; $t_{\rm Si} > 2X_{\rm Dmax}$. The body of the device (the silicon film) is never (under any biasing condition) completely depleted. On the contrary, unless a contact exits that ties the body to a certain bias, the body is kept "floating" and a series of phenomena called "floatingbody effects" (FBE) take place. As a result, two sub-categories of SOI devices exist; floating-body (FB) and body-tied (BT) devices (this subject is detailed in section 2.5.
- Fully-Depleted (FD) SOI: in which $t_{\rm Si} < X_{\rm Dmax}$. Except for special bias conditions, the silicon film is entirely depleted and the device is free from FBE due to the reduction of the source barrier [59]. FD devices are considered to deliver superior characteristics as compared to PD devices thanks to a better control of the gate terminal on the channel. Based on a better front-to-back gate coupling through the Fully-Depleted film capacitance, when compared to bulk devices and even to PD devices, FD devices exhibit sharper subthreshold slope close to the ideal value of 60 mV/dec at room temperature, improved drive capability due to smaller body effect, and less mobility degradation with gate voltage [61]. On the other hand, FD devices suffer from a significant sensitivity of the threshold voltage to the film thickness and buried oxide parameters. This could also result in failures of FD devices in total-dose radiation hardness applications [59]. M. J. Sherony et al. reported a reduced dependence of threshold voltage on film thickness by keeping the total dose constant instead of the doping concentration [62]. This can result in a threshold voltage standard deviation being similar to the bulk case [59].

- Near-Fully-Depleted (NFD) SOI: this is an intermediate case where X_{Dmax} < $t_{\text{Si}} < 2X_{\text{Dmax}}$. Depending on the back gate bias, the silicon film might or might not be entirely depleted.



Fig. 2.4.: Energy band diagrams in bulk (A), PD SOI (B) and FD SOI (C). All devices are represented at $V_{\rm GS} = V_T$. SOI devices are represented for a condition of weak inversion (below threshold) at the back interface (Courtesy of [58]).

2.4 DNW BULK

In 1992, R.-H. Yan *et al.* raised the question of whether the technology will go back to bulk after migrating to SOI [63]. Yan based his assumption on the scaling trends which lead to excessively high doping requirements, causing undesirably large junction capacitances and degraded mobility. He then proposed a technique called "Pulse-Shaped Doping" which results in a bulk device which mimics the advantages of a SOI device for deep sub-micrometer regime.

A deep n-well (DNW) protected structure of Bulk-Si is then considered as a candidate that combines the mainstream low cost Bulk-Si technology with the advantages of the SOI technology. This special structure of Bulk-Si was presented by Su *et al.* [64] to improve RF performance in Bulk-Si transistors. Su *et al.* used a floating DNW. The high temperature RF characteristics of a grounded DNW protected Bulk-Si device was briefly compared to the PD SOI device in [65]. The device is aimed to mimic the structure of a SOI device through completely isolating the body of the transistor by using a deep n-well and a vertical n^+ implantation (known as NISO: N Isolation), as shown in Fig. 2.5. A more interesting case would be a $V_{\rm DD}$ connected DNW, since the body is *p*-type, thus connecting the DNW to $V_{\rm DD}$ ensures a reverse biased body-DNW junction at all time therefore highly reducing leakage currents especially at elevated temperatures as is shown in section 3.2.6.



Fig. 2.5.: A cross section of a DNW protected Bulk-Si MOS transistor.

From Fig. 2.5, it can be clearly seen that the DNW bulk device would occupy more area than a conventional bulk device or even a SOI device especially if each device of the circuit is individually protected (which is the optimum case). Nevertheless, the attractive characteristics of such a device promotes it to be used for analog and RF small circuits which do not use a big number of transistors and in which the required silicon area is mostly determined by the passive components, as it is the case in the RF antenna switch circuit [65].

2.5 FLOATING-BODY AND BODY-TIED STRUCTURES

A PD SOI device in which the body is not connected to any terminal is referred to as a floating-body FB device. This results in what is known as the Floating-Body Effects (FBE), mostly manifested in the kink effect, the parasitic BJT effect, the anomalous subthreshold slope, the reduced drain breakdown voltage, and other effects [58]. In general, the FBE is only seen in PD devices whereas it is not apparent in FD device, as will be explained hereafter.

The kink effect phenomenon had already been identified for SOS devices as early as 1975 [66]. The kink effect is now mainly noticed in PD SOI devices. It can also be seen in bulk devices operated at low temperatures [67] or Deep N-Well protected bulk devices [65].

The kink effect is a direct consequence of impact ionization. At elevated values of drain voltage, the electron in the channel has enough energy in the high electric field region near the drain to generate an electron-hole pair. The generated electron is easily drained through the drain terminal, whereas the hole seeks the lowest potential point, which is the source, and it moves towards it. However, since the body-source energy barrier is high (due to the presence of the nondepleted neutral region in the PD device), the hole cannot be removed through the source terminal and it has to stay in the floating-body non-depleted neutral region. The continuous generation of electron-hole pairs by impact ionization results in an accumulated reservoir of holes in the neutral region whose potential starts to increase. The calculation of the potential of the floating-body area is not

simple and requires an iterative solution of complex equations [58, 68]. At a certain point, the floating-body acquires enough potential (~0.7 V) to turn ON the body-source p-n junction. At this particular moment, the kink effect takes place, since a sudden increase in the net drain current occurs giving rise to a "kink" in the drain-current drain-voltage $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics (see Fig. 2.6). In the same time, the threshold voltage of the device is reduced since the body-source bias $V_{\rm BS}$ acts as the body bias (body effect) in bulk devices (see (2.3)).



Fig. 2.6.: An illustration of the kink effect phenomenon appearing on the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics of a PD FB device at a $V_{\rm GS} = 0.6$ V.

In FD devices, the kink effect is not apparent for two reasons. First, the electric field near the drain is lower than the case of the PD devices as can be seen through TCAD simulations [58]. Second, the energy barrier between the body (the thin film of Si) and the source is very low, hence, the holes generated from impact ionization are easily removed through the source terminal. Under certain bias conditions, especially for a negative back-gate bias, this energy barrier is increased, and a kink effect can appear.

The presence of the floating-body can also be problematic when combined with the parasitic BJT which exists naturally in a MOSFET. The source-body-drain junctions constitute a parasitic BJT device (NPN or PNP). In devices where a body contact exists, the body (or the base of the parasitic BJT) is always tied and the BJT is always OFF. However, for a floating-body case, the potential of the body depends on the currents flowing through it. Thus, the BJT can be triggered ON, and results in undesirable consequences like the amplification of the impact ionization, a significant reduction of the subthreshold swing (the inverse of the subthreshold slope S), and a reduced drain breakdown voltage.

A special effect can also take place due to the presence of the floating-body. In the subthreshold regime, at low values of $V_{\rm GS}$ but high enough values of $V_{\rm DS}$, the weak inversion current can result in impact ionization in the high electric field region near the drain. The same mechanism like in the kink effect occurs where the body potential increases leading to a reduction of V_T . The whole $I_{\rm DS}-V_{\rm GS}$ characteristic shifts to the left, and the subthreshold swing shows a slope less than the theoretical limit of 60 mV/decade. If the minority carriers lifetime is high enough, the parasitic BJT can amplify the base current (or the hole current generated by impact ionization) which can then constitute a positive feedback loop on the current flowing through the device, thus the drain current suddenly increase. As a result, a subthreshold slope of zero mV/dec can be observed [58, p. 209]. This phenomenon is called the "single-transistor latchup". More problems related to the FBE can be found in [58].

The Body-Tied structure is intended to solve all these problems related to the floating-body effect. A silicide body contact is added to the traditional structure (the floating-body structure) and is then shorted to the source. As a result, the body is always tied to the source, which is in turn tied to the ground. The layouts of the two structures are presented in Fig. 2.7. The advantage of the BT structure is obviously the suppression of the floating-body effects. It also has other advantages relative to the I-V characteristics as will be detailed in section 3.2.2. However, the BT transistor occupies more area and thus is not suitable for high density circuits. It is mostly used in analog and RF circuits where the number of transistors is relatively small and the area constraint is more relaxed.



Fig. 2.7.: Floating-Body versus Body-Tied structures.

2.6 DYNAMIC THRESHOLD MOSFET (DTMOS)

In CMOS digital circuits, the delivered power is proportional to the square of the power supply voltage according to:

$$P = CV_{\rm DD}^2 f \tag{2.2}$$

From which it is seen that an effective method of reducing the active power in CMOS digital circuits is to reduce the power supply voltage $V_{\rm DD}$. This reduction of $V_{\rm DD}$ is limited by the minimum threshold voltage that can be tolerated in these circuits. Normally, $V_{\rm DD}$ cannot go below $\sim 3V_T$, otherwise this will importantly degrade the switching speed of the gate. It will also degrade the subthreshold characteristics leading to an increased stand-by current in static circuits and may produce failures in dynamic circuits and memory arrays.

Therefore the ideal solution is to implement a MOSFET with a dynamic threshold voltage, which means that V_T is low when the device is turned ON for high gate overdrive, whereas V_T is high when the device is turned OFF for low subthreshold leakage. Dynamic Threshold Voltage MOS (DTMOS) is then considered as the best alternative for ultra low power CMOS applications.

On the other hand, the conventional scaling theory states: "The physical dimensions and applied potentials must be scaled by the same factor, whereas the impurity concentration is increased by the reciprocal of such factor" [69]. This scaling theory has some limitations [70]:

- Temperature dependence of V_T , which is mainly due to the variation of the substrate Fermi level with temperature.
- Non-scalability of the junction built-in potential, leading to a larger depletion width and worsening of the short channel effects.

These drawbacks can be solved by forward biasing of the substrate which helps to avoid short channel effects and to reduce the sensitivity of V_T to the channel length. Thus DTMOS is constructed by connecting the floating body to the gate in a short channel SOI MOSFET as shown schematically in Fig. 2.8. Usually, the floating body of the SOI MOSFET is connected to the gate using a P^+ -metal contact. This is in complete compatibility with the CMOS fabrication process, as it uses the same techniques used to control the floating body by connecting it to the source terminal or to a ground pin.



Fig. 2.8.: A cross section of the Dynamic Threshold MOS transistor.

The DTMOS was first introduced as a hybrid bipolar-MOS transistor in 1987 [71] in the form of a voltage controlled bipolar-MOS transistor. This was mainly aimed for high-speed operation as the device was capable of both reduced voltage swing operation and high current drive. In this device, the body bias has to be relatively high (≥ 0.6 V) allowing the lateral bipolar current to be added to the current drive capabilities of the device. However, this advantage comes at the cost of increased input (base) current which results in elevated standby current. In 1994, DTMOS was explicitly introduced as a highly recommended solution for ultra-low power applications [72] where the body bias is kept below 0.6 V. Although possible in bulk devices, the advantage of highly reduced junction areas in SOI helps to impressively reduce the base current in a DTMOS. Since then, aggressive technological improvements led to successful fabrication of bulk and SOI DTMOS, and numerous efforts have been put to deeply characterize and model it [73]. Whether used for high-speed operation or for ultra-low power applications, the DTMOS merits the advantages of ideal subthreshold characteristics, reduced body effect, improved drive current [58], higher carrier mobility [72], and superior high frequency characteristics [74].

2.6.1 DTMOS Operation

2.6.1.1 DC Operation

A DTMOS device can be considered as two devices in one structure (or a twin device); a MOSFET and a bipolar junction transistor (BJT). For the case of a n-channel MOSFET device (with a NPN BJT device), when the device is OFF, i.e. $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm BS} = 0$, the potential of the body (or the base) is low, hence V_T is maximized (having the same value of V_T of a conventional MOSFET), which also results in minimum OFF current. When the device is turned ON, i.e. $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm BS} = V_{\rm DD}$, the body-source junction is forward biased and because of the well known body effect, V_T is decreased to its minimum. As a result, the ON current is increased (compared to a conventional MOSFET) while the efficiency (gain) of the BJT device is increased and the effective neutral base width is decreased [71]. Therefore, the body-gate tie improves both the MOSFET and the BJT twin devices.

The reduced threshold voltage of DTMOS, which is also the result of the reduction in the depletion charge, leads to an increased inversion charge and higher current drive but at the cost of an increased effective gate capacitance.

To study the threshold voltage of a DTMOS, it is practical to assume that for low values of V_T , the BJT current is negligible in comparison to the MOSFET current, and hence the device can be treated as a pure MOSFET device whose V_T is modulated by the gate bias. The body effect in a DTMOS is identical to that of a bulk device and V_T can then be given by:

$$V_T = V_{T0} + \gamma \left(\sqrt{2\psi_{\rm F} - V_{\rm BS}} - \sqrt{2\psi_{\rm F}}\right) \tag{2.3}$$

where γ is the body factor and is defined as:

$$\gamma = \frac{\sqrt{2q\varepsilon_{\rm Si}N_A}}{C_{\rm ox}} \tag{2.4}$$

and V_{T0} is the threshold voltage at zero body bias ($V_{BS} = 0$ V) and is given by:

$$V_{T0} = V_{FB} + 2\psi_F + \gamma \sqrt{2\psi_F} \tag{2.5}$$

where $V_{\rm FB}$ is the flat-band voltage given by:

$$V_{\rm FB} = \Phi_{\rm MS} - \frac{Q_{\rm ox}}{C_{\rm ox}} \tag{2.6}$$

For a DTMOS, substituting $V_{\rm BS} = V_{\rm GS}$ in (2.3), the threshold voltage for a DTMOS is directly given by

$$V_T = V_{T0} - \gamma \left(\sqrt{2\psi_{\rm F}} - \sqrt{2\psi_{\rm F} - V_{\rm GS}}\right) \tag{2.7}$$

where the relation between the threshold voltage and the gate bias is clear. As $V_{\rm GS}$ increases, V_T decreases, and vice versa. It also shows that a DTMOS should be operated at low supply voltage since $V_{\rm GS}$ cannot exceed $2\psi_{\rm F}$.

The gate voltage of a DTMOS has to be limited to approximately one diode voltage (~ 0.7 V at room temperature) otherwise large body-to-source/drain junction capacitances and currents result. Large $C_{\rm bd}$ and $C_{\rm bs}$ will degrade the switching speed of DTMOS circuits. Also large diode currents will increase the static power dissipation of DTMOS circuits.

It is proved experimentally and analytically that a DTMOS can provide an ideal subthreshold swing of 60 mV/dec [75]. This means that a perfect coupling occurs between the gate bias $V_{\rm GS}$ and the surface potential $\psi_{\rm S}$. If the interface traps are neglected, the subthreshold swing (or the inverse of the subthreshold slope) can be described by [58]:

$$S = \frac{kT}{q} \ln(10) \left(1 + \frac{C_{\rm D}}{C_{\rm ox}} \right)$$
(2.8)

For PD SOI and bulk, the relation between the surface potential and the gate bias is:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{S}}}{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{GS}}} = \frac{C_{\mathrm{ox}}}{C_{\mathrm{ox}} + C_{\mathrm{D}}} \tag{2.9}$$

But in the case of a DTMOS, $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm BS}$, thus $d\psi_{\rm S} = dV_{\rm GS}$ or $d\psi_{\rm S}/dV_{\rm GS} = 1$. Therefore, S of a DTMOS can be simplified to:

$$S = \frac{kT}{q} \ln(10) = 60 \text{ mV/dec (at room temperature)}$$
(2.10)

Transconductance of the DTMOS is also significantly higher than for a conventional MOSFET. This increase of the total transconductance comes at the cost of a higher input capacitance. Indeed, the total body/gate capacitance is made of the gate capacitance of a MOSFET and the depletion capacitance.

The forward biasing of the source-substrate junction (SSJ) improves the transistor operation since the transverse electric field $(E \perp)$ decreases, thus reducing the degradation of the carrier mobility; and a higher mobility leads to a higher current drive capability which also improves the operating speed.

The amount of increased current drive in DTMOS is approximately proportional to $C_{\text{ox}}\Delta V_T$ where ΔV_T is the amount of V_T reduction caused by the forward body bias:

$$\Delta V_T \approx V_{\rm DD} \frac{3t_{\rm ox}}{X_{\rm D}} \tag{2.11}$$

An increase of ΔV_T by increasing the body-effect parameter (which results from increasing the substrate concentration) also produces an undesirable increase of V_T . Thus, a trade-off between ΔV_T and V_T should be found in terms of the depletion width and the gate oxide thickness.

Using uniformly doped SOI MOSFET will have several limitations. If a laterally non-uniform well is used (with high doping concentration in the middle of the channel) large body effect can be obtained while minimizing $C_{\rm bd}$ and $C_{\rm bs}$ [76]. The sensitivity of V_T and ΔV_T to $V_{\rm BS}$ can also be increased using retrograde or counter-doping of the channel [77].

Standard DTMOS has a high body resistance, leading to a long RC delay of gate to body signal transmission. Dynamic operation speed of the circuit is severely restricted by this long delay. To reduce the RC delay, schemes need to be developed for connecting the gate to the body along the device width direction [76]. Another method for significantly reducing this delay is to build the DTMOS on bulk substrates using a triple-well process [78].

Therefore, in summary, as body potential \uparrow

- \Rightarrow vertical electric field \downarrow
- \Rightarrow mobility \uparrow
- \Rightarrow depletion region \downarrow
- \Rightarrow for short channel DTMOS $g_D \downarrow$
- \Rightarrow Early voltage $V_{\rm EA}$ \uparrow (doubled)
- \Rightarrow degradation due to hot-carriers \downarrow (due to the reduction of the electric field).

2.6.1.2 RF Operation

In a DTMOS, the "extrinsic" output conductance, defined by $\Re(Y_{22} + Y_{12})$, increases vs. frequency and the "extrinsic" transconductance, $\Re(Y_{21} + Y_{12})$ decreases. Therefore, it is expected that the benefits of DTMOS reduce as frequency increase [79, 80].

The useful effect of the DTMOS is related to g_{mb} (the body to source transconductance). The influence of g_{mb} vanishes when a signal comes from the gate. The extrinsic transconductance falls from $(g_m + g_{mb})$ to g_m . The highest gains of DTMOS for analog applications are obtained for frequencies below 200 MHz [79]. It is worth noticing that the output conductance g_D of the DTMOS is also increasing above 200 MHz. This variation of the output conductance is mainly related to the phenomena occurring in the thin film of silicon, and not in the underlying substrate. Similar variations have been observed using a high resis-

tivity substrate. Thus the variation of g_D can be related to a g_{mb} controlled by the drain through the body-to-drain junction.

Higher than few GHz, DTMOS acts similarly to a conventional MOSFET. But a reduction of V_T allows DTMOS to conduct more current and to have a higher transconductance than a usual MOSFET for the same bias. Practically, the contact between the gate and the floating body of the DTMOS does not bring any RF advantages as only DC bias is acting through this contact. On the contrary, it introduces real impedances at the input of the transistor, and as a consequence a loss of power. Indeed, any part of the incident power that goes through this input impedance does not bring any useful effect.

However, since the DTMOS is a device well suited for low voltage applications, its RF characteristics are better monitored at low bias levels. At low supply voltages (~ 0.7 V), DTMOS shows significantly higher f_T and f_{max} values than FB and BT conventional MOSFET transistors [74]. In 2001, the record f_{max} (185 GHz) was reported using a DTMOS device [81].

2.6.2 Channel Engineering of DTMOS

2.6.2.1 Vertical Doping Engineering for Enhancing ΔV_T

DTMOS can greatly enhance performance by engineering the vertical doping profiles to scale the depletion width $X_{\rm D}$ [77]. In DTMOS, the amount of increase in inversion charge $\Delta Q_{\rm i}$ is a result of the decrease in the depletion charge:

$$\Delta Q_{\rm i} = 2\psi_{\rm B}C_{\rm D} - (2\psi_{\rm B} - V_{\rm DD})C_{\rm D}' = C_{\rm ox}\Delta V_T \qquad (2.12)$$

where $C'_{\rm D}$ is the depletion capacitance when $V_{\rm BS}$ is charged up to $V_{\rm DD}$ and $\psi_{\rm B}$ is the difference between the Fermi potential and the intrinsic potential (mid-gap potential). This added gate-loading of $C_{\rm ox}\Delta V_T$ is beneficial to the device speed, in particular when the output loading is dominated by external capacitance and the delay is inversely proportional to $I_{\rm Dsat}$. When $C_{\rm bs}$ and $C_{\rm bd}$ are small and can be ignored, the speed of the DTMOS operated at $V_{\rm DD}$ is effectively operated at $V_{\rm DD}+\Delta V_T$ because:

$$\tau_{\rm d} \propto \frac{C_{\rm ox} V_{\rm DD} \left(1 + \frac{\Delta V_T}{V_{\rm DD}}\right)}{I_{\rm Dsat}} \approx \frac{V_{\rm DD}'}{V_{\rm DD}' - V_{T,\rm off}}$$
(2.13)

When compared at the same delay and the same I_{OFF} , the reduction of the active power of the DTMOS is about $V_{\text{DD}}/(V_{\text{DD}} + \Delta V_T)$. Thus one major task in a DTMOS device design is to maximize ΔV_T . From (2.11), the key device design parameter is to reduce the depletion width X_{D} . Knowing that scaling X_{D} improves short-channel effects but results in increased subthreshold slope S in conventional MOSFET. However in DTMOS, S is always equal to the ideal value of 60 mV/decade. Low temperature epitaxy could provide a way to engineer profiles with very small X_{D} .

2.6.2.2 Lateral Doping Engineering for Minimizing Parasitic Capacitances

When the circuit speed is dominated by device capacitances, lateral doping engineering is important to reduce $C_{\rm bs}$ and $C_{\rm bd}$ in order to obtain performance improvements, especially in certain logic circuits where the Miller effect is important [77].

In ac conditions, the effect of $C_{\rm bs}$ and $C_{\rm bd}$ plays an important role in the device speed, particularly when the output loading is dominated by the device capacitance but not by the wiring capacitance such as in unloaded ring oscillators.

Scaling $X_{\rm D}$ increases the ratio of $C_{\rm D}$ over $C_{\rm bs}$ and $C_{\rm bd}$. $C_{\rm bs}$ and $C_{\rm bd}$ can be further reduced by using laterally-nonuniform local channel doping to reduce the overlap capacitance. The gate coupling effect is weakened when the wiring capacitance increases therefore the advantage diminishes.

Another important parasitic component is the parasitic resistance along the channel width direction because the contacts are at the sides of the device. The delay caused by the parasitic RC can be measured using body contact structures.

Using pulse measurement, the delay can be measured by monitoring the voltage rise at the drain terminal when a step voltage is applied to the body contact. The delay of a W/L = 10/0.25 device is approximately 100 ps [77].

2.6.3 Effect of Different Gate Structures

A H-gate structure has a larger threshold voltage reduction than a T-gate counterpart (see Fig. 2.9). This is because H-gate structures have higher body-effect factor. Since $I_{\rm Dsat} \propto (V_{\rm GS} - V_T)^2$, therefore as V_T decreases, $I_{\rm Dsat}$ increases. Thus, H-gate structures show higher saturation drain current than the T-gate ones. H-gate devices also show smaller DIBL and higher g_m in saturation region than T-gate ones due to its higher body-effect factor [82].



Fig. 2.9.: Gate structures can strongly affect the threshold voltage.

2.6.4 Modeling of DTMOS

Conventional circuit model of MOSFETs is based on the depletion approximation, which is obviously violated by the presence of mobile charges owing to the forward biasing of the source-body junction [73].

Any MOSFET has an intrinsic BJT associated structurally with it. Under normal MOS operating conditions (reverse or zero biased body) this BJT is OFF. However, when the body is forward biased at voltages well above 0.6 V, the bipolar effect will be manifested. Most injected carriers from the source will be collected by the drain terminal; some will be recombined in the body [70]. DTMOS can be easily modeled as two transistors connected in parallel (MOSFET + BJT) [73].

A small signal equivalent circuit model for the intrinsic part of the DTMOS was proposed by T. Hirose *el al.* and is presented in Fig. 2.10 [81].



Fig. 2.10.: Small-signal equivalent circuit for a DTMOS device.

2.7 GCMOS

The idea of a Graded-Channel device was first introduced by T. A. DeMassa, G. G. Goddard, and G. T. Catalano in 1971 [83] and 1973 [84]. In 1975, T. A. DeMassa and S. R. Iyer proposed a closed form solution for a Graded-Channel Junction Field Effect Transistor (JFET) [85]. They also introduced a study of the thermal noise in the same device [86]. Later, in 1978, R. E. Williams and D. W. Shaw presented improved linearity and noise figure using a Graded-Channel FET [87]. The RF favoured performance of Graded-Channel devices over classical uniform doping devices was highlighted in 1980 by S. D. S. Malhi and C. A. T. Salama, where they reported a higher cutoff frequency for Graded-Channel FET [88]. The Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor MOS version of the Graded-Channel devices was introduced for the first time in 2000 by M. A. Pavanello *et al.* [89], and since then, it has received an increasing attention. In these academic devices, the implantation used to adjust the threshold voltage V_T is masked near the drain

over a distance L_{LD} (Lightly-Doped) (see Fig. 2.11a), yielding a high V_T region near the source in series with a low V_T region adjacent to the drain.

Nevertheless, in order to align the fabrication of GCMOS within the framework of an industrial standard CMOS process, a different procedure is used. The channel is shared between two different doping schemes introduced through two perfectly aligned masks, one for a high V_T (near the source) giving rise to V_{T1} and the other for a depletion mode MOSFET (near the drain) giving rise to V_{T2} (see Fig. 2.11b). The target is to introduce the maximum possible $\Delta V_T = V_{T1} - V_{T2}$. As a result, a lightly doped region is created near the drain over a length of L_{LD} . The high difference in V_T results in a naturally inverted region near the drain side (over L_{LD}) at approximately zero gate bias which emulates an extended drain area beneath the gate. Hence, the effective channel length is reduced from L (the drawn channel length) to $L_{\text{eff}} = L - L_{\text{LD}}$. The ratio L_{LD}/L defines the characteristics of the device [89].



(a) Cross-section of a PD GCMOS structure. (

(b) Top view mask layout of the FD GCMOS structure.

Fig. 2.11.: PD and FD GCMOS structures.

The highly doped part of the channel at the source end improves the threshold voltage roll-off and the drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL), whereas the light doping near the drain ensures high mobility, reduced peak electric field, and lowered impact ionization [89–91]. It also results in higher Early and break down voltages [92]. As a result a better analog performance is achieved with a better intrinsic gain due to a higher dc transconductance (g_m) and a lower output conductance (g_D) . In addition, the analog and RF characteristics of the GCMOS are highly improved with a higher current gain cut-off frequency (f_T) compared to classical MOSFET transistors [90–95].

The low frequency (1/f) noise performance of the Graded-Channel MOS (GC-MOS) has also been analyzed in order to study the ability of this device to be used in the recent low-power low-noise applications [96]. In addition, using TCAD simulations, T. C. Lim *et al.* [97] showed that the minimum noise figure of the laterally asymmetric channel MOS should outperform the classical nMOS device for both bulk and partially-depleted SOI due to a higher correlation factor C in the Pucel's model [98–100]. On the other hand, Roy *et al.* described

the noise sources distribution along the channel and showed a higher correlation factor in the case of GCMOS transistor compared to classical nMOS [101].

2.8 SUMMARY OF DEVICES-UNDER-TEST

The devices considered in this work have been presented in this chapter. These device are characterized in chapter 3 in dc and RF regimes for wide temperature range (from room temperature till 250°C) and also for low voltage low power applications in chapter 4. In chapter 5, the nonlinearity behavior of these devices are studied whereas in chapter 6 the RF noise performance of some of them is presented (mainly the GCMOS structure). Based on these different characterization schemes, chapter 7 shows the advantages and disadvantages of using these devices in RF circuits represented by the RF antenna switch.

All data presented throughout this work are measured data. The geometries and characteristics of the devices measured and presented in this work are summarized in Table 2.1. This table should evolve throughout with the extraction of different figures of merit.

Table 2.1.: A summary of the geometries and the characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

	DNW Bulk			PD SOI			FD SOI	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$t_{\rm Si}({\rm nm})$				150	150	150	40	40
$t_{\rm ox}(\rm nm)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	2.5	2.5
$t_{\rm box}({\rm nm})$			—	400	400	400	145	145
	FD				PD			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	5 FB	GC	BT GC
$L (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0	.5	0.5
$W (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3	.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	1	2	12
$t_{\rm Si}({\rm nm})$	40	40	40	40	100	1	00	100
$t_{\rm ox}(\rm nm)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	4.5	4	.5	4.5
$t_{\rm box}(\rm nm)$	145	145	145	145	400	4	00	400

DNW bulk devices and PD SOI devices are fabricated in the same foundry using the same technology but on different substrates. FD devices (FB and BT) presented in the first part of the table are fabricated in the same fab as FD devices (nMOS and GCMOS) presented in the second part of the table but on a different run, the GCMOS and nMOS being on a more recent and advanced one.

The shortest GCMOS that could be fabricated on this run has a drawn channel length of 0.24 μ m and is thus compared to the shortest available classical nMOS (for this technology) of a drawn channel length of 0.15 μ m since they both should have the same effective channel length (since $L_{\rm eff}$ of a GCMOS is equal to L/2 for the case considered in this work).

The comparison between a GCMOS and a classical nMOS of the same drawn channel length is guaranteed through the PD SOI devices shown in the second part of the table and are fabricated in a different facility than the PD SOI devices shown in the first part of the table. Notice that, in chapter 6, for a better RF noise characterization, a different set of devices with larger channel widths are used for the PD GCMOS devices.

Temperature measurements are performed between 25° C (room temperature) and 250° C using a temperature controlled chuck except for the case of FD devices since they showed a high sensibility and fragility at 250° C and thus were measured till 200° C only.

Bibliography

- L. E. Garner, Jr., Transistors and their applications in television-radio electronics. Coyne Electrical School, 1953.
- J. E. Lilienfeld, "Method and apparatus for controlling electric currents," U.S. Patent 1 745 175, Jan. 28, 1930, (filed Oct. 8, 1926 in US and earlier on Oct. 22, 1925 in Canada).
- [3] —, "Amplifier for electric currents," U.S. Patent 1 877 140, Sep. 13, 1932.
- [4] —, "Device for controlling electric current," U.S. Patent 1 900 018, Mar. 7, 1933.
- [5] O. Heil, "Improvements in or relating to electrical amplifiers and other control arrangements and devices," United Kingdom Patent 439 457, Dec. 6, 1935, filed in Germany Mar. 2, 1934 (convention) and in United Kingdom Mar. 4, 1935 (Application).
- [6] R. G. Arns, "The other transistor: early history of the metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistor," *Engineering Science and Education Journal*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 233–240, Oct. 1998.
- [7] V. E. Bottom, "Invention of the solid-state amplifier," *Physics Today*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 24–26, Feb. 1964.
- [8] J. B. Johnson, "More on the solid-state amplifier and Dr. lilienfeld," *Physics Today*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 60–62, May 1964.
- [9] J. Bardeen, Summit, and W. H. Brattain, "Three-electrode circuit element utilizing semiconductive materials," U.S. Patent 2 524 033, Oct. 3, 1950.
- [10] —, "Three-electrode circuit element utilizing semiconductive materials," U.S. Patent 2 524 035, Oct. 3, 1950.
- [11] W. Shockley, "A unipolar "field-effect" transistor," Proc. IRE, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1365–1376, Nov. 1952.
- [12] R. Ohl, "Light sensitive device," U.S. Patent 2 402 662, Jun. 25, 1946.
- [13] Transistor, 60th anniversary. Alcatel-Lucent. [Online]. Available: http:// www.alcatel-lucent.com
- [14] J. Bardeen and W. H. Brattain, "The transistor, a semi-conductor triode," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 230–231, Jul. 1948.
- [15] W. H. Brattain and J. Bardeen, "Nature of the forward current in germanium point contacts," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 231–232, Jul. 1948.

- [16] W. Shockley and G. L. Pearson, "Modulation of conductance of thin films of semi-conductors by surface charges," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 232– 233, Jul. 1948.
- [17] J. Bardeen and W. H. Brattain, "Physical principles involved in transistor action," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 75, no. 8, pp. 1208–1225, Apr. 1949.
- [18] W. Shockley, M. Sparks, and G. K. Teal, "p-n junction transistors," Phys. Rev., vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 151–162, Jul. 1951.
- [19] W. Shockley, "Circuit element utilizing semiconductive materials," U.S. Patent 2 569 347, Sep. 25, 1951.
- [20] —, "The path to the conception of the junction transistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 597–620, Jul. 1976.
- [21] A replica of the first transistor. The White House. [Online]. Available: http://clinton4.nara.gov/media/jpg/replica-of-first-transistor.jpg
- [22] Transistor inventors. Alcatel-Lucent. [Online]. Available: http://www.alcatel-lucent.com
- [23] W. H. Brattain and R. B. Gibney, "Three-electrode circuit element utilizing semiconductive materials," U.S. Patent 2 524 034, Oct. 3, 1950.
- [24] All nobel prizes in physics. Nobelprize.org. [Online]. Available: http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/
- [25] G. C. Dacey and I. M. Ross, "The field effect transistor," *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 1149–1189, Nov. 1955.
- [26] TI introduces first commercial silicon transistor. Texas Instruments. [Online]. Available: http://www.ti.com/corp/docs/company/history/ timeline/semicon/1950/docs/54commercial.htm
- [27] M. M. Atalla, E. Tannenbaum, and E. Scheibner, "Stabilization of silicon surfaces by thermally grown oxides," *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 749–783, May 1959.
- [28] D. Kahng and M. M. Atalla, "Silicon-silicon dioxide field induced surface devices," in *Proc. IRE-AIEE Solid State Device Research Conference*, vol. 38, no. 3, Carnegie Institute of Technology, Pittsburgh, PA, Oct. 27–29, 1960, pp. 749–783.
- [29] J. A. Hoerni, "Planar silicon transistors and diodes," in *Proc. IRE-AIEE Solid State Device Research Conference*, vol. 38, no. 3, Carnegie Institute of Technology, Pittsburgh, PA, Oct. 27–29, 1960, pp. 749–783.
- [30] —, "Method of manufacturing semiconductor devices," U.S. Patent 3 025 589, Mar. 20, 1962.

- [31] H. K. J. Ihantola and J. L. Moll, "Design theory of a surface field-effect transistor," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 423–430, Jun. 1964.
- [32] C. T. Sah, "Characteristics of the metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 324–345, Jul. 1964.
- [33] S. R. Hofstein and F. P. Heiman, "The silicon insulated-gate field-effect transistor," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1190–1202, Sep. 1963.
- [34] J. R. Brews, "Physics of the MOS transistor," in *Applied Solid-State Science*, D. Kahng ed. Academic Press, New York, 1981, pp. 1–20, supplement 2A.
- [35] Y. Taur and T. H. Ning, Fundamentals of Modern VLSI Devices. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [36] Y. Tsividis, Operation and Modeling of the MOS Transistor, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- [37] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, 3rd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2007.
- [38] History of the integrated circuit. IC Knowledge[©]. [Online]. Available: http://www.icknowledge.com/history/history.html
- [39] J. S. Kilby, "Miniaturized electronic circuits," U.S. Patent 3 138 743, Jun. 23, 1964.
- [40] G. E. Moore, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits," *Electronics*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 114–117, Apr. 1965.
- [41] Intel excutive biography. Gordon E. Moore. Intel[®]. [Online]. Available: http://www.intel.com/pressroom/kits/bios/moore.htm
- [42] M. Dubash. Moore's law is dead, says Gordon Moore. Techworld[©]. [Online]. Available: http://news.techworld.com/operating-systems/3477/ moores-law-is-dead-says-gordon-moore/
- [43] H. M. Manasevit and W. I. Simpson, "Single-crystal silicon on a sapphire substrate," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 1349–1351, Apr. 1964.
- [44] C. W. Mueller and P. H. Robinson, "Grown-film silicon transistors on sapphire," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 530–530, Nov. 1964.
- [45] —, "Grown-film silicon transistors on sapphire," Proc. IEEE, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 1487–1490, Dec. 1964.
- [46] C. A. T. Salama and L. Young, "Evaporated silicon thin-film transistors," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 2156–2157, Dec. 1965.

- [47] C. H. Fa and T. T. Jew, "The poly-silicon insulated-gate field-effect transistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 290–291, Feb. 1966.
- [48] T. I. Kamins, "A new dielectric isolation technique for bipolar integrated circuits using thin single-crystal silicon films," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 915–916, Jul. 1972.
- [49] O. Shinchi and J. Sakurai, "The buried oxide MOSFET-A new type of high-speed switching device," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 1190–1191, Oct. 1976.
- [50] J. Sakurai, "A new buried oxide isolation for high-speed, high-density MOS integrated circuits," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM'77*), vol. 23, Washington, DC, Dec. 5–7, 1977, pp. 388–390.
- [51] —, "A new buried-oxide isolation for high-speed high-density MOS integrated circuits," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 468–471, Aug. 1978.
- [52] —, "The BO-MOS RAM cell," in Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'78), vol. 24, Washington, DC, Dec. 4–6, 1978, pp. 197–200.
- [53] K. Izumi, M. Doken, and H. Ariyoshi, "C.M.O.S. devices fabricated on buried SiO₂ layers formed by oxygen implantation into silicon," *Elect. Lett.*, vol. 14, no. 18, pp. 593–594, Aug. 1978.
- [54] A. F. Tasch, T. C. Holloway, K. F. Lee, and J. F. Gibbons, "Siliconon-insulator m.o.s.f.e.t.s fabricated on laser-annealed polysilicon on SiO₂," *Elect. Lett.*, vol. 15, no. 14, pp. 435–437, Jul. 1979.
- [55] K. F. Lee, J. F. Gibbons, K. C. Saraswat, and T. I. Kamins, "Thin film MOSFET's fabricated in laser-annealed polycrystalline silicon," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 173–175, Jul. 1979.
- [56] M. Bruel, "Silicon on insulator material technology," *Elect. Lett.*, vol. 31, no. 14, pp. 1201–1202, Jul. 1995.
- [57] T. Yonehara, K. Sakaguchi, and N. Sato, "Epitaxial layer transfer by bond and etch back of porous Si," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 64, no. 16, pp. 2108– 2110, Apr. 1994.
- [58] J.-P. Colinge, Silicon-on-Insulator Technology: Materials to VLSI, 3rd ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- [59] D. Flandre, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "SOI CMOS transistors for RF and microwave applications," *International Journal of High Speed Electronics and Systems*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1159–1248, 2001.

- [60] D. Kamel, D. Bol, and D. Flandre, "Impact of layout style and parasitic capacitances in full adder," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference* (SOI'08), New Paltz, NY, Oct. 6–9, 2008, pp. 97–98.
- [61] D. Flandre, J.-P. Colinge, J. Chen, D. de Ceuster, J.-P. Eggermont, L. Ferreira, B. Gentinne, P. G. A. Jespers, A. Viviani, R. Gillon, J.-P. Raskin, A. Vander-Vorst, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and F. Silveira, "Fully-depleted SOI CMOS technology for low-voltage low-power mixed digital/analog/microwave circuits," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 213–228, Dec. 1999.
- [62] M. J. Sherony, L. T. Su, J. E. Chung, and D. A. Antoniadis, "Reduction of threshold voltage sensitivity in SOI MOSFET's," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 100–102, Mar. 1995.
- [63] R.-H. Yan, A. Ourmazd, and K. F. Lee, "Scaling the Si MOSFET: From bulk to SOI to bulk," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1704–1710, Jul. 1992.
- [64] J.-G. Su, H.-M. Hsu, S.-C. Wong, C.-Y. Chang, T.-Y. Huang, and J. Y.-C. Sun, "Improving the RF performance of 0.18 μm CMOS with deep n-well implantation," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 481–483, Oct. 2001.
- [65] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature DC and RF behavior of partially depleted SOI versus deep n-well protected bulk MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE Topical meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'09)*, San Diego, CA, Jan. 19–21, 2009, pp. 185–188.
- [66] J. Tihanyi and H. Schlotterer, "Properties of ESFI MOS transistors due to the floating substrate and the finite volume," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 1017–1023, Nov. 1975.
- [67] B. Dierickx, L. Warmerdam, E. Simoen, J. Vermeiren, and C. Claeys, "Model for hysteresis and kink behavior of MOS transistors operating at 4.2 k," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 1120–1125, Jul. 1988.
- [68] C. Merckel, "SOS MOSFET," in Nato course on process and device modeling for integrated circuit design, F. Van de Wiele, W. Engl, and P. Jespers ed. Groningen, The Netherlands: Noordhoff, 1977, pp. 725–738.
- [69] R. Dennard, F. Gaensslen, L. Kuhn, and H. Yu, "Design of micron MOS switching devices," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM'72*), vol. 18, Washington, DC, Dec. 4–6, 1972, pp. 168–170.

- [70] F. J. de la Hidalga-W and M. J. Deen, "The dynamic threshold voltage MOSFET," in Proc. IEEE Third International Caracas Conf. on Devices, Circuits and Systems, Mar. 15–17, 2000, pp. D63/1–D63/7.
- [71] J.-P. Colinge, "An SOI voltage-controlled bipolar-MOS device," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 845–849, Apr. 1987.
- [72] F. Assaderaghi, D. Sinitsky, S. Parke, J. Bokor, P. K. KO, and C. Hu, "A dynamic threshold voltage MOSFET (DTMOS) for ultra-low voltage operation," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'94)*, San Francisco, CA, Dec. 11–14, 1994, pp. 809–812.
- [73] A. Jiménez-P, F. J. de la Hidalga-W, and M. J. Deen, "Modeling of the dynamic threshold MOSFET," in *IEE Proc. Circuits, Devices and Systems*, vol. 152, no. 5, Oct. 7, 2005, pp. 502–508.
- [74] V. Ferlet-Cavrois, A. Bracale, N. Fel, O. Musseau, C. Raynaud, O. Faynot, and J.-L. Pelloie, "High frequency characterization of SOI dynamic threshold voltage MOS (DTMOS) transistors," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Rohnert Park, CA, Oct. 4–7, 1999, pp. 24–25.
- [75] J.-K. Lee, N.-J. Choi, C.-G. Yu, J.-P. Colinge, and J.-T. Park, "Temperature dependence of DTMOS transistor characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 183–187, Jan. 2004.
- [76] F. Assaderaghi, "DTMOS: Its derivatives and variations, and their potential application," in Proc. 12th International Conference on Microelectronics (ICM), Tehran, Oct. 2000, pp. 9–10.
- [77] C. Wann, F. Assaderaghi, R. Dennard, Chenming Hu, G. Shahidi, and Y. Taur, "Channel profile optimization and device design for low-power high-performance dynamic-threshold MOSFET," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'96)*, San Francisco, CA, Dec. 8–11, 1996, pp. 113–116.
- [78] H. Kotaki, S. Kakimoto, M. Nakano, T. Matsuoka, K. Adachi, K. Sugimoto, T. Fukushima, and Y. Sato, "Novel bulk dynamic threshold voltage MOS-FET (B-DTMOS) with advanced isolation (SITOS) and gate to shallowwell contact (SSS-C) processes for ultra low power dual gate CMOS," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'96)*, San Francisco, CA, Dec. 8–11, 1996, pp. 459–462.
- [79] M. Dehan, "Characterization and modeling of SOI RF integrated components," Ph.D. dissertation, Université catholique de Louvain, Nov. 2003.
- [80] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "Dynamic threshold voltage MOS in partially depleted SOI technology: A wide frequency band analysis," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 67–72, Jan. 2005.

- [81] T. Hirose, Y. Momiyama, M. Kosugi, and H. Kano, "A 185 GHz f_{max} SOI DTMOS with a new metallic overlay-gate for low-power RF applications," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'01)*, Washington, DC, Dec. 2–5, 2001, pp. 33.5.1–33.5.3.
- [82] W.-C. Lo, S.-J. Chang, C.-Y. Chang, and T.-S. Cao, "Impacts of gate structure on dynamic threshold SOI nMOSFETs," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 497–499, Aug. 2002.
- [83] T. A. DeMassa and D. G. Goddard, "Inhomogeneous channel resistivity field effect devices," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 14, no. 11, pp. 1107–1112, Nov. 1971.
- [84] T. A. DeMassa and G. T. Catalano, "The inhomogeneous channel FET: ICFET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 847–851, Aug. 1973.
- [85] T. A. DeMassa and S. R. Iyer, "Closed form solution for the linear graded channel JFET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 931–932, Nov. 1975.
- [86] —, "Thermal noise in the linear graded channel junction FET," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 933–935, Nov. 1975.
- [87] R. E. Williams and D. W. Shaw, "Graded channel FET's: Improve linearity and noise figure," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 600–605, Jun. 1975.
- [88] S. D. S. Malhi and C. A. T. Salama, "Cutoff frequency of a graded channel F.E.T." *Electronics Letters*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 261–263, Mar. 1980.
- [89] M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, V. Dessard, and D. Flandre, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for reducing parasitic effects and improving output characteristics," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, no. 3, pp. 50–52, 2000.
- [90] M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, and D. Flandre, "Graded-channel fully depleted silicon-on-insulator nMOSFET for reducing the parasitic bipolar effects," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 917–922, Jun. 2000.
- [91] —, "Analog performance and application of graded-channel fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1219– 1222, Jul. 2000.
- [92] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for improving DC and microwave characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1005–1011, Jul. 2002.
- [93] A. Kranti, T. M. Chung, D. Flandre, and J. P. Raskin, "Laterally asymmetric channel engineering in fully depleted double gate SOI MOSFETs

for high performance analog applications," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 947–959, Jun. 2004.

- [94] A. Cerdeira, M. A. Alemán, M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, L. Vancaillie, and D. Flandre, "Advantages of the graded-channel SOI FD MOSFET for application as a quasi-linear resistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 967–972, May 2005.
- [95] K. Narasimhulu, M. P. Desai, S. G. Narendra, and V. R. Rao, "The effect of LAC doping on deep submicrometer transistor capacitances and its influence on device RF performance," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1416–1423, Sep. 2004.
- [96] E. Simoen, C. Claeys, T. M. Chung, D. Flandre, M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, and J.-P. Raskin, "The low-frequency noise behavior of graded-channel SOI n-MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 260–267, Feb. 2007.
- [97] T. C. Lim, R. Valentin, G. Dambrine, and F. Danneville, "MOSFETs RF noise optimization via channel engineering," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 118–121, Jan. 2008.
- [98] R. A. Pucel, H. A. Haus, and H. Statz, "Signal and noise properties of gallium arsenide field effect transistors," Advances in Electronics and Electron Physics, vol. 38, pp. 195–265, 1974.
- [99] H. Statz, H. A. Haus, and R. A. Pucel, "Noise characteristics of gallium arsenide field-effect transistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 549–562, Sep. 1974.
- [100] A. Cappy, "Noise modeling and measurement techniques," IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech., vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 1–10, Jan. 1988.
- [101] A. S. Roy, C. C. Enz, and J.-M. Sallese, "Noise modeling in lateral nonuniform MOSFET," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1994– 2001, Aug. 2007.

CHAPTER 3

WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION

THE various MOSFET structures presented in chapter 2 are the subject of a wide-band measurement and characterization campaign in the current chapter. The objective is to provide a deep understanding of the behavior of each structure and how it differs from the other structures. Based on this understanding, the merits and advantages of each structure can be distinguished in order to prepare the stage for the final objective; optimized use of various MOSFET structures in RF circuits.

The characterization follows a classical approach, starting by standard dc figures of merit and moving to analog characterization. This is followed by a high frequency or RF characterization, based on measured S-parameters and the extraction of the parameters of a standard small-signal equivalent circuit. The conventional RF figures of merit are also extracted from measured data.

In order to provide a *real-life* practical information about the different device structures considered here, a high temperature characterization, based on measured data, is provided at each step of the characterization flow. The high temperature behavior of MOSFET structures is becoming a daily-basis problem. The increasing number of transistors per chip and the increasing speed of operation contribute to an increasing operation temperature for almost every available consumer application at the current time. This fact is true for bulk MOSFET devices, and is more pronounced in SOI MOSFET devices due to the

34 WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION

presence of the buried oxide with its poor thermal conductivity. In normal operation conditions, devices could operate at temperatures up to 80° C. In addition, the high temperature applications is becoming a large value market. Automotive electronics, on-engine and on-transmission applications, wheel-mounted applications, aerospace and environmental monitoring (e.g. mining and well logging), ... are all examples of industrial sectors that have been difficult to serve up till now.

Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) technology is emerging as the most mature solution for high temperature applications in MOS technology area. Indeed, SOI MOS-FETs present lower leakage currents than bulk devices at high temperature, as well as a smaller variation of threshold voltage with temperature [1]. They are also immune to temperature-induced latchup. As a result, SOI circuits can operate at temperatures above 300°C, while bulk CMOS is usually limited to 150°C [2, 3]. In previous published work [1, 4], high temperature dc behavior has been considered, while RF high temperature behavior has rarely been discussed [5].

3.1 MEASUREMENT SETUP

All measurements presented in this chapter are acquired using on-wafer measurements. A Suss probe-station PM8[®] along with a temperature controlled chuck are employed (see Fig. 3.1a). A HP 4145[®] semiconductor parameter analyzer (see Fig. 3.1b) is used for dc bias and dc measurements. An Anritsu 37369A[®] Vector Network Analyzer (VNA) (see Fig. 3.1c) is used to acquire the small-signal S-parameters in a 40-MHz–40-GHz frequency range. All RF measurements are performed with a source power of -7 dBm.

Generally, characterization of semiconductor devices could be achieved through packaged chips or using On-wafer probing. In packaged chip measure-



(a) Suss Probe station $PM8^{\textcircled{B}}$ with high temperature chuck



(b) HP 4145[®]



(c) Anritsu 37369A®

Fig. 3.1.: The measurement setup used for dc and RF characterization.

ments the test chip is inserted into a ZIF¹ socket on a PCB having external connectors. On the other hand, the On-wafer probing involves designing the test chip with separate pads near each device. On-wafer probing is much more difficult and requires very high level of care in order to avoid damaging the device or the probes. However, despite the difficulties of on-wafer measurements, characterization of deep sub-micron devices using packaged chips has become obsolete. This is because as the technology shrinks down, the parasitics (introduced by the package pins, wire bonds and interconnects) become much larger compared to that associated with the device itself. For this reasons, on-wafer probing is more suitable for the characterization of deep sub-micron devices, especially when RF measurements are concerned.

RF on-wafer probes must have special electrical characteristic like a wide bandwidth and a low contact resistance as well as special mechanical characteristics like consistent probe shape and durability. It must also be optimized for loss, impedance match, power and current handling capabilities, contact force, and tip visibility.

For on-wafer measurements, at room temperature, the Infinity probe[®] [8] is used whereas for high temperature measurements the $|\mathbf{Z}|$ probe[®] [9] is used (see Fig. 3.2). Both probes are used with a 100- μ m pitch except for the case of PD GCMOS devices which required a 150- μ m pitch probes.

A good grounding is essential to achieve reliable measurements. The probes used feature a Ground-Signal-Ground (GSG) configuration as shown in Fig. 3.3. Two grounds are used to provide a good shield for the signal and minimize the cross talk between the signal tip and other conductors. This also minimizes the ground inductance since they are in parallel. Another important feature is that the two halves of the DUT are exposed to the same conditions.



(a) Infinity probe[®]



Fig. 3.2.: The probes used in dc and RF measurements at room and high temperatures (Courtesy of Cascade Microtech, Inc.[®] [7]).

¹ZIF is an acronym for *zero insertion force*, a concept used in the design of IC sockets, invented to avoid problems caused by applying force upon insertion and extraction of the IC in the socket. A normal integrated circuit (IC) socket requires the IC to be pushed into sprung contacts which then grip by friction. For an IC with hundreds of pins, the total insertion force can be very large (tens of newtons), leading to a danger of damage to the device or the PCB. With a ZIF socket, before the IC is inserted, a lever or slider on the side of the socket is moved, pushing all the sprung contacts apart so that the IC can be inserted with very little force (generally the weight of the IC itself is sufficient with no external downward force required). The lever is then moved back, allowing the contacts to close and grip the pins of the IC [6].

WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION



Fig. 3.3.: Illustration of the ground-signal-ground technique used in RF measurements of a two-port system.

3.1.1 Calibration

The perfect measurement instrument does not exist. Therefore, a calibration step is crucial. The different calibration techniques are intended to overcome the effect of errors that are repeatable and predictable over time and temperature. and hence can be removed. Other types of errors that cannot be removed also exist, they are neither repeatable nor predictable. Fortunately, these later errors do not alter the accuracy of measurements to a big extent. In general, three types of errors exist [10]:

- Systematic errors.
- Random errors.
- Drift errors.

Systematic errors, as defined by Agilent Technologies [10], are caused by imperfections in the test equipment and test setup. If these errors do not vary over time, they can be characterized through calibration and mathematically removed during the measurement process. Systematic errors encountered in network measurements are related to signal leakage, signal reflections, and frequency response. There are six types of systematic errors (see Fig. 3.4):

- Directivity and crosstalk errors related to signal leakage.
- Source and load impedance mismatches related to reflections.
- Frequency response errors caused by reflection and transmission tracking within the test receivers.

(The full two-port error model includes all six of these terms for the forward direction and the same six (with different data) in the reverse direction, for a total of twelve error terms. This is why two-port calibration is often referred to as twelve-term error correction.)

Random errors vary randomly as a function of time. Since they are not predictable, they cannot be removed by calibration. The main contributors to random errors are instrument noise (e.g. sampler noise and the IF noise floor), switch repeatability, and connector repeatability. When using network analyzers, noise errors can often be reduced by increasing the source power, narrowing the IF bandwidth, or by using trace averaging over multiple sweeps.

36



Fig. 3.4.: Systematic measurement errors (source: Agilent Technologies [10]).

Drift errors occur when a test system's performance changes after a calibration has been performed. They are primarily caused by temperature variation and can be removed by additional calibration. The rate of drift determines how frequently additional calibrations are needed. However, by constructing a test environment with stable ambient temperature, drift errors can usually be minimized. While a test equipment may be specified to operate over a temperature range of 0°C to $+55^{\circ}$ C, a more controlled temperature range such as $+25^{\circ}$ C $\pm 5^{\circ}$ C can improve measurement accuracy (and reduce or eliminate the need for periodic calibration) by minimizing drift errors.

Typically, before starting an on-wafer calibration procedure two steps should be performed, the planarity adjustment and the alignment. The first assures that the three tips of the probes (see Fig. 3.5a) are on the same horizontal plane and is achieved using a contact substrate (see Fig. 3.5b). If three identical scratches are produced by a simple contact, then the planarity is achieved (see Fig. 3.5c). The second is simpler and it consists of adjusting the two probes exactly face to face (see Fig. 3.5d).



(a) Illustration of the probe tips.

be (b) A contact strate.

(c) Adjusting planarity.

(d) Aligning probes.

Fig. 3.5.: Pre-calibration steps: Probes planarity and alignment (source: Cascade Microtech, $Inc.^{\textcircled{R}}$ [7]).

The system calibration for on-wafer measurements is achieved by using a so-called Impedance Standard Substrate (ISS) (see Fig. 3.6a) that can provide

38 WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION

high-accuracy and low-loss standards for two-port calibration procedures such as short-open-load-through (SOLT), through-reflect-line (TRL), or line-reflectmatch (LRM). The later is the method used in this work. In a first step, the load (Match) is measured (see Fig. 3.6b). This also assures the position of the probes (x- and y-coordinates) which should not be changed throughout the rest of the calibration procedure (to avoid variations in cables bending, cross-talk between probes tips, etc). The short and open (Reflect) are then measured using the short on the ISS (see Fig. 3.6c) and an open air measurement. Finally, the through (Line) is measured (see Fig. 3.6d). The standards themselves are defined in a cal-kit definition file, which is stored in the Network Analyzer. After measuring the standard calibration structures, the Network Analyzer calculates and saves the 12 error correction terms which are used later in correcting the measurement readings. If the calibration is successful, an open air measurement on either of the two ports should result in a variation of the magnitude of S_{11} not more than ± 0.1 dBm around 0 dB. In this case, the reference planes could be assumed at the tips of the measurement probes taking into account any effects along the path from the VNA source to the DUT measurement pads and back to the VNA receiver (see Fig. 3.7). To move the reference planes to the edges of the DUT, a de-embedding procedure is needed.



Fig. 3.6.: Calibration steps (source: Cascade Microtech, Inc.[®] [7]).

surement.

surement.

surement.

Sub-

3.1.2 De-Embedding

Standard

strate (ISS).

The de-embedding procedure is used to remove the parasitics related to the test structure including the pads and the connection lines. Special test structures like open and short test structures should be deliberately designed and fabricated on the same chip as the DUT. The open structure should have exactly the same pad structure as the DUT but without the DUT included. The short structure is the same as the open structure but with the pads shorted together. The DUT characteristics can then be obtained by removing the parasitics of these two structures from the original (DUT) structure as illustrated schematically in Fig. 3.8. The exact procedure of the de-embedding using open and short structures is explained in Appendix A.


Fig. 3.7.: Reference planes after a successful calibration procedure (Source: Agilent Technologies [11]).

After de-embedding, the reference planes are located at the borders of the DUT, as shown in Fig. 3.9.



Fig. 3.8.: A schematic illustration of the de-embedding procedure.

3.2 DC CHARACTERIZATION

It is of significant importance to correctly characterize a device in dc before moving to higher frequency ranges. Key figures of merit like V_T , $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$, $I_{\rm ON}/I_{\rm OFF}$, $I_{\rm Leakage}$, g_D , and $V_{\rm EA}$ are presented in this section based on measured data at room and high temperatures.

3.2.1 Threshold Voltage

The definition and the extraction of the threshold voltage have been a subject of disagreement between authors in literature for a long time. It is indeed a challenging bias point, and it becomes more crucial as applications tend to operate near or even below this critical point.

One certain fact about the operation of the MOSFET transistor is the pinchoff condition. Below that point, the channel of the MOSFET operates as a linear



Fig. 3.9.: Reference planes after a successful calibration and de-embedding procedures (Source: Agilent Technologies [11]).

resistor where the current passing from source to drain $I_{\rm DS}$ is directly proportional to the drain bias $V_{\rm DS}$. The resistance of the channel is modulated through the gate voltage $V_{\rm GS}$. The interaction between the vertical and horizontal electric fields which result from $V_{\rm GS}$ and $V_{\rm DS}$, respectively, result in a thinning of the channel near the drain side. At a certain $V_{\rm DS}$ value, for a fixed $V_{\rm GS}$ bias, the channel thickness vanishes, or goes to zero, at the drain side. This is the pinchoff point, or the saturation point, and is marked by $V_{\text{DS,sat}}$. As V_{DS} increases, this zero thickness channel point moves away from the drain diffusion region towards the source. Nevertheless, the potential of that point always remains $V_{\rm DS,sat}$. Therefore, the amount of current stimulated by the potential difference $V_{\rm DS,sat}$ is essentially constant. Electrons will then fly through the "no-channel" region like they do through the base of a BJT. The channel is no longer a linear resistor where the current is directly proportional to the drain voltage. Hence, two distinct modes of operation are defined for a MOSFET; the linear region and the saturation region, and the border between these two modes is the pinch-off point.

In fact, another border exists, and this one is more difficult to define. It is the border between the OFF and the ON (linear) states of the transistor. The threshold voltage should be the point at which the transistor starts to conduct current, or in other words, the point at which the channel is created, thus the name "threshold". The best way to correctly define this border is to go back to the physics of the MOS transistor.

DC CHARACTERIZATION 41

The threshold voltage of an n-channel MOSFET is given by

$$V_T \cong \Phi_{\rm MS} + 2\psi_{\rm F} - \frac{Q_{\rm ox}}{C_{\rm ox}} - \frac{Q_{\rm D}}{C_{\rm ox}}$$
(3.1)

where $\Phi_{\rm MS}$, $\psi_{\rm F}$, $Q_{\rm ox}$, $Q_{\rm D}$, and $C_{\rm ox}$ are the metal-semiconductor work function difference, the Fermi potential, the charge density in the gate oxide, the depletion charge controlled by the gate, and the gate oxide capacitance, respectively.

Equation (3.1) is valid for Partially-Depleted devices where

$$Q_{\rm D} = q N_A X_{\rm Dmax} \tag{3.2}$$

where X_{Dmax} is the maximum depletion width and is given by

$$X_{\rm Dmax} = \sqrt{\frac{4\varepsilon_{\rm Si}\psi_{\rm F}}{qN_A}} \tag{3.3}$$

where ε_{Si} is the permittivity of the silicon, N_A is the doping concentration, and q is the charge of electron.

If an N⁺-polysilicon is assumed, the value of the work-function difference is given by

$$\Phi_{\rm MS} = -\frac{E_{\rm g}}{2} - \psi_{\rm F} \tag{3.4}$$

with

$$\psi_{\rm F} = \frac{kT}{q} \ln(N_A/n_{\rm i}) \tag{3.5}$$

where $E_{\rm g}$, T, and $n_{\rm i}$ are the silicon energy band gap, the temperature, and the silicon intrinsic carrier concentration, respectively.

The temperature dependence of the intrinsic carrier concentration, n_i , is given by [12]

$$n_{\rm i} = 3.9 \times 10^{16} T^{3/2} \ e^{-E_{\rm g}/2kT} \tag{3.6}$$

The temperature dependence of the threshold voltage can be obtained from (3.1) and (3.5). $Q_{\rm ox}$ is assumed to have no temperature dependence over the temperature range under consideration (25–250°C). The same applies to $E_{\rm g}$, which varies by only 0.3% for this temperature range [13, p. 56]. Therefore, for bulk and thick-film SOI devices [14],

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}V_T}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{F}}}{\mathrm{d}T} \left[1 + \frac{q}{C_{\mathrm{ox}}} \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{\mathrm{Si}} N_A}{kT \ln(N_A/n_{\mathrm{i}})}} \right]$$
(3.7)

with

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{F}}}{\mathrm{d}T} = 8.63 \times 10^{-5} \left[\ln(N_A) - 38.2 - \frac{3}{2} \left\{ 1 + \ln(T) \right\} \right]$$
(3.8)

In the case of thin-film Fully-Depleted (FD) devices, $Q_{\rm D}$ has a value which can range between $qN_A t_{\rm Si}$ and $qN_A t_{\rm Si}/n$, with $t_{\rm Si}$ the silicon film thickness,

which is independent of temperature, and the value of n ranges between 1 and 2, depending on the oxide charge and the back-gate bias conditions. If n is assumed independent of temperature, therefore $Q_{\rm D}$ is independent of temperature. And since $Q_{\rm ox}$ and $E_{\rm g}$ were assumed independent of temperature too, therefore, from (3.1)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}V_T}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi}{\mathrm{d}T} \tag{3.9}$$

From (3.7) and (3.9), it can be seen that dV_T/dT is larger in bulk and thick-film SOI devices than in thin-film SOI devices by a ratio given by the bracket term of (3.7) which typically ranges from 2 to 3, depending on the gate oxide thickness and the channel doping concentration. In other words, it depends on C_D and $C_{\rm ox}$, depletion capacitance and oxide capacitance, per unit area, respectively. Typical values of dV_T/dT range between -0.7 and -0.8 mV/°C in thin-film SOI MOSFET's and between -2.4 and -3 mV/°C in bulk and thick-film SOI MOSFET's (with N_A of $\sim 1.6 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³) depending on oxide thickness and temperature range [14].

In this work, V_T is extracted from the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ curves measured in the linear region ($V_{\rm DS} = 50$ mV) using the second derivative method. The second derivative of the drain current with respect to gate voltage is calculated $(d^2 I_{\rm DS}/dV_{\rm GS}^2 = dg_m/dV_{\rm GS})$. The maximum of the second derivative is then found and the corresponding $V_{\rm GS}$ is taken as V_T (see Fig. 3.10).



Fig. 3.10.: Illustration of the second derivative extraction method of V_T .

The extracted V_T as a function of temperature is shown in Fig. 3.11. The devices used in this work show different values of V_T at room temperature. This certainly affects the different characteristics of the device like the OFF current, which might result in an unfair comparison between the devices. Differences in V_T are taken into account throughout by comparing figures of merit at the same normalized drain current or for the same gate over drive voltage ($V_{\rm GT} = V_{\rm GS} - V_T$). In this section, the temperature dependence of V_T is compared for all the devices.





(a) DNW bulk, PD and FD SOI in FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.



(c) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu {\rm m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.11.: Variation of V_T with temperature for different devices.

In Fig. 3.11a, the variation of V_T with temperature for the classical devices is presented. All device have relatively the same tendency with temperature. The only exception is noticed for the FB DNW bulk, which shows an interesting stability of V_T up to 150°C before degradation takes place. This same behavior is also noticed for FB PD SOI but only up to 50°C. A summary of the variation of V_T with temperature is presented in Table 3.1. FB DNW bulk device shows the lowest variation (calculated from a linear regression over the whole range of temperatures, in order to take into account the quasi-stable behavior below 150° C). However, if both structures are to be considered, i.e. FB and BT structures, the FD SOI presents the lowest variation with temperature for both FB and BT structures. The better performance of FD SOI is expected [14], whereas the DNW bulk shows an interesting enhancement compared to classical bulk devices which ranges between -2.4 and -3 mV/°C as mentioned earlier.

The V_T variation with temperature for FD GCMOS devices is shown in Fig. 3.11b. For comparison reasons, a classical FD nMOS fabricated on the same die is shown on the same figure. The presence of the lightly-doped region does not affect the V_T variation with temperature. Except for very high temperature (200°C), GCMOS of 0.24 μ m channel length shows very close variation of V_T with temperature as the classical nMOS of 0.15 μ m channel length.

Based on the summary of Table 3.1, if one would choose a device for its stability in V_T with temperature, the choice would be a DNW bulk FB device followed by a DT device (either DNW bulk or PD SOI) and on the same footings the BT FD SOI device.

Table 3.1.: Threshold voltage V_T at room temperature and its variation with temperature expressed in mV/°C. The variation is calculated from a linear regression taken over the whole range of temperature.

	I	ONW Bu	lk		PD SOI		FD SOI		
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15	
$W(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5	
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48	
$\overline{V_T}$ (V)	0.24	0.28	0.26	0.35	0.36	0.34	0.46	0.47	
ΔV_T	-0.4	-0.63	-0.54	-0.63	-0.68	-0.54	-0.55	-0.53	

		FI)	PD				
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
L (μ m)	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
$W ~(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3	
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12	
V_T (V)	0.65	0.64	0.7	0.74	0.55	0.46	0.51	
ΔV_T	-0.58	-0.63	-0.64	-0.7	-0.93	-0.85	-0.87	

3.2.2 Current-Voltage Characteristics

The current-voltage $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics is an essential way to study a transistor since it is mainly a "transfer resistor". There are so many text books and articles published to describe and model the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ and $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics of a transistor, either in bulk, PD SOI, or FD SOI and many other variations of transistor structures. More details and references to other resources can be found in [2, 12, 13, 15, 16]. This section is then only devoted to describing the characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

3.2.2.1 DNW Bulk and PD SOI

It is very interesting to see that adding a deep n-well protection to a bulk device results in mimicking many of the SOI characteristics, be it advantages or disadvantages. The floating-body effects FBE including the kink effect are introduced to the DNW bulk devices which can be useful in some cases since it results in an increased drive current. As in PD SOI, the kink effect is suppressed from the DNW bulk device by using a body-tied structure and also by increasing the temperature. This can be easily seen from Fig. 3.12, where the output conductance is presented for FB and BT DNW Bulk and PD SOI devices at room temperature (Fig. 3.12a) and at 250°C (Fig. 3.12b).



Fig. 3.12.: Output conductance g_D for FB and BT structures of DNW bulk and PD SOI devices at $V_{\text{GS}} = 0.8$ V.

The suppression of the kink effect at high temperatures is better illustrated in Fig. 3.13. This feature promotes FB transistors to work at harsh environments without problems arising from floating body effects. Several factors can explain this improved performance for FB transistor. First, this can be due to the enhanced generation processes at high temperatures which leads to a more efficient extraction of the excess carrier from the floating body. Also due to the attenuation of the impact ionization up to total disappearance at high temperatures (due to the decrease of the carrier mean free path) which also leads to the increase of Early voltage at elevated temperatures [17]. It can also be related to the reduction of the excess minority carrier concentration in the device body through increased recombination. And also, the reduction of the source junction [2].

It is worth noticing that these figures of g_D are calculated from dc measurements using

$$g_D = \left. \frac{\partial I_{\rm DS}}{\partial V_{\rm DS}} \right|_{V_{\rm GS}} \tag{3.10}$$

3.2.2.2 PD SOI and FD SOI

As mentioned earlier (see section 2.3), FD SOI devices have the advantage of the suppression of FBE. Fig. 3.14 shows the suppression of the hump in the g_D characteristics of FB FD devices as compared to FB PD devices. In FD devices, there is practically no difference between FB and BT output conductance characteristics. For the PD device, except for the region where the kink effect is manifested, both FB and BT structures show close values of g_D . Overall, PD devices show higher values of g_D than FD devices.

46 WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION



Fig. 3.13.: Illustration of the suppression of the kink effect at higher temperatures using a PD SOI FB device at $V_{\text{GS}} = 0.6$ V.



Fig. 3.14.: Output conductance g_D for FB and BT structures of PD and FD SOI devices at $V_{\text{GS}} = 0.8$ V.

3.2.2.3 GCMOS and classical nMOS

The lightly doped region of the channel in the GCMOS device is naturally inverted at zero gate bias; hence it acts as an extension to the drain beneath the gate till the border of the highly doped region when the device is in saturation. This feature results in a shorter effective channel length than the drawn one, thus explaining the better dc and analog performances of the GCMOS device in comparison to the classical MOS device of the same drawn channel length. Fig. 3.15 shows the advantages² of FD GCMOS as compared to FD classical nMOS such as higher drive current, higher transconductance, and steeper sub-threshold slope.

The same advantages are noticed for PD GCMOS devices (either in FB or in BT) structures as shown in Fig. 3.16 and Fig. 3.17. It is also quite interesting to notice how a 0.5 μ m channel length GCMOS can compete with a 0.35 μ m channel length classical nMOS, which is one node ahead as shown in Fig. 3.18. Under certain bias conditions, the 0.5 μ m GCMOS can even compete with a 0.25

 $^{^{2}}$ The data for these devices are delivered by the fabricator. The devices themselves are not available for characterization. This is why they do not appear in high temperature or RF comparisons.

 μ m classical nMOS. This is in consistent with what was published for GCMOS of longer channel lengths, where the GCMOS of drawn channel length L cannot usually outperform a classical nMOS of channel length L/2 (provided that $L_{\rm LD}/L = 0.5$) [18].



Fig. 3.15.: Transfer characteristics and transconductance of FD GCMOS and FD classical nMOS of 0.5 and 0.24 μ m channel lengths at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.7$ V.



Fig. 3.16.: Transfer characteristics and transconductance of of FB PD GCMOS and PD classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.7$ V.

3.2.3 Maximum Transconductance

The maximum transconductance of a transistor is an indication of how fast the transistor can perform. Even though extracted from dc measurements, which suffers from some self-heating effects, it is a good measure to predict the behavior of the current gain cutoff frequency. Later in this chapter, the maximum of transconductance based on RF measurements is presented, and at that point, it is of interest to compare the two behaviors (from dc and from RF measurements) and evaluate how much a device suffer from self-heating effects. The behavior of maximum transconductance with temperature is also of great interest because it has its direct impact on the temperature behavior of cutoff frequencies.



Fig. 3.17.: Transfer characteristics and transconductance of BT PD GCMOS and PD classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.7$ V.



Fig. 3.18.: Transfer characteristics and transconductance of BT PD GCMOS of 0.5 μ m and PD classical nMOS of 0.5, 0.35 and 0.25 μ m channel lengths at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.7$ V (Legend in (b) is also valid for (a)).

The maximum g_m behavior with temperature of the devices of this work in saturation condition ($V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$) is shown in Fig. 3.19 and the values and the variation with temperature are summarized in Table 3.2. In general, a BT structure shows a better $g_{m,\max}$ than a FB structure but a lower stability with temperature. This is true for all devices except for the DNW bulk devices where both structures show nearly the same behavior and the PD GCMOS where the FB shows much better behavior than the BT structure but less stability with temperature.

Although the FD GCMOS of 0.24 μ m channel length has double the value of the drawn channel length of the classical nMOS of 0.15 μ m, it can still compete with it as far as the absolute values of $g_{m,max}$ are considered. When considering the stability with temperature, the GCMOS device outperforms the classical nMOS device. The contrary is true when considering the PD GCMOS structure, GCMOS device has higher absolute value of $g_{m,max}$ while having less stability with temperature when compared to the classical nMOS.





(a) DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.



(c) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths.

Fig. 3.19.: Variation of $g_{m,\max}$ with temperature for different devices.

3.2.4 Subthreshold Slope

In digital circuits, the speed of switching from ON state to OFF state and vice versa is a critical figure of merit. In order to quantify this figure of merit, it is sufficient to look at the drain current in the sub-threshold region. If the subthreshold current is plotted against the gate voltage on a logarithmic scale, it will appear like a straight line going from the ON current value to the OFF current plateau. The speed (by definition) of this transition is calculated by taking the slope of this straight line. It is more significant for a digital circuit designer to represent this speed in terms of how many volts (or milli-volts) of gate bias it takes to switch the transistor OFF or turn it ON. Hence, instead of taking the differential $dI_{\rm DS}/dV_{\rm GS}$, we take $dV_{\rm GS}/dI_{\rm DS}$ or since we are working in a logarithmic scale environment, it is $dV_{\rm GS}/dl_{\rm DS}$). Hence, the name "inverse subthreshold slope" or "subthreshold swing". For simplicity, it is referred to as "subthreshold slope", and given by:

$$S = \frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{GS}}}{\mathrm{d}\log(I_{\mathrm{DS}})} \tag{3.11}$$

Table 3.2.: Maximum transconductance $g_{m,\max}$ (at room temperature) and its variation with temperature expressed in mS/mm/°C. The variation is calculated from a linear regression taken over the whole range of temperature.

	DI	NW Bulk	:	Р	D SOI		FD SOI		
	FB	BT	DT	\mathbf{FB}	BT	DT	FB	BT	
$\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15	
$W~(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5	
$N_{ m finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48	
$\overline{g_{m,\max}} \ (\text{mS/mm})$	780.8	777.1		627.3	700.2		390	405.1	
$\Delta g_{m,\max}$	-1.05	-1.03		-0.68	-0.79		-0.54	4 - 0.57	
		\mathbf{F}	D			PD			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMO	S FE	3 GC	$\mathrm{BT}~\mathrm{GC}$	
$\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5		0.5	0.5	
$W(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	:	3.3	3.3	
$N_{ m finger}$	32	48	48	48	12		12	12	
$\overline{g_{m,\max} \text{ (mS/mm)}}$	453.8	421.3	394.2	362.9	217	2	61.6	205.8	
$\Delta g_{m,\max}$	-0.57	-0.47	-0.54	-0.56	-0.3	3 –	0.44	-0.37	

A detailed derivation of the subthreshold slope expression is presented in [2] for the case of bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI. In essence, after a simple approximation, S is generally expressed by:

$$S = \frac{kT}{q} \ln\left(10\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{GS}}}{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{S}}} \tag{3.12}$$



Fig. 3.20.: Equivalent capacitance network [2].

Normally, for bulk and PD SOI transistors (if the interface traps are neglected and thus the associated capacitance $C_{it} = 0$), the variation of the surface potential with the applied gate bias is controlled by the simple capacitance network shown in Fig. 3.20a. Therefore the subthreshold slope is given by [19, 20]:

$$S = \frac{kT}{q} \ln \left(10\right) \left(1 + \frac{C_{\rm D}}{C_{\rm ox}}\right) \tag{3.13}$$

$$C_{\rm D} = \frac{\mathrm{d}Q_{\rm D}}{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\rm S}} \tag{3.14}$$

$$Q_{\rm D} = q N_A X_{\rm Dmax} \tag{3.15}$$

where $\psi_{\rm S}$ is the surface potential at the Si–SiO₂ interface.

In a FD SOI, the capacitance network is more complicated as the back-gate capacitance should be taken into account (see Fig. 3.20b). Nevertheless, this results in a much simplified expression of $\frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{GS}}}{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{S}}}$:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\mathrm{GS}}}{\mathrm{d}\psi_{\mathrm{S}}} = 1 + \frac{1}{C_{\mathrm{ox1}}} \left(\frac{C_{\mathrm{si}}C_{\mathrm{ox2}}}{C_{\mathrm{si}} + C_{\mathrm{ox2}}}\right)$$
(3.16)

And since in FD SOI, $C_{\text{ox2}} \ll C_{\text{ox1}}$ and $C_{\text{ox2}} \ll C_{\text{si}}$, $dV_{\text{GS}}/d\psi_{\text{S}}$ tends to unity, and therefore

$$S = \frac{kT}{q} \ln\left(10\right) \tag{3.17}$$

This is the theoretical minimum limit of S, i.e. 60 mV/dec. FD SOI devices are usually very close to this limit (slightly higher). If a device features a S = 60mV/dec it means that it only needs 60 mV variation in $V_{\rm GS}$ to decrease the drain current by one decade (or 10 times). It also indicates a perfect coupling between the gate bias $V_{\rm GS}$ and the surface potential $\psi_{\rm S}$ [2, p. 196]. It is important to notice that, as explained in section 2.5, FB devices could feature some anomalous subthreshold behavior forcing S to be lower than the theoretical minimum limit.

From (3.14) and (3.15), as $X_{\rm Dmax}$ varies with temperature, $C_{\rm D}$ depends on temperature as well and so does the subthreshold slope. This variation was traditionally considered nonlinear for bulk and thick film SOI devices and linear for thin film SOI devices based on the depletion approximation and a charge-sheet model. However, Rudenko *et al.* showed in 2000 that the increase of free carriers charge densities with temperature results in an increased substrate effective capacitance and hence proposed a corrected model in which the variation of subthreshold slope is basically nonlinear for thin-film SOI devices with temperature [19]. Rudenko introduced a correction factor *n* that takes into account the effect of the lowering of the surface electric field with temperature and he replaced $C_{\rm D}$ by $C_{\rm stot}$; the total surface differential capacitance, which includes the contribution from the free carriers and is higher than the depletion capacitance $C_{\rm D}$. Rudenko *et al.* suggested that the classical model should be valid up to 150°C before it fails and that the thin film device should follow a nonlinear behavior according to:

$$S = \frac{nkT}{q} \ln\left(10\right) \left(1 + \frac{C_{\text{stot}}}{C_{\text{ox}}}\right)$$
(3.18)

However, the experimental results presented in Fig. 3.21 shows a clear linear behavior for all the devices except the FB FD Device up to 250° C. Fig. 3.21a shows that (as expected from theory) the DNW bulk devices and the PD SOI devices show identical variation with temperature and quite close values of S (with the exception of the DT structure for which the PD SOI device is slightly better than the DNW bulk device). DT structure shows the best values of S followed by the FB structure. The same applies to the variation with temperature, where DT structures show the lowest variation of S with temperature.

From Fig. 3.21b, it is clear that the FB structure of the FD SOI device starts to show the nonlinear behavior at 100°C, even earlier than expected by Rudenko. However, this effect is eliminated when the body is tied to the source as shown for the BT structure.

Fig. 3.21c shows that GCMOS devices suffer (although it is beneficial) from the anomalous subtreshold characteristics giving rise to values of S at room temperature less than the theoretical minimum limit. It can also be seen that they do not offer an advantageous stability of S with temperature compared to other devices as summarized in Table 3.3. The GCMOS device of 0.24 μ m channel length shows very similar behavior of S as the classical nMOS of $L = 0.15 \ \mu$ m.



(c) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and FD classical nMOS with 32 fingers of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.

(d) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu \rm{m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.21.: Variation of subthreshold slope ${\cal S}$ with temperature for different devices.

Table 3.3.: Subthreshold slope S at room temperature (in saturation region; $V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$) and its variation with temperature expressed in % per °C. The variation is calculated from a linear regression taken over the whole range of temperature.

	D]	NW Bı	ılk]	PD SO	I	FD	SOI		
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT		
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15		
$W~(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5		
N_{finger}	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48		
$\overline{S \text{ (mV/dec)}}$) 77.6	81.2	75	75.3	82	74.3	71.5	75.1		
ΔS	0.33	0.33	0.26	0.32	0.31	0.23	0.55	0.28		
		$_{\rm FI}$)		PD					
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMO	S FB	GC	BT GC		
$L (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	().5	0.5		
$W (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3	3.3	3.3		
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12		12	12		
S (mV/dec)	58.5	55	54.8	67.9	76.58	8 1	09	88.11		
ΔS	0.33	0.35	0.42	0.42	0.36	0	.34	0.33		

3.2.5 $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ Ratio

This figure of merit is very important for digital circuit designers. It is well known that SOI devices provide much higher $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio than bulk devices, and this is related to the much smaller area of source and drain junctions in SOI compared to bulk (by a factor of 15 to 100, depending on the design rules) [2], and more important, the largest of all junctions, the well junctions, are totally absent from SOI CMOS. This contributes to a drastic reduction in the overall standby current consumption of SOI circuits compared to bulk ones.

In highly-doped devices, the evaluation of the $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio with temperature is determined by the variations with temperature of threshold voltage, subthreshold slope, and OFF current. On the other hand, in lightly-doped devices, it is dependent on threshold voltage and subthreshold variations only. Usually, we can expect to have stronger temperature dependence of the $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio in devices with higher threshold voltages.

The measured $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio and $I_{\rm OFF}$ are shown in Fig. 3.22. Measurements of $I_{\rm OFF}$ are taken at $V_{\rm GS} = 0$ V and of $I_{\rm ON}$ at $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm DD}$ with $V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$ in both cases. As expected, BT structures show better $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio, due to its lower OFF current. It should also be noticed that the $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio of BT structures degrades faster with temperature. This is related to a higher degradation scheme of the OFF current for BT structures. The relatively large difference

between OFF currents for FB and BT structures at room temperature (about one decade) tends to diminish at 250°C, which explains the tendency to have close values of $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratios for FB and BT structures at 250°C. Values and variations with temperature are summarized in Table 3.4

3.2.6 Leakage Current

The increase of junction leakage current is one of the main causes of failure in circuits operating at high temperature. The junction leakage current is proportional to the area of the junction. The strongest leakage component found in bulk CMOS operating at high temperatures originates from the "huge" well junctions. This causes loss of functionality in bulk CMOS circuits at temperature above 180°C while the same SOI CMOS circuits can operate up to 300°C [2].

The leakage current in SOI MOSFET transistors is basically composed of two parts, a generation component and a diffusion component, both related to the N^+ -P junction (body-drain junction). The sum of these two components describes the leakage current as follows [2]

$$I_{\text{Leakage}} = qA \left(\frac{D_{\text{n}}}{\tau_{\text{n}}}\right)^{1/2} \frac{n_{\text{i}}^2}{N_A} + qA \frac{n_{\text{i}}X_{\text{D}}}{\tau_{\text{e}}}$$
(3.19)

where A is the junction area, $D_{\rm n}$ is the electron diffusion coefficient, $\tau_{\rm n}$ is the electron lifetime in p-type neutral silicon, $X_{\rm D}$ is the depletion width, and $\tau_{\rm e} = (\tau_{\rm n} + \tau_{\rm p})/2$ is the effective lifetime related to the thermal generation process in the depletion region. The temperature dependence of the leakage current is based on the temperature dependence of $n_{\rm i}$ which is given in (3.6).

The first term in (3.19) (the diffusion component) is proportional to n_i^2 , and the second term (the generation component) is proportional to n_i . It has been experimentally observed [21] that the leakage current of SOI MOSFETs and reverse-biased diodes varies as n_i below a temperature of 100–150°C and varies as n_i^2 above those temperatures, which implies that the diffusion component is more effective at higher temperatures while at lower temperatures it is the generation component which is more effective. It is also worth noticing that A, the area of the junction, and $A \cdot W$, the volume of the space-charge region associated with the diode, are both much smaller in SOI transistors than in bulk devices. Therefore, extremely low leakage current can be obtained in SOI devices.

In FB transistors, this diffusion component becomes more important due to the presence of the floating charge reservoir in the body. And as the temperature increases, this reservoir becomes more and more important with charges thermally generated and accumulated inside it, hence the diffusion component is highly magnified. On the other hand, in BT transistors, the connection between the body and the source limits the diffusion component as no accumulation of charges takes place in the body.



(c) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μm width each and different channel lengths.



Fig. 3.22.: Variation of I_{ON} -to- I_{OFF} ratio and I_{OFF} with temperature for different devices.

	D	NW Bull	X		PD SOI		FD S	SOI
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W ~(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
N_{finger}	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$\overline{I_{\rm ON}/I_{\rm OFF}}~(\times 10^6)$	0.0013	0.0071	0.08	0.0075	0.081	95	0.15	0.7
$I_{\rm OFF} \ ({\rm mA/mm}) \ (\times 10^{-6})$	250000	39000	45000	33000	2400	3100	2800	610
$\Delta I_{\rm ON}/I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^{-3})$	-5.6	-8.5	-8	-7.7	-10.8	-9.8	-13.3	-12.5
$\Delta I_{\rm OFF} (\times 10^{-3})$	5	8.1	7.8	7.3	10.7	10.2	12.8	12.1

Table 3.4.: I_{ON} -to- I_{OFF} ratio and I_{OFF} at room temperature and their variation with temperature expressed in decade per ^oC. The variation is calculated from a linear regression taken over the whole range of temperature.

		F	D		PD				
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC		
L (µm)	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		
$W \; (\mu \mathrm{m})$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3		
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12		
$I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^6)$	48	720	2500	1900	3.6	0.292	5.56		
$I_{\rm OFF} \ ({\rm mA/mm}) \ (\times 10^{-6})$	11	0.62	0.15	0.23	58.8	910	28		
$\Delta I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^{-3})$	-18.2	-19.9	-19.9	-18.3	-11.9	-8.82	-12.3		
$\Delta I_{\rm OFF} (\times 10^{-3})$	17.6	19.3	18.9	16.2	10.77	7.87	11.78		

Leakage current is measured when the transistor is in deep depletion region, which in this case is taken for small negative values of $V_{\rm GS}$ and for $V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$. Under this biasing condition, the drain current is characterized by a plateau, and as $V_{\rm GS}$ becomes more negative the transistor turns into accumulation regime and the channel current starts to increase again (see Fig. 3.23). Therefore, the current at the plateau region is due only to junction leakage current. This represents the importance of the $I_{\rm Leakage}$ figure of merit, since it overcomes the variation of V_T between devices, and a fair comparison between different devices can be held.



Fig. 3.23.: Illustration of the calculation method of I_{Leakage} .

Fig. 3.24 shows the experimental results of I_{Leakage} for the devices considered in this work. Starting by the PD SOI devices (Fig. 3.24a), the theoretical discussion presented earlier is clearly put in evidence. The FB structure are showing much higher leakage current than the BT structure, although they both show the same I_{Leakage} at room temperature. The difference starts to be more manifested as the temperature increases, showing the important effect of the diffusion component and the floating-body reservoir. If DNW bulk devices are introduced into the comparison, an interesting behavior is worth noticing. The BT structure of the DNW bulk device shows quite the same values of I_{Leakage} as the BT structure of the PD SOI device, with the exception of very high temperature situation. The FB structure of the DNW bulk device, on the other hand, shows an interesting reduction of $I_{\rm Leakage}$ compared to the FB structure of PD SOI device as the temperature increases, knowing that both devices present close values of I_{Leakage} at room temperature. Despite the larger junction areas, the DNW bulk device shows better control of the I_{Leakage} taking into consideration that both devices are fabricated using the same technology in the same foundry. The bigger reservoir in the case of the DNW bulk device relaxes the diffusion component, as the carriers generated can easier be recombined rather than bypassing the energy barrier at the junction. It is worth noticing also that in the case shown in Fig. 3.24a, the DNW N⁺ protection ring is connected to V_{DD} . This ensures a reverse biased p-n junction at all time. In a different measurement setup [22], the DNW N⁺ was connected to the ground. Although in the later setup a more elevated diffusion current could pass through the bulk- N^+ (of the DNW protection) junction, especially at high temperatures, the comparison of the measured I_{Leakage} does not show a big difference. The later case shows

slightly higher I_{Leakage} than the case of V_{DD} connection for the FB structure, and exactly the same I_{Leakage} for the BT structure³.

The leakage current of the FD devices shown in Fig. 3.24a features very low values compared to the other devices. This is expected since the junction areas are significantly reduced compared to either the bulk or the PD devices. However, the degradation of I_{Leakage} of the FB structure with increasing the temperature is unexpected. This results from the fact that these devices are on the limit of being fully depleted, and as temperature increases, the depletion width decreases and a neutral region is created in the silicon film of the FB FD device. The increased temperature stimulates a high generation rate of electron-hole pairs and the diffusion component increases significantly giving rise to a highly degraded I_{Leakage} as shown. The FD devices are also highly doped compared to the other devices which makes the effect of the diffusion component more significant compared to the other devices.

In Fig. 3.24b, the leakage current of FD GCMOS devices of different channel lengths is compared to a FD classical nMOS device of a channel length approximately equal to the effective channel length of the shortest GCMOS device. All devices are FB. GCMOS shows impressive reduction of leakage current basically due to the significant reduction of impact ionization. The lightly doped region also reduces the overall doping level of the channel which reduces the number of electron-hole pairs generated at high temperatures.

Notice that, the FD FB device shown in Fig. 3.24b is a recent version of the same technology as that shown in Fig. 3.24a. The improved leakage current in the recent device is due to an improved FD process, although the values of I_{Leakage} are more or less the same, but with a linear increase with temperature.



(a) DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS with 32 fingers of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.

Fig. 3.24.: Variation of the leakage current I_{Leakage} with temperature.

 $^{{}^{3}}$ The current flowing in the N⁺ protection ring is measured in both cases and it shows a very weak current in the order of pA.

Table 3.5.: I_{Leakage} at room temperature and its variation with temperature expressed in decade per °C. The variation is calculated from a linear regression taken over the whole range of temperature. A multiplication factor of 10^{-6} is taken for I_{Leakage} and 10^{-3} for $\Delta I_{\text{Leakage}}$.

	D.	NW Bu	ılk		PD SO	[FD	SOI
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$I_{\text{Leakage}} (\text{mA/mm})$) 8.6	7.1	6.4	11	2.6	8.1	3.4	2.6
$\Delta I_{\text{Leakage}}$	8.5	9.5	5.4	10.9	7.2	5.3	15.7	2.7
		FI)			Ъ		
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMO	S FB	GC	BT GC
(µm)	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	().5	0.5
$V(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	9	3.3	3.3
finger	32	48	48	48	12		12	12
$L_{eakage} (mA/mm)$	4.95	0.18	0.13	0.19	_	-		

12.3

10.5

3.2.7 Zero Temperature Coefficient

 $\Delta I_{\text{Leakage}}$

10.3

13.4

The so called Zero Temperature Coefficient (ZTC) point has been identified for bulk CMOS by Shoucair [23] and Prijic *et al.* [24] in both the linear and the saturation regions for temperatures between 27 and 200°C. According to Shoucair, the ZTC of drain current is usually well defined up to approximately 200°C, whereas at higher temperatures, drain-to-body leakage currents typically cause the characteristics to shift upwards on a linear scale of micro-Amperes. Later, Groeseneken *et al.* [14] and Jeon *et al.* [25] demonstrated the existence of the ZTC point experimentally for thin and thick-film SOI MOSFETs, respectively. The analytical formulation for ZTC in SOI devices has been introduced by Osman *et al.* [26]. ZTC point is device-geometry-independent for a given process [23] but it depends on the bias of the body for body-contacted SOI devices [27].

Basically, there are two ZTC points for a transistor, one for the drain current and the other for the transconductance, and in general they have different values in linear and in saturation regions. These ZTC points are defined as the points at which the drain current or the transconductance remains constant as temperature varies, i.e. $\partial I_{\rm DS}(T)/\partial T \approx 0$ or $\partial g_m(T)/\partial T \approx 0$, respectively. This can be explained as follows. The ZTC points are values of $V_{\rm GS}$ at which the reduction of the threshold voltage due to increasing temperature is counter-balanced by the reduction of the mobility, and as a result, the value of the drain current or

the value of the transconductance remains constant as the temperature varies. For gate voltages lower than ZTC, the decrease of the threshold voltage is dominant and so the drain current increases with temperature, while for gate voltages higher than ZTC, the mobility degradation predominates and the drain current decreases with temperature. The ZTC is a very important bias point for analog designers as it corresponds to a gate voltage at which the device dc performance remains constant with temperature [28, 29].

Fig. 3.25 to 3.32 present the normalized $I_{\rm DS}-V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics of the different devices considered in this work in both linear and saturation regimes of operation, respectively, in addition to the normalized transconductance g_m calculated from dc measurements using

$$g_m = \left. \frac{\partial I_{\rm DS}}{\partial V_{\rm GS}} \right|_{V_{\rm DS}} \tag{3.20}$$

All devices are measured in a temperature range of 25 to 250°C except for the FD devices which were measured till 200°C only as mentioned in section 2.8.

For an easier reference and comparison, Table 3.6 provides a summary of all ZTC points as well as V_T values in both linear and saturation regions. It is of importance to identify whether the ZTC point lies below or above V_T . A device designed to deliver high drive current should operate above V_T whereas it might be of interest to look at the subthreshold characteristics of a device designed to be used in a low voltage low power (LVLP) application (the later is discussed in more detail in chapter 4).

Starting by the DNW bulk devices, the first interesting point is that the DNW protection extended the validity of ZTC points to 250°C in contrary to what Shoucair noticed for Bulk transistors [23]. However, this is not true for DT devices. For the DT DNW bulk device in linear region, Fig. 3.26a, the ZTC_{gm} is only defined up to 200°C (as Shoucair noticed) and in saturation region, Fig. 3.30a, ZTC_{IDS} is only defined up to 200°C (the same is noticed at lower values of $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V). The second point is the identical ZTC_{IDS} for both FB and BT devices in linear region. The same applies for ZTC_{qm} . However, the points differ significantly in the saturation region. In all cases, ZTC_{qm} is in the order of or below V_T (for FB and DT, it is slightly higher than V_T in linear region and for DT in saturation region). This is a drawback for high drive current applications, since it will not be possible to have constant transconductance (and hence cutoff frequencies as will be seen in section 3.4) while providing high drain current. On the other hand, it is well suited for LVLP applications (in contrary to a situation where ZTC_{qm} is higher than V_T , since the LVLP applications are interested in operating the device at or below V_T).

PD devices feature quite close characteristics as the DNW bulk devices from the ZTC point of view (see Fig. 3.25 and Fig. 3.26 for the linear region and Fig. 3.29 and Fig. 3.30 for the saturation region). Both ZTC points are well defined up to 250°C with the exception of the DT device where the ZTC_{IDS} is only defined up to 200°C. Regarding the relation between the ZTC points and V_T , the behavior is nearly identical to that observed for DNW bulk devices.



Fig. 3.25.: ZTC points in linear region for DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB and BT structures for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C (200°C for the FD devices).

FD devices are characterized by very well defined ZTC points, both for $I_{\rm DS}$ and g_m , even in linear region of operation (see Fig. 3.25e and Fig. 3.25f for linear region and Fig. 3.29e and Fig. 3.29f for saturation region), knowing that the validity of the ZTC points at 250°C is not verified.

The ZTC points in GCMOS devices were first presented in [30]. Fig. 3.27 and Fig. 3.31 show the ZTC_{IDS} and the ZTC_{gm} points for three FD GCMOS devices in linear and saturation regions (a classical nMOS device is also shown from the same technology for comparison). They are well defined and follow the scaling



Fig. 3.26.: ZTC points in linear region for DNW bulk and PD SOI in DT structure for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C.



Fig. 3.27.: ZTC points in linear region for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 200°C.

trend of classical FD SOI [31]. Furthermore, GCMOS shows the advantage of a lower difference between ZTC_{gm} and ZTC_{IDS} . This reduces the uncertainty of designing a circuit working at a stable $I_{\rm DS}$ or a stable g_m with temperature.

This feature, the difference between ZTC_{gm} and ZTC_{IDS} , as well as the difference between ZTC points and V_T for both linear and saturation regimes



Fig. 3.28.: ZTC points in linear region for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of $0.5 \ \mu m$ channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C.

of operation are summarized in Table 3.6 for all the devices. It is clear from this table that a choice for a LVLP application would be a GCMOS device where both the ZTC points lie at or below V_T (especially in saturation region), and where the difference between the two ZTC points is minimum.

A very interesting advantage of the PD SOI BT transistor over the FB transistor is shown in Fig. 3.29d and Fig. 3.29c where the ZTC points are noticed at higher $V_{\rm GS}$ for BT transistor for both drain current and transconductance measured at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.2$ V. For BT transistor, ZTC_{IDS} and ZTC_{gm} take place at $V_{\rm GS} = 0.6$ and 0.4 V, respectively, whereas for the FB transistor they take place at $V_{\rm GS} = 0.43$ and 0.25 V, respectively. This ensures, for BT transistor rather than FB transistor, an operation in ON mode at the ZTC point, giving higher drive current and higher overdrive voltage which is quite important for analog circuit designers working at varying temperature environments. It can also be noticed that the ZTC point for both PD SOI FB and BT transistors are well defined even up to 250°C (and up to 300°C for the work of Osman *et al.* [26]) thanks to the suppression of leakage currents by the insulating layer between the body and substrate; i.e. the Buried Oxide (BOX).



Fig. 3.29.: ZTC points in saturation region for DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB and BT structures for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C (200°C for the FD devices).

3.3 ANALOG CHARACTERIZATION

An analog designer is mostly concerned by three parameters: the ratio of transconductance to the drain current, the early voltage, and the intrinsic gain. Basically, these three parameters constitute the three vertices of the same triangle, since they are related by the low-frequency open-loop gain A_{v0} [32]:

$$A_{\nu 0} = \frac{g_m}{g_D} = \frac{g_m}{I_{\rm DS}} V_{\rm EA} \tag{3.21}$$



Fig. 3.30.: ZTC points in saturation region for DNW bulk and PD SOI in DT structure for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C.



Fig. 3.31.: ZTC points in saturation region for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 200°C.

For analog applications, a transistor is always operated in saturation, hence, the extraction of these figures of merit are presented hereafter in saturation region. Another two factors which are very important for analog circuit design: the intrinsic gate capacitance and the noise performance of the transistor [33].



Fig. 3.32.: ZTC points in saturation region for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C.

The intrinsic gate capacitance is presented in section 3.4 whereas the noise performance is presented in chapter 6 for some selected devices.

3.3.1 Transconductance to Drain Current Ratio $g_m/I_{ m DS}$

It is well known that the maximum analog performance of a MOSFET device is obtained at the condition of maximum $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ [33]. This condition is known to occur in weak inversion for MOSFETs [34]. In weak inversion, the $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ can be calculated from [33]:

$$\frac{g_m}{I_{\rm DS}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}I_{\rm DS}}{I_{\rm DS}\mathrm{d}V_{\rm GS}} = \frac{\mathrm{ln}(10)}{S} = \frac{q}{nkT} \tag{3.22}$$

whereas in strong inversion, the $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ is calculated from [33]:

$$\frac{g_m}{I_{\rm DS}} = \sqrt{\frac{2\mu C_{\rm ox} W/L}{n I_{\rm DS}}} \tag{3.23}$$

Theoretically, the low body-effect coefficient n of SOI devices results in a near ideal behavior of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ (maximum physically achievable values at room temperature). This is strongly related to the subthreshold swing S which also depends on n.

Table 3.6.: ZTC points for different devices in linear (Lin.) and saturation (Sat.) regimes. Threshold voltage values (in linear and saturation) are appended to easily identify the position of the ZTC point with respect to V_T . The three important figures of merit: $ZTC_{diff} = ZTC_{IDS} - ZTC_{gm}$, $A = ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$, and $B = ZTC_{gm} - V_T$ for different devices in linear and saturation regions are also calculated. All values are in volts with a multiplication factor of 10^{-2} .

	D.	NW Bı	ılk]	PD SO	I	FD	SOI		FL)			PD	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
$W(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48	32	48	48	48	12	12	12
Lin.															
ZTC_{IDS}	43	43	40	55	55	52	63	64	83	80	89	93	70	56	61
ZTC_{gm}	27	27	28	40	41	30	48	49	66	65	71	73	50	43	44
V_T	24	28	26	35	36	34	46	47	65	64	70	74	55	46	51
ZTC_{diff}	16	16	12	15	14	22	15	15	17	18	18	20	21	13	17
A	19	15	14	20	19	18	17	17	18	19	18	19	15	10	10
B	3	-1	2	5	5	-4	2	2	1	1	1	-1	-5.5	-3	-7
Sat.															
ZTC_{IDS}	32	51	51	45	63	52	56	60	59	56	58	77	42	55	79
ZTC_{gm}	19	30	30	27	42	35	36	39	44	46	56	68	- 33	42	59
V_T	22	30	26	29	40	36	35	36	47	55	69	85	48	53	63
ZTC_{diff}	13	21	21	18	21	17	20	21	15	10	2	9	9	13	20
A \sim	10	21	25	16	23	16	21	24	12	1	-11	-8	-6	2	16
В	-3	0	4	-2	2	-1	1	3	-3	-9	-13	-17	-15	-11	-4

67

In the ideal case, an S of 60 mV/dec corresponds to a $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ of 38 V⁻¹ [35]. In bulk devices, a typical value of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ is 25 V⁻¹. As already mentioned, n in FD devices is lower than PD devices, hence, FD devices have better values of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ than PD devices.





(a) DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB structures.







(c) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu \rm m$ width each and different channel lengths.

(d) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.33.: Comparison of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ for different devices.

The comparison of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ presented hereafter adopts the approach used by V. Kilchytska *et al.* [35] of comparing $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ as a function of normalized drain current $I'_{\rm DS} = I_{\rm DS}/(W/L)$. This approach is ideal for comparing different devices, like the ones studied in this work, since it eliminates the dependence on the threshold voltage and the channel length. The later is guaranteed to the first order until the short channel effects become dominant in weak inversion or until the velocity saturation dominates in strong inversion.

It was shown by V. Kilchytska *et al.* [35] that in saturation, $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ keeps a constant maximum in weak inversion and starts to quadratically decrease with normalized current $I'_{\rm DS}$ through the influence of the body effect and the mobility.

The $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ for the different devices considered in this work is shown in Fig. 3.33 for the saturation condition where $V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$. The DNW bulk devices, either in FB or BT structures, are shown to deliver the same performance as the PD SOI devices. On the other hand, the FD device shows lower performance for

the entire range of operation for the FB structure whereas for the BT structure, it outperforms the DNW bulk and the PD SOI devices in weak inversion only.

In general, GCMOS devices, either in PD or FD technologies, are not able to outperform the classical nMOS devices except for strong inversion region of operation.

Increasing the temperature has a double effect on the $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ behavior. The peak value of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ is reduced along with an increase of the normalized $I_{\rm DS}$ at which the peak occurs, as shown in Fig. 3.34 where the FB structure of a PD GCMOS and a PD classical nMOS devices are taken as an example. All the other devices show the same behavior.



Fig. 3.34.: The double effect of increasing the temperature on the behavior of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$.

3.3.2 Early Voltage $V_{\rm EA}$

The Early effect was originally defined in 1952 by J. M. Early for junction transistors (like BJTs) to account for a lack of saturation in the common-emitter output characteristics [16, 36]. In MOSFETs, the Early effect is also present where the drain current does not saturate at high values of drain voltage giving rise to some undesired effects. At higher values of drain voltage, the junction depletion width $X_{\rm D}$ (of the drain-body junction) increases, which reduces the effective electrical channel length. This means that the parasitic bipolar effective base width also decreases. As a result, the parasitic bipolar gain increases and the device can suffer from several drawbacks, one of which being a higher vulnerability to the Soft Error Rate (SER)⁴[37].

The Early voltage V_{EA} is a measure of the Early effect, and is calculated from the intersection with the x-axis of the extrapolated line of the drain current drawn as a function of the drain voltage. The higher the absolute value of V_{EA}

⁴Soft Error Rate is the fail rate of an array due to alpha and cosmic radiation, commonly measured in fails per thousand hours per thousand bits.

(since it is by definition of negative value for n-type MOSFETs), the better the performance of the device for analog applications.

According to [33, 38], V_{EA} is highly dependent on bias conditions and technological parameters. Hence, it can be used as an indicator of several physical phenomena. A V_{EA} increasing from week inversion to strong inversion indicates an enhanced vertical gate coupling and in the same time a lower lateral drain influence on the drain current. Also, the increase of V_{EA} (in FD SOI as compared to bulk devices) shows a reduced penetration of the drain depletion region into the channel.

In literature, $V_{\rm EA}$ is either calculated from the extrapolation of the drain current till it intersects with the negative side of the drain voltage axis, or by dividing the drain current $I_{\rm DS}$ by the output conductance g_D at a certain $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm DS}$ condition. The first method is used in this work despite the difficulties to achieve a good extrapolation especially with the presence of the kink effect in FB devices. A careful choice of the range of drain current points should be found in order to avoid the knee around the saturation value of $V_{\rm DS}$, or $V_{\rm DS,sat}$, and the knee due to the kink effect. Fig. 3.35 shows an illustration of how this extrapolation is performed. The dashed line (the extrapolation line) is extrapolated from the extrapolation range (marked by x symbols) and is extended till it intersects the negative $V_{\rm DS}$ axis at the $-V_{\rm EA}$ value ⁵.



Fig. 3.35.: An illustration of the extrapolation to extract the Early voltage $V_{\rm EA}$.

Results of $V_{\rm EA}$ extraction are shown in Fig. 3.36 for the different devices and structures. Fig. 3.36a shows that theory is conserved for most of the cases. If FB structures are considered, the DNW bulk device presents the lowest values of $V_{\rm EA}$ (see Table 3.7 for the values at room temperature and the variation of $V_{\rm EA}$ with temperature), whereas the FD device shows the highest values of $V_{\rm EA}$ as

⁵Different methods for the extraction of $V_{\rm EA}$ exist in literature. Besides the classical method employed in this chapter, another method is to calculate $V_{\rm EA} = I_{\rm DS}/g_D$ at a certain $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm DS}$ fixed for all devices. The author of this thesis found difficulties in applying the later method due to the strong variation of the position of the kink among the various structures studied in this work. Although the number of bias points along which the extrapolation is taken in the method presented above is small, it reflects the specific $V_{\rm EA}$ characteristics of each device since it avoids the saturation knee and the kink effect. This approach is thus believed to constitute a fair comparison between the different technologies and the various structures presented in this work.

expected. The PD device shows a high degradation of $V_{\rm EA}$ till it coincides with the DNW bulk device at 250°C, which is also expected due to the increased generation recombination rates with temperature which in turn increases the body factor. The depletion width of the drain junction also reduces with temperature. As a result, the PD SOI device tend to behave as the DNW bulk device at very high temperature, since these two effects are more pronounced in a PD SOI than in a bulk device where the later is already at its lowest values of $V_{\rm EA}$ due to the large value of body effect and the large drain junction depletion area.

BT structures, on the other hand, show an amazing behavior of $V_{\rm EA}$. The PD SOI device shows the highest values of $V_{\rm EA}$ due to a well gate coupling resulting from the body-tie and the lack of the floating-body effects. As expected, this effect is more pronounced in PD SOI than in DNW bulk which has a much thicker $t_{\rm Si}$. An exception is shown for the FD Device, where the BT structure shows lower values of $V_{\rm EA}$ than the FB structure.

GCMOS devices, either on FD (Fig. 3.36b) or PD (Fig. 3.36c) technologies, merit a highly reduced impact ionization which results in a higher $V_{\rm EA}$ compared to the corresponding classical nMOS device. A BT GCMOS structure can even provide a better $V_{\rm EA}$ as shown in Fig. 3.36c. Depending on which factor is more dominant, the lowering of the impact ionization or the reduction of the depletion width of the drain junction, $V_{\rm EA}$ might show an increase with temperature as seen for the FD GCMOS devices. Another factor is how much the kink effect is affecting the region where the extrapolation is taken, since the increase of temperature eliminates the kink, thus reduces g_D , and $V_{\rm EA}$ can then increase since $V_{\rm EA} = I_{\rm DS}/g_D$. This effect is shown on the g_D curves as presented in Fig. 3.37, Fig. 3.38, and Fig. 3.39

3.4 RF CHARACTERIZATION

The high-temperature RF behavior of SOI MOSFETs has not received the same attention in the literature as the high-temperature dc behavior. In the following subsections, the high-temperature RF behavior is studied in detail based on measured data. An Anritsu 37369A two-port Vector Network Analyzer VNA operating up to 40 GHz and a 100 μ m-pitch Ground-Signal-Ground (GSG) highfrequency high-temperature Z-probes are used for RF signal measurements while dc biasing is achieved using a HP 4145B device parameter analyzer. A temperature controlled 200 mm chuck is used to obtain measurements from room temperature up to 250°C. An OPEN dummy structure is measured to perform a one-step de-embedding and hence removing the effects of the pad capacitances on the gate and the drain sides, $C_{\rm pg}$ and $C_{\rm pd}$, respectively. The effect of the access inductances $L_{\rm g}$, $L_{\rm d}$, and $L_{\rm s}$ are found to be negligible due to the short access lines and the relatively low frequencies at which the extraction is performed (between 1 and 4 GHz). Therefore, the reference plan could be put at the dashed box in the small-signal equivalent circuit shown in Fig. 3.40. This is the physical borders of the transistor or the device under test DUT. However, these physical





(a) DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu \rm m$ width each and different channel lengths.



(c) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu \rm{m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.36.: Variation of $V_{\rm EA}$ with temperature for different devices.

borders include two types of elements, the ones outside the dotted box, called the extrinsic elements and the ones inside the dotted box called the intrinsic elements. The distinction between "extrinsic" and "intrinsic" elements depends on their properties rather than their position in space, or in other words, elements are classified according to their specific behavior with respect to bias rather than on their location with respect to the underlying physical layout inside or outside a certain conceptual boundary [39]. An "extrinsic" element depends on the geometry of the device and is independent of the biasing conditions of the transistor. On the other hand, an "intrinsic" element is dependent on the bias conditions and on the size of the active zone.

In a first step, the two main figures of merit for RF characterization, f_T and $f_{\rm max}$, are extracted from measured data after the de-embedding step, without trying to distinguish between extrinsic and intrinsic effects. In a second step, these extrinsic and intrinsic elements are studied in detail.

3.4.1 Cutoff Frequencies

The RF behavior of a transistor is usually characterized by three cutoff frequencies: current gain cutoff frequency f_T , unilateral gain cutoff frequency f_{max} , and

	D	NW Bu	ılk]	PD SOI		F	D SOI
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FE	B BT
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.1	5 0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$V_{\rm EA}$	5.1	7.72		8.55	24.2		10.5	6 8.44
$\Delta V_{\rm EA}$	-4.3	-4.8		-21.1	-64.2	—	-17	.6 -10.7
			FD			D		
	nM	OS G	C G	C GC	nMOS	FB	GC	BT GC
L (μ m)	0.1	5 0.	24 0.3	35 0.5	0.5	0	.5	0.5
$W (\mu m)$) 2.	5 2	.5 2.	5 2.5	3.3	3	.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	$N_{\rm finger}$ 32		8 4	8 48	12	1	2	12
$\overline{V_{\mathrm{EA}}}$	4.4	5 7.	78 8.9	92 14.8	6.5	11	.34	17.34
$\Delta V_{\rm EA}$	-7	.7 12	2.9 54	.7 76	7.1	7.1 –		-29.6
_								

Table 3.7.: Early voltage $V_{\rm EA}$ in V at room temperature and its variation with temperature in mV/°C.

maximum available gain cutoff frequency f_{MAG} . The cutoff frequency is the frequency point where the corresponding gain is equal to unity [33]. The first two cutoff frequencies are considered and extracted in this section for all the devices. Their behavior with temperature is also studied and presented.

3.4.1.1 Current Gain Cutoff Frequency f_T

The current gain cutoff frequency f_T of a transistor (also known as the transition frequency) characterizes the point at which the current gain of the transistor vanishes. Hence, f_T characterizes the high frequency behavior of a transistor. It is extracted from the x-axis intersection of an extrapolated -20 dB/dec line on the curve of the current gain $|H_{21}|$ versus frequency (see Fig. 3.41). The current gain can also be calculated from the measured S parameters using:

$$|H_{21}| = \left| \frac{-2S_{21}}{(1 - S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}} \right|$$
(3.24)

Based on the small-signal equivalent circuit, the current gain cutoff frequency f_T can be obtained analytically from:

$$f_T = \frac{\Re(Y_{21})}{2\,\pi\,\Im(Y_{11})/\omega} \tag{3.25}$$

where $\Re(Y_{21})$ is mainly a function of the gate transconductance and $\Im(Y_{11})/\omega$ is directly related to the total gate capacitance. In a simplified form, f_T could be



Fig. 3.37.: Output conductance g_D in saturation region ($V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$) for DNW bulk, PD, and FD SOI in FB and BT structures for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C (200°C for the FD devices).

given by

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_{\rm gg}} \tag{3.26}$$

where C_{gg} is the total gate capacitance $(C_{gg} = C_{gs} + C_{gd})$.

It is worth noticing that the theoretical slope of -20 dB/dec is easily found for all the devices considered in this work at different bias points. The values of f_T extracted from the graphical representation of $|H_{21}|$ and the -20 dB/dec slope were also verified using the small-signal equivalent circuit as follows: the elements (intrinsic and extrinsic) of the small-signal equivalent circuit are ex-


Fig. 3.38.: Output conductance g_D in saturation region ($V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$) for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 200°C.

tracted then used to generate a new set of S-parameters. $|H_{21}|$ is then calculated and f_T is extracted once again using the -20 dB/dec extrapolation. Eq. (3.25) and (3.26) were also used to calculate f_T . In all the cases, the values of f_T are very close with a negligible margin of error.

The relation between f_T and the bias conditions is tied to the relation between the transconductance and the bias conditions. However, this relation should be treated with caution since the transconductance extracted from dc measurements could suffer from self-heating giving some inaccurate behavior. A transconductance extracted from RF measurements is more efficient in studying the relation between f_T and the bias conditions. Fig. 3.42 shows how f_T and g_m vary as $V_{\rm GS}$ and $V_{\rm DS}$ vary. It is clear that the maximum of f_T occurs at the same bias conditions as the maximum of g_m . In general, this maximum occurs at the maximum of $V_{\rm DS}$ knowing that at a certain point, the increase of f_T saturates with the increase of $V_{\rm DS}$ where the device reaches its maximum limit of RF performance.

It has been already shown that GCMOS devices exhibit higher transconductance than the corresponding classical nMOS devices. As a direct consequence, GCMOS devices also benefit from higher cutoff frequency than classical nMOS devices, assuming that the capacitance is comparable between the two structures. This relation was found to be true for PD as well as for FD GCMOS devices. A



Fig. 3.39.: Output conductance g_D in saturation region ($V_{\rm DS} = V_{\rm DD}$) for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths for a temperature range of 25 to 250°C.

comparison of f_T is shown in Fig. 3.43a for PD devices of 0.5 μ m channel length. In Fig. 3.43b, it is shown that the 0.5 μ m GCMOS is not capable to compete with the 0.35 μ m classical nMOS which would be predicted from the behavior of the dc transconductance shown in section 3.2.2.3. An explanation could be given based on the behavior of the device capacitance (see (3.26)) as will be shown in section 3.4.3.2.

To study of the effect of temperature on the current gain cutoff frequency, the variation of the maximum of f_T is considered as a function of temperature. This is shown in Fig. 3.44 for the different devices.

It is clear that as the temperature increases, the cutoff frequency f_T decreases with different slopes. From (3.25), this degradation of f_T can be related to either a degradation with temperature in the behavior of $\Re(Y_{21})$, thus the transconductance, or $\Im(Y_{11})/\omega$, thus the total gate capacitance, or both. This can be further studied when looking at the intrinsic parameters presented in section 3.4.3. Table 3.8 summarizes the behavior of f_T for the different devices.



77

Fig. 3.40.: Small-signal equivalent circuit of a MOSFET including the effects of measurement pads.



Fig. 3.41.: An illustration of the extraction of f_T from measured S-parameters after calculating the current gain $|H_{21}|$.

3.4.1.2 Maximum Oscillation Frequency f_{\max}

The maximum oscillation frequency is a very important figure of merit for the RF circuit designers. It is defined as the cutoff frequency of the unilateral gain ULG and can be expressed in terms of f_T as follows [16]:

$$f_{\rm max} = \frac{f_T}{2\sqrt{2\pi f_T R_{\rm g} C_{\rm gd} + G_{\rm dsi} \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + R_{\rm gsi}\right)}}$$
(3.27)

Hence, if f_T is independent of extrinsic resistances, f_{max} on the contrary is highly dependent on these resistances. Layout optimization techniques could highly enhance the performance of f_{max} .

 $f_{\rm max}$ is extracted using an extrapolation of ULG plotted as a function of frequency (the same idea as in the case of f_T). However, a slope of -20 dB/dec could not be easily found for the devices considered in this work, due to the high values of $f_{\rm max}$ and the limited frequency band of the measurement equipment (40 GHz). Therefore, for a fair comparison, the same slope of -30 dB/dec was fixed for the extraction of $f_{\rm max}$ for all devices. The extraction of $f_{\rm max}$ is shown



(a) Current gain cutoff frequency f_T as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$ and $V_{\rm DS}$.

(b) DC transconductance g_m as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$ and $V_{\rm DS}.$

Fig. 3.42.: Bias dependence of the current gain cutoff frequency f_T and the transconductance g_m for a FB DNW bulk device at room temperature.



(a) GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ (b) f_T for GCMOS and classical nMOS of different channel lengths.

Fig. 3.43.: Current gain cutoff frequency for PD GCMOS and PD classical nMOS at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.7$ V.

in Fig. 3.45 for the different devices considered in this work. A summary of the values of f_{max} as well as its variation with temperature is presented in Table 3.8.

3.4.1.3 Comments on Cutoff Frequencies

The careful reading of Table 3.8 shows that:

- The ratio f_{max}/f_T is almost 3 for FB devices and almost 2 for BT structures (except for FD SOI devices).
- DT structure in DNW bulk device shows a very reduced f_T value compared to DT structure of PD SOI device. This should be related to the gate capacitance and hence to the layout used. An optimization of the layout can help to enhance f_T of DT DNW bulk device.
- BT devices are mostly less sensitive to the variations in temperature, either for f_T or f_{max} . However, the absolute values of f_T and f_{max} for BT devices are lower than for FB devices. Nevertheless, the temperature stability helps





(a) FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu \rm m$ width each and different channel lengths.



Fig. 3.44.: Variation of the maximum of f_T with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

to keep the functionality of RF circuits using these devices up to high temperatures of operation.

- Although GCMOS structure enhances the absolute values of f_T and f_{max} compared to the same drawn channel length of classical nMOS, it does not help to keep the thermal stability of these cutoff frequencies. GCMOS structures show higher sensitivity of f_T and f_{max} to temperature variation.

3.4.2 Extrinsic Resistances

In Fig. 3.40, the dotted box differentiates between the intrinsic (inside) and extrinsic (outside) elements of a typical equivalent circuit for a MOSFET. The extraction of intrinsic elements from the measured S-parameters is very sensitive to the values of the extracted extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$. The extraction of these extrinsic resistances is achieved using the cold FET method proposed by Bracale *et al.* [40] and applying the $\omega^2 \Re(Z_{\rm ij})$ versus ω^2 method proposed by G. Crupi *et al.* in [41] to minimize the frequency dependence of $\Re(Z_{\rm ij})$ associated to an incomplete capacitance de-embedding and/or intrinsic capacitive effects.





(a) FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.

(b) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu \rm m$ width each and different channel lengths.



Fig. 3.45.: Variation of the maximum of f_{max} with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

Fig. 3.46 to 3.48 show the results of the extraction. $R_{\rm d}$ and $R_{\rm s}$ are quite similar for FB and BT structures. However, the difference in the values between $R_{\rm d}$ and $R_{\rm s}$ is related to a slight asymmetry between the two sides of the transistor. Resistivity of doped silicon is calculated from [12]:

$$\rho(T) = \frac{1}{qN_A\mu_p(T)} \tag{3.28}$$

where $\mu_p(T)$ is the hole mobility as a function of temperature which can be calculated using Arora's mobility model [42]. For highly doped silicon (as in the case of source and drain regions), only a 25% increase in resistivity is obtained for the considered temperature range. In our case, the classical Bracale method, used to extract the extrinsic resistances, does not consider the mobility degradation. This produces an overestimation of R_d and R_s [43], giving the high percentages of increase shown in Fig. 3.46 to 3.48.

Table 3.9 presents a summary of the extracted values of $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$ at room temperature and its variation with temperature for the different devices.

	L D	NW Bu	lk		PD SOI	FD SOI		
	\mathbf{FB}	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (μ m)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W ~(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
f_T	70.8	70.1	24.9	71.8	55.1	62.2	83.4	73.8
$f_{\rm max}$	211.2	140.3	77.8	200.2	98.6	103.8	114.8	86
$f_{\rm max}/f_T$	2.98	2	3.12	2.79	1.79	1.67	1.37	1.17
Δf_T	-0.12	-0.11	-0.08	-0.092	-0.062	-0.09	-0.16	-0.08
$\Delta f_{\rm max}$	-0.56	-0.36	0.7	-0.42	-0.22	0.003	-0.02	-0.19

Table 3.8.: Current gain cutoff frequency f_T and maximum oscillation frequency f_{max} in GHz of the different transistors at room temperature and their variation with temperature in GHz/°C.

		FI		PD				
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
$\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
$W(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3	
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12	
f_T	49.4	23.4	16.2	13.4	16.8	20.3	17.3	
f_{\max}	108.7	57.3	38.2	27.4	50.2	65.8	50.6	
$f_{\rm max}/f_T$	2.2	2.45	2.36	2.04	2.99	3.2	2.92	
Δf_T	-0.069	-0.018	-0.012	-0.02	-0.035	-0.042	-0.037	
$\Delta f_{\rm max}$	-0.21	-0.096	-0.07	-0.06	-0.11	-0.14	-0.02	

3.4.3 Intrinsic Elements

The values of extrinsic resistances extracted in the previous section are subtracted from the measured Z-parameters (Z_{ext}) to get the intrinsic Z-parameters (Z_{int}) using the following relation:

$$[Z_{\rm int}] = [Z_{\rm ext}] - \begin{bmatrix} R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} & R_{\rm s} \\ R_{\rm s} & R_{\rm d} + R_{\rm s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.29)

At this point, the reference plan is moved to the dotted box in Fig. 3.40. This represents the intrinsic part of the small-signal equivalent circuit of the MOSFET transistor. Besides the transconductance and the output conductance (presented in the next section), the intrinsic part contains three capacitances; $C_{\rm gs}$, $C_{\rm gd}$, and $C_{\rm ds}$. It is of interest to extract these capacitances when the transistor is operated in the ON (inversion) and the OFF (depletion) states. This will give more insight for circuit designers.



Fig. 3.46.: Variation of the extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$ with temperature for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.



Fig. 3.47.: Variation of the extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$ with temperature for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.

3.4.3.1 Capacitances in OFF State

To extract the capacitances in the OFF state, transistors are biased in deep depletion mode, i.e. negative values of $V_{\rm GS}$ and zero $V_{\rm DS}$. The direct extraction method introduced by Raskin *et al.* in [44] is then applied. $V_{\rm GS}$ is set to -0.5



Fig. 3.48.: Variation of the extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$ with temperature for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths.

V where the capacitances showed a minimum when traced as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$. The results of the extraction are shown in Fig. 3.52 and Fig. 3.53. $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ in the OFF state contain the contribution of three capacitances, as shown in Fig. Fig. 3.49; the fringing capacitances, the overlap capacitances, and the body depletion capacitances. The later has a high sensitivity to temperature variation as it depends on the intrinsic carrier density $n_{\rm i}$, which is sensitive to temperature changes as shown earlier in (3.6). This explains the variation of the capacitances in deep depletion with temperature as summarized in Table 3.10.



Fig. 3.49.: Capacitances in the OFF state.

Theoretically, $C_{\rm ds}$ in BT should be double that in FB, due to the absence of one of the two series capacitances because of the connection between the body and the source, as shown in Fig. 3.50. Fig. 3.53a shows that this is rather correct especially for PD SOI devices, as BT structures show nearly double the value of $C_{\rm ds}$ compared to the FB structures. On the other hand, FB structures show double the variation of $C_{\rm ds}$ with temperature compared to BT structures, as shown in Table 3.10, for the same reason; in a FB structure, two capacitors in series vary with temperature, while in a BT structure one of these series capacitances is removed.

		ONW B	ulk	:	PD SOI	FD	SOI	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W ~(\mu m$) 2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$\overline{R_{\mathrm{g}}}$	5	4.7	_	5.72	6.96	_	5.99	8.61
$R_{ m d}$	2.5	2.6	_	2.3	2.35	_	1.76	1.78
$R_{\rm s}$	1.72	1.85	_	1.3	1.63	_	1.3	1.29
$\overline{\Delta R_{\rm g}}$	7	6		1.1	20		5	20
$\Delta R_{ m d}$	5	3		5	4		0.7	0.04
$\Delta R_{\rm s}$	4	4		3	3		4	3
	1				1			
	1100	FI		aa	1100		PD	
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	5 FB	B GC	BT GC
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	().5	0.5
$W \ (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	e e	3.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12		12	12
$R_{\rm g}$	10.9	5.31	4.23	3.56	5.9	5	.03	4.65
$R_{\rm d}$	3.41	4.11	4.29	3.73	6.1	ę	9.2	10.03
$R_{\rm s}$	1.63	1.87	1.17	0.43	6.65	(5.6	12.3
$\Delta R_{\rm g}$	-0.3	0.3	0.2	-10	-10	_	-12	-18
$\Delta R_{\rm d}$	12	11	15	16	30	:	35	45
$\Delta R_{\rm s}$	7.7	7.4	12	11	28		24	52

Table 3.9.: Extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm d}$, and $R_{\rm s}$ in Ω of different transistors at room temperature and their variation with temperature in m $\Omega/{}^{o}$ C.

This connection between the body and the source also affects the gate-source capacitance $C_{\rm gs}$, where again it is higher in the case of BT structures as shown in Fig. 3.52, due to the metal connections which adds to $C_{\rm gs}$ and varies according to the layout implemented. Fig. 3.51 shows an illustration of the layout used in the case of the BT PD SOI device. Therefore, a good layout optimization technique can highly reduce this capacitance. It is worth mentioning here that the capacitance related to the body node in BT transistors is very small compared to capacitances related to metal layers connections. Values for extracted body node capacitances for the same technology used in this work (for the PD SOI case) were published by D. Lederer *et al.* in [45]. The layout variations also affect the amount of difference between $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ in the OFF state for the same transistor assumed at zero $V_{\rm DS}$. Fig. 3.52 shows a small difference between $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ in the case of FB (nearly symmetric) whereas a large difference



Fig. 3.50.: The difference in $C_{\rm ds}$ between FB and BT structures.



Fig. 3.51.: An illustration of the layout of the BT PD SOI showing the metal connections between the body and the source.

(nearly the double) is noticed in the case of BT PD SOI transistor. The layout was enhanced in the case of DNW bulk and FD SOI devices, and the result is a lower difference between $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ in the case of the BT structure as seen from Fig. 3.52 and Table 3.10.

3.4.3.2 Intrinsic Elements in ON State

As in the case of the extraction of the capacitances in deep depletion, the extraction of the intrinsic elements in the ON state is performed using the intrinsic Z-parameters (Z_{int}) (obtained from (3.29)) and the direct extraction method [44] under saturation and strong inversion bias conditions; i.e. $V_{DS} = V_{GS} = V_{DD}$. The results of the extraction are shown in Fig. 3.54, Fig. 3.55, and Fig. 3.56. Variation of the intrinsic elements with temperature is given in Table 3.11.

 $C_{\rm gs}$ in the ON state shows higher values for BT structures compared to FB structures, for the same reason of metal connections explained in the previous section. Also a higher difference (compared to the OFF state case) between $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ for the same transistor due to the presence of the inversion layer in the saturation region, i.e. the transistor is no more symmetric. $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ show relatively stable behavior with temperature, as can be seen from Table 3.11, whereas $C_{\rm ds}$ shows higher degradation (increase) with temperature. This degra-



(a) OFF state $C_{\rm gs}$ for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.





(b) OFF state $C_{\rm gd}$ for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.



(c) OFF state $C_{\rm gs}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μm width each and different channel lengths.

(d) OFF state $C_{\rm gd}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.





(e) OFF state $C_{\rm gs}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ channel lengths.

(f) OFF state $C_{\rm gd}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.52.: Variation of the OFF state capacitances $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

dation in $C_{\rm ds}$ is related to the increase in generation and recombination rates in the channel with temperature.

Intrinsic output conductance G_{dsi} , shows a relatively stable behavior with temperature, where BT structures show a higher increase than FB structures due to the suppression of the kink effect as explained in section 3.2.2. As a result,





(a) OFF state $C_{\rm ds}$ for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.

(b) OFF state $C_{\rm ds}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.



800

600

(c) OFF state C_{ds} for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths.

Fig. 3.53.: Variation of the OFF state capacitance $C_{\rm ds}$ with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

both structures show stable output performance at high temperatures, hence the matching with next stages is not affected by the increase in temperature.

Intrinsic transconductance G_{mi} , on the other hand, shows some degradation with temperature. This is explained by the degradation of the surface mobility with temperature, an effect that has been measured and modeled by Reichert et al. [46]. The intrinsic transconductance G_{mi} is extracted from the intrinsic Z-parameters (Z_{int}) in the saturation region, thus away from the ZTC point of g_m and also from the maximum value of g_m . Therefore, this degradation will directly affect the intrinsic gain of the transistor at elevated temperatures.

3.5 CONCLUSION

An extensive characterization has been presented in this chapter. The devices considered in this work have been characterized in dc, ac, and RF both at room temperature and at high temperatures. At each step, a detailed comparison has been held between the different technologies and the different device structures. These comparisons are to be used in the next chapters to help explain certain

 $C_{\rm gd}$

 \tilde{C}_{ds}

 $\Delta C_{\rm gs}$

 $\Delta C_{\rm gd}$

 $\Delta C_{\rm ds}$

568.6

150.9

0.1

0.09

-0.08

470.2

105.6

0.11

0.064

-0.07

481

84.26

 $\begin{array}{c} 0.16\\ 0.073\end{array}$

-0.07

Table 3.10.: OFF state capacitances $C_{\rm gs}$, $C_{\rm gd}$, and $C_{\rm ds}$ in fF/mm of the different transistors at room temperature and their variation with temperature in fF/mm/°C.

	D	k		PD S	SOI		FD	FD SOI	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	В	Т	DT	FB	BT
$\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.	13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	د 4	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	3	0	30	48	48
$\overline{C_{\rm gs}}$	649.7	653.3	_	618.9	955	2.3	_	319.4	408.3
$C_{\rm gd}$	543.6	529.2	_	557	510	0.3	_	329.6	349.4
$C_{\rm ds}$	447	497.9	—	339.5	67'	7.9	—	146	158.5
$\Delta C_{\rm gs}$	0.96	1.04	_	0.28	0.	.5	_	-0.09	0.03
$\Delta C_{\rm gd}$	0.03	0.045	_	0.11	0.0)36	_	0.054	0.08
$\Delta C_{\rm ds}$	0.45	0.35	—	0.21	0.	37	_	0.008	-0.036
	1					1			
]	FD					PD	
	nMOS	GC	GC	C G	С	nN	IOS	FB GC	BT GC
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.3	5 0	.5	0).5	0.5	0.5
$W~(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	5 2	.5	3	3.3	3.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	8 4	8	-	12	12	12
$\overline{C_{\mathrm{gs}}}$	584.8	556.4	566	.1 64	7.8	59	08.2	598.2	813.9

phenomena and to provide the basis for new approaches in dealing with these devices under different conditions.

510.9

86.34

0.23

0.07

-0.09

468.7

258.1

0.81

0.2

0.56

481.4

262.4

0.85

0.17

0.57

472.1

268.1

0.93

0.18

0.36

A highlight of the most important results obtained throughout this chapter is given hereafter:

- Due to the variety of technologies and structures used in this work, a difference is noticed in threshold voltages of the different devices. This difference is taken into account in all representations of figures of merit by tracing them as a function of normalized drain current or gate overdrive voltage.
- The behavior of the threshold voltage with increasing temperature varies significantly from technology to technology and from structure to structure. The FB DNW bulk device shows the lowest variation in threshold voltage



(a) ON state C_{gs} for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.





(b) ON state $C_{\rm gd}$ for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.



(c) ON state $C_{\rm gs}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ width each and different channel lengths.

(d) ON state $C_{\rm gd}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ width each and different channel lengths.



(e) ON state $C_{\rm gs}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ channel lengths.

(fF/mm)

(f) ON state $C_{\rm gd}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of $0.5 \ \mu m$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.54.: Variation of the ON state capacitances $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

with temperature. PD GCMOS shows a lower variation in V_T than the corresponding classical nMOS. In general, FB structures show less variation in V_T than BT structures.

DNW bulk devices are shown to be a good mimic of SOI devices. The DNW gives the possibility to fabricate FB and BT structures on a bulk





(a) ON state $C_{\rm ds}$ for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.

(b) ON state $C_{\rm ds}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.



(c) ON state $C_{\rm ds}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.55.: Variation of the ON state capacitance $C_{\rm ds}$ with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

technology. They even feature floating-body effects represented by the kink effect shown on the output conductance.

- The variation of the subthreshold slope with temperature is shown to be very similar between the different devices, except for the DT devices which show a significant stability with temperature.
- The ratio of ON to OFF current $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ cannot be used in a direct comparison between devices due to the difference in threshold voltage, but as an indication of the capabilities of different technologies and structures. Another measure is introduced which is the leakage current $I_{\rm Leakage}$ calculated at the lowest current that can be delivered by the transistor. The DNW bulk devices show an impressive performance that is even better than the PD SOI devices, especially for the FB structure. Nevertheless, the FD devices present the lowest leakage current with the BT structure showing good stability with temperature.
- Using the DNW technique, it is possible to define a ZTC point till 250°C for bulk devices. As for the PD SOI devices, the BT structure shows an advantage with respect to the FB structure by featuring higher ZTC points



(a) Intrinsic G_{mi} for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.





(b) Intrinsic G_{dsi} for FB (solid symbols) and BT (empty symbols) structures of DNW bulk, PD SOI, and FD SOI devices.



(c) Intrinsic G_{mi} for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.

(d) Intrinsic $G_{\rm dsi}$ for FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different channel lengths.

GCMOS FB





(e) Intrinsic $G_{m\rm i}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ channel lengths.

(f) Intrinsic $G_{\rm dsi}$ for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 $\mu{\rm m}$ channel lengths.

Fig. 3.56.: Variation of the intrinsic G_{mi} and G_{dsi} with temperature for the different devices studied in this work.

50

which makes it easier to benefit from a higher drive current and transconductance when operating the device at ZTC points. However, this same advantage could turn to be a disadvantage if low voltage low power operation is considered.

92 WIDE BAND AND HIGH TEMPERATURE CHARACTERIZATION

Table 3.11.: ON state intrinsic capacitances $C_{\rm gs}$, $C_{\rm gd}$, and $C_{\rm ds}$ in fF/mm and the intrinsic transconductance $G_{\rm mi}$ and the intrinsic output conductance $G_{\rm dsi}$ in mS/mm of the different transistors at room temperature and their variation with temperature in fF/mm/°C and mS/mm/°C, respectively.

	DN	W Bulk		Р	D SOI	FD	SOI	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
\overline{L} (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$\overline{C_{\rm gs}}$	1107	1096	-	1032	1742	_	958.9	_
$C_{\rm gd}$	610.9	598.9	-	597.8	644.4	_	374.4	358.6
$C_{\rm ds}$	310.2	419.2	-	870.6	2232	_	532.5	880.9
G_{mi}	852.3	855.9	-	703.7	776.8	—	452.1	500.8
$G_{\rm dsi}$	176.8	167	-	174	139.6	_	94.36	89.2
$\Delta C_{\rm gs}$	-0.015	-0.04	-	0.07	-0.12	_	-5.9	_
$\Delta C_{\rm gd}$	0.05	0.066	-	0.055	0.14	—	0.24	0.11
$\Delta C_{\rm ds}$	0.24	0.02	-	-0.65	1.95	—	-1.67	-3
ΔG_{mi}	-0.89	-0.93	-	-0.57	-0.7	_	-0.65	-1
$\Delta G_{\rm dsi}$	-0.07	-0.057	-	-0.07	-0.005	_	-0.02	-0.04
			D				PD	
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	5 FB	GC 1	BT GC
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	().5	0.5
$W (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	ć	3.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12		12	12
$\overline{C_{\rm gs}}$	1313	1658	2124	3047	2248	2	023	1748
C_{gd}	507.6	924.5	1295	1655	514.7	80	00.5	871.2
$C_{\rm ds}$	245.8	679.3	826.2	285.8	318.1	45	57.7	350.2
G_{mi}	537	449.9	391.3	412.4	280.6	31	5.4	253.1
$G_{\rm dsi}$	80.92	47.09	25.42	12.99	20.65	20).61	9.807
$\overline{\Delta C_{\rm gs}}$	-0.16	-0.64	-0.47	0.023	0.26	1	.1	0.7
$\Delta C_{\rm gd}$	0.072	0.25	0.38	0.62	0.18	0	.42	0.4
$\Delta C_{\rm ds}$	-0.74	-1.73	-2.08	-0.369	0.51	1	.37	0.8
ΔG_{mi}	-0.43	-0.34	-0.31	-0.55	-0.53		0.56	-0.43
$\Delta G_{\rm dsi}$	-0.025	0.04	0.037	0.026	-0.02	2 0.	029	0.033

- For ac operation, the transconductance to drain current ratio $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ of the DNW bulk devices is quite comparable to that of the PD SOI devices. The GCMOS devices, on the other hand, are not capable to compete with the classical nMOS except for the strong inversion regime of operation.

Temperature has a double effect on $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ since it reduces the peak value and pushes its place on the $I_{\rm DS}$ axis further. This double effect could be undesirable for the correct operation of analog circuits.

- The BT structure of the PD SOI shows interesting high values of Early voltage outperforming all other devices. Yet, it shows the highest degradation with temperature.
- The two main figures of merit for RF performance, f_T and f_{max} , are presented and also their variation with temperature. BT structures show more stable behavior than FB structure, but FB structures show higher values of f_T and f_{max} . GCMOS devices outperform classical nMOS devices but they loose when stability with temperature is considered.
- The extraction of the small-signal equivalent circuit is helpful to understand the behavior of the different devices in RF. Extrinsic resistances are extracted at different temperatures then the intrinsic elements values are extracted in different operation regimes and at different temperatures. These values serve to explain the behavior of f_T and f_{max} . They will also serve in understanding phenomena to be presented in the next chapters.

Bibliography

- D. M. Fleetwood, F. V. Thome, S. S. Tsao, P. V. Dressendorfer, V. J. Dandini, and J. R. Schwank, "High-temperature silion-on-insulator electronics for space nuclear power systems: Requirements and feasibility," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 1099–1112, Oct. 1988.
- [2] J.-P. Colinge, Silicon-on-Insulator Technology: Materials to VLSI, 3rd ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- [3] D. Flandre, A. N. Nazarov, and P. L. F. Hemment, Science and Technology of Semiconductor-on-Insulator Structures and Devices Operating in a Harsh Environment. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2005.
- [4] P. Francis, A. Terao, B. Gentinne, D. Flandre, and J. Colinge, "SOI technology for high-temperature applications," in *International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'92) Tech. Dig.*, Dec. 13–16, 1992, pp. 353–357.
- [5] M. Emam, J. C. Tinoco, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Hightemperature RF behavior of partially-depleted SOI MOSFET transistors," in Proc. The fourth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'08, Cork, Ireland, Jan. 23-25, 2008, pp. 53-54.
- [6] Zero insertion force. Wikipedia The Free Encyclopedia. [Online]. Available: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zero_Insertion_Force
- [7] [©]Cascade Microtech, Inc.[®]. [Online]. Available: http://www.cmicro.com
- [8] Infinity probe[®]: High-frequency performance with low, stable contact resistance on aluminum pads. [©]Cascade Microtech, Inc.[®]. [Online]. Available: http://www.cmicro.com/products/engineering-probes/rf-microwave/ infinity-probe
- [9] |Z| probe[®]: Excellent performance with the longest lifetime. [©]Cascade Microtech, Inc.[®]. [Online]. Available: http://www.cmicro.com/products/ stp/suss-accessories/-z-probe-family/-z-probe-
- [10] "Applying error correction to network analyzer measurements," Application Note, Agilent Technologies, Mar. 2002. [Online]. Available: http:// literature.agilent.com/litweb/pdf/5965-7709E.pdf
- [11] Agilent Technologies. [Online]. Available: http://www.agilent.com
- [12] Y. Taur and T. H. Ning, Fundamentals of Modern VLSI Devices. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [13] R. S. Muller and T. I. Kamins, Device Electronics for Integrated Circuits, 2nd ed. New York: Wiley, 2004.

- [14] G. Groeseneken, J.-P. Colinge, H. E. Maes, J. C. Alderman, and S. Holt, "Temperature dependence of threshold voltage in thin-film SOI MOSFET's," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 329–331, Aug. 1990.
- [15] Y. Tsividis, Operation and Modeling of the MOS Transistor, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- [16] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, 3rd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2007.
- [17] V. Kilchytska, K. de Meyer, and D. Flandre, "In-depth investigation of 0.13 μm SOI MOSFETs for high-temperature applications," in *Proc. ULtimate Integration of Silicon (ULIS 2004)*, Leuven, Belgium, Mar. 11–12, 2004, pp. 163–166.
- [18] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for improving DC and microwave characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1005–1011, Jul. 2002.
- [19] T. Rudenko, V. Kylchytska, J. Colinge, V. Dessard, and D. Flandre, "Physical analysis of the high-temperature subthreshold slope in SOI MOSFET's," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Wakefield, MA, Oct. 2–5, 2000, pp. 34–35.
- [20] —, "On the high-temperature subthreshold slope of thin-film SOI MOS-FET's," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 148–151, Mar. 2002.
- [21] D. P. Vu, M. J. Boden, W. R. Henderson, N. K. Cheong, P. M. Zavracky, D. A. Adams, and M. M. Austin, "High temperature operation of ISE devices and circuits," in *Proc. IEEE SOS/SOI Technology Conference*, Stateline, NV, Oct. 3–5, 1989, pp. 165–166.
- [22] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature DC and RF behavior of partially depleted SOI versus deep n-well protected bulk MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'09)*, San Diego, CA, Jan. 19–21, 2009, pp. 185–188.
- [23] F. S. Shoucair, "Analytical and experimental methods for zero-temperaturecoefficient biasing of MOS transistors," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 25, no. 17, pp. 1196–1198, Aug. 1989.
- [24] Z. Prijic, S. S. Dimitrijev, and N. Stojadinovic, "The determination of zero temperature coefficient point in CMOS transistors," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 769–773, Jun. 1992.
- [25] D. S. Jeon and D. E. Burk, "A temperature-dependent SOI MOSFET model for high-temperature applications (27°C–300°C)," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 2101–2110, Sep. 1991.

- [26] A. A. Osman, M. A. Osman, N. S. Dogan, and M. A. Imam, "Zerotemperature-coefficient biasing point of partially depleted SOI MOSFET's," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 1709–1711, Sep. 1995.
- [27] M. E. Kaamouchi, G. Dambrine, M. S. Moussa, M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Body-biasing control on zero-temperaturecoefficient in partially depleted SOI MOSFET," in *Proc. IEEE Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'08)*, Orlando, FL, Jan. 23–25, 2008, pp. 114–117.
- [28] B. Gentinne, J.-P. Eggermont, and J.-P. Colinge, "Performances of SOI CMOS OTA combining ZTC and gain-boosting techniques," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 31, no. 24, pp. 2092–2093, Nov. 1995.
- [29] M. E. Kaamouchi, M. S. Moussa, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "Zero-temperature-coefficient biasing point of 2.4–GHz LNA in PD SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc. European Microwave Conference*, Munich, Germany, Oct. 9–12, 2007, pp. 1101–1104.
- [30] M. Emam, A. Kumar, J. Ida, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "DC and RF temperature behavior of deep submicron graded channel MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Francisco, CA, Oct. 5–8, 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [31] A. K. Goel and T. H. Tan, "High-temperature and self-heating effects in fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 963–975, 2006.
- [32] D. Flandre, J.-P. Eggermont, D. De Ceuster, and P. Jespers, "Comparison of SOI versus bulk performances of CMOS micropower single-stage OTAs," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 30, no. 23, pp. 1933–1934, Nov. 1994.
- [33] D. Flandre, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "SOI CMOS transistors for RF and microwave applications," *International Journal of High Speed Electronics and Systems*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1159–1248, 2001.
- [34] E. A. Vittoz, "Low-power design: ways to approach the limits," in *Dig. of Tech. Papers. IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf.* 41st ISSCC, Feb. 16–18, 1994, pp. 14–18.
- [35] V. Kilchytska, A. Nève, L. Vancaillie, D. Levacq, S. Adriaensen, H. van Meer, K. D. Meyer, C. Raynaud, M. Dehan, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Flandre, "Influence of device engineering on the analog and RF performances of SOI MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 577–588, Mar. 2003.
- [36] J. M. Early, "Effects of space-charge layer widening in junction transistors," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1401–1406, Nov. 1952.

- [37] K. Bernstein and N. J. Rohrer, SOI Circuit Design Concepts. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2000.
- [38] B. Gentinne, D. Flandre, J.-P. Eggermont, and J.-P. Colinge, "High temperature performances of a SOI CMOS gain-boosting OTA," in *Third International High Temperature Conference*, Albuquerque, USA, Jun. 1996, pp. 113–118.
- [39] J.-P. Raskin, "Modeling, characterization and optimization of MOSFET's and passive elements for the synthesis of SOI MMIC's," Ph.D. dissertation, Université catholique de Louvain, Dec. 1997.
- [40] A. Bracale, V. Ferlet-Cavrois, N. Fel, D. Pasquet, J.-L. Gautier, and J.-L. Pelloie, "A new approach for SOI devices small-signal parameters extraction," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 157–169, Nov. 2000.
- [41] G. Crupi, D. Schreurs, B. Parvais, A. Caddemi, A. Mercha, and S. Decoutere, "Scalable and multibias high frequency modeling of multi-fin FETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 50, no. 11–12, pp. 1780–1786, Nov./Dec. 2006.
- [42] N. D. Arora, J. R. Hauser, and D. J. Roulston, "Electron and hole mobilities in silicon as a function of concentration and temperature," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 292–295, Feb. 1982.
- [43] J. C. Tinoco and J.-P. Raskin, "Revised RF extraction methods for deep submicron MOSFETs," in Proc. European Microwave Integrated Circuit Conference (EuMIC'08), Amsterdam, Oct. 27–28, 2008, pp. 127–130.
- [44] J.-P. Raskin, R. Gillon, J. Chen, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Colinge, "Accurate SOI MOSFET characterization at microwave frequencies for device performance optimization and analog modeling," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1017–1025, May 1998.
- [45] D. Lederer and J.-P. Raskin, "Characterization of the body node in PD SOI MOSFETs using multiport VNA measurements," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 3030–3039, Nov. 2007.
- [46] G. Reichert, T. Ouisse, J.-L. Pelloie, and S. Cristoloveanu, "Surface mobility of SOI MOSFET's in the high temperature range: Modeling and experiment," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Tucson, AZ, Oct. 3–5, 1995, pp. 42–43.

CHAPTER 4

LOW VOLTAGE LOW POWER CHARACTERIZATION

THE debate on the future of the semiconductor market continues between the supporters of the Bulk-Si technology and the Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) technology. With a history of more than 30 years in both technology and circuit design, Bulk-Si is believed to continue as the mainstream of the semiconductor market. Currently, only 4–5% of all the wafers produced worldwide are SOI, or more specifically, 8% of the 300 mm logic wafer market is SOI [1]. However, as the technology continues to scale down beyond 45 nm, it is believed that the variability and complexity would be a difficult barrier for Bulk-Si technology [2]. On the other hand, SOI provides less process complexity and variability, lower power (30–40% lower power or higher performance), higher reliability (10x soft error rate reduction with no latch up) [2]. Moreover, the high cost, which is the main obstacle for SOI, is believed to go down while the cost of Bulk-Si goes up (due to complexity issues) until the crossover is believed to take place at 32 or 22 nm technology nodes [2].

SOI merits many advantages over Bulk-Si such as higher $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio, lower leakage current, lower parasitic capacitances, radiation hardness, and higher immunity to latch-up problems (due to the presence of the buried oxide layer BOX). These advantages put the SOI ahead for high speed applications and also for Low-Voltage Low-Power (LVLP) applications [3]. LVLP electronics is gaining more grounds due to the fast growing market of wireless communi-

100 LOW VOLTAGE LOW POWER CHARACTERIZATION

cation devices which require portability and reliability and above all extended battery lifetime [4].

As for high temperature performance, SOI can function correctly up to 300° C while bulk devices fail beyond 180° C due to leakage current [5]. On the other hand, the presence of the BOX leads to less thermal conductivity (due to poor thermal coefficient of SiO₂), hence higher temperatures inside the channel leading to self-heating effects. Other effects also limit the performance of SOI devices like the floating body effect [5].

Although the high temperature characteristics of SOI devices operating in RF regime is very important for modern wireless communication applications as mentioned above, especially when combined with Low-Voltage Low-Power operation, this type of study is rarely addressed in literature [6–8]. On the other hand, the dc LVLP characteristics is well covered in literature, however, in order to cover the high temperature RF LVLP regime of operation, a dc study is indispensable.

LVLP applications could be divided into two main categories, the first concerns the applications where a relatively high drive current is required whereas the second is strictly concerned by extremely low power consumption criteria. In both cases, the best possible performance of the device is required. As far as the RF applications are concerned, the switching speed is on top of the priorities list of high performance. In order to fulfill the requirement of high drive current in the first category, operation above threshold voltage is needed. On the other hand, the second category is most fitted in near- or sub-threshold operation style. In the next two sections the two categories are addressed in detail.

4.1 ABOVE THRESHOLD OPERATION

In this operation mode, a device is operated at the threshold voltage or slightly above it. The idea is to limit the consumed power to its minimum while generating a relatively high drive current. In a first step, a room temperature characterization is performed (although a real device is rarely operated at room temperature due to the presence of other circuits and devices in the proximity which result in an elevated temperature environment). Afterwards, based on a good understanding of LVLP operation, a high temperature characterization is presented.

4.1.1 At Room Temperature

The devices considered in this work have been presented in chapter 3 in saturation region, i.e. when $V_{\text{DS}} = V_{\text{DD}}$. This behavior is significantly changed when operating the device at or near V_T .

A key parameter in the performance of the device in LVLP above V_T is the behavior of its g_m , all along while tracking its drive current and power consumption. Fig. 4.1 shows the behavior of the drive current and the dc transconductance of the DNW bulk devices and the PD SOI devices as a function of the gate volt-

age overdrive $V_{\text{GT}} = V_{\text{GS}} - V_T$. The interesting characteristic to notice in this figure is the position of the maximum transconductance $g_{m,\max}$ with respect to $V_{\rm GT}$ (see Table 4.1). The lower the value of $V_{\rm GT}$ at which $g_{m,\rm max}$ occurs, the more adequate this device to a LVLP operation. A low value of $V_{\rm GT}$ means a better performance at a lower bias point, hence a lower dc power consumption (see Table 4.1). In general, GCMOS devices, whether in PD or FD technologies, show a better behavior compared to their corresponding classical nMOS devices. They feature their maximum transconductance at lower $V_{\rm GT}$ with lower dc power consumption.

It should be noticed that a trade-off between performance and dc power consumption is unavoidable. Operating the device at its maximum performance results in high power consumption whereas operating the device at an acceptable performance but with significantly reduced power consumption is still doable as can be seen from the plot of the maximum g_m and the dc power consumption P_{dc} as a function of the drain bias $V_{\rm DS}$ in Fig. 4.2. The choice of the appropriate drain bias $V_{\rm DS}$ for a certain design or application depends on the required performance and the constraints on the power consumption.



(c) FD GCMOS with 48 fingers and nMOS of 32 fingers, of 2.5 μ m width each and different μm channel lengths. channel lengths.

(d) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5

Fig. 4.1.: Transfer characteristics $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ and dc transconductance g_m as a function of gate voltage overdrive $V_{\rm GT}$ at room temperature and $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V.

Table 4.1.: The value of the maximum g_m (mS/mm) at room temperature (at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V) and its position on the $V_{\rm GT}$ (V) axis along with the corresponding dc power consumption P_{dc} (mW/mm).

	D	NW Bu	lk	I	PD SOI	FD SOI		
	FB	BT	DT	\mathbf{FB}	BT	DT	FB	BT
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$g_{m,\max}$	720.8	712.8		691.7	631.6		350	350
$V_{\rm GT}$	0.47	0.47		0.44	0.45		0.5	0.5
P_{dc}	175	163.1		152.6	161.4		97.7	98.2
					1			
		FI			PD			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB	GC	BT GC
$L (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0	.5	0.5
$W (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3	.3	3.3
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	1	2	12
$g_{m,\max}$	429.4	379.2	327.4	300.5	181.6	21	9.3	202.1
V _{GT}	0.4	0.33	0.52	0.48	0.68	0.	49	0.44
P_{dc}	81.1	57.3	77.3	56.8	51.2	45	5.2	36.7
						200		



Fig. 4.2.: The maximum of dc transconductance $g_{m,\max}$ and the corresponding dc power consumption P_{dc} as a function of the drain bias V_{DS} for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of $L = 0.5 \ \mu\text{m}$.

A case study is taken to show how a different choice of $V_{\rm DS}$ can importantly affect the performance of a device, especially in RF. In this case study, the PD GCMOS and the PD classical nMOS (both of 0.5 μ m drawn channel length and both are in FB structure) are compared [9].

As shown earlier, in Fig. 4.1d and Table 4.1, the maximum of dc transconductance $g_{m,\max}$ of the GCMOS device occurs at a V_{GT} value of approximately 190 mV lower than the case of the classical nMOS device. Hence, a better dc and RF¹ performance at a lower gate bias and a lower dc power consumption. The higher g_m occurring at a lower $V_{\rm GT}$ is directly translated into optimized current gain cutoff frequency f_T which is shown to present its maximum at a lower $V_{\rm GT}$ for the GCMOS device compared to the classical nMOS device (Fig. 4.3a) at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.5$ V. On the other hand, the maximum oscillation frequency $f_{\rm max}$ is shown to be lower for GCMOS compared to classical nMOS at $V_{\rm DS}$ = 0.5 V as shown in Fig. 4.3b. Nevertheless, the maximum of f_{max} occurs at a lower $V_{\rm GT}$ for GCMOS compared to classical nMOS, which favours again the LVLP performance of the GCMOS.



(a) Current gain cutoff frequency at room (b) Maximum oscillation frequency at room temperature and $V_{\text{DS}} = 0.5, 0.7, \text{ and } 0.9 \text{ V}.$ temperature and $V_{\text{DS}} = 0.5, 0.7, \text{ and } 0.9 \text{ V}.$

Fig. 4.3.: PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths and FB structures.

The explanation of the behavior of f_T and f_{max} is achieved through the extraction of the parameters of a small-signal equivalent circuit using [10, 11] for the extrinsic resistances and using [12] for the intrinsic elements. GCMOS presents a lower C_{gs} (Fig. 4.4a) and a higher C_{gd} (Fig. 4.4b) compared to nMOS. These two capacitances nearly compensate to give a comparable total gate capacitance C_{gg} (Fig. 4.4c), while the intrinsic transconductance G_{mi} is in favor of GCMOS (Fig. 4.4d). As a result GCMOS outperforms nMOS in f_T behavior since $f_T = \frac{G_{mi}}{2\pi C_{gg}}$ (see section 3.4.1.1). The higher C_{gd} of GCMOS is explained by the fact that the lightly doped

region near the drain is in strong inversion but not yet in pinch-off at this low $V_{\rm DS}$ value [13]. The non pinched-off channel also results in higher $G_{\rm dsi}$ for GCMOS compared to nMOS (Fig. 4.4e). Therefore, the higher f_{max} of GCMOS can be explained using (3.27) (see section 3.4.1.2).

As $V_{\rm DS}$ increases, the pinch-off region is created near the drain in the GCMOS. As a result, $C_{\rm gd}$ decreases to reach a value near that of nMOS (Fig. 4.4b). The same applies for G_{dsi} where the difference between GCMOS and nMOS is clearly decreased (Fig. 4.4e). This transition starts to happen at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.7$ V and is

¹Notice that the current gain cutoff frequency is related to g_m through: $f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi (C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd})}$

104 LOW VOLTAGE LOW POWER CHARACTERIZATION

highly manifested at higher values of $V_{\rm DS}$ as can be seen from the intersection point in f_T and $f_{\rm max}$ curves (Fig. 4.3) which goes to higher $V_{\rm GT}$ as $V_{\rm DS}$ increases.



Fig. 4.4.: Intrinsic elements of a PD GCMOS and a classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel lengths and FB structures at room temperature and $V_{\rm DS} = 0.5, 0.7, \text{and } 0.9 \text{ V}.$

4.1.2 At High Temperatures

For applications operating at a bias near or slightly above V_T (for the sake of relatively high drive current), a very interesting bias point is the ZTC_{IDS} presented in section 3.2.7. It has been shown in Table 3.6 that the ZTC_{IDS} always lies above V_T with a slight difference ranging between 0.1 and 0.25 V (with some exceptions where ZTC_{IDS} lies just below V_T). Operating the device at ZTC_{IDS} is very beneficial for above threshold LVLP applications since it guarantees a constant drive current and constant dc power consumption with increasing temperature. At the same time, a slight variation in transconductance g_m , and hence in f_T , is assured since the ZTC_{IDS} point is not far from the ZTC_{gm} point where g_m is constant with temperature. All these characteristics should be clarified using a case study in which the SOI devices (both in PD and FD technologies and in FB and BT structures) are considered.

In Table 4.2, the values of ZTC_{IDS} points at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V and the values of V_T in saturation are listed. The values of ZTC_{IDS} at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V differ from the values presented in section 3.2.7 where $V_{\rm DS}$ is taken at $V_{\rm DD}$. In this case study, $V_{\rm DS}$ is chosen to be 0.6 V to assure an operation in saturation region while keeping a LVLP scheme. A parameter extraction of the small-signal equivalent circuit is performed. The extracted intrinsic transconductance G_{mi} and the intrinsic total gate capacitance $C_{\rm gg}$ as they vary with temperature are shown in Fig. 4.5. Very stable behavior for $C_{\rm gg}$ can be noticed, while G_{mi} shows a variation with temperature since the devices are not biased at ZTC_{gm} .

Fig. 4.6 shows the variation of f_T with $V_{\rm GS}$ at 25°C and 200°C. Two bias points are marked up, ZTC_{IDS} and $g_{m,\max}$ points. DC power consumption P_{dc} at each point is given, knowing that P_{dc} varies with temperature when $I_{\rm DS}$ varies with temperature. Therefore, only one value of P_{dc} is given in Fig. 4.6 at ZTC_{IDS} point where $I_{\rm DS}$ is constant with temperature.

It can be seen from Fig. 4.6 and Table 4.2, that operating a device at $V_{\rm GS} = ZTC_{IDS}$ ensures a LVLP operation scheme (57 and 74 mW/mm for FB and BT PD devices and 28.7 and 28.5 mW/mm for FB and BT FD devices, respectively) while keeping the variation in f_T very small as shown in Table 4.2. On the other hand, operating the device at $g_{m,\max}$ condition, in order to achieve maximum f_T , results in higher dc power consumption and higher variation in f_T with temperature (conf. values given in Fig. 4.6 and Table 4.2: Higher P_{dc} values



Fig. 4.5.: Intrinsic transconductance and total gate capacitance of PD and FD SOI devices in FB and BT structures as they vary with temperature at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V and $V_{\rm GS} = ZTC_{IDS}$.



Fig. 4.6.: f_T variation with $V_{\rm GS}$ at 25°C (solid symbols) and 200°C (empty symbols) for PD and FD devices in FB and BT structures and the difference between ZTC_{IDS} and $g_{m,\max}$ bias points.

are at 25°C and lower P_{dc} values are at 200°C). FD devices show very low P_{dc} at ZTC_{IDS} compared to corresponding values of PD devices. Also the ratio between P_{dc} at $g_{m,\max}$ condition and that at ZTC_{IDS} condition is nearly 2 in PD devices whereas it is nearly 3 in FD devices, showing the advantage of FD devices at ZTC_{IDS} bias point.

A similar study could be held for the other devices studied in this work. Table 4.2 presents the details needed for such a study. For example, DNW bulk devices are seen to consume more power than PD SOI devices at the $g_{m,\max}$ condition (knowing that they are both fabricated using the same technology but different wafers). Nevertheless, DNW bulk devices show an interesting lower power consumption at the ZTC_{IDS} condition while keeping a lower f_T variation with temperature. This promotes them as a better choice than the PD SOI devices for LVLP high drive current applications.

The PD SOI GCMOS devices (which are fabricated on a different technology than the one presented above) consume more power at ZTC_{IDS} than classical nMOS devices since they are characterized by delivering more current.

4.2 SUB-THRESHOLD OPERATION

In the previous section, the advantage of operating the transistors at the ZTC_{IDS} point was demonstrated. However, for applications that need a precise frequency of operation, especially as temperature increases, an operation at the ZTC_{gm} point is more interesting. This scheme of operation is significantly interesting for the following reasons:

- The transconductance g_m is constant, hence f_T is also constant with increasing the temperature.
- $-ZTC_{gm}$ point usually lies below V_T which is more adequate for LVLP subtreshold applications.

	DNW	Bulk	PD	SOI	FD SOI		PD		
	FB	BT	FB	BT	FB	BT	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15	0.5	0.5	0.5
$W ~(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	5	5	3.3	3.3	3.3
$N_{ m finger}$	30	30	30	30	48	48	12	12	12
$\overline{ZTC_{IDS}}$ (V)	0.46	0.52	0.58	0.64	0.65	0.66	0.72	0.69	0.79
V_T (V)	0.22	0.3	0.29	0.4	0.35	0.36	0.48	0.53	0.63
$ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$	0.24	0.22	0.29	0.24	0.3	0.3	0.24	0.16	0.16
$V_{\rm GS} @ g_{m,\max} ({\rm V})$	0.76	0.79	0.83	0.85	1	1	1.4	1.1	1.1
$\Delta f_T @ ZTC_{IDS}$	-0.066	-0.09	-0.082	-0.073	-0.075	-0.04	-0.011	-0.031	-0.02
$P_{dc} @ ZTC_{IDS}$	52.79	65.76	57.14	73.98	28.7	28.5	8.86	15.1	13.96
$\Delta f_T @ g_{m,\max}$	-0.12	-0.11	-0.092	-0.08	-0.11	-0.12	-0.03	-0.038	-0.03
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} (25^{o} C)$	174.4	175.4	148.9	157.3	102.1	98.2	77.1	66.4	43.6
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} (200^{\circ} C)$	138.1	144.8	125	136.8	81.4	79	50.2	45.9	31.7

Table 4.2.: LVLP RF behavior of different transistors at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V and the variation of f_T between room temperature and 200°C in GHz/°C. P_{dc} is also shown at 25 and 200°C in mW/mm.

108 LOW VOLTAGE LOW POWER CHARACTERIZATION

- Since ZTC_{IDS} lies above ZTC_{gm} , operating the transistor at ZTC_{gm} has an extra advantage, the driving current increases with increasing temperature. Although this increase is very small, since ZTC_{IDS} point is very close, it guarantees that the amount of the required drive current (imposed by the designer at room temperature) is always available even at higher temperatures.

This last advantage point could be extended to an even better mode of operation, where the disadvantages of high temperature environment could be turned into an advantage. This could be achieved by operating the transistor at a gate bias below the ZTC_{gm} point. Under this condition, the transconductance, and hence the cutoff frequency, as well as the drive current, all increase as temperature increases. In other words, the increase of temperature enhances the performance of the transistor in contrary to what is traditionally known of the undesired effects of high temperatures [14].

4.2.1 Operation below ZTC_{qm}

The choice of the bias point for a successful design of a sub- ZTC_{gm} operation scheme is crucial. $V_{\rm GS}$ should be correctly chosen to put the device in a region where it is functioning and at the same time well below ZTC_{gm} to benefit from the increasing feature of g_m and $I_{\rm DS}$ with temperature. This will also ensure an increasing behavior of f_T with temperature. On the other hand, a careful choice of $V_{\rm DS}$ should be made in order to meet the specifications of the design for the amount of consumed power and the minimum cutoff frequency needed for the operation of the circuit.

For the choice of $V_{\rm GS}$, Fig. 4.7 shows that a ZTC point also exists for the current gain cutoff frequency f_T (to be referred to as ZTC_{ft}) which coincides approximately with the ZTC_{gm} point. The choice of $V_{\rm GS}$ could be made based on this graph (Fig. 4.7). A simple rule of thumb is to fix $V_{\rm GS}$ at a value less than ZTC_{gm} by $\cong 100$ mV. In the case study to be considered here (PD SOI devices in both FB and BT structures), $V_{\rm GS}$ is fixed at 0.3 V.

As for $V_{\rm DS}$, Fig. 4.8 shows the effect of increasing $V_{\rm DS}$ on the value of f_T and the amount of power consumed. In this case study, $V_{\rm DS}$ is taken to be 0.3 V, knowing that this choice limits the cutoff frequency of the circuit but it drastically reduces the amount of power consumed by at least two orders of magnitude compared to the case where $V_{\rm DS}$ and $V_{\rm GS}$ are set to $V_{\rm DD}$ as shown in Fig. 4.9d.

Fig. 4.9a shows the two cutoff frequencies f_T and f_{max} as they vary with temperature at this temperature favored bias scheme, $V_{\text{GS}} = V_{\text{DS}} = 0.3$ V, whereas Fig. 4.9b shows it at $V_{\text{DS}} = 0.6$ V for comparison. The traditional "degradation" behavior with temperature (see Fig. 4.9c) is replaced by an "enhancement" behavior as temperature increases. This enhancement is mainly due to a significant enhancement in the intrinsic transconductance G_{mi} as shown in Fig. 4.10. The enhancement in G_{mi} is high enough to overcome the increase in the intrinsic



Fig. 4.7.: A demonstration of the ZTC_{ft} point and its correspondence to the ZTC_{gm} point for both FB and BT structures of the PD SOI technology at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.3$ V.

total gate capacitance $C_{\rm gg}$ which would normally cause a degradation in f_T . On the other hand, this increase in $C_{\rm gg}$ helps to make the enhancement in $f_{\rm max}$ even more pronounced than in f_T . The values and the variation of all parameters are presented in Table 4.3 and Table 4.4. It is worth noticing that, ZTC_{gm} varies with $V_{\rm DS}$, it has a lower value at a higher $V_{\rm DS}$ which means a closer value of V_T and also a lower variation of g_m and f_T if $V_{\rm GS}$ is fixed and $V_{\rm DS}$ is varied.



Fig. 4.8.: Variation of f_T and P_{dc} with the increase of V_{DS} for both FB and BT structures of the PD SOI device at room temperature and $V_{\text{GS}} = 0.3$ V.



Fig. 4.9.: Variation of f_T , f_{max} , and P_{dc} with temperature at different V_{GS} and V_{DS} biasing .



Fig. 4.10.: Variation of intrinsic elements with temperature of PD SOI devices at $V_{\rm GS} = V_{\rm DS} = 0.3$ V.

However, this approach has some drawbacks:

- DC power consumption increases with temperature instead of decreasing. However, huge reduction of P_{dc} is achieved by operating the device at this sub- ZTC_{gm} regime compared to $V_{\rm DD}$ operation scheme as shown in Fig. 4.9d.
| | PD SOI | | | | |
|--|--------|-------|---------------|--|--|
| | FB | BT | DT | | |
| $\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$ | 0.13 | 0.13 | 0.13 | | |
| $W(\mu m)$ | 2 | 2 | 2 | | |
| $N_{\rm finger}$ | 30 | 30 | 30 | | |
| ZTC_{gm} (V) | 0.45 | 0.45 | 0.43 | | |
| V_T (V) | 0.29 | 0.4 | 0.36 | | |
| $ZTC_{gm} - V_T$ | 0.16 | 0.05 | 0.07 | | |
| ZTC_{ft} (V) | 0.45 | 0.45 | 0.44 | | |
| $\overline{V_{\rm GS}}$ (V) | 0.3 | 0.3 | 0.3 | | |
| $f_T @ 25^{\circ} C (GHz)$ | 6.25 | 4 | 7.18 | | |
| $f_{\rm max} @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$ | 27.01 | 17 | 14.04 | | |
| $P_{dc} @ 25^{o} C (mW/mm)$ | 0.55 | 0.51 | 1.42 | | |
| $\Delta f_T (\text{GHz}/^{\circ}\text{C})$ | 0.036 | 0.028 | 0.03 | | |
| $\Delta f_{\rm max} ({\rm GHz}/{^o \rm C})$ | 0.053 | 0.039 | 0.066 | | |
| $\Delta P_{dc} \; (\mathrm{mW/mm/^{o}C})$ | 0.015 | 0.015 | 0.027 | | |

Table 4.3.: PD SOI devices characteristics at sub- ZTC_{gm} regime with $V_{\text{DS}} = 0.3$ V and V_{GS} depending on the ZTC_{gm} of each device.

- Absolute values of f_T and f_{max} are highly reduced when compared to their values at V_{DD} operation scheme (see Fig. 4.9)
- Intrinsic output conductance increases with increasing temperature (Fig. 4.10b), which might add a constraint on the design of cascaded devices.
- In the case where ZTC_{gm} is lower than V_T , the RF operation is very limited, and could even be very difficult to extract a valid f_T or f_{max} . The best case is when ZTC_{gm} is slightly above V_T so that the operation is around V_T or slightly below.

In conclusion, this approach could be very interesting for LVLP applications where the stability of the RF performance is of crucial importance while keeping the dc power consumption at its minimum.

4.3 CONCLUSION

In this chapter the Low Voltage Low Power (LVLP) operation scheme is presented. Two categories of LVLP are considered; the one that requires high drive current and the one that demand an extremely low power consumption.

In the first category, two case studies were presented. The first case study focused on room temperature operation. It was shown that a key parameter in choosing a device for high drive current LVLP operation (especially for RF applications) is to check the location of the maximum transconductance $g_{m,\max}$

112 LOW VOLTAGE LOW POWER CHARACTERIZATION

with respect to the gate bias. A device which presents $g_{m,\max}$ at a lower V_{GT} will deliver better performance when operated in LVLP scheme. GCMOS devices were shown to have this advantage over classical MOS devices. The second case study presented the high temperature operation. For an application demanding relatively high drive current, an operation at ZTC_{IDS} is suggested in order to fix the drain current as temperature increases (which will also fix the consumed dc power) while keeping the variation in f_T as minimum as possible. FD devices were shown to outperform PD devices in this operation scheme with lower dc power consumption P_{dc} . Not only lower absolute values of P_{dc} , but also FD devices present a significant reduction (higher than PD devices) in P_{dc} when operated at ZTC_{IDS} compared to operation at $g_{m,\max}$ condition. Nevertheless, PD devices deliver slightly higher f_T at ZTC_{IDS} than FD devices.

In the second category, where significant low power consumption is required and also stable dc and RF behavior with temperature, a new approach is proposed. Instead of loosing dc and RF performance as temperature increases, the device could be biased at a gate voltage slightly below the ZTC_{gm} point (which is usually below the ZTC_{IDS} point) in order to benefit from the increasing behavior (with temperature) of I_{DS} and g_m at this bias condition. The result is also an increasing behavior of f_T at very low dc power consumption levels. Some drawbacks could be attributed to this approach but the proper choice of the bias point could maximize benefits and minimize drawbacks.

	DNW Bulk		PD SOI		FD SOI		PD				
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15	0.5	0.5	0.5
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5	3.3	3.3	3.3
N_{finger}	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48	12	12	12
ZTC_{gm} (V)	0.29	0.33	0.33	0.39	0.44	0.44	0.42	0.43	0.5	0.43	0.51
V_T (V)	0.22	0.3	0.26	0.29	0.4	0.36	0.35	0.36	0.48	0.53	0.63
$ZTC_{gm} - V_T$	0.07	0.03	0.07	0.10	0.04	0.08	0.07	0.07	0.02	-0.1	-0.12
ZTC_{ft} (V)	0.28	0.33	0.3	0.4	0.42	0.46	0.46	0.485	0.56	0.47	0.56
$\overline{V_{\rm GS}}$ (V)	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3		0.2	0.3
$f_T @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$	9.2	7.07	3.73	10.54	6.58	9.53	10.91	11.6		0.24	0.03
$f_{\rm max} @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$	35	24.66	10.75	37.33	22.24	20.25	17.1	12.48		19.94	
$P_{dc} @ 25^{o} C (mW/mm)$	11.81	1.71	2.83	2.367	1.567	3.97	0.862	0.668		0.019	0.007
$\Delta f_T (\text{GHz}/\text{°C})$	0.041	0.05	0.034	0.029	0.032	0.038	0.027	0.017		0.006	0.006
$\Delta f_{\rm max} \; ({\rm GHz}/{^o{\rm C}})$	0.044	0.09	0.05	0.055	0.039	0.11	0.013	0.024		0.2	
$\Delta P_{dc} \; (\mathrm{mW/mm/^{o}C})$	0.045	0.035	0.045	0.034	0.038	0.063	0.008	0.0073	—	0.001	0.002

Table 4.4.: Devices characteristics at sub- ZTC_{gm} regime with $V_{\rm DS} = 0.6$ V and $V_{\rm GS}$ depending on the ZTC_{gm} of each device.

113

Bibliography

- R. DeJule. (2009, Mar. 1,) SOI technology goes mainstream. Article. Semiconductor International. [Online]. Available: http://www.encyclopedia. com/doc/1G1-195254892.html
- H. Mendez. (2009, Apr. 9,) Silicon-on-insulator SOI technology and ecosystem emerging SOI applications. Presentation. SOI Consortium. [Online]. Available: http://www.soiconsortium.org/
- [3] A. O. Adan, T. Naka, A. Kagisawa, and H. Shimizu, "SOI as a mainstream IC technology," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Stuart, FL, Oct. 5–8, 1998, pp. 9–10.
- [4] M. I. Elmasry, "Low power VLSI CMOS circuit design," in Proc. 12th Int. Conf. on Microelectronics ICM, Tehran, Oct./Nov. 31–2, 2000, p. 4.
- [5] J.-P. Colinge, Silicon-on-Insulator Technology: Materials to VLSI, 3rd ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- [6] M. Emam, J. C. Tinoco, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Hightemperature RF behavior of partially-depleted SOI MOSFET transistors," in Proc. The Fourth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'08, Cork, Ireland, Jan. 23-25, 2008, pp. 53-54.
- [7] —, "High-temperature RF behavior of partially-depleted SOI MOSFET transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 1924–1932, Dec. 2008.
- [8] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, A. Kumar, J. Ida, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature RF behavior of SOI MOSFETs for low-power low-voltage applications," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, New Paltz, NY, Oct. 6–9, 2008, pp. 139–140.
- [9] M. Emam, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Graded channel MOS transistors for low power low voltage applications," in Proc. The Sixth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'10, Grenoble, France, Jan. 25–27, 2010, pp. 113–114.
- [10] A. Bracale, V. Ferlet-Cavrois, N. Fel, D. Pasquet, J.-L. Gautier, and J.-L. Pelloie, "A new approach for SOI devices small-signal parameters extraction," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 157–169, Nov. 2000.
- [11] G. Crupi, D. Schreurs, B. Parvais, A. Caddemi, A. Mercha, and S. Decoutere, "Scalable and multibias high frequency modeling of multi-fin FETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 50, no. 11–12, pp. 1780–1786, Nov./Dec. 2006.

- [12] J.-P. Raskin, R. Gillon, J. Chen, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Colinge, "Accurate SOI MOSFET characterization at microwave frequencies for device performance optimization and analog modeling," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1017–1025, May 1998.
- [13] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for improving DC and microwave characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1005–1011, Jul. 2002.
- [14] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature RF behavior of SOI MOSFET transistors for low power low voltage applications," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Diego, CA, Oct. 11–14, 2010, pp. 147–148.

CHAPTER 5

NONLINEAR CHARACTERIZATION

MOSFET devices are continuously climbing the ladder of high frequency performance. They are increasingly employed in RF circuit design including Low Noise Amplifiers (LNA), Voltage Controlled Oscillators (VCO), RF antenna switches, etc. Therefore, no wonder that the linearity response of MOSFET devices is becoming a frequently visited subject in the literature. This work is not an exception, a nonlinear study of the devices characterized for RF applications constitutes a basic brick in the wall. Linearity or nonlinearity is a crucial requirement in the analog and RF circuit design. A fail to correctly design the linearity aspect of a communication system is equivalent to a fail in its operation. There exist some parameters or figures of merit that describe the linear characteristics of a device or a system as to be introduced in this chapter.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

A linear system (or device) is a system whose output follows its input in a linear fashion. Mathematics is able to give a more comprehensive definition of a linear system. A system is said to be linear if its transfer function follows a straight line function such as

$$Output = Gain \times Input \tag{5.1}$$

117

which is represented graphically in Fig. 5.1. The gain constitutes the slope of the straight line. The system is linear since the output always follows the input with a certain gain. If mathematics should be a little relaxed, a dc offset could be added to (5.1)

$$Output = Offset + Gain \times Input$$
(5.2)

This is ideal mathematics. In reality, there exists no system or device that could follow this linear model. Yet, the linearity study is concerned by the capacity of a certain system to sustain such a linear model. In other words, the linearity study or characterization tries to answer the question: What is the maximum limit of a system or a device after which it will fail to follow the linear model of (5.2)? That is why it is usually called a nonlinear study or characterization since it starts at the ceiling of linear behavior and continues to check the nonlinear behavior of the system or the device as far as the design is concerned.



Fig. 5.1.: The ideal mathematical definition of a *linear* behavior.

5.2 NONLINEARITY

A real (non-ideal) device or system behaves linearly according to (5.2) till a certain point or condition (which could be external) where it fails to follow the simple model of (5.2). Starting from this point and beyond, a more complicated model should be utilized. Generally, the Taylor series is adequate for describing the behavior of the system at relatively low frequencies. For very high frequencies, a Volterra series analysis could be necessary. Despite its better accuracy, Volterra series increases the complexity of the analysis significantly.

Assuming a memoryless time-invariant system, for simplicity, a nonlinear system excited by an input x(t) to give an output y(t) can be described using [1]

$$y(t) = f(x(t)) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 x(t) + \alpha_2 x^2(t) + \alpha_3 x^3(t) + \dots + \alpha_n x^n(t)$$
 (5.3)

If the right-hand side of (5.3) converges to f(x(t)), the coefficients α_n are calculated using the coefficients of a Taylor series of f(t)

$$\alpha_n = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\mathrm{d}^n f}{\mathrm{d}x^n} \tag{5.4}$$

This model is frequently used in literature to define and quantify several nonlinear characteristics of the system. Harmonic distortion, gain compression, cross modulation, inter modulation, and desensitization are among these characteristics.

5.2.1 Harmonic Distortion

Consider the case where the input signal to a system or a device contains only one frequency component and its amplitude is small enough so that the system or the device is able to behave according to its linear characteristics. In this case, the output signal also contains one frequency component which is the frequency component of the input signal. No other frequency components or harmonics are generated by the system. The output frequency is thus called the fundamental frequency or the first harmonic. The amplitude of the output signal is the amplitude of the input signal amplified by the value of the gain of the system according to (5.1). Mathematically, this behavior could be simply represented as follows. If the input signal is a simple sinusoidal signal represented by

$$x(t) = X_{\rm in} \cos(\omega t) \tag{5.5}$$

where $X_{\rm in}$ is the input signal amplitude and ω is its frequency. And if the system is characterized by

$$y(t) = f(x(t)) = Ax(t)$$
 (5.6)

where A is the gain of the system. Therefore, the output signal y(t) takes the form

$$y(t) = AX_{\rm in}\cos(\omega t) \tag{5.7}$$

Usually a dc offset exists as described in (5.2).

Although the real system will not show that ideal behavior, due to the existence of some noise and parasitics, this behavior could be found in reality if a small enough signal is applied to a system which has a high enough ceiling of linearity.

At the moment that the input signal amplitude attains the linearity ceiling of the system, (5.7) is no more valid. An analysis using the power series representation given in (5.3) should be employed. Consequently, the output signal takes the form [1]

$$y(t) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \cos(\omega t) + \beta_2 \cos(2\omega t) + \beta_3 \cos(3\omega t) + \dots + \beta_n \cos(n\omega t)$$
 (5.8)

where the term β_n is given by:

$$\beta_0 = \alpha_0 + \frac{\alpha_2}{2} X_{\rm in}^2 + \dots$$
 (5.9a)

$$\beta_1 = \alpha_1 X_{\rm in} + \frac{3}{4} \alpha_3 X_{\rm in}^3 + \dots$$
 (5.9b)

$$\beta_2 = \frac{\alpha_2}{2} X_{\rm in}^2 + \dots$$
 (5.9c)

$$\beta_3 = \frac{\alpha_3}{4} X_{\rm in}^3 + \dots$$
 (5.9d)

The nonlinear response of a system, as can be seen from (5.8), results in additional frequency components. The *fundamental* frequency component, in addition to several multiples of it, are found in the output signal. These multiples, also called harmonics, are mostly undesired for the correct function, thus the name *Harmonic Distortion*¹. The more the *Harmonic Distortion* components are minimized, the more the desired output signal, here the *fundamental* component, is clear.

Harmonic Distortion HD components can be quantified. A Harmonic Distortion of order n, HD_n , is defined as the ratio of the n^{th} harmonic β_n to the fundamental output component β_1 [3]

$$HD_n = \frac{|\beta_n|}{|\beta_1|} \tag{5.10}$$

hence, from (5.9), the second and third harmonic distortion factors can be defined as a function of the input or the output magnitude $(X_{in} \text{ or } X_{out})$ by [1]

$$HD2 = \frac{|\beta_2|}{|\beta_1|} \cong \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha_2}{\alpha_1} X_{\rm in} \cong \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha_2}{\alpha_1^2} X_{\rm out}$$
(5.11a)

$$HD3 = \frac{|\beta_3|}{|\beta_1|} \cong \frac{1}{4} \frac{\alpha_3}{\alpha_1} X_{\rm in}^2 \cong \frac{1}{4} \frac{\alpha_3}{\alpha_1^3} X_{\rm out}^2$$
(5.11b)

Generally, the amplitude of the n^{th} harmonic consists of a term proportional to X_{in}^n in addition to other terms proportional to higher powers of X_{in} , as in (5.9b) for example. For small values of X_{in} , the higher powers terms can be neglected and the n^{th} harmonic can be correctly assumed to grow proportionally to X_{in}^n .

[4]. This is clearly seen in (5.11a), where it is assumed that $\alpha_1 X_{\text{in}} \gg \frac{3}{4} \alpha_3 X_{\text{in}}^3$ in (5.9b).

¹A distortion is the alteration of the original shape (or other characteristic) of an object, image, sound, waveform or other form of information or representation. Distortion is usually unwanted, and often many methods are employed to minimize it in practice. In some fields, however, distortion is actually desirable; such is the case with electric guitar (where distortion is often induced purposely with the amplifier or an electronic effect to achieve an aggressive sound where desired), or censoring words. The slight distortion of analog tapes and vacuum tubes is considered pleasing in certain music listening situations [2].

The second and third harmonic distortion factors are presented in (5.11), yet higher harmonic distortion factors can also exist. Harmonic factors resulting from α_j with j an even number are called even harmonics and those resulting when jis an odd number are called odd harmonics. In practice, even harmonics vanish when the system has odd symmetry, i.e. when it is fully differential [4]. However, mismatches existing in the system (and in devices) disturb the symmetry yielding finite even harmonics. However, usually a certain harmonic distortion is more dominant, as will be seen later for the case of MOSFET devices. It is also worth noticing that even order harmonics give rise to a component at zero frequency, as shown in (5.9a), causing a dc shift. This phenomenon is called *self-biasing* since the bias level of the nonlinear circuit might change as a function of the input signal amplitude.

The advantage of the power series (or Taylor series) representation is the possibility to quantify mathematically the total harmonic distortion present in the system and defined as [3]

$$THD = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} |\beta_n^2|}{|\beta_1^2|}}$$
(5.12)

5.2.2 Gain Compression

The small-signal gain of a circuit is always obtained with the assumption that the harmonics are negligible [4]. As long as the signal is small enough to keep the circuit or the device within its linear limits, the gain is simply represented as shown in Fig. 5.1. As the amplitude of the input signal increases, the gain begins to vary. Usually, this is used as an alternative definition of nonlinearity being the variation of the small-signal gain with the input level [4]. Mostly, this variation takes the form of *compression* or *saturation* of the gain. In other words, the gain approaches zero as the input signal attains a sufficiently high amplitude. Mathematically, the gain could be represented as $\alpha_1 + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_3 X_{in}^2$ (from (5.9b)). If α_3 is negative, the gain is a decreasing function of the input signal amplitude X_{in} . The figure of merit utilized to quantify this phenomenon is called the "1-dB compression point", defined as the input signal level that causes the small-signal gain to drop by 1 dB. This definition is illustrated in Fig. 5.2. In the literature, it is alternatively used for the input signal amplitude (voltage) or the input signal power. For the former case, it is denoted $X_{in,1-dB}$ whereas in the later case it is denoted P_{1-dB} .

Using (5.9b), the calculation of the 1-dB compression point is straightforward [4]

$$20\log\left|\alpha_{1} + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_{3}X_{\text{in},1\text{-dB}}^{2}\right| = 20\log\left|\alpha_{1}\right| - 1\,\text{dB}$$
(5.13)



Fig. 5.2.: An illustration of the definition of the 1-dB compression point P_{1-dB} .

from which

$$X_{\rm in,1-dB} = \sqrt{0.145 \left| \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_3} \right|} \tag{5.14}$$

Typically, for a front-end RF amplifier, $X_{in,1-dB}$ ranges between -20 and -25 dBm (63.2 and 35.6 mV_{pp} in a 50- Ω system) [4].

5.2.3 Desensitization and Blocking

The gain compression phenomenon is sometimes coupled with another inconvenience called *desensitization* [4]. A weak desired signal arriving at the input of the system accompanied by a strong interferer would suffer from a significantly small gain, since the strong signal would have already caused the gain of the system to compress. As a result the desired weak signal is blocked.

Consider (5.3) and an input signal of $x(t) = X_{in,1} \cos \omega_1 t + X_{in,2} \cos \omega_2 t$, the output signal could be expressed as

$$y(t) = \left(\alpha_1 X_{\text{in},1} + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_3 X_{\text{in},1}^3 + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_3 X_{\text{in},1} X_{\text{in},2}^2\right) \cos \omega_1 t + \dots$$
(5.15)

If $X_{in,1} \ll X_{in,2}$, the output reduces to

$$y(t) = \left(\alpha_1 + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_3 X_{\text{in},2}^2\right) X_{\text{in},1} \cos \omega_1 t + \dots$$
 (5.16)

This means that the gain for the desired signal is equal to $\left(\alpha_1 + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_3 X_{\text{in},2}^2\right)$

which is a decreasing function of $X_{in,2}$ if α_3 is negative. If $X_{in,2}$ is large enough, this gain drops to zero and the desired signal is *blocked*. In RF design, the term *blocking signal* usually refers to an interferer that desensitizes a circuit even if the gain does not completely drop to zero. A good design of a RF receiver should withstand blocking signals 60 to 70 dB larger than the desired signal.

5.2.4 Cross Modulation

Besides gain compression and blocking, the presence of a strong interferer at the input with a weak desired signal could also result in a phenomenon known as *cross modulation*. Amplitude modulation of the strong signal (or sometimes noise) passes to the amplitude of the weak signal [4].

Assuming that the amplitude of the interferer is modulated by a sinusoidal signal of frequency ω_m and modulation index m (where m < 1) such that the interferer is represented by $X_{\text{in},2} (1 + m \cos \omega_m t) \cos \omega_2 t$, then from (5.16)

$$y(t) = \left[\alpha_1 X_{\text{in},1} + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_3 X_{\text{in},1} X_{\text{in},2}^2 \times \left(1 + \frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{m^2}{2}\cos 2\omega_m t + 2m\cos \omega_m t\right)\right] \cos \omega_1 t + \dots$$
(5.17)

Therefore, an amplitude modulation at the frequencies ω_m and $2\omega_m$ is superimposed on the desired signal at the output of the system.

5.2.5 Intermodulation

All previous phenomena are related to the nonlinear behavior of a system subject to an input signal of single tone for which these figures of merit are sufficient to describe the nonlinearities of the system. Yet, some systems are designed to overcome these phenomena (as is the case of the low-pass filter with harmonics) but they still suffer from other nonlinearities that need to be characterized. Mostly, communication systems would be subject to a *two-tone* signal at their input. In that case, the nonlinear behavior is different from the single-tone case. At the output, new components are found which are not the harmonics of the input signal. These components result from the *mixing* (multiplication) of the two frequency components of the input signal when their sum is raised to a power greater than unity. This phenomena is called *intermodulation* (IM).

Assume an input signal of the form $x(t) = A_1 \cos(\omega_1 t) + A_2 \cos(\omega_2 t)$. Using (5.3), the output takes the form

$$y(t) = \alpha_1 \left[A_1 \cos(\omega_1 t) + A_2 \cos(\omega_2 t) \right] + \alpha_2 \left[A_1 \cos(\omega_1 t) + A_2 \cos(\omega_2 t) \right]^2 + \alpha_3 \left[A_1 \cos(\omega_1 t) + A_2 \cos(\omega_2 t) \right]^3$$
(5.18)

The expansion of this output shows the presence of three intermodulation products $\omega_1 \pm \omega_2$, $2\omega_1 \pm \omega_2$, and $\omega_1 \pm 2\omega_2$ and two fundamental components ω_1 and ω_2 with the following amplitudes [4]:

$$\omega_1 \pm \omega_2: \quad \alpha_2 A_1 A_2 \cos(\omega_1 + \omega_2)t \quad + \alpha_2 A_1 A_2 \cos(\omega_1 - \omega_2)t \tag{5.19a}$$

$$2\omega_1 \pm \omega_2 : \frac{3\alpha_3 A_1^2 A_2}{4} \cos(2\omega_1 + \omega_2)t + \frac{3\alpha_3 A_1^2 A_2}{4} \cos(2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t \qquad (5.19b)$$

$$\omega_1 \pm 2\omega_1 : \frac{3\alpha_3 A_1 A_2^2}{4} \cos(\omega_1 + 2\omega_2)t + \frac{3\alpha_3 A_1 A_2^2}{4} \cos(\omega_1 - 2\omega_2)t \qquad (5.19c)$$

and the fundamental components

$$\omega_{1}, \omega_{2}: \left(\alpha_{1}A_{1} + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_{3}A_{1}^{3} + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_{3}A_{1}A_{2}^{2}\right)\cos(\omega_{1}t) \\
+ \left(\alpha_{1}A_{2} + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_{3}A_{2}^{3} + \frac{3}{2}\alpha_{3}A_{1}^{2}A_{2}\right)\cos(\omega_{2}t)$$
(5.20)

Practically, only two components of (5.19) are important whereas the others are mostly ignored by designers either because they are too high in frequency or too low, so that they are naturally filtered by the RF filters already implemented in the circuit. The important components are the third order IM products at $2\omega_1 - \omega_2$ and $\omega_1 - 2\omega_2$ since they could lie in the vicinity of the useful signals if the difference between ω_1 and ω_2 is small (see Fig. 5.3). The result is a nonlinear behavior even in the presence of good filters. Typically, it is assumed that $A_1 =$ $A_2 = A$, and the ratio between the amplitude of the third order IM and the amplitude of the fundamental component is the ratio between $\frac{3}{4}\alpha_3 A^3$ and $\alpha_1 A$ (using (5.19b),(5.19c), and (5.20)).



Fig. 5.3.: Intermodulation due to the third order IM products.

Intermodulation could also affect a single-tone desired input signal if it is weak enough and accompanied by two strong interferers whose frequencies are close enough. A third order IM of the two interferers would lie in the band of interest and the distortion (nonlinearity) occurs (see illustration in Fig. 5.4). Although the desired signal is a single tone, this behavior of nonlinearity could not be described by harmonic distortion. A different metric is used, instead, to account for this phenomenon, known as the *third intercept point IP*₃.

To measure IP_3 , a two-tone test is adapted in which the amplitude is small enough to ensure that high-order nonlinear terms are negligible and that the gain is kept equal to α_1 . From (5.19b),(5.19c), and (5.20), as A increases, the fundamental components increase proportional to A, whereas the third-order IM components increase proportional to A^3 (see Fig. 5.5). If a log-log scale is used (Fig. 5.5), it can be noted that the magnitude of the third-order IM components grows at three times the rate of the fundamental components, so that they both intersect at a certain point, defined as the third-order intercept point IP_3 . If referred to the input signal, IP_3 is called the input IP_3 or IIP_3 whereas if referred to the output signal it is called the output IP_3 or OIP_3 .



Fig. 5.4.: Effect of intermodulation between two strong interferers on a desired channel.

Introducing a two-tone signal of the form $x(t) = A\cos(\omega_1 t) + A\cos(\omega_2 t)$ in (5.3), the output takes the form:

$$y(t) = \left(\alpha_1 + \frac{9}{4}\alpha_3 A^2\right) A\cos(\omega_1 t) + \left(\alpha_1 + \frac{9}{4}\alpha_3 A^2\right) A\cos(\omega_2 t) + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_3 A^3 \cos(2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t + \frac{3}{4}\alpha_3 A^3 \cos(\omega_1 - 2\omega_2)t + \dots$$
(5.21)

Assuming $\alpha_1 \gg \frac{9}{4}\alpha_3 A^2$, the input signal amplitude at which the fundamental components (ω_1 and ω_2) have the same amplitude as the third-order IM components ($2\omega_1 - \omega_2$ and $\omega_1 - 2\omega_2$) is simply calculated from

$$|\alpha_1| A_{IP3} = \frac{3}{4} |\alpha_3| A_{IP3}^3 \tag{5.22}$$

Therefore, the input IP_3 is

$$A_{IP3,\text{in}} = \sqrt{\frac{4}{3} \left| \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_3} \right|} \tag{5.23}$$

and the output IP_3 is

$$A_{IP3,\text{out}} = \alpha_1 A_{IP3,\text{in}} \tag{5.24}$$

Note that IP_3 quantifies only the third-order IM component. The assumption $\alpha_1 \gg \frac{9}{4}\alpha_3 A^2$ is valid for small input levels. If the input level is increased to reach the intercept point, the assumption is no longer valid, the gain compresses and higher orders of IM become significant. Usually, the level of IP_3 is higher than the allowable input range and the supply voltage of the circuit. Therefore, in practice, extrapolation is required to find the intercept point on Fig. 5.5.

The IP_3 figure of merit can be calculated as follows. Assuming the input amplitude of the two tones to be A_{in} , the amplitude of the output fundamental components A_{fund} and the amplitude of the third-order IM components (at the

NONLINEAR CHARACTERIZATION



Fig. 5.5.: Determination of the third intercept point IP_3 using extrapolation.

output) to be A_{IM3} , therefore using (5.21)

$$\frac{A_{\text{fund}}}{A_{IM3}} \approx \frac{|\alpha_1| A_{\text{in}}}{\frac{3}{4} |\alpha_3| A_{\text{in}}^3}$$
(5.25a)

$$=\frac{4|\alpha_1|}{3|\alpha_3|}\frac{1}{A_{\rm in}^2}$$
(5.25b)

using (5.23)

$$\frac{A_{\rm fund}}{A_{IM3}} = \frac{A_{IP3,\rm in}^2}{A_{\rm in}^2} \tag{5.26}$$

and expressing all signal in dBm

$$20\log A_{\rm fund} - 20\log A_{IM3} = 20\log A_{IP3,\rm in}^2 - 20\log A_{\rm in}^2$$
(5.27)

therefore

$$20\log A_{IP3,\text{in}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(20\log A_{\text{fund}} - 20\log A_{IM3} \right) + 20\log A_{\text{in}}$$
(5.28)

or simply

$$IIP_{3}|_{\rm dBm} = \frac{\Delta P|_{\rm dB}}{2} + P_{\rm in}|_{\rm dBm}$$
(5.29)

as presented graphically in Fig. 5.6. Thus, using this method, the IP_3 can be measured with only one input level, without the need of extrapolation. This is the method employed to measure IP_3 of the devices considered in this work.



Fig. 5.6.: Determination of the third intercept point IP_3 without extrapolation.

126

5.3 INTEGRAL FUNCTION METHOD

The measurement of nonlinear behavior (either single- or two-tone) requires special equipment and special precautions. Fortunately, these measurements can be replaced by mathematical analysis based on simple dc measurements. Several analysis methods exist such as Taylor series, Volterra series, and describing functions [3]. Taylor series and Volterra series analysis have some limitations when considering the case of studying the nonlinear behavior of MOSFET devices. They require the calculation of high-order derivatives of $I_{\rm DS}(V_{\rm DS})$ and $I_{\rm DS}(V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics using Fourier methods (Fourier coefficients for periodical functions and Fourier integrals for non-periodical functions) which increases the sensitivity to the noise imposed by measurement equipments. The describing function, on the other hand, depends on the signal amplitude. A new method was introduced which also depend on the signal amplitude and does not require high-order derivatives. This method, called the Integral Function Method IFM, was first proposed by A. Cerdeira et al. in 2002 [5-7]. Although the IFM works on dc measurements to predict the nonlinear behavior, it was proven to be valid for high frequencies [3].

5.3.1 Mathematical Basis

The mathematical basis of this new method, IFM, was presented in [8]. The method is quite simple. It only requires the knowledge of the transfer (inputoutput) characteristics of the transistor (or circuit) to be analyzed, which can be measured, simulated, or calculated. For a MOSFET transistor, this would be the $I_{\rm DS}(V_{\rm GS})$ or the $I_{\rm DS}(V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics. In general, the output is designated as Y(X) where X is the input. As shown in Fig. 5.7, the range of the transfer characteristics to be analyzed is chosen through the definition of the input smallsignal constant bias X_0 and amplitude A. The small signal takes the form

$$X = X_0 + A\sin(\omega t) \tag{5.30}$$

The output signal is a function of this small-signal input signal

$$Y = f(X) \tag{5.31}$$

where, in general, f(X) is a nonlinear function, and X and Y can be voltages or currents depending on the type of device or circuit being analyzed.

The first step is to normalize both magnitudes (of input and output) to an interval [0,1]. The following formulas can be applied where x and y are the normalized forms of X and Y

$$x = \frac{X - (X_0 - A)}{(X_0 + A) - (X_0 - A)} = \frac{X - (X_0 - A)}{2A}$$
(5.32)

$$y = \frac{Y(X) - Y(X_0 - A)}{Y(X_0 + A) - Y(X_0 - A)}$$
(5.33)



Fig. 5.7.: Input-output characteristic y = f(x) where the input has a dc bias $X_0 = 0$ and a sinusoidal input signal of amplitude A and frequency ω .

From (5.32), X can be written as

$$X = X_0 + A(2x - 1) \tag{5.34}$$

therefore, substituting (5.34) in (5.33), the normalized output is obtained as a function of the operating point and the input signal amplitude

$$y(x) = \frac{Y(X_0 + A(2x - 1)) - Y(X_0 - A)}{Y(X_0 + A) - Y(X_0 - A)}$$
(5.35)

The normalized input-output characteristic is shown in Fig. 5.8. The area of the box including the normalized characteristics is equal to 1. The normalized characteristic curve divides this box into two areas: AREA1 and AREA2. If the characteristic is perfectly linear, i.e. y(x) = x, AREA1 and AREA2 would be completely equal. On the other hand, in a nonlinear case, the gray area in Fig. 5.8 represent the nonlinearity of the system, which summarizes the main idea of the IFM. The nonlinear distortion is related to the difference between the area above the function y(x) and the area below it, or simply AREA1 – AREA2. This basic idea is used to calculate the harmonic distortion figures of merit.

An integral function D is defined as:

$$D = \int_0^1 y(x) \, dx - \int_0^1 x(y) \, dy$$

= $2 \int_0^1 y(x) \, dx - 1$ (5.36)

If y(x) is linear, both areas are equal and D reduces to zero. The function D is directly related to the total harmonic distortion THD including the dc offset defined as THD_0 (note that THD defined in (5.12) does not include the dc



Fig. 5.8.: Normalized input-output characteristic y = f(x) showing the two areas of the square of unity area. The gray part is a measure of the nonlinearity of the system.

offset)

$$THD_0 = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} |\beta_n^2|}{|\beta_1^2|} + \frac{|\beta_0^2|}{|\beta_1^2|}}$$
(5.37)

It was shown in [5] that $THD_0 \approx 1.06 D$.

In the case of balanced or fully differential circuits, the even order harmonics are eliminated. Therefore, to correctly characterize these circuits, the output signal based on the dc measurements of the device is then defined as:

$$Y_r(X) = Y(X_0 + A\sin(\omega t)) - Y(X_0 - A\sin(\omega t))$$
(5.38)

which can be normalized using

$$y_r(x) = \frac{Y_r(X_0 + A(2x - 1)) - Y_r(X_0 - A)}{Y_r(X_0 + A) - Y_r(X_0 - A)}$$
(5.39)

If $y_r(x)$ is plotted against x, the curve would look perfectly linear, since the values of the odd harmonics (especially the third-order harmonic) are very small compared to the even harmonics. Since, the even harmonics will be eliminated in the fully balanced circuit, $y_r(x) - x$ can be plotted against x, which eliminates the effect of even harmonics. However, the result is a function which cuts the diagonal line in several points including the mid-point at x = 0.5. The application of the function D will give zero due to the symmetry around the diagonal line. A function $D_r(x)$ is then defined, which applies the integration only till the mid-point and then multiplies by two:

$$D_r = 2 \times \left| 2 \int_0^{0.5} y_r(x) \, \mathrm{d}x - 0.5^2 \right| \tag{5.40}$$

 D_r is also directly proportional to THD_0 without even harmonic distortions.

Another difficulty may occur and disturb the calculation of harmonic distortions using IFM. This happens when the function y(x) is not completely above or below the diagonal line of the unity area square containing the normalized transfer characteristics. This is solved simply by displacing the characteristics to lie completely above the diagonal line using the function $y_s(x)$ defined as

$$y_s(x) = |y(x) - x| + x \tag{5.41}$$

and in this case, the differential function is defined as

$$D_s = 2 \int_0^1 y_s(x) \, \mathrm{d}x - 1 \tag{5.42}$$

Notice that, D_s reduces to D if y(x) lies completely below or above the diagonal line. D_s is still proportional to THD_0 .

The same approach can be used in the case of fully differential circuits where a function y_{rs} is defined from which a differential D_{rs} is calculated as follows:

$$y_{rs}(x) = |y_r(x) - x| + x \tag{5.43}$$

$$D_{rs} = 2 \int_0^1 y_{rs}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x - 1 \tag{5.44}$$

where, again, if y_r has only one inflection point around the diagonal line at the mid-point, y_{rs} reduces to y_r . The relation between D_{rs} and THD_0 is still valid.

5.3.2 Harmonic Distortions

The differential functions introduced so far are then used to calculate the different nonlinear figures of merit. THD_0 is calculated using D or D_s depending on the form of the transfer function, whereas HD3 is calculated using D_r . On the other hand, THD is calculated using D_s and D_{rs} [6].

$$THD_0 = 1.06D_s$$
 (5.45)

$$THD = \sqrt{\frac{(1.06D_s)^2}{2} + \frac{D_{rs}^2}{2}}$$
(5.46)

$$HD2 = \sqrt{\frac{(1.06D_s)^2}{2} - \frac{D_{rs}^2}{2}}$$
(5.47)

$$HD3 = D_r \tag{5.48}$$

5.3.3 Intermodulation Distortions

The IFM also calculates the intermodulation distortion IMD based on the definitions given by [9] and the well-known fixed relation between the IMD of order

n and the harmonic distortion of the same order, for a very wide range of input signal amplitudes. These definitions consider two input signals of frequency ω_1 and ω_2 and amplitudes A_1 and A_2 . The *IMD* of second order and frequencies $\omega_1 \pm \omega_2$ is calculated from

$$IMD_2 = 2 \times HD2 = 2 \times \sqrt{\frac{(1.06D_s)^2}{2} - \frac{D_{rs}^2}{2}}$$
 (5.49)

The *IMD* of order 3, used for broadband amplifiers, considering that A_1 and A_2 are small and equal to A, for frequencies $2\omega_1 \pm \omega_2$ and $\omega_1 \pm 2\omega_2$ is calculated from

$$IMD_3 = 3 \times HD3 = 3 \times D_r \tag{5.50}$$

5.3.4 Voltage Intercept Points

The voltage intercept points VIP can be calculated using the magnitude of the harmonics [10]. This method, however, is only valid for very low amplitudes of the input signal, since only the first term in the harmonic expression is used, neglecting the higher terms. Using the IFM, also for very low signal amplitude, VIP can also be calculated as follows:

$$VIP_2 = \frac{A}{\sqrt{\frac{(1.06D_s)^2}{2} - \frac{D_{rs}^2}{2}}}$$
(5.51)

$$VIP_3 = \frac{A}{\sqrt{D_r}} \tag{5.52}$$

5.3.5 Extension to Higher Frequencies

B. Parvais introduced an extension of the IFM method to high frequencies [3, 11]. According to Parvais, the transfer function at high frequency is subject to memory effects and hysteresis due to the charging and discharging capacitors. The result of a time-domain simulation (X(t) and Y(t)) imposed on the dc transfer function (Y(X)) after removing the time variable shows a kind of envelope with an upper limit above and a lower limit below the transfer function of dc characteristics for each analyzed fundamental frequency. A new differential function is then introduced as

$$D = \left[\int_0^1 y(x) \,\mathrm{d}x\right]_{\mathrm{up}} + \left[\int_0^1 y(x) \,\mathrm{d}x\right]_{\mathrm{down}} - 1 \tag{5.53}$$

where the subscripts "up" and "down" refer to the upper and lower limits of the envelope. Using this differential function with the IFM, the harmonic distortions can be calculated for high frequency large signal cases.

5.4 NONLINEARITIES IN MOSFETS

The IFM is employed to characterize the nonlinear behavior of the devices considered in this work. The IFM is applied on the dc measurements of the considered devices. A Mathcad code written by A. Cerdeira (and adapted for Matlab by Rodrigo Doria from Centro Universitário da FEI in Brazil) is employed for this characterization. This code allows to directly extract the nonlinear figures of merit based on the IFM method, with good validity in high frequency ranges, without the need to apply (5.53).

5.4.1 GMOS and Classical nMOS

The nonlinear behavior of Partially-Depleted (PD) SOI GCMOS and classical nMOS are studied and compared. The two devices selected for this comparison feature a drawn channel length of 0.5 μ m with 12 parallel gate fingers of 13.2 μ m width each.

In order to fairly compare the GCMOS and the classical nMOS devices considered in this study, the total harmonic distortion (THD) and the third-order harmonic distortion (HD3) in the saturation region are presented after normalization with respect to the intrinsic gain (A_{v0}) [12]. A_{v0} is calculated from RF measurements to avoid the impact of self-heating where it results in overestimated A_{v0} when extracted from dc measurements as can be seen from Fig. 5.9 and Fig. 5.10 [13]. Fig. 5.9 shows the effect of self-heating on g_m and g_D which are then used to calculate A_{v0} shown in Fig. 5.10.



Fig. 5.9.: Transconductance g_m and output conductance g_D for GCMOS extracted from dc (lines) and RF (symbols) measurements at $V_{\text{GT}} = 0.7$ V.

5.4.1.1 Saturation Region

In the saturation regime of operation, the harmonic distortion figures of merit are extracted using the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ measurements at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.5$ V in order to avoid the kink effect region. A sinusoidal ac signal is applied to the gate such that $V_{\rm GS} = V_0 + V_a \sin(x)$, where V_0 is fixed at zero and V_a is varied from 0.1 to 1.5 V and $0 < x < \pi$.



Fig. 5.10.: Intrinsic gain A_{v0} calculated from G_{mi}/G_{dsi} extracted from RF measurements at $V_{\rm DS} = 1$ V (lines) and A_{v0} calculated from dc measurements $(A_{v0} = g_m/I_{\rm DS} \times V_{\rm EA})$ at $V_{\rm DS} = 1$ V (lines with x symbols).

Fig. 5.11a shows a better THD/A_{v0} for GCMOS compared to nMOS device operated in the strong inversion regime ($G_{mi}/I_{DS} < 10 \text{ V}^{-1}$). An improvement of more than 5 dB is clearly noticed over approximately the complete range.

The second harmonic distortion, and hence the total harmonic distortion, are related to the device physical parameters through this equation [11]:

$$HD2 \propto \left| \frac{g_{m2}}{g_{m1}} - A_{v0} \frac{g_{D2}}{(Y_L + g_{D1})} \right|$$
(5.54)

where g_{m1} and g_{D1} are the transconductance and the output conductance whereas g_{m2} and g_{D2} are their derivatives and Y_L is the load admittance. Therefore, the minimum of THD/A_{v0} in Fig. 5.11a could be related to the maximum point of g_m with respect to the drain current (Fig. 5.11b). This equation also shows the sensitivity of the linearity figures of merit to the device parameters, especially for high intrinsic gain and small values of load. Therefore, the better dc and RF behavior of the GCMOS device reflect as better linearity figures of merit in comparison to classical nMOS device.

5.4.1.2 Linear Region

In the linear regime of operation, the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ measurements for $V_{\rm DS}$ varying from -0.5 V to 0.5 V at $V_{\rm GT} = V_{\rm GS} - V_T = 1.3$ V (Fig. 5.12a) for both devices are used. A sinusoidal ac signal is applied to the drain such that $V_{\rm DS} = V_0 + V_a \sin(x)$, where V_a is fixed at 50 mV, V_0 is varied from -0.5 to 0.5 V and $0 < x < \pi$.

A slight difference is observed between both devices when comparing the third harmonic distortion (Fig. 5.12b), and this slight difference is always in favour of the GCMOS device. Thus, GCMOS can offer similar linearity but smaller on-resistance ($R_{\rm ON}$), i. e. allows for higher $I_{\rm DS}$ at the same bias, which is of interest for switches. If a certain $R_{\rm ON}$ is targeted, as in the case of MOSFETs acting as tunable resistors in filters, the application of GCMOS allows for the reduction of $V_{\rm GT}$ from 1.3 to 1.1 V without any penalty in linearity, which privileges low voltage circuits.





(a) Total harmonic distortion THD normalized by the intrinsic gain A_{v0} calculated from RF measurements as a function of G_{mi}/I_{DS} where G_{mi} is the intrinsic transconductance calculated from RF.

(b) Transconductance to current ratio $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ and transconductance g_m both calculated from dc measurements.

Fig. 5.11.: THD/A_{v0} , g_m , and $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ for both GCMOS and classical nMOS ($L = 0.5 \ \mu m$ for both devices) at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.5 \ V$ and $V_{\rm GT}$ varying from 0.1 to 1 V.



Fig. 5.12.: I_{DS} - V_{DS} and HD3 of GCMOS and classical nMOS devices operated in linear region with V_{DS} varying from -0.5 to 0.5 V and $V_{\text{GT}} = 1.1$ and 1.3 V.

5.4.1.3 Compression and Intercept Points

In the design of low noise amplifiers (LNA) it is crucial to accurately consider two figures of merit, the 1-dB compression point P_{1-dB} and the third intercept point IP3 of the device. Fig. 5.13a shows these two figures of merit measured at 6 GHz for the GCMOS and the classical nMOS device. It is clear that the GCMOS and the classical nMOS have close values of IP3, while for P_{1-dB} , the classical nMOS outperforms the GCMOS device for values of V_{DS} higher than 0.8 V. This could be explained by the higher gain of the GCMOS in comparison to the classical nMOS device. Based on these results, the GCMOS device could be very interesting for low voltage low power applications. This is confirmed by the values of P_{1-dB} and IP3 shown in Fig. 5.13b where the GCMOS device outperforms the classical nMOS device at $V_{DS} = 0.5$ V over the whole range of V_{GT} at different frequencies (3 and 6 GHz).



(a) P_{1-dB} and IP_3 at $V_{GT} = 0.5$ V and frequency = 6 GHz.

(b) $P_{1-\text{dB}}$ and IP_3 at $V_{\text{DS}} = 0.5$ V and frequency = 3 GHz (lines) and 6 GHz (lines with x symbols).

Fig. 5.13.: 1-dB compression point P_{1-dB} and third intercept point IP_3 for GC-MOS and classical nMOS.

5.4.2 High Temperature

After showing the advantage of GCMOS over classical nMOS for the nonlinear behavior, it is of interest to study the effect of temperature on the nonlinear behavior of both structures [14]. For this study, Fully-Depleted (FD) SOI GCMOS and classical nMOS are used. The GCMOS device features 48 parallel fingers of 2.5 μ m width each and a channel length of 0.24 μ m. The classical nMOS device features 32 parallel fingers of 2.5 μ m width each and a channel length of 0.15 μ m. These devices have been characterized in dc, ac and RF in chapter 3 (including high temperature effect) [15] and RF noise behavior is studied in chapter 6 [16]. Nevertheless, it is necessary to give a very brief introduction hereafter before presenting the nonlinear behavior.

The lightly doped region in the GCMOS is naturally inverted at very low gate bias values giving rise to a shorter channel length which corresponds to $L_{\rm eff} = L - L_{\rm LD}$. In the GCMOS considered in this study, the designed $L_{\rm LD}/L = 0.5$. Hence, the effective channel length is about 0.12 μ m for the GCMOS with a physical gate length (L) of 0.24 μ m. Usually, the performance of such a GCMOS, in terms of dc ($I_{\rm DS}, g_m, V_{\rm EA}$, etc.) and RF ($f_T, f_{\rm max}$, etc.), is lower than a classical nMOS of a channel length equals to $L_{\rm eff}$, but it is higher than a classical nMOS of a channel length to L [16–18].

Both devices considered in this study; GCMOS of 0.24 μ m and classical nMOS of 0.15 μ m, show very close threshold voltage V_T values at room temperature; 0.64 and 0.63 V, respectively. The trend of V_T with temperature is also very similar for both devices, as shown in Fig. 5.14. The transfer characteristics and the transconductance of both devices are shown in Fig. 5.15a at room temperature and at 200°C in saturation region ($V_{\rm DS} = 1.5$ V). It is clear that the classical nMOS of 0.15 μ m drawn channel length exhibits a better dc performance compared to the GCMOS of 0.24 μ m drawn channel length, as explained above. This could also be related to a slight shift in the $L_{\rm LD}/L$ ratio due to a lateral

diffusion of dopants from the heavily doped part of the channel as well as due to a slight misalignment of masks during fabrication. However, when considering the ac properties, GCMOS device outperforms the classical nMOS device as shown by the two figures of merit $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ and A_{v0} (intrinsic voltage gain) in Fig. 5.15b, especially for moderate and high values of gate voltage overdrive $V_{\rm GT} = V_{\rm GS} - V_T$.



Fig. 5.14.: Threshold voltage V_T variation with temperature for both FD GC-MOS and FD classical nMOS devices extracted using the second derivative method at $V_{\rm DS} = 50$ mV.



(a) Normalized drain current I_{DS} and nor- (b) Tramalized dc transconductance g_m . g_m/I_{D}

(b) Transconductance to drain current ratio $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ and intrinsic gain $A_{v0}.$

Fig. 5.15.: DC and ac characteristics of FD GCMOS and FD classical nMOS at room temperature and 200°C as a function of gate voltage overdrive $V_{\rm GT} = V_{\rm GS} - V_T$ and $V_{\rm DS} = 1.5$ V.

The Integral Function Method (IFM) is used to calculate the harmonic distortion. Although both devices have close values of V_T , the difference in A_{v0} and in $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ could affect the comparison of the harmonic distortion figures of merit such as the Total Harmonic Distortion THD and the Third Harmonic Distortion HD3. Therefore, these figures of merit will be normalized by the intrinsic voltage gain A_{v0} and presented as a function of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ [12]. THD and HD3 for both devices in the linear and the saturation regions of operation are extracted. In the linear region, the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics at $V_{\rm GT} = 0.7$ V are used for the calculations of the IFM method. The signal applied is equal to $V_0 + V_a \sin(x)$, where V_a is fixed at 50 mV and V_0 is varied from 0 to 1.5 V with $0 < x < \pi$. Normalized *HD3* and *THD* are shown in Fig. 5.16. It is clear that GCMOS shows lower harmonics in the linear region at ambient as well as at high temperatures.



Fig. 5.16.: Third harmonic distortion HD3 and total harmonic distortion THD normalized by intrinsic gain and presented as a function of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ for FD GCMOS and FD classical nMOS in linear region at $V_{\rm DS} = V_a = 50$ mV and $V_{\rm GT} = 0.7$ V.

In the saturation region, the $I_{\rm DS}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.5$ V are used. A sinusoidal ac signal is applied to the gate such that $V_{\rm GS} = V_0 + V_a \sin(x)$, where V_0 is fixed at 0 V and V_a is varied from 0.1 to 1.5 V with $0 < x < \pi$. As shown in Fig. 5.17, the GCMOS device shows lower *THD* over the whole considered range. However, nMOS device shows lower *HD3* values except at low $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ (i.e. in strong inversion). Both devices show a stable *HD3* with temperature.



Fig. 5.17.: Third harmonic distortion HD3 and total harmonic distortion THD normalized by intrinsic gain and presented as a function of $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ for FD GC-MOS and FD classical nMOS in saturation region at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.5$ V and $V_{\rm GT}$ varying from 0 to 0.9 V.

5.5 CONCLUSION

In addition to the favoured behavior of GCMOS over classical nMOS in dc, ac, and RF as shown in chapter 3, this chapter presents another aspect where the GCMOS device outperforms the classical nMOS device; the nonlinear behavior. On-wafer measurements, accurate characterization and robust extraction methodologies were employed to show the better linearity of GCMOS especially for low voltage low power applications. A study of harmonic distortion, 1-dB compression point and third intercept point for devices operating at low bias conditions shows the capability of GCMOS to manipulate signals of higher power amplitudes with better linear behavior.

The better nonlinear performance is also confirmed for deep sub-micron fullydepleted GCMOS devices compared to classical nMOS devices over a wide range of operation, in linear and in saturation regimes of operation. In addition, this better performance is shown, experimentally, to be valid at temperatures as high as 200°C.

Bibliography

- G. Palumbo and S. Pennisi, "Harmonic distortion in non-linear amplifier with non-linear feedback," *Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 293–299, Dec. 1998, letter to the editor.
- [2] Distortion. Article. Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia. [Online]. Available: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Distortion
- [3] B. Parvais, "Nonlinear devices characterization and micromachining techniques for RF integrated circuits," Ph.D. dissertation, Université catholique de Louvain, Dec. 2004.
- [4] B. Razavi, *RF Microelectronics*. New Jersey: Prentic Hall, 1998.
- [5] A. Cerdeira, M. Estrada, R. Quintero, D. Flandre, A. Ortiz-Conde, and F. J. García Sánchez, "New method for determination of harmonic distortion in SOI FD transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 103–106, Jan. 2002.
- [6] A. Cerdeira, M. Alemán, M. Estrada, and D. Flandre, "Integral function method for determination of nonlinear harmonic distortion," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 2225–2234, Dec. 2004.
- [7] A. Cerdeira, M. A. Alemán, M. Estrada, D. Flandre, B. Parvais, and G. Picún, "The integral function method: A new method to determine the non-linear harmonic distortion," in *Proc.* 18th International Symposium on Microelectronic Technology and Devices SBMICRO, vol. 2003-9, São Paulo, SP, Brazil, Sep. 8–11, 2003, pp. 131–146.
- [8] A. Cerdeira and M. Estrada, "Mathematical basis of the expressions used by the integral function method for determination of nonlinear harmonic distortion in devices and circuits," in *Proc.* 7th International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuits Technology, vol. 2, Beijing, China, Oct. 18–21, 2004, pp. 1143–1146.
- [9] D. O. Pederson and K. Mayaram, Analog integrated circuits for communication: Principles, Simulation and Design, 2nd ed. New York: Springer, 2008.
- [10] M. P. van der Heijden, H. C. de Graaff, L. C. N. de Vreede, J. R. Gajadharsing, and J. N. Burghartz, "Theory and design of an ultra-linear square-law approximated LDMOS power amplifier in class-AB operation," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 2176–2184, Sep. 2002.
- [11] B. Pavais, A. Cerdeira, D. Schreurs, and J.-P. Raskin, "Harmonic distortion characterization of SOI MOSFETs," in Proc. 11th European Gallium Arsenide and other Compound Semiconductors Application Symposium (GAAS'03), Munich, Germany, Oct. 6–7, 2003, pp. 357–360.

- [12] M. A. Pavanello, A. Cerdeira, J. A. Martino, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Flandre, "Impact of asymmetric channel configuration on the linearity of double-gate SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc.* 6th International Caribbean Conf. on Devices, Circuits and Systems, Mexico, Apr. 26–28, 2006, pp. 187–191.
- [13] M. Emam, M. A. Pavanello, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Analog, RF and nonlinear behaviors of submicron graded channel partially depleted SOI MOSFETs," in *Proc. European Solid State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC'09)*, Athens, Greece, Sep. 14–18, 2009, pp. 125–128.
- [14] —, "High temperature effect on harmonic distortions in submicron graded-channel MOSFETs," in Proc. 6th International SemOI Conference (SemOI'10), Kyiv, Ukraine, Oct. 25–28, 2010, pp. 119–120.
- [15] M. Emam, A. Kumar, J. Ida, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "DC and RF temperature behavior of deep submicron graded channel MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, San Francisco, CA, Oct. 5–8, 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [16] M. Emam, P. Sakalas, A. Kumar, J. Ida, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, and F. Danneville, "Graded channel concept for improving RF noise of an industrial 0.15 μm SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc.* 5th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC'10), Paris, France, Sep./Oct. 26–1, 2010, pp. 170–173.
- [17] M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, and D. Flandre, "Analog performance and application of graded-channel fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1219–1222, Jul. 2000.
- [18] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for improving DC and microwave characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1005–1011, Jul. 2002.

CHAPTER 6

THERMAL NOISE CHARACTERIZATION

THE word *noise* is frequently used in the common spoken language. It is difficult to trace the origin of this word, however, it is commonly referred to in etymology references to date to the 13th century (Middle English), from the Anglo-French "disturbance" [1]. In the early 13th century, the word *noise* was used with the meaning of "loud outcry, clamor, shouting." In Old French¹, *noise* was used to mean "uproar, brawl" (in modern French² it is only used in the phrase "chercher noise" which means "to pick a quarrel"). Apparently, it also has roots from the classical Latin³ "nausea" meaning "disgust, annoyance, discomfort," or literally "seasickness". Another theory traces the Old French word to classical Latin "noxia" which means "hurting, injury, damage." Oxford English Dictionary considers that "the sense of the word is against both suggestions," but "nausea" could have developed a sense in Vulgar Latin⁴ of "unpleasant situ-

¹Old French: the French language as written and spoken between 900-1400. More than 90 percent of it was from Vulgar Latin, with a smattering of Celtic and Germanic, plus some Medieval Latin learned terms (Medieval Latin: Latin as written and spoken approximately in the period 700-1500).

²Modern French: Romance language spoken chiefly in France.

³Classical Latin: the Italic language of ancient Rome until about the 4th century.

 $^{^4\}mathrm{Vulgar}$ Latin: the everyday speech of the Roman people, as opposed to literary Latin.

142 THERMAL NOISE CHARACTERIZATION

ation, noise, quarrel". It is also related to the Old Provençal⁵ "nauza" meaning "noise, quarrel" [2].

It is also difficult to trace the word *noise* in the scientific literature. The word *noise* started to be extensively used within the scientific community in the second half of the nineteenth century. Noise represented a problem to scientists while conducting the "Reaction experiment with Hipp chronoscope" which is one of the classical experiments in modern psychology (1860–1890), where the problem of noise was explicitly reported in 1890 by Hugo Münsterberg (1863–1916) and other psychologists complaining that environmental noise filtered into their laboratories and disrupted work [3]. The noise pollution was a main concern in the period of 1870-1914, and received an intensive attention in medical and environmental periodicals, especially by Neurologists and ear specialists [4]. As from 1914, the word *noise* started to appear in electrical and mechanical engineering literature [5–8]. From 1923, it entered the literature of telecommunications [9–11].

The first appearance of the word *noise* in the literature of electronics could be attributed to W. Schottky in 1918 when he first discussed the shot noise in different electrical conductors $[12]^{6,7}$. During the following decade, this was the only type of noise being studied and many publications appeared to describe this phenomenon and to characterize and measure it $[16-30]^8$. In 1928, S. Ballantine introduced the first study of high-frequency shot noise [27].

Thermal noise did not appear until January 1927, when J. B. Johnson published a short note in *Nature* that described the phenomenon and characterized it [32]⁹. In 1928, both J. B. Johnson and H. Nyquist published at the same time other studies that put for the first time the formula which is still used till now and known as Nyquist formula [33, 34]. They showed that the limiting factor for the performance of receiver circuits was not the tubes, but the resistances, due to the thermal noise produced by them.

In 1930, F. B. Llewellyn presented "a study of noise in vacuum tubes and attached circuits" where he considered three types of noise: shot noise, thermal noise and generation-recombination noise; theoretically and experimentally [35]¹⁰. At around the same time, S. Ballantine studied the fluctuation noise (RF noise) in the receiver circuits [37]. He also introduced a new method for measur-

 $^{^5\}mathrm{Old}$ Provençal: Romance language of the troubadors, spoken in southern France before approximately 1500.

 $^{^6{\}rm J.}$ A. Gubner reported in [13] that the most basic shot-noise statistics, namely the mean and variance, were reported by Campbell in 1909 [14, 15]

 $^{^7\}mathrm{The}$ definition of the different types of noise, like shot noise, will be presented in the following sections.

⁸This bibliography ([12, 16–30]) is based on the bibliography introduced by N. P. Case [31].

⁹In [33], J. B. Johnson cites another short note published in Phys. Rev. vol. 29 p. 367, Feb. 1927, and another short note published by H. Nyquist in Phys. Rev. vol. 29 p. 614, 1927, however the author could not retrieve neither of them.

¹⁰In 1928, H. T. Friis proved experimentally that thermal-agitation noise (Johnson noise) determined the absolute sensitivity of short-wave radio receivers in an unpublished report according to [36].

ing the merit of a receiving system with regard to its signal-to-noise ratio, where this later term was introduced for the first time¹¹. The term "Signal-to-Noise ratio" was then emphasized later by F. B. Llewellyn in 1931 who introduced a rapid method for the calculation of the Signal-to-Noise ratio for high gain receivers [38].

Few months later, the concept of reducing the noise in receivers (to be known later as Low Noise Amplifier - LNA) was introduced by N. P. Case in 1931 [31]. However, the first LNA was not published until 1949 by H. S. Sommers *et al.* [39].

In 1933, S. Ballantine studied the fluctuation noise in electronic amplifier tubes [40]. In 1946, Kompfner *et al.* introduced the first noise source based on a transmission-line diode working at centimeter wavelengths [41].

It was not until 1944 that H. T. Friis from Bell Telephone Laboratories in New York introduced the concept of "Noise Figure" [36]. However, according to H. T. Friis himself, his work was based on a "Noise Factor" introduced by D. O. North two years earlier [42]. In an interesting discussion published one year later, D. O. North and H. T. Friis were not able to agree on which term to use, "Noise Factor" or "Noise Figure" [43]! D. K. C. MacDonald also published a comment on these two definitions later in [44]. However, according to M. J. O. Strutt [45], some similar definitions to that of H. T. Friis had already been introduced between 1939 and 1943 by K. Fraenz [46, 47], W. Kleen [48], H. Rothe [49], M. J. O. Strutt, A. van der Ziel [50, 51], E. W. Herold and L. Malter [52]. Nevertheless, M. J. O. Strutt continued to use the definition introduced by H. T. Friis [36, 45] and it has kept being used till now!

6.1 WHAT IS NOISE?

This work is concerned by the noise in the electronic components like transistors, and more precisely the Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors (MOSFETs). In this section, some definitions will be given as cited by several publications over the years. This is naturally followed by the introduction of the different types of noise that exist in MOSFETs.

6.1.1 Definition

Generally, noise could be defined as:

- Any unwanted sound. And in analog and digital electronics, noise is an unwanted perturbation to a wanted signal (Wikipedia) [53].
- A sound, especially one that is loud, unpleasant, or disturbing / continuous or repeated loud, confused sounds / technical: irregular fluctuations

¹¹F. B. Llewellyn spoke about "the ratio of signal to noise" in [35], but not in an explicit way as did S. Ballantine in [37].

144 THERMAL NOISE CHARACTERIZATION

accompanying and tending to obscure an electrical signal (Oxford English Dictionary) [54].

- Any bad change in a signal, especially in a signal produced by an electronic device (Cambridge Dictionary) [55].
- Loud, confused, or senseless shouting or outcry / any sound that is undesired or interferes with one's hearing of something / an unwanted signal or a disturbance (as static or a variation of voltage) in an electronic device or instrument (as radio or television) / a disturbance interfering with the operation of a usually mechanical device or system / electromagnetic radiation (as light or radio waves) that is composed of several frequencies and that involves random changes in frequency or amplitude / irrelevant or meaningless data or output occurring along with desired information (Merriam-Webster Dictionary) [1].

These definitions are not far from what A. van der Ziel presented [56]. Van der Ziel referred to the spontaneous fluctuations in current, voltage, and temperature of a system under test as being noise. Van der Ziel gave a simple explanation. If the fluctuating voltage or current generated in an electronic device or circuit component is amplified by a low-frequency amplifier and the amplified signal is fed into a loudspeaker, the loudspeaker produces a hissing sound; that is why it is called *noise*. This applies to any fluctuating voltage or current, even if no audible sound is heard, as in the case of a "snowy" picture on a television screen, or the lower limit of a measurement instrument.

6.1.2 Types of Noise

There are four main types of noise sources related to MOSFET devices, which are basically the same for most of the other electronic components. These are thermal, shot, generation-recombination, and flicker noise sources.

The thermal noise is related to the fluctuations (or random motion) of carriers velocity occurring in a resistor like material. This fluctuation is translated into a fluctuating electromagnetic force (emf) across the terminals of the device. More details about the thermal noise in MOSFETs are given in the next section.

Shot noise is originally defined by Schottky as the fluctuation of current in a tube carrying voltage-saturated thermionic current as a consequence of the random emission (and flow) of electrons [12, 37]. It could also be regarded as being produced by irregularities in the stream of electrons from the filament to the plate of the vacuum tube. In the absence of space charge this noise has been termed by Schottky the "schroteffekt," or "small shot effect," from the analogy which the flight of electrons from the filament to the plate of a vacuum tube bears to the spattering of small shot fired from a shot gun [35]. In modern devices, the shot noise occurs when carriers cross barriers independently and at random, as, for example, in Schottky-barrier diodes, in p-n junctions, and in bipolar transistors [56]. The generation-recombination noise occurs in a semiconductor involving donors, traps, and recombination centers. The number of carriers, and hence the resistance, fluctuates, giving rise to a fluctuating current through the device, thus a fluctuating emf across its terminals.

The fourth type of noise is the flicker noise. The first characteristic of this type of noise is its spectrum density which is inversely proportional to the frequency, hence the name 1/f noise. Literature shows two theories on the origin of flicker noise [57]. The first theory, the carrier number fluctuation theory [58– 63], also called McWhorter's model since it was originally introduced by A. L. McWhorter in 1957 [64], attributes the flicker noise to the random trapping and releasing processes of charges in the oxide traps near the $Si-SiO_2$ interface. The charge fluctuation results in a fluctuation of the surface potential, which in turn modulates the channel carrier density. It is assumed that the channel can exchange charges with the oxide traps through tunneling. The second theory, the mobility fluctuation theory [65–67], attributes the flicker noise to the fluctuation in the mobility of carriers in the bulk of the device based on an empirical formula introduced by Hooge in 1969 [68–70], hence the theory is also known as Hooge's model. In MOSFETs, it is assumed that this fluctuation of mobility is induced by phonon fluctuations induced by phonon scattering. The number fluctuation theory presumes an independent input noise power of the gate bias while being inversely proportional to the gate capacitance. On the other hand, the mobility fluctuation theory assumes an input noise power proportional to the gate bias and inversely proportional to the gate oxide capacitance. Since in the case of MOSFET, the measured noise power has a more complicated dependence on the gate bias and the gate oxide capacitance, some would use a theory based on combining both the number and the mobility fluctuation theories [57, 71, 72].

6.2 THERMAL NOISE IN MOSFETS

Thermal noise is usually the predominant source of noise in a well designed amplifier [33]. This has been true for amplifiers built using tubes and is also true for amplifiers built using field effect transistors [73, 74]. The rest of this chapter will deal with thermal noise in MOSFETs.

6.2.1 Introduction

"The electric charges in a conductor are found to be in a state of thermal agitation, in thermodynamic equilibrium with the heat motion of the atoms of the conductor. The manifestation of the phenomenon is a fluctuation of potential difference between the terminals of the conductor which can be measured by suitable instruments."

These were the words by which J. B. Johnson described the thermal noise phenomenon [33, 35]. This phenomenon was discovered by Johnson in 1927 [32], and he called it "Thermal Noise". It was then also known after him as Johnson's

146 THERMAL NOISE CHARACTERIZATION

noise. In 1928, Nyquist introduced an analytical formula that quantifies this noise based completely on a theoretical analysis [34] (as opposed to the experimental study of Johnson), thus it is also sometimes known as Nyquist's noise. Nyquist based his reasoning on the principles of thermodynamics and statistical mechanics (especially the second law of thermodynamics), which was shown to agree with the experimental results published earlier by Johnson [33]. Nyquist was able to prove that his formula is valid for any frequency range, stating that the electromotive force due to thermal agitation in conductors is a universal function of frequency, resistance, and temperature and of these variables only. This is summarized in the well known Nyquist relation which describes the thermal electromotive force in a conductor of pure resistance R and of temperature T:

$$E^2 \,\mathrm{d}\nu = 4RkT \,\mathrm{d}\nu \tag{6.1}$$

where $E^2 d\nu$ is the square of the voltage within the frequency interval $d\nu$, and k is the Boltzmann constant. In another formulation, the available thermal noise power in a frequency interval $d\nu$ is represented by:

$$P_{\rm av} = kT \, \mathrm{d}\nu \tag{6.2}$$

Despite the proof that he provided for Nyquist's formula of P_{av} as a universal function of the temperature T, van der Ziel was convinced that a quantum correction is needed if hf is comparable to kT, with h being Planck's constant [75],[56, Ch. 5]. For high frequencies and low temperatures, van der Ziel's formula is written as:

$$P_{\rm av} = \left[\frac{1}{2}hf + \frac{hf}{e^{hf/kT} - 1}\right]\Delta f \tag{6.3}$$

This formula reduces to Nyquist's formula (6.2) for $hf/kT \ll 1$

During the 50's, van der Ziel, as well as a group of other scientists, focused on the thermal and the shot noises in junction diodes and junction transistors [76–82]. Then starting from the early 60's, van der Ziel turned his attention to Field-Effect Transistors (FETs) or more specifically, Junction-FETs (JFETs) [73, 74, 83–85]. Being a modulated conductance, the thermal noise in the channel of a MOSFET was shown to be the dominant noise mechanism. Van der Ziel introduced equations representing the channel noise current, the gate noise current and the correlation between them as being a capacitive coupling through the gate. His work was the basis for several works introduced later and the ranges of the values of the constants in his equations are still applicable in modern devices, as will be shown later [83].

6.2.2 Different Representations

As the noise in electronic devices and circuits started to gain more attention, a need was raised to correctly represent and account for noise in devices and circuits. The traditional theory of four-poles only represents the electrical characteristics of the network under consideration through voltage and current equations
based on the internal sinusoidal currents or voltages of the network. However, the information about the noise behavior of the network was still missing. In 1956, Rothe and Dahlke first introduced the theory of noisy four-poles [86]. This theory was later standardized by the IRE^{12} in the tutorial paper by H. A. Haus *et al.* in 1960 [87].

The idea is to separate the classical noiseless network from the noise sources of the network. Assume that the network in Fig. 6.1 is a noisy network. Classically, this network would be electrically characterized by the following equations:

$$I_1 = Y_{11}V_1 + Y_{12}V_2$$

$$I_2 = Y_{21}V_1 + Y_{22}V_2$$
(6.4)

or by:

$$V_1 = Z_{11}I_1 + Z_{12}I_2$$

$$V_2 = Z_{21}I_1 + Z_{22}I_2$$
(6.5)

depending on which representation is chosen (admittance representation (6.4) or impedance representation (6.5)).



Fig. 6.1.: A noisy two-port (four-pole) network.

The noise of this two-port network is observed as fluctuations of voltage (or current) at the terminals of the network. This results from the internal noise sources of the network. A simple way to characterize these noise sources is to characterize the observed fluctuations at the terminals only. This can simply be achieved by considering a noiseless network corresponding to the same network but without any noise sources, and adding two noise sources outside the network. This could be two noise current sources (one at the input and one at the output of the noiseless network), two noise voltage sources (one at the input and one at the output of the noiseless network), or one noise current source and one noise voltage source (both at the input of the noiseless network), as shown in Fig. 6.2.

The current-current representation shown in Fig. 6.2a is used in conjunction with a noiseless network represented by its admittance matrix. The voltagevoltage representation shown in Fig. 6.2b is used with an impedance matrix

¹²A new industry arose beginning with Guglielmo Marconi's wireless telegraphy experiments at the turn of the century. What was originally called "wireless" became "radio" with the electrical amplification possibilities inherent in the vacuum tubes which evolved from John Fleming's diode and Lee de Forest's triode. With the new industry came a new society in 1912, the Institute of Radio Engineers (*IRE*). More information on: http://www.ieee.org/about/ ieee_history.html



Fig. 6.2.: Different representations of a noisy two-port (four-pole) network.

of the noiseless network. Whereas the current-voltage representation shown in Fig. 6.2c is employed in order to have all internal noise sources represented at the input of the noiseless network. The later is believed to be the most convenient method for noise characterization. In this later case, the noiseless network is represented using its chain matrix:

$$I_1 = AV_2 + BI_2 V_2 = CV_2 + DI_2$$
(6.6)

Equations (6.4)-(6.6) can then be modified in order to include the noise sources and can be written as follows:

For current-current representation:

$$I_1 = Y_{11}V_1 + Y_{12}V_2 + i_1$$

$$I_2 = Y_{21}V_1 + Y_{22}V_2 + i_2$$
(6.7)

For voltage-voltage representation:

$$V_1 = Z_{11}I_1 + Z_{12}I_2 + e_1$$

$$V_2 = Z_{21}I_1 + Z_{22}I_2 + e_2$$
(6.8)

For current-voltage representation:

$$I_1 = AV_2 + BI_2 + i V_2 = CV_2 + DI_2 + e$$
(6.9)

There are three basic principles for dealing with these representations:

- Since the noise phenomenon is a random process, the noise sources are usually characterized by their spectral and cross spectral densities rather than by their absolute values (voltage or current) i.e. $\overline{e^2}$, $\overline{i^2}$ and $\overline{ei^*}$.
- The second principle is to consider a correlation factor between the two noise sources employed in the two-port network. It could also be useful to consider the noise source as composed of two parts; one which has no correlation with the other noise source and the other which is correlated by a correlation factor (usually complex, in the form of $Y_{\rm cor} = G_{\rm cor} + jB_{\rm cor}$) to the other source.
- A noiseless network connected to the terminals of a noisy network does not change the signal-to-noise ratio (or the noise factor) calculated at these terminals, thus the noise factor of the over-all network is equal to that of the noisy network¹³.

The spot noise factor (figure) of a network at a specific frequency is defined by the ratio of the output noise power per unit bandwidth available at the output port to the portion of that output noise power engendered by the input termination at the standard temperature T_0 (290 K) [36, 88].

Therefore, if the current-voltage representation is considered, the noise factor at the output terminals should be the same as the noise factor at the input terminals of the noiseless network. Thus, if a current source is connected to the input terminals, it is sufficient to consider the network shown in Fig. 6.3 to calculate the over-all noise factor of the entire network of Fig. 6.2c.



Fig. 6.3.: Current-voltage representation in cascade with a current source of internal admittance $Y_{\rm s}$.

The noise factor is then calculated to be [87]

$$NF = NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_s} \left[(G_s + G_{opt})^2 + (B_s - B_{opt})^2 \right]$$
(6.10)

where NF is the noise factor, NF_{\min} is the minimum noise factor that is achieved when the source admittance $Y_s = G_s + jB_s$ attains its optimum value of $Y_{opt} = G_{opt} + jB_{opt}$, and R_n is the equivalent noise resistance which is defined by

¹³This is only true under the condition of equal impedances at the terminals, otherwise, the noise factor (or the noise figure) is changed but the minimum noise figure stays the same.

Nyquist's formula

$$R_n = \frac{\overline{e^2}}{4kT_0\Delta f} \tag{6.11}$$

knowing that R_n is not the resistance of a physical resistor in the network in which e is a physical noise voltage and therefore does not appear as a resistance in the equivalent circuit of the network. It rather helps to have a direct comparison between the noise due to internal sources and the noise of resistances generally presented in the circuit. R_n also characterizes the rapidity with which NF increases above NF_{\min} as Y_s deviates from Y_{opt} (the mismatch between Y_s and Y_{opt}).

From (6.10), the knowledge of only four parameters can fully characterize the noise behavior of a two-port network, namely NF_{\min} , R_n , and Y_{opt} ($Y_{\text{opt}} = G_{\text{opt}} + jB_{\text{opt}}$). These four parameters are readily obtained from standard noise measurements. The use of this representation (Fig. 6.3) also has the advantage that it does not require the knowledge of the physical origin of all the internal noise sources of the network.

In 1976, Hillbrand and Russer introduced the correlation matrix concept [89]¹⁴ which can deal with two-port networks that include partially correlated noise sources, as is the case of MOSFETs. The correlation matrix concept is based on the circuit theory of linear noisy networks, where the noise in linear circuits is described in terms of correlation matrices instead of voltages and currents. The philosophy behind this method is simple. The two-port is considered as an interconnection of basic two-ports whose noise behavior is known. The analysis then proceeds by interconnecting simpler two-ports to more complicated two-ports until finally the noise performance of the original two-port is obtained. The noiseless part of the two-port network is described by the conventional electrical matrices (Y, Z, or A), whereas the noisy part of the two-port network is described by its correlation matrix. In the noisy part, the noise sources are usually represented by their mean square fluctuations in a bandwidth Δf centered around a frequency f. For two noise sources s_1 and s_2 , these mean square fluctuations are directly related to the power spectral densities by

$$\left\langle s_i s_j^* \right\rangle = 2\Delta f C_{s_i s_i^*} \qquad i, j = 1, 2 \tag{6.12}$$

where the factor 2 denotes a frequency range from $-\inf t_0 + \inf t_0$. The correlation matrix C corresponding to the noise sources s_1 and s_2 is given by

$$C = \frac{1}{2\Delta f} \begin{bmatrix} \langle s_1 s_1^* \rangle & \langle s_1 s_2^* \rangle \\ \langle s_2 s_1^* \rangle & \langle s_2 s_2^* \rangle \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.13)

In the case of passive elements, the correlation matrix is written as

$$C = 2kT \begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} + Z_{11}^* & Z_{12} + Z_{12}^* \\ Z_{21} + Z_{21}^* & Z_{22} + Z_{22}^* \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.14)

¹⁴The rest of this sub-section is mostly based on this reference ([89]).

which can be simplified using the symmetric reciprocity proposed by R. Q. Twiss [90, 91], i.e. $Z_{12} = Z_{21}$, so that the noise correlation matrix can simply be given in terms of its impedance or admittance electrical matrices as follows

$$C_Z = 2kT\Re\{Z\}$$

$$C_Y = 2kT\Re\{Y\}$$
(6.15)

In the case of active devices, the noise correlation matrix can be defined using the noise equivalent circuit. For example, in the case of a MOSFET, the noise correlation matrix can be given for the current-current representation as:

$$C = \frac{1}{2\Delta f} \begin{bmatrix} \left\langle i_g i_g^* \right\rangle & \left\langle i_g i_d^* \right\rangle \\ \left\langle i_d i_g^* \right\rangle & \left\langle i_d i_d^* \right\rangle \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2\Delta f} \begin{bmatrix} \left\langle i_g^2 \right\rangle & \left\langle i_g i_d^* \right\rangle \\ \left\langle i_d i_g^* \right\rangle & \left\langle i_d^2 \right\rangle \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.16)

It can also be given for the current-voltage representation and based on direct measurements giving the four noise parameters defined earlier $(NF_{\min}, R_n, \text{ and } Y_{\text{opt}})$ as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_A \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{e^2} & \overline{ei^*} \\ \overline{e^*i} & \overline{i^2} \end{bmatrix} = 4kT_0\Delta f \begin{bmatrix} R_n & \frac{NF_{\min} - 1}{2} - R_n Y_{\mathrm{opt}} \\ \frac{NF_{\min} - 1}{2} - R_n Y_{\mathrm{opt}} & R_n |Y_{\mathrm{opt}}|^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.17)

The noise figure is then simply calculated using

$$NF = 1 + \frac{z^+ C_A z}{2kT\Re\{Z_s\}} \tag{6.18}$$

where

$$z = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ Z_{\rm s}^* \end{bmatrix} \tag{6.19}$$

and $Z_{\rm s}$ is the source impedance whereas the '+' sign indicates the Hermitian conjugation (i.e. transposed conjugate)

Next, for interconnecting the different simple two-port networks to reconstruct the original two-port network, the correlation matrices are simply manipulated using:

$$C_Y = C_{Y1} + C_{Y2} \qquad \text{(parallel)} \tag{6.20}$$

$$C_Z = C_{Z1} + C_{Z2} \qquad (\text{series}) \tag{6.21}$$

$$C_A = A_1 C_{A2} A_1^+ + C_{A1}$$
 (cascade) (6.22)

where A is the electrical chain matrix. The need may arise to pass from one representation to another. This is simplified through the use of Appendix C and Appendix D.

Therefore, the correlation matrix concept makes the noise analysis of any two-port network as simple as the combination of three operations: change of representation, interconnection, and noise figure calculation. As a result, this concept is extensively used in literature for noise analysis. Equation (6.22) is usually used in de-embedding procedures especially for on-wafer measurements.

6.3 MODELS OF THERMAL NOISE

The modeling of thermal noise has always been a challenge. Any model should be based on a deep understanding of the phenomenon and a correct representation of it. Since the introduction of the thermal noise term in the literature of electronics by Johnson and Nyquist [32–34], many publications tried to build a thorough understanding. The effort to understand shot noise served as a good base. Also the pioneering work of Rothe and Dahlke [86] in representing the noisy four-pole networks and later the standardization of these representations by the *IRE* led by Haus *et al.* [87] were all a necessary start.

In 1962 and 1963, van der Ziel first introduced an understanding and a modeling of the thermal noise in Field-Effect Transistors (FETs) [73, 74, 83, 84]. His work was concentrating on Junction Field-Effect Transistors JFETs and was based on the treatment of the small-signal parameters published later by van der Ziel and Ero in 1964 [85]. Van der Ziel and Ero adopted the theory of Shockley that assumed a constant mobility throughout the channel, even in saturation (pinched off) region, and they considered the region under the gate as an active nonuniform transmission line. They then solved the resulting nonlinear wave equation using a power series in frequency. The result was an accurate quantitative expression for the intrinsic two-port small-signal parameters applicable to moderately high frequencies. Van der Ziel identified the thermal noise in the channel as the main source of noise in FETs. He then derived expressions for the drain current and induced gate current noise and the correlation between them using a Green's function solution for the thermal voltage fluctuation distribution along the channel. Van der Ziel stated that the correlation between the two current noise sources should be pure imaginary.

Later, in 1966, M. Shoji presented the first work on MOSFETs [92] to be an extension of the work of van der Ziel on JFETs and of the work of A. G. Jordan and N. A. Jordan on shot and flicker noises in MOSFETs [93]. Around the same time, C. T. Sah *et al.* also studied the thermal noise in MOSFETs [94].

A year later, F. M. Klaassen and J. Prins introduced their well known model of thermal noise in MOSFETs [95]. They showed in a series of publications an extension of the model of van der Ziel to higher frequencies [95–99]. However, they showed a complex correlation between the two current noise sources (the drain current noise source and the gate induced current noise source) due to the influence of the high frequency gate-channel coupling on the noise of the drain current. This effect was earlier neglected by van der Ziel. It was shown later that this effect is important only beyond the useful frequency range of operation of FETs [100]. Also in 1967, J. Mavor presented a theory about a lower noise behavior of MOSFETs operated in a common-gate configuration [101]. It seems that all this attention given to MOSFETs encouraged A. van der Ziel to turn his attention to MOSFETs. In 1968, in a joint work with H. E. Hallady [102], they introduced a modification of the equations of Klaassen-Prins and in 1969, A. van der Ziel classified the theories of J. Mavor as an incorrect hypothesis [103]. A. van der Ziel then continued to introduce a series of pioneering work on the modeling of thermal noise in MOSFETs [104–109] taking into account the different representations of noisy two-port networks and the calculation of the noise figure and the minimum noise figure for MOSFETs. Based on this pioneering work more models were introduced later on. In 1971-1972, W. Baechtold was the first to consider the velocity saturation effects on the noise performance of microwave FETs [110, 111]. He combined the effort of A. van der Ziel in thermal noise and the Turner-Wilson model [112] (the first to introduce the concept of velocity saturation in FETs) to derive the noise coefficients as a function of velocity saturation. Although W. Baechtold included a field-dependent noise temperature to account for the "hot" electrons, his model suffered from the same limitations of Turner-Wilson model, which presumes that the critical field for velocity saturation is always located (pinned) at the drain side of the channel. Hence, the model of W. Baechtold neglects any noise that may be generated by carriers traveling at their limiting velocities.

6.3.1 Three-parameter model

In 1974, R. A. Pucel et al. introduced the model to be known later by the threeparameter model or the PRC model [100, 113, 114]. In his model, R. A. Pucel abandoned the Turner-Wilson model. Instead, he adopted the two-section model of Grebene-Ghandhi [115]. In his model, he considered the dc, small-signal, and the noise characteristics of the GaAs FET. Below velocity saturation, R. A. Pucel based his model on A. van der Ziel's model with suitable modifications to account for the variable boundary position between the two regions. He also adopted the modifications of W. Baechtold to account for the electron temperature. He then introduced a new model for the velocity saturation region (saturation or depletion region). He showed that the noise in that later region can be very important and that the noise in the unsaturated region becomes negligible. P. Lauritzen and O. Leistiko Jr. observed the same phenomenon in 1962 through noise measurements and related it to the high electric field in the pinch-off region [116]. R. A. Pucel also showed that a strong correlation exists between the drain and the gate which results in a strong noise cancellation and hence an attractively low minimum noise figure.

This noise model considers the current-current representation of the FET device, with a gate noise current source i_g (induced gate noise) at the input and a drain noise current source i_d at the output, whose spectral densities are proportional to noise dimensionless coefficients R and P, respectively. These two noise sources are correlated, with a pure imaginary complex correlation coefficient Cor = j.C, explained by the capacitive coupling existing between the channel and the gate (C is referred to as the correlation coefficient). For a recent technology node (gate length ≥ 65 nm) of Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistors (MOSFETs), either in bulk or in Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) technologies, the value of C is relatively weak (lower than 0.4) [117–119], in contrast to those usually observed in the case of III-V FETs or HEMTs (between 0.8 and 0.95) [114].

6.3.2 Two-parameter model

In 1989, M. W. Pospieszalski proposed a two-parameter noise model [120, 121]. In this model, two uncorrelated noise sources are considered; a gate noise voltage source at the input and a drain noise current source at the output. The spectral densities of these two noise sources are proportional to the equivalent noise temperatures T_g (for the input - the gate) and T_d (for the output - the drain), respectively. The extraction of the equivalent noise temperature T_g is relatively difficult. This is because its accuracy depends strongly on the accuracy of the extraction of the intrinsic resistance R_i of the small signal equivalent circuit of the transistor [122]. Measurement uncertainties and errors in extracting the extrinsic resistances could highly affect the accuracy of extracting R_i . To overcome this problem, F. Danneville and G. Dambrine introduced the following definitions of T_{in} (instead of T_q) and T_{out} (instead of T_d):

$$T_{\rm in} = \frac{\overline{e_g^2}}{4k\Re(H_{11})\Delta f} = \frac{\overline{e_g^2}}{4k\Re\left(\frac{1}{Y_{11}}\right)\Delta f}$$
(6.23)

$$T_{\text{out}} = \frac{\overline{i_d^2}}{4k\Re(H_{22})\Delta f} = \frac{\overline{i_d^2}}{4k\Re\left(\frac{1}{Z_{22}}\right)\Delta f}$$
(6.24)

Equation (6.24) can also be expressed in terms of the elements of the small signal equivalent circuit as:

$$T_{\rm out} \approx \frac{i_d^2}{4kg_D \left[1 + \frac{g_m}{g_D} \frac{C_{\rm gd}}{C_{\rm gd} + C_{\rm gs}}\right] \Delta f}$$
(6.25)

Based on (6.25), F. Danneville and G. Dambrine concluded that T_{out} is lower (by a factor of 2 to 3) than T_d defined by M. W. Pospieszalski. Hence, for $V_{\text{DS}} = 0$ V, the transconductance g_m becomes equal to zero and as a result it is found that $T_{\text{out}} = T_d = T_a$. This leads to the one-parameter model discussed in the next sub-section.

6.3.3 One-parameter model

In 1991, B. Hughes proposed the "temperature noise model for extrinsic FETs", or simply a one-parameter model [123]. He used the assumption proposed earlier by M. Gupta and P. T. Greiling [124] and set the input (gate) temperature T_g in Pospieszalski's model to the ambient temperature T_a . B. Hughes was able to show that this simple model can predict accurately the frequency dependence of the minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$ and the associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$. It is also possible to predict the maximum oscillation frequency $f_{\rm max}$ based on the noise measurements and B. Hughes showed that this prediction is also accurate enough. This was shown to be true for a wide variety of FET devices [123].

6.3.4 Summary

Despite the differences between the models introduced earlier, it is of interest to highlight some common features of all thermal noise models [125]:

- The power spectral density of the drain noise current source $\overline{i_d^2}$ is frequency independent. This is explained by the fact that the drain noise current source is generated by diffusion noise in the channel, which has a white spectrum as shown experimentally by W. C. Bruncke *et al.* [126] and analytically by A. van der Ziel [83].
- The gate noise current source i_g results from the channel noise, and because of the capacitive coupling existing between the channel and the gate, it varies as a function of $j\omega$ (where ω is the radial frequency and equals $2\pi f$). The power spectral density $\overline{i_g^2}$ is therefore a function of the frequency squared [116, 126].
- Based on this capacitive coupling, the correlation between the two noise sources is mainly imaginary (the real part is negligible) [73]. In addition, the correlation being represented as $\overline{i_g^*i_d}$ varies as $j\omega$, or in other words, it increases linearly with frequency.

6.4 THERMAL NOISE MEASUREMENTS

The process of thermal noise measurement in FETs in general is difficult and complicated. Over the years, several methods and approaches were introduced in literature to overcome the difficulties and to provide more accurate results. As early as 1953 and later in 1959, the committee of the IRE introduced a standardization of noise measurement methods [127, 128]. Later, several authors introduced variations on these standard methods as well as entirely new methods. In this section, the two most used methods are to be introduced, namely the Tuner method and the F50 method.

6.4.1 Concept

Thermal noise is classified as a Gaussian noise. A Gaussian noise has steady or stationary characteristics and is composed of a linear superposition of a large number of small independent events. For any Gaussian noise, a measurement in terms of power is usually comprehensive and adequate [128]. It is particularly important to highlight the assumption of linearity for such type of measurements. The noise event usually occurs at a point of the system where the useful signal is weak; hence the principle of superposition can be correctly applied. In practical terms, currents and voltages produced by signals and noise can be added together without taking into consideration the harmonics and inter-modulation effects that occur in nonlinear systems.

The noise measured at the output of any linear two-port is the summation of two noise sources; the noise coming from the source (i.e. the noise at the input of the two-port) and the noise source internal to the two-port. If the two-port is

noiseless, the noise signal at its input terminal (coming from the source) should travel to its output terminal without suffering from any change. Based on this concept, the idea of measuring the noise performance of any linear two-port resides in measuring the noise power at the output terminal of the two-port and the noise power at the output terminal of its noiseless equivalent, which is an imaginary case in which the two-port keeps all its characteristics except that it has no internal noise sources. This concept is simply formulated by what is known as the Noise Figure, defined as [128]: The ratio of: (a) the noise power per unit bandwidth available at the output port when the noise temperature of the input termination is standard (290K) to (b) the portion of (a) engendered at the input frequency by the input termination.

Based on this definition, the noise figure is a function of two factors: the internal structure of the two-port and its input termination. On the other hand, it is independent of the output termination. Therefore, the noise performance of a two-port is only obtained if the input termination is correctly specified.

The standard formula of the noise figure NF is given by (6.10) and can simply be written as [129]:

$$NF = NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_s} \left| Y_s - Y_{\text{opt}} \right|^2$$
(6.26)

with

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + 2R_n \left(G_{\text{opt}} + G_{\text{cor}} \right)$$
 (6.27)

where $G_{\rm cor}$ is the real part of the correlation admittance $Y_{\rm cor}$.

This simple equation sets the base for all noise measurement methods. The target is to be able to calculate or measure the four parameters of (6.26) that fully characterize the noise performance of any FET; NF_{\min} , R_n , and Y_{opt} .

6.4.2 Tuner Method

This method is also known in literature as the multi-impedance method or the traditional method. The later name being given since this was the measurement method used for so many years and standardized by the *IRE* committee [128].

The basic idea of this method is to use a variable impedance source in front of the Device-under-Test (DUT) and to measure the corresponding noise figure (or noise power) at the output. These data are then used to search for the minimum noise figure NF_{\min} and the corresponding source admittance Y_{opt} , and then use (6.26) to find the equivalent noise resistance R_n . In modern systems, an automatic variable admittance generator is used in conjunction with an automatic noise figure meter, thus making the measurement procedure simpler. However, this method has its limitations and difficulties especially for the calibration step.

In its original form, the measurement is achieved in three main steps [128]:

- The source conductance G_s is kept constant while the source susceptance B_s is varied and the noise figure NF is measured for each value of B_s . The optimum source susceptance B_{opt} is then determined as being the value corresponding to the minimum obtained NF.

- Similarly, the optimum source conductance G_{opt} is obtained by fixing the source susceptance B_{s} at its optimum value B_{opt} and measuring the noise figure NF for different values of the source conductance G_{s} .
- Equation (6.26) is then used to obtain R_n and NF_{\min} by plotting NF as a function of $x = |Y_s - Y_{opt}|^2 / G_s$. The result is a straight line $(NF = NF_{\min} + R_n x)$ whose slope is R_n and its intersection on the NF axis at x = 0 gives NF_{\min} .

Two techniques exist for the Tuner measurement method; the standard technique [130] and the cold source technique [131, 132]. In the first technique, a noise source is connected to the input of the DUT. This noise source is first used in its cold state (equivalent temperature $T_{\rm C}$) then in its hot state (equivalent temperature $T_{\rm H}$). The corresponding noise powers are measured and used to calculate the Noise Figure of the DUT. Whilst in the second technique, the noise source is only necessary during the calibration phase in order to determine the kBG coefficient (Gain-Bandwidth product) of the noise receiver. A Tuner is connected to the input of the DUT to generate different impedances during the phase of the NF measurements. The thermal noise of the Tuner (proportional to the ambient temperature and the resistive or real part of the generated impedance) amplified by the DUT and the additional noise power generated by the DUT are measured by the receiver. The NF of the DUT is then calculated knowing the generated impedance at its input, the S-parameters of the DUT and the reflection coefficient at the input of the noise receiver. This later method is adopted in the Tuner measurements shown in this work.

Mostly, modern Tuner measurement systems perform the measurement steps and the associated calculations automatically. However, this method suffers from the following limitations [124, 125]:

- The mounting of the measurement system is not simple.
- The system requires complicated calibration steps.
- The choice of the source admittance values is very critical.
- Accuracy of associated numerical analysis is not guaranteed.
- Elevated cost of measurement equipments.

These limitations motivated many research groups to search for an alternative method to measure high frequency noise, such as the F50 method, presented hereafter.

6.4.3 F50 Method

The Tuner method is still used both on the academic and the industrial levels. Commercial equipments are still being enhanced to give better accuracy for noise measurements using the Tuner method. Nevertheless, many publications tried, as early as 1969, to overcome the limitations and complications of this traditional method [124, 133].

In this context, G. Dambrine *et al.* introduced the F50 method in 1993 [125]. It was first introduced for MESFETs and HEMTs, but was proved later to be

applicable on MOSFETs. This method is based on the fact that the number of noise parameters can be reduced if simple theoretical considerations are taken into account.

Based on the work by H. Hillbrand and P. H. Russer [89], G. Dambrine et al. presented the relation between the voltage-current representation of noise sources and the current-current representation as follows:

$$\overline{e^2} = \frac{\overline{i_d^2}}{|Y_{21}|^2} + 4kT_0 \left(R_s + R_g\right)\Delta f$$
(6.28)

$$\overline{i^2} = \overline{i_g^2} + \frac{|Y_{11}|^2 \,\overline{i_d^2}}{|Y_{21}|^2} - 2\Re\left(\frac{Y_{11}\overline{i_g^* i_d}}{Y_{21}}\right) \tag{6.29}$$

$$\overline{e^*i} = \frac{Y_{11}\overline{i_d^2}}{|Y_{21}|^2} - \frac{\overline{i_g i_d^*}}{Y_{21}^*}$$
(6.30)

Note that, these are basically the equations that constitute the chain matrix in (6.17).

From (6.28)-(6.30), the equivalent noise resistance R_n and the correlation admittance Y_{cor} could be defined as:

$$R_{n} = \frac{\overline{e^{2}}}{4kT_{0}\Delta f} = (R_{g} + R_{s}) + \frac{\overline{i_{d}^{2}}}{4kT_{0}|Y_{21}|^{2}\Delta f}$$
(6.31)

$$Y_{\rm cor} = \frac{\overline{e^*i}}{\overline{e^2}} = \frac{\left(Y_{11}\overline{i_d^2} - Y_{21}\overline{i_g}\overline{i_d^*}\right)}{4kT_0R_n |Y_{21}|^2 \Delta f}$$
(6.32)

Using (6.29), Y_{cor} can be approximated by:

$$Y_{\rm cor} \approx Y_{11} - \frac{\overline{i_g i_d^*}}{4kT_0 R_n Y_{21}^* \Delta f}$$

$$\tag{6.33}$$

For operating frequencies lower than the intrinsic cutoff frequency f_T of the device, where

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_{\rm gs}} \tag{6.34}$$

the magnitude of Y_{21} is nearly equal to the transconductance g_m . Therefore, the equivalent noise resistance R_n is frequency-independent.

As for the correlation admittance $Y_{cor} = G_{cor} + jB_{cor}$, from (6.33):

- $B_{\rm cor}$ is much larger than $G_{\rm cor}$ [134] due to the fact that the imaginary part B_{11} is larger than the real part G_{11} while $\overline{i_g i_d^*}$ is mainly imaginary and Y_{21} is mainly real. It can also be seen from (6.33) that $B_{\rm cor}$ increases linearly with frequency.
- $G_{\rm cor}$ can be approximated by G_{11} because the second term of (6.33) is mainly imaginary. Hence, $G_{\rm cor}$ is a function of ω^2 .

G. Dambrine *et al.* also showed through simulations that G_{opt} is much larger than G_{cor} , and knowing that

$$G_{\rm opt} = \sqrt{G_{\rm cor}^2 + \frac{G_n}{R_n}} \tag{6.35}$$

where G_n is the equivalent noise conductance [135], it is clear that G_n/R_n is much larger than G_{cor}^2 .

The above theoretical reasoning puts the basis for the F50 method. It can be summarized as follows:

- R_n is frequency independent.
- $-G_{\rm cor} \ll B_{\rm cor}$ and $G_{\rm cor} \ll G_{\rm opt}$.
- $G_{\rm cor}^2 \ll G_n/R_n.$
- $-B_{\rm cor}$ varies as ω and $G_{\rm cor}$ varies as ω^2 .

It should also be noticed that these results are valid for any FET device, since they are mainly based on the capacitive coupling between the gate and the channel.

The idea of the method is to introduce a source (generator) of 50 Ω impedance ($Y_{\rm s} = G_{\rm s} = 20$ mS). In this case, (6.26) becomes:

$$F_{50} = 1 + R_n G_s + \frac{R_n}{G_s} \left(2G_s G_{cor} + |Y_{opt}|^2 \right)$$
(6.36)

Equation (6.36) has two particular features:

- Since R_n is frequency independent while $G_{\rm cor}$ and $|Y_{\rm opt}|^2$ vary as ω^2 , the plot of F_{50} versus ω^2 is linear and the value of F_{50} at $\omega = 0$ is $(1 + R_n G_s)$. Thus, R_n can be easily deduced.
- Since $G_{\rm cor}$ can be approximated by G_{11} , the slope of F_{50} versus ω^2 provides the magnitude of $Y_{\rm opt}$.

Therefore, one measurement at 50 Ω of source impedance provides two important noise parameters $(R_n \text{ and } |Y_{\text{opt}}|)$ (or in terms of noise sources $\overline{e^2}$ and $\overline{i^2}[129]$).

The advantages of this method can be summarized as:

- The measurement is very simple, no tuner is needed.
- The results are highly accurate since no analytical calculations are needed.
- The accurate determination of R_n is assured which represents a special importance since R_n is directly related to the drain noise current source i_d^2 . Thus the measurement of R_n can be considered as a direct measurement of i_d^2 which allows a direct comparison of the noise behavior of different devices.
- Since $G_{\rm cor}$ can be approximated by G_{11} , only three noise parameters R_n , $G_{\rm opt}$, and $B_{\rm opt}$ are needed to describe the FET noise performance. R_n and $|Y_{\rm opt}|$ are acquired through the F50 measurement and using the 2-parameter model [120], the assumption of uncorrelated noise sources is used to get $NF_{\rm min}$:

$$C = \frac{\overline{i_{g}i_{d}^{*}}}{\sqrt{i_{g}^{2}i_{d}^{2}}} \approx j \frac{|Y_{21}|}{|Y_{11}|} \sqrt{\frac{\overline{i_{g}^{2}}}{\overline{i_{d}^{2}}}}$$
(6.37)

Therefore, to determine the four noise parameters $(NF_{\min}, R_n, \text{ and } Y_{\text{opt}})$, five simple steps are needed:

- i. S-parameters measurements to extract the small-signal equivalent circuit.
- ii. F_{50} is measured versus frequency which gives R_n and $|Y_{opt}|$ (or simply, $\overline{e^2}$ and $\overline{i^2}$).
- iii. $\overline{i_d^2}$ is deduced from $\overline{e^2}$ by using (6.28).
- iv. Substituting (6.37) in (6.29), $\overline{i_g^2}$ can be determined.
- v. Substituting (6.37) in (6.30), $\overline{e^*i}$ and Y_{cor} can be found.

6.5 THERMAL NOISE IN GCMOS

6.5.1 Introduction¹⁵

The idea of a Graded-Channel device was first introduced by T. A. DeMassa, G. G. Goddard, and G. T. Catalano in 1971 [136] and 1973 [137]. In 1975, T. A. DeMassa and S. R. Iyer proposed a closed form solution for a Graded-Channel Junction Field Effect Transistor (JFET) [138] and they also introduced a study of the thermal noise in the same device [139]. Later, in 1978, R. E. Williams and D. W. Shaw presented improved linearity and noise figure using a Graded-Channel FET [140]. The RF favoured performance of Graded-Channel devices over classical uniform doping devices was highlighted in 1980 by S. D. S. Malhi and C. A. T. Salama, where they reported a higher cutoff frequency for Graded-Channel FET [141].

The Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor MOS version of the Graded-Channel devices was introduced for the first time in 2000 by M. A. Pavanello *et al.* [142], and since then, it has received an increasing attention. In these academic devices, the implantation used to adjust the threshold voltage V_T is masked near the drain over a distance $L_{\rm LD}$ (Lightly-Doped) (see Fig. 6.4a), yielding a high V_T region near the source in series with a low V_T part adjacent to the drain.

Nevertheless, in order to align the fabrication of GCMOS within the framework of an industrial standard CMOS process, a different procedure is used. The channel is shared between two different doping schemes introduced through two perfectly aligned masks, one for a high V_T (near the source) giving rise to V_{T1} and the other for a depletion mode MOSFET (near the drain) giving rise to V_{T2} (see Fig. 6.4b). The target is to introduce the maximum possible $V_T = V_{T1} - V_{T2}$. As a result, a lightly doped region is created near the drain over a length of L_{LD} .

 $^{^{15}}$ The Graded Channel MOS (GCMOS) was defined and introduced in section 2.7. However, this introduction is included here for the completeness of the chapter of thermal noise characterization.

The high difference in V_T results in a naturally inverted region near the drain side (over $L_{\rm LD}$) at approximately zero gate bias which emulates an extended drain area beneath the gate. Hence, the effective channel length is reduced from L (the drawn channel length) to $L_{\rm eff} = L - L_{\rm LD}$. The ratio $L_{\rm LD}/L$ defines the characteristics of the device [142].

The highly doped part of the channel at the source end improves the threshold voltage roll-off and the drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL), whereas the light doping near the drain ensures high mobility, reduced peak electric field, and lowered impact ionization [142–144]. It also results in higher Early and breakdown voltages [145]. As a result a better analog performance is achieved with a better intrinsic gain due to a higher dc transconductance (g_m) and a lower output conductance (g_D) . In addition, the analog and RF characteristics of the GCMOS are highly improved with a higher cut-off frequency (f_T) compared to classical MOSFET transistors [143–148].

The low frequency (1/f noise) performance of Graded-Channel MOS (GC-MOS) have also been analyzed in order to investigate the ability of this device to integrate in the recent low-power low-noise applications [149]. In addition, using TCAD simulations, T. C. Lim *et al.* [150] showed that the minimum noise figure of the laterally asymmetric channel MOS should outperform the classical nMOS device for both bulk and partially-depleted SOI due to a higher correlation factor C in the Pucel's model [100, 113, 114]. On the other hand, Roy *et al.* described the noise sources distribution along the channel [151, 152] and showed a higher correlation factor in the case of GCMOS transistor compared to classical nMOS [153]. Finally, our work provides the experimental evidence of the better RF noise performance of GCMOS as compared to classical MOSFET for both partially-depleted and fully-depleted SOI technologies (for both academic and industrial processes) [154, 155].





(a) Cross-section of a PD GCMOS structure.

(b) Top view mask layout of the FD GCMOS structure.

Fig. 6.4.: PD and FD GCMOS structures.

6.5.2 TCAD Simulations

T. C. Lim et al. provided the first TCAD simulations of high frequency noise performance in GCMOS and compared it to classical nMOS devices [150]. T. C. Lim started by theoretically proving that the reason for which GaAs-pHEMT (the most used device for low noise applications) provides lower NF_{\min} than the classical MOSFET devices, although having much lower cutoff frequency f_T , is mainly the parameter C. C is the imaginary part of the correlation factor which, as mentioned earlier, is mainly imaginary due to the capacitive coupling between the channel noise source and the gate noise source. C is also the third parameter of Pucel's three parameter noise model [100, 113, 114]. In GaAs-pHEMT like devices, C is much higher than in classical MOSFET devices, ~ 0.9 and ~ 0.3 . respectively [150]. T. C. Lim explained this very low C in classical MOSFET as follows: in classical MOSFETs, the threshold voltage is uniform all along the channel, and so is the distribution of the drain noise current due to local channel current fluctuations (based on [119, Fig. 9]). On the other hand, the distribution of the induced gate noise current is highly different from the drain noise current, leading to a very low correlation between the two noise sources. On the contrary, this is not the case for III-V devices, where the correlation is very high between the two noise sources [156]. T. C. Lim showed by TCAD simulations that a much higher C can be obtained through channel engineering in MOSFET devices. A laterally asymmetric device (or simply a GCMOS) can give a value of C as high as 0.9 when biased in the saturation region. Interesting observations were obtained through TCAD simulations:

- The better RF performance for GCMOS over classical nMOS is confirmed through a higher f_T .
- Similar values of P are obtained for both GCMOS and classical nMOS whereas R has a slightly higher value for GCMOS indicating a higher coupling between the channel current fluctuations and the gate.
- C is much higher in GCMOS as compared to classical nMOS which results in a significant reduction in $NF_{\rm min}.$
- The low value of NF_{\min} in GCMOS is relatively stable over a wide range of gate bias ($V_{\text{GS}} > V_T$) as opposed to the classical nMOS which is highly dependent on f_T (lower NF_{\min} is obtained at higher f_T). Although this fact is perturbed as the devices are scaled down (from 2 μ m to 130 nm) due to short channel effects, GCMOS is still able to give very low values of NF_{\min} (making it comparable to those of pHEMT), which cannot be achieved using classical nMOS devices, even by aggressively scaling the device (to increase its f_T).
- $-NF_{\rm min}$ is improved for GCMOS as compared to classical nMOS. A fact that holds true for, a priori, the entire frequency range.

6.5.3 Analytical Explanation

The pioneering work of A. S. Roy *et al.* in modeling the thermal noise in laterally asymmetric channel MOSFETs [151, 152, 157] preceded the TCAD simulations provided by T. C. Lim *et al.* and helped to, later, provide a solid analytical explanation for the reasons of the higher C in GCMOS devices [153].

A. S. Roy showed that for a GCMOS, the traditional Klaassen-Prins noise model [97] is not valid. Based on his reasoning, A. S. Roy showed that the contribution to the terminal drain noise from any point along the channel is determined by the product of two terms; the impedance field IF of the drain, $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ ([151, Fig. 3, eq. (12)]), which represents the noise propagation [157, 158], and the local noise source, whose power spectral density is proportional to the inversion charge ([151, Fig. 3, eq. (14)]). For a classical MOSFET, IF is independent of position and is equal to the inverse of the channel length. But the lateral asymmetry causes $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ to highly peak near the source end and this effect is much more prominent at low gate voltages ([151, Fig. 4a]). As the source end is highly doped compared to the drain end, the inversion charge towards the drain end is much higher. This is where the Klaassen-Prins model fails since it assigns the same weight to both the strongly inverted region near the drain and the lightly inverted region near the source. On the contrary, A. S. Roy shows that the lightly inverted region near the source dominates the noise behavior especially at lower gate voltages. At higher gate voltages, the peak of $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ is lower and the constant model of Klaassen-Prins can be less erroneous.

In order to physically explain this behavior, A. S. Roy used a two-seriesconnected-transistors approach, with the transistor near the source side being highly doped and the one near the drain being lightly doped. At low gate voltages, the transistor near the source end will be weakly inverted while the transistor near the drain end will be strongly inverted. As the weakly inverted transistor will have a much higher resistance, and hence a much higher noise voltage, the overall noise behavior of the channel will be dominated by the region near the source side. A. S. Roy also explained this behavior mathematically through the equations provided in [151, Fig. 3].

The peak of $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ near the source side can be regarded as a localized source of noise. Or as described physically, the noise behavior of the channel is mainly dominated by the source end of the channel. This happens at lower gate bias values, which means when the channel is in saturation condition. As the drain bias is increased, going deeply in saturation condition, the localization of the noise source is even increased and the portion of the channel responsible for the noise performance gets more shrunk. As a result, the current fluctuations in the channel near the drain are negligible; resulting in negligible induced gate noise sources near the drain end, and hence, the induced gate noise source is also localized near the source end. These results are clearly seen in the peaking behavior of $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ and $\Delta A_{\rm g}$ in [153, Fig. 2 and 4]. These similar characteristics of $\Delta A_{\rm d}$ and $\Delta A_{\rm g}$ is directly translated into a high correlation between $\overline{i_d^2}$ and $\overline{i_q^2}$ (or high values of C). The two noise sources are simply approaching the ideal

case of having a single channel noise source near the source end which generates a single induced gate noise source, and thus they are approaching a perfectly correlated situation.

6.5.4 Measurements

In order to correctly characterize the RF noise performance of the devices, it is necessary to ensure a correct dc and RF characterization. Standard dc and ac characteristics are measured, at room temperature, using an HP4142B semiconductor parameter analyzer and an HP8510C vector network analyzer (VNA) controlled by ICCAP 2006B software. Noise parameters are then measured using the two different techniques mentioned earlier; the F50 and the Tuner techniques.

6.5.4.1 Difficulties with the F50 method

In a first run, devices considered in this work were measured using the F50 method. As mentioned earlier, the F50 method is highly accurate and much easier to apply. However, a serious difficulty was noticed for the case of GC-MOS. Two parameters are readily extracted from the measured F50 data: R_n and $|Y_{opt}|^2$. In order to extract the rest of the noise parameters, either a special test structure has to be used where the access line to the gate is varied or a theoretical assumption has to be made [125]. The first option cannot be realized since the devices and the test structures are already fabricated. The second option, the theoretical assumption, is based on the Pospieszalski's Two-parameter model which assumes two uncorrelated noise sources [120]. This assumption is in clear contradiction with the results obtained from TCAD simulations and mathematical analysis presented earlier. In addition, this was clearly noticed from the results of the extraction performed on the F50 measurements when non-physical values of C were obtained (C > 1 and C < 0). Therefore, the results obtained using the F50 method were discarded, and the Tuner method was adopted for further characterization of the RF noise performance of GCMOS. However, it should be mentioned that, the calculation of F_{50} can be easily achieved based on the Tuner measurements and the extracted *PRC* parameters (Pucel's model) using a simple equation (see derivation in Appendix F):

$$F_{50} = 1 + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m}\right)G_0 + \frac{\omega^2 C_{\rm tot}}{G_0 g_m}\left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) + \frac{P}{g_m}G_{\rm cor} \quad (6.38)$$

where $G_0 = 20$ mS (the inverse of 50 Ω) and $C_{\rm tot}$ is the total gate capacitance $(C_{\rm tot} = C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm ds})$. In (6.38), the effect of the pads capacitances are not included. However, in this work, the noise characterization is performed using on-wafer measurements, and thus the effect of the pad capacitance $C_{\rm p}$ is important. A more exact equation is thus needed to account for $C_{\rm p}$ (see Appendix F for derivation for the derivation):

$$F_{50} = 1 + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m}\right)G_0 + \frac{\omega^2}{G_0 g_m} \left\{C_{\rm tot}^2 \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) + C_{\rm p}^2 \left[P + (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_m\right] - 2C_{\rm p}C_{\rm tot} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right)\right\}$$
(6.39)

6.5.4.2 Mechanical Tuner Method

The tuner measurement technique is typically recommended to go up to a maximum frequency equals to half of the cutoff frequency f_T of the DUT. For the GCMOS transistors studied in this work, its low f_T (around 19 GHz) made it necessary to measure the noise performance at relatively low frequencies. Measurements were achieved using a mechanical tuner system from Maury Microwaves in the 1-8-GHz frequency range. This frequency range is particularly difficult to measure and the calibration process needs extra prudence. Therefore, in order to reach robust and repeatable results, extractions and analysis shown hereafter are all done at 6 GHz so as to avoid the uncertainties at lower frequencies. The calibration procedure for the measurement setup is summarized in Appendix G.

6.5.4.3 Devices under Test

The devices measured in this section are fabricated on a Partially-Depleted (PD) Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) $0.25 \ \mu m$ academic technology and on a Fully-Depleted (FD) SOI $0.15 \ \mu m$ industrial technology.

For the PD devices, results presented in this work are for classical nMOS devices of 0.25 and 0.5 μ m and for a GCMOS device of 0.5 μ m channel lengths. All of the three devices are n-type and feature gates with 12 parallel fingers each of which has a 13.2 μ m width. The silicon film, the buried oxide (BOX) and the gate polysilicon thicknesses are 100, 400, and 200 nm, respectively. The ratio of the low-doped channel length to the total channel length ($L_{\rm LD}/L$) is approximately 0.5 [145]. The threshold voltage is 0.4 V in the case of L = 0.5 μ m (for both GCMOS and classical nMOS) and 0.5 V in the case of L = 0.25 μ m classical nMOS device. All noise measurements are performed while keeping the transistor in saturation ($V_{\rm DS} = 1.2$ V) and varying $V_{\rm GS}$ from 0.5 to 1.5 V.

Fig. 6.5a shows the measured current gain cutoff frequency f_T and the dc transconductance g_m for the PD GCMOS and classical nMOS transistors. A better performance for both f_T and g_m is clearly noticed for the case of GCMOS. This is in agreement with already reported better performance of GCMOS compared to classical nMOS [143–148] and is very critical for the better RF noise performance as will be shown hereafter.

For the FD technology, two devices are considered in this work. A classical n-type MOSFET device (nMOS) with a drawn channel length equals to 0.15 μ m and 96 parallel fingers of 2.5 μ m width each. The second device is a GCMOS (n-type) with a drawn channel length equals to 0.24 μ m and 48 parallel fingers of 5 μ m width each. The designed ratio $L_{\rm LD}/L$ is 0.5. Both devices are fabricated on the same wafer through the same industrial process [155, 159–162]. A slight

difference is noticed for the threshold voltage V_T for GCMOS and classical nMOS with values equal to 0.62 V and 0.65 V, respectively. This slight difference is compensated by presenting all figures of merit in this section as a function of the normalized drain current density $I_{\rm DS}$, i.e. normalized with respect to the total gate width.

Fig. 6.5b shows the current gain cutoff frequency f_T and the dc transconductance g_m for the FD GCMOS and classical nMOS transistors. The superior performance of the classical nMOS in dc and RF could be related to a slight shift in the $L_{\rm LD}/L$ ratio due to a lateral diffusion of dopants from the heavily doped part. In practice, the dc and RF performances of a GCMOS of a drawn channel length L are usually higher than the dc and RF performances of a classical MOSFET of a channel length L but slightly lower than that of a channel length $L_{\rm eff}$ [145, 154].



(a) PD GCMOS and classical nMOS of L = (b) FD GCMOS ($L = 0.24 \ \mu\text{m}$) and classical 0.5 μm . (b) FD GCMOS ($L = 0.15 \ \mu\text{m}$).

Fig. 6.5.: Measured current gain cutoff frequency f_T and dc transconductance g_m as a function of the drain current density $I_{\rm DS}$ for GCMOS and classical nMOS in PD and FD technologies.

6.5.5 Intrinsic Noise Performance

The intrinsic experimental noise performance is first presented in this section in order to provide a basic understanding of the advantage of using GCMOS devices over classical nMOS devices.

Tuner measurements give the four noise parameters $(NF_{\min}, R_n, \text{ and } Y_{\text{opt}} = G_{\text{opt}} + jB_{\text{opt}})$ for each device and at each selected frequency point.

First, a 1-step (Open) de-embedding procedure is applied to withdraw the pad parasitics network influence on noise parameters using the correlation matrix technique as explained in Appendix B. Next, the procedure using [89] is used to remove the effect of the Nyquist noise in the extrinsic resistances (R_g , R_d , and R_s), and thus obtain what is referred to as the intrinsic noise parameters (see Appendix B). Extrinsic resistances are extracted from measured S-parameters using the Cold-FET method [163]. The results for both PD and FD devices are shown in Table 6.1 (Note that the values shown for PD devices are for channel length $L = 0.5 \ \mu m$). In a first step, the measured intrinsic noise parameters are presented, and then the extraction of the three-parameter noise model is shown.

 $R_{\rm g}$ (Ω) $R_{\rm s}$ (Ω) $R_{\rm d}$ (Ω) GCMOS 3.83.3 PD nMOS 3.83.3GCMOS 3 1.73.7FD 2.952.4nMOS 1

Table 6.1.: Extrinsic resistances of both GCMOS and classical nMOS devices extracted using the Cold-FET method.

6.5.5.1 Intrinsic Noise Parameters

Fig. 6.6 shows the intrinsic noise parameters as a function of drain current density $I_{\rm DS}$ for PD devices. The intrinsic minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$ (Fig. 6.6a) of the GCMOS device shows an interesting reduction compared to the intrinsic $NF_{\rm min}$ of the classical nMOS device where both of which have the same geometry. This better noise performance is more pronounced in the low current region, which is interesting for low-voltage low-power applications. However, the intrinsic associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$ (Fig. 6.6a) of the GCMOS shows relatively lower performance compared to the classical nMOS.

In the low-voltage low-power regime of operation, a slightly lower G_{opt} and $|B_{\text{opt}}|$ are observed in the case of GCMOS (Fig. 6.6b), which is indicative of a slightly greater difficulty in satisfying noise matching. However, R_n (Fig. 6.6c) is lower for GCMOS, yielding a lower sensitivity of noise figure mismatch from optimum source impedance.

These intrinsic results are in complete accordance and provide experimental evidence of trends described in [150] where the authors used TCAD simulations for bulk and PD SOI devices.

As for the FD devices, the comparison is more aggressive, since a 0.24 μ m channel length GCMOS is being compared to a 0.15 μ m channel length classical nMOS. Nevertheless, as seen from Fig. 6.7a, the GCMOS device shows a comparable intrinsic $NF_{\rm min}$ behavior over a wide range of operation, especially at low current densities. The intrinsic associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$ follows the same trend noticed for PD devices with a relatively higher difference between the two devices compared to the PD case.

The intrinsic optimum noise impedance Y_{opt} shown in Fig. 6.7b in its real and imaginary parts does not show a big difference between the two FD devices. As a result, a comparable noise matching characteristics can be achieved. The same applies for the intrinsic equivalent noise resistance R_n shown in Fig. 6.7c.



Fig. 6.6.: Intrinsic measured four noise parameters and associated gain as a function of normalized drain current $I_{\rm DS}$ for the PD GCMOS and classical nMOS at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.2$ V and frequency = 6 GHz.

6.5.5.2 Three-parameter PRC Noise Model

In addition to the four intrinsic noise parameters presented in section 6.5.5.1 for the different devices, the extraction of Pucel's 3-parameter (P, R, and C) noise model [100, 113, 114] is of interest and should provide more insight in understanding this favoured noise performance of GCMOS over classical nMOS device.

PRC noise parameters can simply be obtained from induced gate noise current $\overline{i_g^2}$, drain noise current $\overline{i_d^2}$, their cross-correlation $\overline{i_g i_d^*}$ [164], and the intrinsic admittance parameters (Y_{11} and Y_{21}):

$$\overline{i_g^2} = 4kT_{\rm a} \frac{|Y_{11}|^2}{|Y_{21}|} R\Delta f \tag{6.40}$$

$$\overline{i_d^2} = 4kT_a |Y_{21}| P\Delta f \tag{6.41}$$

$$\overline{i_g i_d^*} = jC \sqrt{\overline{i_g^2} \, \overline{i_d^2}} \tag{6.42}$$

where $T_{\rm a}$ is the ambient temperature. Throughout, it is assumed that $T_{\rm a}$ is equivalent to the standard noise temperature T_0 , thus $T_{\rm a} = T_0 = 290$ K.



Fig. 6.7.: Intrinsic measured four noise parameters and associated gain as a function of normalized drain current $I_{\rm DS}$ for the FD GCMOS and classical nMOS at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.5$ V and frequency = 6 GHz.

As mentioned earlier, P, R, and C are dimensionless and they depend on the physical properties of the device. They are bias dependent and frequency independent.

Fig. 6.8a shows the PRC noise parameters as a function of drain current density for PD devices. The value of P is more or less similar for both devices whereas the value of R is higher for GCMOS, indicating a higher capacitive coupling between diffusion channel noise and the gate (note that this same result was obtained using TCAD simulations [150]). Higher values of C for GCMOS are clearly observed (nearly double the values of C for the classical nMOS), which is the main reason as why the $NF_{\rm min}$ of GCMOS outperforms the $NF_{\rm min}$ of classical nMOS. This fact is discussed in detail in section 6.5.5.3 when analytical expressions are considered.

For the FD devices, Fig. 6.8b shows the extracted values of P, R, and C. The values of P and R are quite comparable for both devices and they follow the theoretical expectations; R has a value around 0.2 for nMOS and around 0.4 for GCMOS whereas P varies linearly with increasing I_{DS} [164]. For the classical nMOS, a value of the correlation factor C around 0.4 is found, which is typical in the case of classical MOSFETs [83]. On the other hand, for GCMOS, the value of C is nearly twice its value for classical nMOS, starting from 0.8 and slightly

increasing with the increase of I_{DS} . Again, this double value of C is shown later (section 6.5.5.3) as the direct explanation of the better NF_{\min} for the case of GCMOS.



Fig. 6.8.: *PRC* parameters as a function of normalized drain current I_{DS} for PD and FD GCMOS and classical nMOS in saturation region at frequency = 6 GHz.

6.5.5.3 Analytical Expressions

 NF_{\min} . The analysis of the previously shown intrinsic results is based on the following analytical formula [113]:

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + \frac{\sqrt{\bar{i}_g^2 \ \bar{i}_d^2}}{2kT_0 G_{\min}\Delta f} \sqrt{1 - C^2}$$
(6.43)

where G_{mi} is the intrinsic transconductance calculated from the real part of the intrinsic admittance parameter Y_{21} .

The second term of (6.43) can be regarded as the product of two parts, i.e. $\sqrt{\frac{i}{i^2}i^2}$

 $\frac{\sqrt{\overline{i_g^2} \ \overline{i_d^2}}}{2kT_0G_{mi}\Delta f}$ and $\sqrt{1-C^2}$. By plotting both parts as a function of the drain $\sqrt{\overline{z_2} \ \overline{z^2}}$

current density (Fig. 6.9), it is clear that $\frac{\sqrt{i_g^2} i_d^2}{2kT_0G_{mi}\Delta f}$ (left axis) is quite similar

for both devices while $\sqrt{1-C^2}$ (right axis) shows an obvious difference between GCMOS and classical nMOS. This constitutes an experimental evidence of the role of the correlation coefficient. The origin of the better NF_{\min} performance for GCMOS compared to classical nMOS is clearly related to the higher correlation coefficient C in the case of GCMOS.

6.5.6 Extrinsic Noise Performance

The previous section showed a favourable noise performance of GCMOS over classical nMOS in its intrinsic form. This trend should be confirmed looking at the extrinsic noise parameters, based on raw measurements without removing



Fig. 6.9.: Verification of the effect of the correlation coefficient C in both PD and FD GCMOS and classical nMOS in saturation region at frequency = 6 GHz.

the effect of extrinsic resistances. They are obtained directly from Tuner measurements (after Open de-embedding). Minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$ as well as associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$ are shown in Fig. 6.10a for PD devices and in Fig. 6.10b for FD devices. For PD devices, the difference between $NF_{\rm min}$ of GCMOS and classical nMOS in Fig. 6.10a is found to be bigger compared to its intrinsic case shown in Fig. 6.6a. It can also be seen that associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$ is reduced more in classical nMOS relative to GCMOS when comparing extrinsic to intrinsic cases. The same observations apply for the FD devices when comparing intrinsic values of $NF_{\rm min}$ and $G_{\rm ass}$ in Fig. 6.7a and the extrinsic case in Fig. 6.10b.



Fig. 6.10.: Extrinsic minimum noise figure NF_{\min} and extrinsic associated gain G_{ass} as a function of drain current density I_{DS} for both PD and FD GCMOS

and classical nMOS in saturation region at frequency = 6 GHz.

The difference in the sensitivity of NF_{\min} to the thermal noise of the extrinsic resistances between GCMOS and classical nMOS can be explained using the formula [114]:

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + \frac{2f}{f_T} \sqrt{PR\left(1 - C^2\right) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)\left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}\right)g_m} \quad (6.44)$$

In order to check its accuracy, a comparison of (6.44) with experimental data is given in Fig. 6.10a for PD devices. The impact of extrinsic resistances is quantified by the term $(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR})(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s})g_m$. Given the higher correlation factor C in the case of GCMOS compared to classical nMOS, the lower impact of thermal noise featured by extrinsic resistances $(R_{\rm g} \text{ and } R_{\rm s})$ on the $NF_{\rm min}$ of GCMOS is obvious.

This important result shows that the benefit of higher C for NF_{\min} is not limited to the intrinsic noise contribution [i.e. $PR(1-C^2)$ in (6.44)] but it also affects the sensitivity of NF_{\min} to the thermal noise of the extrinsic resistances.

To have a complete picture, a comparison between all noise parameters in their extrinsic and intrinsic forms as well as the percentage of change in each parameter (relative to the intrinsic case) for the PD devices are summarized in Table 6.2 where values are given at a frequency of 6 GHz and $I_{\rm DS} = 50$ mA/mm.

Table 6.2.: Sensitivity of noise parameters to extrinsic resistances in both PD GCMOS and PD classical nMOS of 0.5 μ m channel length (NF_{\min} is presented in linear not in dB).

		NF_{\min}	$G_{\rm ass}$	$G_{\rm opt}$	$ B_{\rm opt} $	R_n
GCMOS	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Intrinsic} \\ \text{Extrinsic} \\ \Delta\% \end{array}$	$1.197 \\ 1.322 \\ 10.4$	$11.03 \\ 10.37 \\ -5.98$	$3.91 \\ 4.66 \\ 19.2$	$8.29 \\ 6.69 \\ -19.3$	24.77 31.75 28.2
nMOS	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Intrinsic} \\ \text{Extrinsic} \\ \Delta\% \end{array}$	$1.336 \\ 1.565 \\ 17.1$	$12.76 \\ 10.53 \\ -17.5$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.95 \\ 6.24 \\ 26.1 \end{array}$	$11.85 \\ 9.7 \\ -18.14$	$30.42 \\ 37.78 \\ 24.2$

6.5.7 Validity of the Two-parameter Model

It has been shown through TCAD simulations, physical analysis and experimental results that GCMOS devices are characterized by a very high correlation between the drain current noise source and the induced gate noise source. This was also proven through the extraction of the three-parameter noise model of Pucel. It is therefore of increased interest to check the validity of the two-parameter noise model of Pospieszalski since, as shown earlier, it presumes two independent noise sources using voltage-current representation [165]. In other words, the twoparameter noise model presumes a zero correlation coefficient between the input gate noise voltage source and the output drain noise current source.

The fact that the noise sources in the two-parameter noise model are uncorrelated is equivalent to having the following relation between C, R, and P when considering the current-current representation:

$$C = \sqrt{\frac{R}{P}} \tag{6.45}$$

This relation reduces, *de facto*, Pucel's noise model to two parameters. In order to study the validity of (6.45), Danneville *et al.* [156] introduced a complete analytical study of noise models of III-V FETs using a uniform active line theory as well as a more realistic set of results obtained by using the software HELENA [166].

The two-parameter noise model of Pospieszalski has been widely used within the III-V research community as well as within the Si MOSFET research community [167–170]. Nevertheless, a clear study justifying the use of this noise model for MOSFETs has not been reported yet. The importance of such a study inherits from the fast growing trend to use the mainstream CMOS technology in high frequency (HF) applications. Recently, as a result of aggressive scaling, mainstream CMOS technology can provide higher cutoff frequencies than HEMTs [171] while offering more flexibility in terms of technological parameters (e.g. equivalent barrier thickness [171]), device architecture (e.g. gate structure), or even design methodologies. These advantages put the MOSFET ahead compared to other alternatives, such as HEMTs, as a preferred choice for HF applications.

Therefore, it is not only interesting to check the two-parameter noise model for GCMOS, but it is also quite important to introduce an experimental verification of this model for the current mainstream CMOS technology.

6.5.7.1 Mainstream CMOS Technology

In the mainstream CMOS technology, the channel is uniformly doped in the lateral direction, i.e. from source to drain, which is the case referred to in this chapter as classical MOSFET or classical nMOS.

In order to verify (6.45) in the case of classical MOSFETs, the value of the correlation coefficient C as well as $\sqrt{R/P}$ as a function of normalized drain current $I_{\rm DS}$ are shown in Fig. 6.11 for PD and FD devices. The value of the correlation coefficient C for nMOS is approximately 0.4, which is in complete agreement with the value predicted by van der Ziel [83], as mentioned before. It is also obvious that $\sqrt{R/P}$ is almost equal to C over the whole range of operation for the classical MOSFET both for PD and FD devices, i.e. from weak to strong inversion. It is worth to notice that the same results are obtained when using PRC values of bulk MOSFET calculated using TCAD simulations [150].

To further check the validity of (6.45), it is of interest to show the intrinsic noise parameters (after removing the effect of extrinsic resistance $R_{\rm g}$ and $R_{\rm s}$). The expressions of $NF_{\rm min}$, R_n , and $Y_{\rm opt}$ given in [150] and based on the analysis introduced in [114, 164] are employed to verify their dependency on C. $NF_{\rm min}$ is given by (6.44) in its general form, including the effect of the extrinsic resistances. For simplicity, it is repeated here along with the formulas of $G_{\rm opt}$, $B_{\rm opt}$, and R_n [164]:

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + \frac{2f}{f_T} \sqrt{PR(1 - C^2) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s})g_m} \quad (6.46)$$



Fig. 6.11.: Correlation coefficient C and $\sqrt{R/P}$ extracted at 6 GHz as a function of normalized drain current I_{DS} for PD and FD GCMOS and classical nMOS devices.

$$G_{\text{opt}} = \frac{\omega C_{\text{tot}}}{\left[P + \left(R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}\right)g_{m}\right]} \times \sqrt{PR\left(1 - C^{2}\right) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)\left(R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}\right)g_{m}}}$$
(6.47)

$$B_{\rm opt} = \frac{\omega C_{\rm tot}}{\left[P + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}\right)g_m\right]} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right) \tag{6.48}$$

$$R_n = R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m} \tag{6.49}$$

After removing the effect of extrinsic resistances (i.e. putting $R_{\rm g} = R_{\rm s} = 0$), the four noise parameters can simply be expressed as [150]:

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + \frac{2f}{f_T} \sqrt{PR(1 - C^2)}$$
(6.50)

$$G_{\rm opt} = \omega C_{\rm tot} \sqrt{\frac{R}{P} \left(1 - C^2\right)} \tag{6.51}$$

$$B_{\rm opt} = \omega C_{\rm tot} \left(C \sqrt{\frac{R}{P}} - 1 \right) \tag{6.52}$$

$$R_n = \frac{P}{g_m} \tag{6.53}$$

From (6.50)–(6.53), it is clear that, in contrary to NF_{\min} and Y_{opt} , R_n does not depend on C. On the other hand, instead of reporting Y_{opt} , it is preferred, from the circuit design point of view, to present Γ_{opt} (the optimum input reflection coefficient) in a Smith chart representation where:

$$\Gamma_{\rm opt} = \frac{1 - 50 \times Y_{\rm opt}}{1 + 50 \times Y_{\rm opt}} \tag{6.54}$$

 NF_{\min} , R_n , and Γ_{opt} are calculated using:

- Pucel's PRC noise model using (6.50)-(6.53) which was shown to give good agreement with measured data (see Fig. 6.10a);
- Equation (6.45) to define C (and then substitute in (6.50)-(6.53)).

The results are then shown in Fig. 6.12 for the PD GCMOS and classical nMOS.

A perfect match is noticed between the values of NF_{\min} and Γ_{opt} obtained from Pucel's *PRC* noise model and the values calculated when using (6.45) as an assumption. The independence of R_n on *C* is confirmed in Fig. 6.12a where lines and symbols are seen to completely coincide.

These results clearly show that "two" noise parameters are sufficient to fully model/extract the four noise parameters $(NF_{\min}, R_n, \text{ and } Y_{\text{opt}})$ featured by a classical MOSFET, independently on the chosen noise model (i.e. the extraction of P and R using Pucel's noise model or the extraction of T_g and T_d using Pospieszalski's noise model). It justifies as well why a simple noise figure measurement (as a function of frequency), using the F50 method, is sufficient to extract the four noise parameters [167–169, 172, 173].



Fig. 6.12.: An illustration of the validity of the two-parameter model by representing R_n , NF_{\min} , and Γ_{opt} calculated once using PRC model and then using (6.45) for PD GCMOS and classical nMOS at 6 GHz in saturation region.

6.5.7.2 GCMOS

In a GCMOS, unlike classical MOSFET, Fig. 6.11 shows that C is not equal but higher than $\sqrt{R/P}$ over the whole range of operation (again, the same result is obtained using PRC values of bulk MOSFET calculated from TCAD simulations [150]).

It is also of interest to evaluate the potential impact of employing the assumption of (6.45) in the case of GCMOS. In the case of $NF_{\rm min}$ (Fig. 6.12b), it turns out that an error as high as 0.2 dB (at $I_{\rm DS} = 50$ mA/mm and frequency = 6 GHz) is observed when comparing the values extracted using Pucel's *PRC* noise model and the values calculated assuming (6.45). Moreover, the values of $\Gamma_{\rm opt}$ extracted using Pucel's *PRC* noise model are quite different from those calculated assuming (6.45) (Fig. 6.12c). This means that if (6.45) is used for a GCMOS, an important noise mismatch would occur when designing a low noise amplifier (LNA), leading to an important degradation of the LNA noise figure. From this study, it turns out that the use of Pucel's 3-parameter noise model (*PRC*) is required when studying the HF noise performance of a GCMOS. This result is not limited to novel devices like GCMOS, but also for state-of-the-art technologies, whenever a perfect uniformly doped channel is difficult to achieve.

It is worth noticing that Γ_{opt} for GCMOS is closer to the 50 Ω circle on the Smith chart than the Γ_{opt} of the calssical nMOS. This gives an indication of better matching with other stages in the circuit. The reason could be attributed to the shorter effective channel length of the GCMOS, hence a less inductive channel at lower values of current density (better for LVLP applications). At higher values of current density, both devices show relatively the same behavior.

6.5.8 Scaling

As can be seen from Fig. 6.13a, the 0.5 μ m length PD GCMOS shows lower f_T and g_m than the 0.25 μ m length PD nMOS devices. Nevertheless, the minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$ (extrinsic) of 0.5 μ m GCMOS competes with the 0.25 μ m nMOS as shown in Fig. 6.13b (especially for $I_{\rm DS}$ lower than 100 mA/mm). At $I_{\rm DS} = 50$ mA/mm, the 0.25 μ m classical nMOS features f_T of 31 GHz, nearly double that of the GCMOS (18 GHz), whereas both values of $NF_{\rm min}$ are almost the same i.e. 1.17 dB and 1.21 dB, respectively, at 6 GHz. This interesting scaling trend is explained by the lower sensitivity of GCMOS to extrinsic thermal noise effects described earlier.

One may argue that these similar values of $NF_{\rm min}$ are due to the fact that the value of $R_{\rm g}$ for the 0.25 μ m classical nMOS is twice that of the 0.5 μ m GCMOS i.e. 7.6 and 3.8 Ω , respectively. However, it should also be noted that the value of f_T of the classical nMOS is almost twice that of the GCMOS. Therefore, it is expected that the downscaling would have a greater impact on the increase of f_T while keeping very low values of $NF_{\rm min}$ in the case of GCMOS by comparison with the classical nMOS device.



177

CONCLUSION

(a) Scaling in current gain cutoff frequency (b) Scaling in extrinsic (measured) NF_{\min} f_T and dc transconductance g_m . and G_{ass} .

Fig. 6.13.: Scaling effects on PD GCMOS and classical nMOS presented for the saturation region ($V_{\rm DS} = 1.2$ V and frequency = 6 GHz).

6.6 CONCLUSION

Channel engineering, as presented in this chapter using the GCMOS concept, proves to be very useful in enhancing RF noise performance. The experimental extraction of the *PRC* noise parameters has confirmed that this interesting behavior is related to the increased correlation coefficient *C* in GCMOS devices, which then leads to a reduction in the minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$. Although a slight reduction in the associated gain $G_{\rm ass}$ is noticed for GCMOS devices, this will not affect low power applications, as it starts to become critical only at higher currents. It has also been shown that this higher correlation coefficient *C* means that $NF_{\rm min}$ is less sensitive to the thermal noise in the case of GCMOS by comparison with the case of the classical nMOS device. The superior RF noise performance of GCMOS compared to classical MOSFETs is also confirmed for the 0.15 μ m fully-depleted industrial technology.

The concept of a "two-parameter noise model" has clearly been validated for a classical MOSFET (mainstream CMOS), a device widely used in the HF domain, provided that the channel uniformity is ensured. Nevertheless, in the case of an asymmetric channel MOSFET (such as a GCMOS), whose noise physics is very different from the classical MOSFET, it has been shown that a three-parameter noise model is more appropriate.

Finally, the scaling advantage of GCMOS has been clearly highlighted, thus enabling the design of low-noise circuits at lower costs using currently well understood and stable technologies.

Bibliography

- [1] Meriam-Webster Dictionary. [Online]. Available: http://www. merriam-webster.com
- [2] Online Etymology Dictionary. [Online]. Available: http://www. etymonline.com
- [3] H. Schmidgen, "Time and noise: the stable surroundings of reaction experiments, 1860-1890," Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part C: Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 237–275, Jun. 2003.
- [4] P. Payer, "The age of noise early reactions in vienna, 1870–1914," Journal of Urban History, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 773–793, Jul. 2007.
- [5] L. P. Crecelius, "Sixty-cycle synchronous converters," Trans. of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers, vol. XXXIII, no. 1, pp. 353–365, Jan. 1914.
- [6] C. S. McDowell and D. M. Mahood, "Electric heating as applied to marine service," *Trans. of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers*, vol. XXXIII, no. 1, pp. 839–855, Jan. 1914.
- [7] B. G. Lamme, "Physical limitations in D-C. commutating machinery," *Trans. of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers*, vol. XXXIV, no. 2, pp. 1739–1800, Jul. 1915.
- [8] F. T. Chapman, "The production of noise and vibration by certain squirrelcage induction motors," *Journal of the Institution of Electrical Engineers*, vol. 61, no. 313, pp. 39–48, Dec. 1922.
- [9] R. Bown, C. R. Englund, and H. T. Friis, "Radio transmission measurements," Proc. IRE, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 115–152, Apr. 1923.
- [10] L. P. Ferris and R. G. McCurdy, "Telephone circuit unbalances determination of magnitude and location," *Trans. of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers*, vol. XLIII, pp. 1331–1347, Jan. 1924.
- [11] L. Espenschied, C. N. Anderson, and A. Bailey, "Transatlantic radio telephone transmission," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 7–56, Feb. 1926.
- [12] W. Schottky, "On spontaneous current fluctuations in different electricital conductors," Annals of Physics, vol. 362 (original: 57), no. 23, pp. 541–567, 1918, in German (Über spontane Stromschwankungen in verschiedenen Elektrizitätsleitern, Annalen der Physik).
- [13] J. A. Gubner. (1997, Sep.) A brief history of shot noise. Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Wisconsin. [Online]. Available: http://gubner.ece.wisc.edu/fpphist.shtml

- [14] N. Campbell, "The study of discontinuous phenomena," Proc. Cambr. Phil. Soc, vol. 15, pp. 117–136, 1909.
- [15] —, "Discontinuities in light emission," Proc. Cambr. Phil. Soc, vol. 15, pp. 310–328, 1909.
- [16] C. A. Hartmann, "Determining the elementary electric charge from the shot effect," Annals of Physics, vol. 370 (original: 65), no. 9, pp. 51–78, 1921, in German (Über die Bestimmung des elektrischen Elementarquantums aus dem Schroteffekt, Annalen der Physik).
- [17] J. B. Johnson, "Note to the determination of electrical elementary quantum from the shot effect," Annals of Physics, vol. 372 (original: 67), no. 2, pp. 154–156, 1922, in German (Bemerkung zur Bestimmung des elektrischen Elementarquantums aus dem Schroteffekt, Annalen der Physik).
- [18] W. Schottky, "For calculating and assessing the shotgun effect," Annals of Physics, vol. 373 (original: 68), no. 10, pp. 157–176, 1922, in German (Zur Berechnung und Beurteilung des Schroteffektes, Annalen der Physik).
- [19] R. Fuirth, "The determination of the electronic charge from the shot effect of hot cathode plates," *Physical Journal*, vol. 23, pp. 354–362, Sep. 1922, in German (Die Bestimmung der Elektronenladung aus dem Schroteffekt an Glühkathodenröhren, Physikalische Zeitschrift).
- [20] L. S. Ornstein and H. C. Burger, "On the theory of shot-effect," Annals of Physics, vol. 375 (original: 70), no. 8, pp. 622–624, 1923, in German (Zur Theorie des Schroteffekts, Annalen der Physik).
- [21] A. W. Hull and N. H. Williams, "Determination of elementary charge e from measurements of shot-effect," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 147–173, Feb. 1925.
- [22] T. C. Fry, "The theory of the schroteffekt," Journal of the Franklin Institute, vol. 199, pp. 203–220, Feb. 1925, schroteffekt = shot effect.
- [23] J. B. Johnson, "The schottky effect in low-frequency circuits," Phys. Rev., vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 71–85, Jul. 1925.
- [24] N. R. Campbell, "The theory of the 'schrot-effect'," Philosophical Magazine, vol. 50, no. 295, pp. 81–86, Jul. 1925.
- [25] W. Schottky, "Small-shot effect and flicker effect," Phys. Rev., vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 74–103, Jul. 1926.
- [26] N. H. Williams and H. B. Vincent, "Determination of electronic charge from measurements of shot-effect in aperiodic circuits," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1250–1264, Dec. 1926.

- [27] S. Ballantine, "Shot effect in high-frequency circuits," Journal of the Franklin Institute, vol. 206, no. 2, pp. 159–167, Aug. 1928.
- [28] N. H. Williams and W. S. Huxford, "Determination of the charge of positive thermions from measurements of shot effect," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 773–788, May 1929.
- [29] J. J. S. Donal, "Abnormal shot effect of ions of tungstous and tungstic oxide," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 1172–1189, Oct. 1930.
- [30] H. N. Kozanowski and N. H. Williams, "Shot effect of the emission from oxide cathodes," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 1314–1329, Oct. 1930.
- [31] N. P. Case, "Receiver design for minimum fluctuation noise," Proc. IRE, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 963–970, Jun. 1931.
- [32] J. B. Johnson, "Thermal agitation of electricity in conductors," Nature, vol. 119, pp. 50–51, Jan. 1927.
- [33] —, "Thermal agitation of electricity in conductors," Phys. Rev., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 97–109, Jul. 1928.
- [34] H. Nyquist, "Thermal agitation of electric charge in conductors," Phys. Rev., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 110–113, Jul. 1928.
- [35] F. B. Llewellyn, "A study of noise in vacuum tubes and attached circuits," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 243–265, Feb. 1930.
- [36] H. T. Friis, "Noise figures in radio receivers," Proc. IRE, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 419–422, Jul. 1944.
- [37] S. Ballantine, "Fluctuation noise in radio receivers," Proc. IRE, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 1377–1387, Aug. 1930.
- [38] F. B. Llewellyn, "A rapid method of estimating the signal-to-noise ratio of a high gain receiver," Proc. IRE, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 416–420, Mar. 1931.
- [39] H. S. Sommers, P. R. Weiss, and W. Halpern, "Conversion of a motor generator into a low noise power amplifier," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 244–251, Apr. 1949.
- [40] S. Ballantine, "Fluctuation noise due to collision ionization in electronic amplifier tubes," *Physics*, vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 294–306, Sep. 1933.
- [41] R. Kompfner, J. Hatton, E. E. Schneider, and L. A. G. Dresel, "The transmission-line diode as noise source at centimetre wavelengths," *Jour*nal of the Institution of Electrical Engineers - Part IIIA: Radiolocation, vol. 93, no. 9, pp. 1436–1442, 1946.
- [42] D. O. North, "The absolute sensitivity of radio receivers," RCA Rev., vol. 6, pp. 332–344, Jan. 1942.

- [43] D. O. North and H. T. Friis, "Discussion on "noise figures of radio receivers" (H. T. Friis)," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 125–127, Feb. 1945.
- [44] D. K. C. MacDonald, "A note on two definitions of noise figure in radio receivers," *Philosophical Magazine*, vol. 35, no. 245, pp. 386–395, Jun. 1944.
- [45] M. J. O. Strutt, "Noise-figure reduction in mixer stages," Proc. IRE, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 942–950, Dec. 1946.
- [46] K. Fraenz, "On the limit of sensitivity at the reception of short waves and its attainability," *Elek. Nach. Tech.*, vol. 16, pp. 92–96, 1939, in German.
- [47] —, "Measurements of receiver sensitivity at ultra-short waves," Zeit. Hoch. und Elek., vol. 59, pp. 105–112,143–144, 1942, in German.
- [48] W. Kleen, "Gain and sensitivity of ultra-short and decimeter wave reception valves," *Die Telefunkenrohre*, no. 23, pp. 273–296, 1941, in German.
- [49] H. Rothe and W. Kleen, Electron Valves as Entrance-Stage Amplifiers, 2nd ed. Leipzig: Alcademischer Verlag, 1944, no. 23, ch. Diode Mixers/Noise Figures, pp. 231–235,330 – 336, in German.
- [50] M. J. O. Strutt and A. van der Ziel, "Reduction of the effects of spontaneous fluctuations in amplifiers for meter and decimeter waves," *Physica* (*Hague*), vol. 9, pp. 1003–1012, 1942, in German.
- [51] —, "Reduction of the effects of spontaneous fluctuations in amplifiers for meter and decimeter waves," *Physica (Hague)*, vol. 10, pp. 823–826, 1943, in German.
- [52] E. W. Herold and L. Mautner, "The signal-to-noise ratio of radio receivers," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 501–510, Sep. 1943.
- [53] Wikipedia. [Online]. Available: http://en.wikipedia.org
- [54] Oxford English Dictionary. [Online]. Available: http://www.askoxford. com
- [55] Cambridge Dictionary Online. [Online]. Available: http://dictionary. cambridge.org
- [56] A. van der Ziel, Noise in Solid State Devices and Circuits. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1986.
- [57] K. K. Hung, P. K. Ko, C. Hu, and Y. C. Cheng, "A unified model for the flicker noise in metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 654–665, Mar. 1990.

- [58] S. Christensson, I. Lundstrom, and C. Svensson, "Low frequency noise in MOS transistors–I theory," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 797–812, Sep. 1968.
- [59] F. Berz, "Theory of low frequency noise in Si MOST's," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 631–647, May 1970.
- [60] S. T. Hsu, "Surface state related 1/f noise in MOS transistors," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 1451–1459, Nov. 1970.
- [61] H. S. Fu and C. T. Sah, "Theory and experiments on surface 1/f noise," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 273–285, Feb. 1972.
- [62] Z. Celik and T. Y. Hsiang, "Study of 1/f noise in N-MOSFET's: Linear region," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 2797–2802, Dec. 1985.
- [63] C. Surya and T. Y. Hsiang, "Theory and experiment on the $1/f^{\gamma}$ noise in p-channel metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors at low drain bias," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 4898–4905, Apr. 1986.
- [64] A. L. McWhorter, "1/f noise and germanium surface properties," in Semiconductor Surface Physics. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1957, p. 207.
- [65] L. K. J. Vandamme, "Model for 1/f noise in MOS transistors biased in the linear region," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 317–323, Apr. 1980.
- [66] L. K. J. Vandamme and H. M. M. de Werd, "1/f noise model for MOSTs biased in nonohmic region," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 325–329, Apr. 1980.
- [67] T. G. M. Kleinpenning and L. K. J. Vandamme, "Model for 1/f noise in metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 1594–1596, Mar. 1981.
- [68] F. N. Hooge, "1/f noise is no surface effect," Phys. Lett., vol. 29A, no. 3, pp. 139–140, Apr. 1969.
- [69] —, "1/f noise," Physica, vol. 83B, no. 1, pp. 14–23, May 1976.
- [70] —, "1/f noise sources," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1926–1935, Nov. 1994.
- [71] H. Mikoshiba, "1/f noise in n-channel silicon-gate MOS transistors," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 965–970, Jun. 1982.
- [72] L. K. J. Vandamme, Xiaosong Li, and D. Rigaud, "1/f noise in MOS devices, mobility or number fluctuations?" *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1936–1945, Nov. 1994.
- [73] A. van der Ziel, "Thermal noise in field effect transistors," Proc. IRE, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 1808 – 1812, Aug. 1962.
- [74] —, "Theory of noise in field effect transistors," IRE Trans. on Electron Devices, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 507–507, Nov. 1962.
- [75] —, "Thermal noise at high frequencies," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 399–401, May 1950.
- [76] —, "Shot noise in semiconductors," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 222–223, Feb. 1953.
- [77] —, "An equivalent circuit for the noise in VHF triodes," Trans. of the IRE Professional Group on Electron Devices, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 72–75, Apr. 1954.
- [78] —, "Theory of shot noise in junction diodes and junction transistors," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 43, no. 11, pp. 1639–1646, Nov. 1955.
- [79] W. Guggenbuehl and M. J. O. Strutt, "Theory and experiments on shot noise in semiconductor junction diodes and transistors," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 839–854, Jun. 1957.
- [80] G. H. Hanson and A. van der Ziel, "Shot noise in transistors," Proc. IRE, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 1538–1542, Nov. 1957.
- [81] A. van der Ziel and A. G. T. Becking, "Theory of junction diode and junction transistor noise," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 589–594, Mar. 1958.
- [82] A. van der Ziel, "Noise in junction transistors," Proc. IRE, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 1019–1038, Jun. 1958.
- [83] —, "Gate noise in field effect transistors at moderately high frequencies," Proc. IEEE, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 461–467, Mar. 1963.
- [84] —, "Carrier density fluctuation noise in field-effect transistors," Proc. IEEE, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1670–1671, Nov. 1963.
- [85] A. van der Ziel and J. W. Ero, "Small-signal, high-frequency theory of field-effect transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 128–135, Apr. 1964.
- [86] H. Rothe and W. Dahlke, "Theory of noisy fourpoles," Proc. IRE, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 811–818, Jun. 1956.
- [87] H. A. Haus, W. R. Atkinson, G. M. Branch, W. B. Davenport, W. H. Fonger, W. A. Harris, S. W. Harrison, W. W. McLeod, E. K. Stodola, and T. E. Talpey, "Representation of noise in linear twoports," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 69–74, Jan. 1960.

- [88] "IRE standards on electron tubes: Definitions of terms, 1957," Proc. IRE, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 983–1010, Jul. 1957.
- [89] H. Hillbrand and P. H. Russer, "An efficient method for computer aided noise analysis of linear amplifier networks," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 235–238, Apr. 1976.
- [90] R. Q. Twiss, "Nyquist's and Thevenin's theorems generalized for nonreciprocal linear networks," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 599–602, May 1955.
- [91] W. Bennett, "Review of 'Nyquist's and Thevenin's theorems generalized for nonreciprocal linear networks'," *IRE Transactions on Circuit Theory*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 279–279, Sep. 1955.
- [92] M. Shoji, "Analysis of high-frequency thermal noise of enhancement mode MOS field-effect transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 520–524, Jun. 1966.
- [93] A. G. Jordan and N. A. Jordan, "Theory of noise in metal oxide semiconductor devices," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 148–156, Mar. 1965.
- [94] C. T. Sah, S. Y. Wu, and F. H. Hielscher, "The effects of fixed bulk charge on the thermal noise in metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 410–414, Apr. 1966.
- [95] F. M. Klaassen and J. Prins, "Thermal noise of M.O.S. transistors," *Philips Res. Rep.*, vol. 2, pp. 505–514, 1967.
- [96] F. M. Klaassen, "High-frequency noise of the junction field-effect transistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 368–373, Jul. 1967.
- [97] F. M. Klaassen and J. Prins, "Noise of field-effect transistors at very high frequencies," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 952–957, Nov. 1969.
- [98] F. M. Klaassen, "On the influence of hot carrier effects on the thermal noise of field-effect transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 858–862, Oct. 1970.
- [99] —, "Comments on hot carrier noise in field-effect transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 74–75, Jan. 1971.
- [100] R. A. Pucel, H. A. Haus, and H. Statz, "Signal and noise properties of gallium arsenide field effect transistors," in *Advances in Electronics and Electron Physics*. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1975, vol. 38, pp. 195–265.

- [101] J. Mavor, "Low-noise operation of m.o.s. transistors in common-gate connection," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 406–407, Sep. 1967.
- [102] H. E. Halladay and A. van der Ziel, "Test of the thermal-noise hypothesis in M.O.S.F.E.T.S," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 4, no. 17, pp. 366–367, Aug. 1968.
- [103] A. van der Ziel, "Equivalence of the noise figures of common-source and common-gate FET circuits," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 161–162, Apr. 1969.
- [104] —, "Representation of noise in linear two-ports," Proc. IEEE, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 1211–1211, Jun. 1969.
- [105] —, "Noise in junction- and MOS-FET's at high temperatures," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 861–866, Nov. 1969.
- [106] —, "Noise in solid-state devices and lasers," Proc. IEEE, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 1178–1206, Aug. 1970.
- [107] —, "Noise resistance of FET's in the hot electron regime," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 347–350, Apr. 1971.
- [108] E. Kirk, A. van der Ziel, E. Chenette, and C. Kim, "Induced gate noise in MOS FET's," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 945–948, Oct. 1971.
- [109] P. S. Rao and A. van der Ziel, "Noise and y-parameters in MOS FET's," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 939–944, Oct. 1971.
- [110] W. Baechtold, "Noise behavior of schottky barrier gate field-effect transistors at microwave frequencies," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 97–104, Feb. 1971.
- [111] —, "Noise behavior of GaAs field-effect transistors with short gate lengths," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 674–680, May 1972.
- [112] J. A. Turner and B. L. H. Wilson, "Implications of carrier velocity saturation in a gallium arsenide field-effect transistor," in *Proc. Symp. GaAs*, *Inst. Phys. and Phys. Soc.*, 1968, pp. 195–204.
- [113] H. Statz, H. A. Haus, and R. A. Pucel, "Noise characteristics of gallium arsenide field-effect transistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 549–562, Sep. 1974.
- [114] A. Cappy, "Noise modeling and measurement techniques," IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech., vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 1–10, Jan. 1988.

- [115] A. B. Grebenea and S. K. Ghandhi, "General theory for pinched operation of the junction-gate FET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 573– 589, Jul. 1969.
- [116] P. Lauritzen and J. O. Leistiko, "Field-effect transistors as low-noise amplifiers," in *IEEE Intl. Solid-State Circuits Conf.*, Dig. of Tech. Papers,, vol. V, Feb. 1962, pp. 62–63.
- [117] A. J. Scholten, L. F. Tiemeijer, R. van Langevelde, A. T. A. Z. R. J. Havens, and V. C. Venezia, "Noise modeling for RF CMOS circuit simulation," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 618–632, Mar. 2003.
- [118] J. C. J. Paasschens, A. J. Scholten, and R. van Langevelde, "Generalizations of klaassen-prins equation for calculating the noise of semiconductor devices," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 2463–2472, Nov. 2005.
- [119] G. Pailloncy, B. Iniguez, G. Dambrine, J.-P. Raskin, and F. Danneville, "Noise modelling in fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 813–825, May 2004.
- [120] M. W. Pospieszalski, "Modeling of noise parameters of MESFET's and MODFET's and their frequency and temperature dependence," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1340–1350, Sep. 1989.
- [121] —, "Modeling of noise parameters of MESFET's and MODFET's and their frequency and temperature dependence," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, vol. 1, Long Beach, CA, Jun. 13–15, 1989, pp. 385–388.
- [122] F. Danneville and G. Dambrine, "Noise modeling and measurement techniques in deep submicron silicon on insulator devices," in *Noise and Fluctuations Control in Electronic Devices*, A. A. Balandin, Ed. American Scientific Publishers, 2002.
- [123] B. Hughes, "A temperature noise model for extrinsic FETs," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1821–1832, Sep. 1992.
- [124] M. Gupta and P. T. Greiling, "Microwave noise characterization of GaAs MESFET's: Determination of extrinsic noise parameters," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 745–751, Apr. 1988.
- [125] G. Dambrine, H. Happy, F. Danneville, and A. Cappy, "A new method for on wafer noise measurement," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 375–381, Mar. 1993.
- [126] W. C. Bruncke, E. R. Chenette, and A. van der Ziel, "Transistor noise at low temperatures," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 50–53, Feb. 1964.

- [127] "Standards on electron devices: Methods of measuring noise," Proc. IRE, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 890–896, Jul. 1953.
- [128] "IRE standards on methods of measuring noise in linear twoports," Proc. IRE, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 60–68, Jan. 1960.
- [129] J. Lange, "Noise characterization of linear twoports in terms of invariant parameters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 37–40, Jun. 1967.
- [130] "Fundamentals of RF and microwave noise figure measurements," Application Note, Hewlett-Packard, Jul. 1983.
- [131] V. Adamian and A. Uhlir, "A novel procedure for receiver noise characterization," *IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 181–182, Jun. 1973.
- [132] A. C. Davidson, B. W. Leake, and E. Strid, "Accuracy improvements in microwave noise parameter measurements," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1973–1977, Dec. 1989.
- [133] R. Q. Lane, "The determination of device noise parameters," Proc. IEEE, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 1461–1462, Aug. 1969.
- [134] M. S. Gupta, O. Pitzalis, S. E. Rosembaum, and P. Greiling, "Microwave noise characterization of GaAs MESFET's by on-wafer measurement of the output noise current," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1208–1217, Dec. 1987.
- [135] H. Rhote and W. Dahlke, "Theory of noisy fourpoles," Proc. IRE, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 811–818, Jun. 1956.
- [136] T. A. DeMassa and D. G. Goddard, "Inhomogeneous channel resistivity field effect devices," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 14, no. 11, pp. 1107–1112, Nov. 1971.
- [137] T. A. DeMassa and G. T. Catalano, "The inhomogeneous channel FET: ICFET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 847–851, Aug. 1973.
- [138] T. A. DeMassa and S. R. Iyer, "Closed form solution for the linear graded channel JFET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 931–932, Nov. 1975.
- [139] —, "Thermal noise in the linear graded channel junction FET," Solid-State Electronics, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 933–935, Nov. 1975.
- [140] R. E. Williams and D. W. Shaw, "Graded channel FET's: Improve linearity and noise figure," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 600–605, Jun. 1975.

- [141] S. D. S. Malhi and C. A. T. Salama, "Cutoff frequency of a graded channel F.E.T." *Electronics Letters*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 261–263, Mar. 1980.
- [142] M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, V. Dessard, and D. Flandre, "An asymmetric channel SOI nMOSFET for reducing parasitic effects and improving output characteristics," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, no. 3, pp. 50–52, 2000.
- [143] M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, and D. Flandre, "Graded-channel fully depleted silicon-on-insulator nMOSFET for reducing the parasitic bipolar effects," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 917–922, Jun. 2000.
- [144] —, "Analog performance and application of graded-channel fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1219– 1222, Jul. 2000.
- [145] M. Dehan and J.-P. Raskin, "An asymmetric channel soi nMOSFET for improving DC and microwave characteristics," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1005–1011, Jul. 2002.
- [146] A. Kranti, T. M. Chung, D. Flandre, and J. P. Raskin, "Laterally asymmetric channel engineering in fully depleted double gate SOI MOSFETs for high performance analog applications," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 947–959, Jun. 2004.
- [147] A. Cerdeira, M. A. Alemán, M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, L. Vancaillie, and D. Flandre, "Advantages of the graded-channel SOI FD MOSFET for application as a quasi-linear resistor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 967–972, May 2005.
- [148] K. Narasimhulu, M. P. Desai, S. G. Narendra, and V. R. Rao, "The effect of LAC doping on deep submicrometer transistor capacitances and its influence on device RF performance," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1416–1423, Sep. 2004.
- [149] E. Simoen, C. Claeys, T. M. Chung, D. Flandre, M. A. Pavanello, J. A. Martino, and J.-P. Raskin, "The low-frequency noise behavior of graded-channel SOI n-MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 260–267, Feb. 2007.
- [150] T. C. Lim, R. Valentin, G. Dambrine, and F. Danneville, "MOSFETs RF noise optimization via channel engineering," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 118–121, Jan. 2008.
- [151] A. S. Roy, Y. S. Chauhan, C. C. Enz, and J.-M. Sallese, "Noise modeling in lateral asymmetric MOSFET," in *Proc. International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM'06)*, San Francisco, CA, Dec. 11–13, 2006, pp. 1–4.

- [152] A. S. Roy, C. C. Enz, and J.-M. Sallese, "Noise modeling in lateral nonuniform MOSFET," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1994– 2001, Aug. 2007.
- [153] A. S. Roy, C. C. Enz, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Impact of lateral asymmetry of MOSFETs on the gate-drain noise correlation," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 2268–2272, Aug. 2008.
- [154] M. Emam, P. Sakalas, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Experimental investigation of RF noise performance improvement in graded channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron De*vices, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 1516–1522, Jul. 2009.
- [155] M. Emam, P. Sakalas, A. Kumar, J. Ida, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, and F. Danneville, "Graded channel concept for improving RF noise of an industrial 0.15 μm SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc. European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conf. (EuMIC'10)*, Paris, France, Sep./Oct. 26–1, 2010, pp. 170–173.
- [156] F. Danneville, H. Happy, G. Dambrine, J.-M. Belquin, and A. Cappy, "Microscopic noise modeling and macroscopic noise models: How good a connection?" *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 779–786, May 1994.
- [157] A. S. Roy, C. C. Enz, and J.-M. Sallese, "Noise modeling methodologies in the presence of mobility degradation and their equivalence," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 348–355, Feb. 2006.
- [158] F. Bonani and G. Ghione, Noise in Semiconductor Devices : Modeling and Simulation, 3rd ed. Verlag Berlin Heidelberg: Springer, 2001.
- [159] M. Emam, A. Kumar, J. Ida, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "DC and RF temperature behaviour of deep submicron graded channel MOSFETs," in *Proc. International IEEE SOI Conference*, San Francisco, CA, Oct. 5–8, 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [160] M. Emam, M. A. Pavanello, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature effect on harmonic distortions in submicron graded-channel MOSFETs," in *Proc. of the 6th International SemOI Conference (SemOI'10)*, Kyiv, Ukraine, Oct. 25–28, 2010, pp. 119–120.
- [161] Oki Electric Industry Co., Ltd. [Online]. Available: http://www.oki.com
- [162] M. Emam, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "Graded channel MOS transistors for low power low voltage applications," in Proc. The Sixth Workshop of the Thematic Network on Silicon-on-Insulator technology, devices and circuits - EuroSOI'10, Grenoble, France, Jan. 25–27, 2010, pp. 113–114.

- [163] A. Bracale, V. Ferlet-Cavrois, N. Fel, D. Pasquet, J. L. Gautier, J.-L. Pelloie, and J. du Port de Poncharra, "A new approach for SOI devices small-signal parameters extraction," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 157–169, Nov. 2000.
- [164] F. Danneville, G. Pailloncy, A. Siligaris, B. Iniguez, and G. Dambrine, "High frequency noise of SOI MOSFETs: Performances and limitations," in *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 5844, May 2005, pp. 185–199.
- [165] M. Emam, P. Sakalas, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Thermal noise in MOSFETs: A two- or a threeparameter noise model?" *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1188–1191, May 2010.
- [166] H. Happy, O. Pribetich, G. Dambrine, J. Alamkan, Y. Cordia, and A. Cappy, "HELENA: A new software for the design of MMICs," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, vol. 2, Boston, MA, Jun. 10–14, 1991, pp. 627–630.
- [167] G. Dambrine, J.-P. Raskin, F. Danneville, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Colinge, and A. Cappy, "High-frequency four noise parameters of siliconon-insulator-based technology MOSFET for the design of low-noise RF integrated circuits," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1733– 1741, Aug. 1999.
- [168] A. Pascht, M. Grözing, D. Wiegner, and M. Berroth, "Small-signal and temperature noise model for MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 1927–1934, Aug. 2002.
- [169] H.-O. Vickes, M. Ferndahl, A. Masud, and H. Zirath, "The influence of the gate leakage current and the gate resistance on the noise and gain performances of 90-nm CMOS for micro- and millimeter-wave frequencies," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, vol. 2, Fort Worth, TX, Jun. 6–11, 2004, pp. 971–974.
- [170] J. Gao and A. Werthof, "Scalable small signal and noise modeling for deep submicron MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 737–744, Apr. 2009.
- [171] F. Schwierz, "The frequency limits of field-effect transistors: MOSFET vs. HEMT," in Proc. The 9th International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated-Circuit Technology (ICSICT'08), Bijing, China, Oct. 20– 23, 2008, pp. 1433–1436.
- [172] M. J. Deen, C.-H. Chen, S. Asgaran, G. A. Rezvani, J. Tao, and Y. Kiyota, "High frequency noise of modern MOSFETs: Compact modeling and measurement issues," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 2062–2081, Sep. 2006.

[173] S. Asgaran, M. J. Deen, C.-H. Chen, G. A. Rezvani, Y. Kamali, and Y. Kiyota, "Analytical determination of MOSFETs high-frequency noise parameters from NF50 measurements and its application in RFIC design," *IEEE Trans. Syst. Sci. Cybern.*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1034–1043, May 2007.

CHAPTER 7

RF ANTENNA SWITCH

The RF antenna switch has the function of regulating the pass of the signal from/to the antenna to/from the low-noise amplifier (LNA) and the power amplifier (PA) in a RF wireless communication system. The ideal RF antenna switch would completely pass the signal in one path while completely isolating the signal from the other path. However, this performance is practically difficult to achieve. An optimization should be achieved between a semi-complete delivery of the signal with a certain Insertion Loss, while semi-complete isolation of the signal on the other path. Another important specification of the RF antenna switch is its nonlinear behavior described by its IP_3 and P_{1-dB} .

7.1 INTRODUCTION

Wireless communications started in the year 1880 when Alexander Graham Bell and Charles Sumner Tainter invented and patented their photophone, a device that facilitates audio conversations using wireless modulated light beams. However, the wireless communication experienced a boom during the few last decades due to the commercialization of consumer products with the cellular/mobile phone as the most famous example. As the wireless communication market grows with big steps, especially for consumer applications, portability is becoming an insisting need. Size and power consumption are meant to be drastically reduced.

Putting the whole wireless communication system on a single integrated chip is not anymore an option, rather a pushing requirement. In its most simple description, the wireless system is composed of three main blocks: an antenna, a receiving circuitry, and a transmitting circuitry. The RF antenna switch plays the role of the coordinator between these three blocks. It allows for a single antenna to function as a receiving and a transmitting pole at the same time through a time division duplexing TDD. It is also referred to as a single pole double through (SPDT) switch to differentiate it from a single pole multiple through SPMT which allows the use of multiple antennas.

However, the introduction of the RF antenna switch concept encountered several problems which were reported in the literature. In fact, this concept has been an active research subject since the second half of the 20th century. With the progress achieved in the field of high power semiconductor technology, designers started to think about replacing the mechanical relays in the RF transceivers with what was called a RF activated switch. The RF activated switch is basically a black-box with three external terminals, one for the transmitter, one for the receiver and one for the antenna. The same antenna had to be used for both transmission and reception. This black-box is composed of power diodes connected in forward and reverse bias in a way to achieve the switching function between transmission and reception. Nevertheless, and since that time, RF switches suffered from the same problems as those from which they still suffer today: loss of transmission power and power handling of huge transmitted signals. At that time, using the diodes with a threshold voltage of 0.7 V and a relatively low breakdown voltage created a problem, since they break down earlier than desired due to the large signal transmitted by the power amplifier. In 1966, K. W. Angel proposed a switch that operates using the principle of avalanche operation [1]. His circuit was successfully operating even at high temperatures like 60° C. Recently, Fanucci et al. reported the problems that face RF antenna switches in the 21th century: the loss of transmission power due to the non-ideal isolation of the receiver stage and the loss of sensitivity due to the use of external switches which introduce a non-negligible loss and nonlinearities [2].

The RF antenna switch is characterized by its very simple circuit design and simple figures of merit that describe its performance as should be presented later. Therefore, it serves here as a demonstrator that concludes the comparative study introduced in the earlier chapters for different MOSFET technologies and device structures.

7.2 CIRCUIT DESIGN

The three vertices of the triangle of performance of a RF antenna switch are the "Insertion Loss", "Isolation", and "Power Handling". As in other design problems, a trade-off is always necessary between these different figures of merit, since it is impossible to maximize all of them in the same time. This trade-off becomes more difficult in bulk and low resistivity substrate SOI devices. The low resistivity substrate results in an increased insertion loss and a decreased isolation [3]. The design adopted for the RF Antenna switch is very simple. It consists of only four transistors and four resistors as shown in Fig. 7.1. The same design has been used for RF antenna switches since it was first introduced by Huang and O in 2001 [4]. The series transistors M1 and M2 ensure the passage of the signal from the antenna to the Low Noise Amplifier (LNA) and from the Power Amplifier (PA) to the antenna. The shunt transistors M3 and M4 are used to tie the LNA or the PA to the ground when it is turned off, hence improving the isolation. The gate resistors R help improving the linearity of the system.





(a) A schematic of the design of the RF antenna switch considered in this work.

(b) A photo of the layout of the switch fabricated on a high resistivity substrate SOI wafer.

Fig. 7.1.: The RF antenna switch adopted in this work.

7.2.1 Insertion Loss and Isolation

The wireless system is in one of two states; transmission or reception. When in the transmission mode, a signal is leaving the PA and heading towards the RF antenna switch. The switch is then meant to guarantee a secured passage for the signal to the antenna. By secured passage we mean the maximum of the signal should reach the antenna (lowest possible insertion loss) and in the same time the LNA should be kept completely isolated from that signal (maximum isolation) or it would burn due to the high power transmitted by the PA. During reception, the same operation is repeated in a reverse way. The signal arriving at the antenna is needed to arrive at the LNA with minimum loss while being completely isolated from the PA.

The trade-off comes from the fact that the same transistor (either M1 or M2) is meant to provide maximum transmission in one case and a maximum isolation in the other case. If the previous paragraph is translated into device physics language, the secured passage is achieved through a transistor in the ON state (or in a strong inversion mode) of a common gate configuration , which means that the signal should pass from drain to source or the inverse. In other words, we need the ON resistance $R_{\rm ON}$ of the channel to be minimum to achieve minimum

loss of the signal or maximum passage of it. At the same time, the other series transistor (M2 or M1) is switched off (in deep subthreshold regime) and the two junctions source-body and drain-body are both reverse biased representing the off capacitance of the transistor $C_{\rm OFF}$. For a perfect isolation, $C_{\rm OFF}$ should be minimum (giving a maximum impedance).

Therefore, to reduce insertion losses, $R_{\rm ON}$ needs to be minimum. This could simply be realized by increasing the transistor width. However, increasing the transistor width means more capacitive coupling with the substrate, which means more losses. It also affects the isolation, since more coupling will occur between the drain and the source through fringing capacitances. Hence, a trade-off should be found for an optimal value of the channel width. It is worth noticing here the advantage that an SOI device could present based on its highly reduced coupling capacitance (between the body and the substrate and between the drain/source and the substrate) due to the presence of the buried oxide. A SOI device with a high resistivity substrate is even a better choice since it highly reduces the losses through the substrate [5].

For a small-signal operation, the insertion loss (IL) could be calculated from $R_{\rm ON}$ using [4, 6]

$$IL = -20 \text{Log}_{10} \left(\frac{2R_0}{2R_0 + R_{\text{ON}}}\right)$$
(7.1)

where R_0 is the sum of the source and the load resistances.

The second part of the task of providing a secured passage for the signal is achieved using the shunt transistors M3 and M4. Turning M3 or M4 ON provides a low impedance bridge between the corresponding port and the ground. This ensures a good protection of that port from the signal going through the switch. The level of protection depends on the value of the ON resistance of M3 or M4 which is controlled by the channel width. Again, the channel width should not be so much increased, otherwise, the desired signal is lost through capacitive coupling when M3 or M4 is turned OFF.

Another way to control the insertion losses (and reduce it) is to bias the gates of the series transistors M1 and M2 through a resistor of appropriate value R. In the absence of R, the voltage on the gates of M1 and M2, $V_{\rm GS}$, fluctuates as a function of the applied RF signal at the drain. If a strong signal arrives at the drain, the channel resistance is highly increased resulting in an increase of the insertion losses. Therefore, the presence of R ensures a constant gate-tochannel voltage through the control of $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$, and hence, a stable channel resistance and an improvement of the linearity of the signal [3, 4].

7.2.2 Power Handling

The RF antenna switch is the first block of the circuit to meet the signal coming or leaving the transceiver which makes it subject to large signals either arriving at the antenna or leaving the power amplifier. The response of the switch to these large signals is very crucial, especially for the receiver circuitry which is dependent on the signal delivered to it by the switch. It is of utmost importance

that the signal passes through the switch without suffering from any compression or in other words that the switch operates in a perfect linear behavior. Therefore, the linear behavior constitutes the third figure of merit that characterizes the RF antenna switch. The best method to measure this behavior is the 1-dB input compression point P_{1-dB} . It is defined as the input power which results in a 1 dB reduction in the gain of the device under test. In the case of the RF antenna switch, P_{1-dB} measures the 1-dB drop in the loss rather than in the gain. Huang and O [4] reported on the linearity problems provoked by the drain/source junctions in the bulk devices when used in building the RF antenna switch. For a zero biased gate and drain of the transistors M1 and M2, the RF signal arriving at the drain of any side of the switch could forward bias the drain/source to body junctions, resulting in a sudden drop in the insertion losses, thus clipping the RF signal and causing the output power to compress. Huang proposed a dc biasing to the drains of the transistors M1 and M2, otherwise the P_{1-dB} of switches built using bulk devices is fixed at 6 dB [3]. The advantage of using a SOI device is evident to overcome this problem since the presence of the buried oxide (BOX) eliminates the junction between drain/source and bulk.

The sudden drop in insertion loss (the compression) of the RF antenna switch can also be caused by an undesired turning ON of a transistor which should be turned OFF. This could occur due to the arrival of a large RF signal at the drain of a transistor. It is difficult to completely eliminate this risk or to design a perfect switch against this phenomenon, yet, the voltage at which it occurs could be pushed to higher values. This is achieved by employing relatively high resistances at the gates of the transistors. A 10 k Ω is proposed as an adequate value for these gate resistances R [3, 4]. This value of resistance is high enough to favor a voltage dividing between the $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ of the OFF transistor, hence, a voltage proportional to the ratio $C_{\rm gs}/(C_{\rm gs}+C_{\rm gd})$ should appear at the gate of the OFF transistor. This transistor is then guaranteed to work in the OFF for a signal of an amplitude as high as a value calculated using (see Fig. 7.2) [3]:

$$|V_{\rm GS} - V_{\rm in}| = \left|\frac{C_{\rm gs}}{C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd}} \times V_{\rm in}\right| = V_T \tag{7.2}$$

$$|V_{\rm in}| = \frac{C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd}}{C_{\rm gs}} \times V_T \tag{7.3}$$

Therefore, the compression can be calculated (in dBm) from:

$$P_{1-\rm dB} = 10 \log_{10} \left(\frac{C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd}}{C_{\rm gs}} \frac{V_T^2}{50} \right) + 30 \tag{7.4}$$

7.3 LAYOUT

The fabricated layout of the RF antenna switch on the 130 nm high resistivity SOI technology is presented in Fig. 7.1b.



Fig. 7.2.: Illustration of the role of R connected to the gates of the transistors in enhancing the linearity of the RF antenna switch [7].

Both the optimization of the layout of the RF antenna switch or the optimization of the layout of the individual transistors used in the design might significantly affect the performance of the RF antenna switch. The later was introduced in the previous chapters through the comparison of the performance of different transistors in SOI and bulk technologies. The former will be discussed in this chapter.

The presented layout of the RF antenna switch in Fig. 7.1b features an area of $700 \times 650 \ \mu m^2$. This huge area is mainly occupied by RF pads needed to perform on-wafer measurements (100- μ m pitch size pads), whereas the real 8 elements of the switch (4 transistors + 4 resistors) could occupy a much smaller area.

Fig. 7.3 shows the long metal lines needed to connect the RF pads to the ports of the RF antenna switch. The length of the metal lines ranges from 200 to 240 μ m. These lines are fabricated using Metal-6 layer, without a ground layer underneath, except for the substrate of the wafer being grounded (taking into account the presence of the thick BOX layer in between). The effect of

these metal lines plays a significant role in determining the performance of the RF antenna switch as presented later in this chapter by employing individual transistor measurements and ADS black-box simulations.



(a) The layout of the switch where the metal (b) The lengths of the connecting lines are highlighted. metal lines.

Fig. 7.3.: The metal lines connecting the measurement pads to the actual circuit of the RF antenna switch.

7.4 OPERATION

The operation of a RF antenna switch is simple. To allow the passage for transmission between the PA and the antenna, $V_{\rm ctrl}$ is set to HI (or $V_{\rm DD}$) and $\overline{V}_{\rm ctrl}$ is set to LOW (or zero). In this case, M2 is turned ON in strong inversion mode while M1 is turned OFF in deep subthreshold mode in order to provide one path only for the signal from the PA to the antenna and prevent it from going to the LNA (see Fig. 7.4). Most of the signal goes through M2 to the antenna. However, a small part of it is coupled to the ground through the $C_{\rm OFF}$ of M4 and through the $C_{\rm OFF}$ of M1 and the $R_{\rm ON}$ of M3. The LNA is tied to the ground via the $R_{\rm ON}$ of M3, so the smaller the value of $R_{\rm ON}$, the better the LNA is isolated from the signal departing from the PA.

7.5 MEASUREMENT SETUP

Measurements were performed using a 2-port setup, thus it is either the transmission side or the receiver one, while the other side is matched with a 50 Ω . Normally since one of the two series transistors (M1, M2) is ON while the other is OFF, the OFF transistor acts as an open circuit, therefore this setup should provide accurate results. In fact, measurements using a 3-port setup (employing a 4-port PNA-X from Agilent) were performed and compared to the 50 Ω matched environment measurements and results were found to be very close.



Fig. 7.4.: Transistors states at the moment of transmission through the RF antenna switch.

Hence, for simplicity (especially for calibration and de-embedding), the 2-port measurement environment is used throughout.

Direct on-wafer RF measurements of the RF antenna switch is performed using the 2-port Anritsu $37369A^{\text{TM}}$ vector network analyzer VNA operating between 40 MHz and 40 GHz.

Three sets of RF antenna switches were fabricated and measured on three technologies: PD SOI, FD SOI and DNW Bulk. FB, BT, and DT structures were used in the design with different number of fingers. For each switch, the four transistors are always identical (the same dimensions and the same number of fingers). In the following, the different RF antenna switches are characterized and compared at room temperature and with increasing temperature till 200°C.

7.6 ROOM TEMPERATURE MEASUREMENTS

The comparison of the different RF antenna switches presented in this chapter is realized via the two figures of merit, the insertion loss and the isolation. It should be noticed that these two figures of merit are very dependent, a higher isolation on one side of the switch means a better insertion loss on the other side and vice versa. This is a general rule, however, the real values of these two figures of merit is highly dependent on the values of $R_{\rm ON}$ and $C_{\rm OFF}$.

PD SOI devices are compared in Fig. 7.5. Starting by the insertion loss of 30 fingers devices, the FB transistor shows a better insertion loss than both the BT and the DT transistors as shown in Fig. 7.5a. On the other hand, the FB transistor presents the worst isolation compared to the other two transistors as presented in Fig. 7.5c. As described earlier, increasing the width of the transistor could reduce the channel ON resistance $R_{\rm ON}$, hence enhancing its insertion loss. Fig. 7.5b shows the insertion loss of 90 fingers transistors (3 times wider than the previous case). It is clear that the insertion losses of the BT and the DT transistors are enhanced, but only at low frequency. The FB transistor, on the other hand, shows a reduced insertion loss performance. Increasing the number of fingers has two contradictory effects. It reduces the channel ON resistance $R_{\rm ON}$ but in the same time it increases the drain/body and the source/body junction

capacitances as well as the parasitic coupling capacitance with the substrate, due to the increased area. The overall performance of the transistor depend on whichever effect is more dominant. In the case of BT transistor, only one junction exits, the one between the drain and the body, whereas the other one between the source and the body is suppressed via the silicide short tying the body to the source (see Fig. 7.6). Therefore, the BT structure features a higher $C_{\rm ds}$ compared to the FB structure. Increasing the number of fingers, has a more pronounced impact on the BT transistor than on the FB transistor. To explain this fact, consider Fig. 7.4. Assuming a passage of the signal from the PA to the antenna, the BT transistor presents a lower $R_{\rm ON}$ of M2 due to an increased number of fingers, while keeping C_{OFF} of M1 and M4 high enough (lower Z_{OFF}) which means better isolation at low frequency (to prevent loss of signal through M4) but as frequency increases, the isolation degrades faster and hence, as seen from Fig. 7.5b, the degradation of the insertion loss of the BT transistors is faster than the FB transistor. In the case of the FB transistor, $R_{\rm ON}$ is also low but $C_{\rm OFF}$ is lower than in the case of the BT transistor, thus a lower isolation of M1 and M4 which means lower insertion loss at low frequency, but is more stable than the BT structure as frequency increases (see Fig. 7.5b and Fig. 7.5d).

From the previous discussion, the importance of M3 and M4 is clear. Fig. 7.5e and Fig. 7.5f highlight this importance. In these two figures, all transistors are turned OFF and the signal is measured as it passes from LNA to PA and from LNA or PA to antenna. In the first case (LNA-to-PA), the isolation is much better than in the case of (LNA-to-ANT) since two OFF transistors are found in the path of the signal, nevertheless, the isolation is much worse than the normal case of operation shown in Fig. 7.5c and Fig. 7.5d. The reason is the absence of the ground tie provided by M3 or M4. When the signal is measured between the LNA or the PA and the antenna in the OFF state, a highly degraded isolation is noticed since it only depends on one OFF transistor and no ground tie is provided.

The optimization of both the insertion loss and the isolation is clearly difficult. Enhancing $R_{\rm ON}$ is tied to degrading $C_{\rm OFF}$ and hence the trade off is very tight. The result is obtained if stacked (cascoded) transistors structure is used, as shown in Fig. 7.7. Using this structure, $C_{\rm OFF}$ is divided by three and hence the isolation is improved, however, $R_{\rm ON}$ is multiplied by three which degrades the insertion losses.

The high resistivity (HR) substrate SOI technology is believed to be a remarkable solution for problems related to losses in circuits like RF antenna switches due to the reduction of substrate coupling and cross talk. Nevertheless, the special structure of the DNW protected bulk transistor shows an interesting behavior comparable and even better than that of the HR SOI switch. The idea of using DNW bulk devices to construct a high performance RF antenna switch has been elaborated in different publications [8–11].

A comparison is held in Fig. 7.8 between the performances of a switch built using a DNW bulk device and a switch built using a PD SOI device. In both cases a FB and a BT structures are used with the same geometry and the same number



(a) Insertion loss in the RF antenna switch using 30-fingers devices.





(b) Insertion loss in the RF antenna switch using 90-fingers devices.



(c) Isolation in 30 fingers devices (from LNA to PA).

(d) Isolation in the RF antenna switch using 90-fingers devices (from LNA to PA).



(e) Isolation in 30 fingers devices in OFF state.

(f) Isolation in the RF antenna switch using 90-fingers devices in OFF state.

Fig. 7.5.: Insertion loss and isolation for the RF antenna switches using PD SOI devices. In the OFF state case, the effect of the transistors M3 and M4 is demonstrated.

of fingers ($L = 0.13 \ \mu m$, $W = 2 \ \mu m$, and $N_{\text{finger}} = 30$). Despite their standard resistivity (SR) substrate, the DNW bulk devices are capable of competing with the HR PD SOI devices in terms of the insertion loss and the isolation of the RF antenna switch. The reason is the highly suppressed coupling and leakage resulting from the presence of the DNW and the N+ isolation as explained in chapter 2 and chapter 3. It is worth noticing that the BT structure of the DNW



Fig. 7.6.: The FB transistor presents a lower $C_{\rm ds}$ capacitance compared to the BT transistor where the later has a suppressed body-to-source capacitance $C_{\rm bs}$ due to the body-source silicide short.



Fig. 7.7.: A RF antenna switch using cascoded transistors structure.

bulk device shows better insertion loss and degraded isolation compared to its PD SOI counterpart. This is the inverse of what is noticed for the FB device. The reason could be related to the optimized layout of the BT structure in the case of the DNW bulk device based on the experience gained during the design and the fabrication of the PD SOI device. In the bulk case, the metallic connections used to tie the body to the source are reduced, as shown in Fig. 7.9, where the number of body contacts is highly reduced in the DNW bulk layout. The result is less parasitic capacitances, hence, better insertion loss behavior and better isolation especially at lower frequencies.

The same RF antenna switch was designed and fabricated using the FD SOI technology on standard resistivity substrate using classical nMOS and GCMOS transistors. However, due to a problem of random metal filling process (used to get homogeneous mechanical rigidity of the wafer), the performance of these switches is highly degraded. Thus, it is not possible to compare their performance to the other switches presented earlier. However, they can be compared to each other and hence they serve as an indication of the advantage of using GCMOS transistors in RF circuits like the RF antenna switch.



Fig. 7.8.: A comparison between the insertion loss (solid symbols) and the isolation (empty symbols) of RF antenna switches employing DNW bulk and PD SOI devices in FB and BT structures.



Fig. 7.9.: Layout of BT structures for PD SOI and DNW bulk devices.

Fig. 7.10 compares the behavior of a switch employing a classical FD nMOS of 96 fingers, 2.5 μ m width and 0.15 μ m length each, and a switch built using a GCMOS of 96 fingers, 2.5 μ m width and 0.5 μ m length each. The GCMOS device is nearly three times longer than the classical nMOS device, yet it gives a similar performance of insertion loss and isolation at room temperature as presented in Fig. 7.10.

The same effect of increasing the number of fingers (in order to increase the total width) of the transistor is noticed for the classical nMOS and the GCMOS structures of the FD SOI devices. Fig. 7.11 shows that a slightly better insertion loss can be obtained for a 96-finger device compared to a 32-finger device whereas the isolation performance is degraded.



Fig. 7.10.: Insertion loss (solid symbols) and isolation (empty symbols) of classical nMOS and GCMOS FB devices fabricated on a FD SOI standard resistivity substrate technology.



Fig. 7.11.: The effect of increasing the width (number of fingers) of a transistor as represented by the classical nMOS and the GCMOS structures of the FD SOI devices on the insertion loss (solid symbols) and the isolation (empty symbols) of RF antenna switch.

7.7 HIGH TEMPERATURE MEASUREMENTS

The RF antenna switches are mainly used to accomplish the complete integrity of the transceiver circuit with its three main parts: transmitter, receiver, and antenna. In its optimum solution, a System-on-Chip (SoC) combining the three parts is achieved. The drawback of this solution for the RF antenna switch is that it will suffer from the overheating of the whole system, although the switch itself might not generate much heat, since it only uses four transistors and four resistors with no dc drive current in any of them.

Nevertheless, the operation of the RF antenna switch in a high temperature environment did not receive any attention over the years. It was first reported in [12] for PD SOI devices in FB and BT structures then compared between PD SOI and DNW bulk devices in [11].

High temperature has the effect of degrading the insertion loss and the isolation performance of a RF antenna switch. This effect can be seen in Fig. 7.12 for PD SOI devices in both FB and BT structures. Based on the characteri-

zation of these transistors in chapter 3, Fig. 3.53 shows the stability of $C_{\rm ds}$ in OFF state (C_{OFF}) with temperature. On the other hand, Fig. 3.46, Fig. 3.47, Fig. 3.48, and Table 3.9 show the severe degradation (increase) of the drain and source resistances, which would directly affect the $R_{\rm ON}$ of the devices as temperature increases. As a result, while the isolation performance of the switches in Fig. 7.12 are not severely degraded with temperature, the insertion loss is clearly affected by the increased temperature and the increased $R_{\rm ON}$. Taking the frequency of WLAN application as an example, i.e. 2.54 GHz, the insertion loss degrades by 0.5 dB ($\sim 45\%$) whereas the isolation degrades by 2 dB $(\sim 5\%)$ for the BT structure. In the case of the FB structure, the degradation is 0.43 dB ($\sim 62\%$) in the insertion loss and 1.9 dB ($\sim 5\%$) in the isolation. A slightly better stability of insertion loss with temperature is attributed to the BT structure. Consulting Table 3.9, the extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm d} + R_{\rm s}$ are slighly more stable for BT compared to FB structures (which can be even related to the accuracy of measurement and extraction). The same applies to the channel resistance variation with temperature which can be derived from the variation of the maximum drain current with temperature. On the other hand, BT structure shows an increase in C_{ds} in OFF state which is approximately double the increase in the case of the FB structure. Therefore, it is the C_{OFF} which highly affects the insertion loss at high temperatures rather than the $R_{\rm ON}$. But since $R_{\rm ON}$ varies slightly with temperature in the same way for both structures, the isolation behavior also varies slightly and with exactly the same percentage for both strucutres.



Fig. 7.12.: The variation of the insertion loss and the isolation with temperature for RF antenna switches employing FB and BT PD SOI devices.

The same reasoning can be applied to the temperature behavior of RF antenna switch employing DNW bulk devices and shown in Fig. 7.13. To compare its behavior with the PD SOI case, the same frequency is chosen for comparison i.e. 2.54 GHz. For the BT structure, the insertion loss degrades by 0.7 dB ($\sim 60\%$) and the isolation degrades by 2.9 dB ($\sim 6.7\%$). In the case of the FB structure, the insertion loss degrades by 0.7 dB ($\sim 60\%$) whereas the isolation degrades by 0.7 dB ($\sim 70\%$) whereas the isolation degrades by 6.8 dB ($\sim 7.5\%$). It is clear that the trend is the same as in the PD SOI

devices, BT structure shows less variation of the insertion loss with temperature than the FB structure, whereas the isolation behavior is more or less the same between the two structures. On the other hand, the degradation in the DNW bulk devices is more remarkable than in the case of the PD SOI transistors which is still expected due to the larger junction capacitances in the bulk case.



Fig. 7.13.: The variation of the insertion loss and the isolation with temperature of RF antenna switches employing FB and BT DNW bulk devices.

7.8 SIMULATION

This section does not present the simulations performed prior to the design and fabrication of the RF antenna switch. It rather presents the post measurement simulations. This kind of simulations helps to correctly and deeply understand the behavior of the RF antenna switch. It also presents a better methodology to design the RF antenna switch based on detailed analysis of the different elements of the circuit and the layout.

Starting by the main building block of the switch, i.e. the transistor, it is clear that, from the RF point of view, all the transistors used in the RF antenna switch are configured in the common gate operation mode. All the transistors operate in either ON or OFF states, or in other words, $V_{\rm GS}$ equals either 0 or $V_{\rm DD}$ while $V_{\rm DS}$ is always set to 0 V (dc). On-wafer RF measurements are performed on PD SOI FB and BT structures in ON and OFF states starting from room temperature till 200°C. The measured S-parameters are then utilized as a blackbox in RF simulations using Advanced Design System (ADS) software [13]. In other words, these S-parameters are used as a look-up table in the RF antenna switch circuit thus generating results as close to the real measurements of the switch as possible. This approach helps to accurately characterize the rest of the elements in the circuit.

7.8.1 Transistors in Common Gate Configuration

The first step to perform the black-box simulation is to acquire the measured S-parameters of the individual transistors in the ON and OFF states. On-wafer measurements are performed on the PD SOI devices in both FB and BT structures at room temperature and at varying temperature followed by a 1-step (Open) de-embedding procedure. The results are shown in Fig. 7.14. For the ON state, $V_{\rm GS}$ is set to $V_{\rm DD}$ while $V_{\rm DS}$ is kept at 0 V. For the OFF state, $V_{\rm GS}$ and $V_{\rm DS}$ are both set to 0 V. The insertion loss and the isolation characteristics of the transistor are then simply its S_{21} represented in dB¹. In Fig. 7.14a, the room temperature behavior is shown for both structures.



(a) FB and BT structures at room temperature.



Fig. 7.14.: The variation of the insertion loss and the isolation with temperature for FB and BT structures of the PD SOI devices connected in common-gate configuration.

The tendency of the curves is in accordance with the direct measurements of the RF antenna switch shown earlier, that is the FB structure shows better insertion loss and isolation performances than the BT structure. The absolute values of the insertion loss of the common gate transistors are very close to the values shown earlier of the RF antenna switch. For example, taking the frequency of 2.54 GHz, the switch built using the PD SOI in the FB structure features an insertion loss of -0.69 dB at room temperature whereas the one built using the

 $[\]overline{}^{1}$ For the S-parameters, the value in dB is calculated using 20Log(the magnitude) since S-parameters are voltage based.

BT structure features an insertion loss of -0.97 dB. The individual transistors feature -0.685 and -0.69 for the FB and the BT structures, respectively. On the other hand, the isolation performance of the individual transistors are worse compared to the isolation performance of the switches presented earlier. This again shows the importance of the implementation of the series-shunt topology used and the role of the two shunt transistors M3 and M4.

7.8.2 Eldo Simulations of Common Gate Transistors

The behavior of the individual transistors is also compared using compact models delivered by the foundry. Simulations are run using Eldo RF [14]. Comparing these simulations to the individual transistors measurements presented in section 7.8.1 helps to evaluate these models at the special conditions of operation of the transistors in the RF antenna switch circuit, i.e. RF behavior for ON/OFF states. Later, the S-parameters generated using Eldo RF are also used as black-boxes for ADS simulations of the entire RF Antenna switch.

In Fig. 7.15, a comparison is held between the on-wafer RF measurements and the Eldo RF generated S-parameters. As expected, the Eldo RF generated S-parameters show better insertion loss and isolation behaviors whereas the measured ones suffer from parasitics and imperfect de-embedding. However, the trend is practically the same. The accuracy of the compact models at the ON/OFF states is also verified.



Fig. 7.15.: Comparison of insertion loss (solid symbols) and isolation (empty symbols) behaviors at room temperature for FB and BT structures of the PD SOI devices using on-wafer RF measurements and compact model Eldo RF simulations.

7.8.3 Measurements versus Simulations

The simulation of the RF antenna switch is performed using Advanced Design System (ADS) tool. In a first step the simulation is presented without taking into account the connecting metal lines. Later, the effect of the connecting metal

lines will be simulated using inductors and resistors in order to fit the measured behavior of the RF antenna switch. It should be noticed that in all cases the effect of the RF pads is simulated by means of a 85 fF capacitance added in parallel to the circuit ports (this value is extracted from an Open structure measurements using $\text{Im}(Y_{11})/\omega$).

A comparison is held between the measured insertion loss and isolation and two types of simulated insertion loss and isolation. The first is using the measured S-parameters of individual transistors put as black-boxes in the ADS schematic, so it basically acts as a look-up table of the transistor S-parameters. The second is using the extracted S-parameters from Eldo RF simulations using a compact model delivered by the foundry. The extracted S-parameters are again used in ADS as black-boxes (look-up table).

Fig. 7.16 shows the schematic used in ADS to simulate the behavior of the RF antenna switch. The use of the black-boxes is illustrated. In the case of the black-boxes, no dc bias is needed since the S-parameters contained inside the black-boxes are already at the correct bias, either in ON or OFF state, according to the selected scheme of the switch. A standard RF simulation is run and the results are shown in Fig. 7.17. The results show the comparison between the on-wafer measured data of the RF antenna switch and the simulated data, using the two previously mentioned methods, without taking into account the effect of the connecting metal lines (which, as mentioned before, have lengths that range between 200 to 240 μ m). It is clear that, in general, the performance is much better without the metal lines compared to actual measured data of RF antenna switch.

7.8.4 Effect of Metal Lines

In order to reach the best simulation of the metal lines included in the circuit of the RF antenna switch, each line has been replaced by an inductance and a resistance (in series) in the ADS simulation as shown in Fig. 7.18. The complete schematic in ADS after adding the inductances simulating the metal lines is shown in Fig. 7.19. The inductance elements and the associated series resistances are then tuned to achieve the best fitting between the measured and the simulated RF antenna switch behavior.

Fig. 7.20 shows the results for the insertion loss of the simulation and fitting when the black-box of measured common gate transistor is used. In these figures, it is assumed that the black-box and the pads are already represented, hence the difference between the measurement and simulation should be completely due to the metal lines, therefore, aggressive fitting is performed in order to minimize this difference. The values of the used inductance values are shown on the figures and summarized in Table 7.1. Nevertheless, when the same values of inductances are used to fit the isolation curves, the expected perfect fitting could not be achieved. The values of the inductances should be fitted once more to minimize the difference between measured and simulated curves. The reason could be a non accurate extraction of the pad capacitance along with an imperfect measurement



(a) Using standard transistor models.



(b) Using black-boxes of measured or Eldo RF simulated S-parameters.

Fig. 7.16.: ADS schematics of the RF antenna switch using the standard transistors models provided by the foundry and using the black-boxes of the measured and Eldo RF simulated S-parameters.

and de-embedding of the common gate individual transistors. A slight difference in the length of the metal lines from one side to the other in the layout could also be one of the reasons behind this difference in the values of inductances.

The same approach is repeated using the Eldo RF simulated black-box of S-parameters. Using the same values of inductances that were able to fit the





(a) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch using BT structure.

(b) Isolation of RF antenna switch using BT structure.



(c) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch using FB structure.

(d) Isolation of RF antenna switch using FB structure.

Fig. 7.17.: A comparison between the measured performance of the RF antenna switch and the performance simulated using ADS employing the black-boxes (look-up tables) of the S-parameters measured and simulated using Eldo RF of the individual common gate transistors.

curves with the measured black-boxes would not succeed to fit the curves using Eldo simulated black-boxes. However, this could be understood since the two types of black-boxes already showed a difference when compared in section 7.8.2. Nevertheless, the difference is expected to be lower than found and reported in Fig. 7.21.

Despite the inconsistency of the values of the inductances and resistances used to simulate the connecting metal lines, an important fact is clear and evident, which is the pessimistic performance represented by the measured behavior of the RF antenna switch. The metal lines are certain to affect this performance and to show a lower performance than the real behavior of the RF antenna switch without that effect of metal lines. Whether a de-embedding procedure is performed or not, the effect of the metal lines should be removed using a backward simulation technique in order to be able to correctly design the RF antenna switch. In fact, having hands on the real performance of the switch might relax some constraints at the device fabrication level which could have been put assuming a lower than real performance.



Fig. 7.18.: Illustration of the modeling of the connecting metal lines in the RF antenna switch using ADS.



Fig. 7.19.: The complete ADS schematic after adding the inductances used to simulate the effect of the metal lines. Each inductance is tuned individually. A series resistance element is associated with each inductance.

7.8.5 Simple Simulation Approach

The inconsistency reached in section 7.8.4 makes it a complicated task to remove the effect of the metal lines. In this sub-section, another simple simulation approach is presented.

Fig. 7.3b shows the metal line connecting transistors M1 and M3 to the RF pad. This line is made on metal-6 layer, without a ground line underneath, so when a model of a Thin-Film Micro-Strip (TFMS) line is used to model this line in ADS, it does not fit the measured behavior of the switch.

An inductance is added in series with each ON transistor in order to compensate for the inductive effects of the line, taking into consideration a typical value of 1 nH/mm, and using this value as a maximum limit for the tuning performed to fit the measured curves. It is also noticed that a resistance has to be



(a) Insertion loss and isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using the same tuned values of inductances.



(b) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using independent tuning of inductances.



(c) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing BT structure using the same tuned value of inductances as used for the FB structure.

(d) Insertion loss and isolation of RF antenna switch employing BT structure using independent tuning of inductances.

Fig. 7.20.: The illustration of the effect of the metal lines through the comparison of the different performances of the RF antenna switch as measured and as simulated using ADS employing the black-boxes of measured S-parameters and tuned values of inductances and resistances.

added in series to the ON transistor to correct for the low frequency difference between the measured and the simulated curves. The schematic used is shown in Fig. 7.22.

To have full control on fitting, the box of measured S-parameters of the common gate transistor (which is used to model the OFF transistors) is replaced by a C_{OFF} capacitance. The variation of C_{OFF} while fitting the curves is restricted around the extracted values for the C_{OFF} of the different transistor structures (see Table 7.2).

Using these correcting parameters (series inductances and resistances), excellent fitting was found for the RF Antenna switch built using the PD SOI devices, both in FB and BT structures, with regards to the insertion loss and the isolation performances as shown in Fig. 7.23 for 30 fingers transistors and Fig. 7.24 for 90 fingers transistors. Mostly, the same values of the extracted $C_{\rm OFF}$ and $R_{\rm ON}$ are the ones giving the best fitting. The only exception is the isolation curve of the



(a) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using the same values of inductances as in Fig. 7.20a.





(b) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using tuned values of inductances.



(c) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using the same values of inductances as in Fig. 7.20b.



(d) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure using tuned values of inductances.



(e) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing BT structure using tuned values of inductances.

(f) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing BT structure using tuned values of inductances.

Fig. 7.21.: The illustration of the effect of the metal lines through the comparison of the different performances of the RF antenna switch as measured and as simulated using ADS employing the black-boxes of Eldo RF simulated *S*-parameters and tuned values of inductances and resistances.

switch built using the BT structure of 30 fingers (see Fig. 7.23d). A good fitting is not found unless the measured S-parameters black-box is used (instead of the $C_{\rm OFF}$ variable) and taking into account the pad capacitance of 84 fF (which was

Table 7.1.: The values of the inductances (nH) and the resistances (Ω) used to simulate the effect of the connecting metal lines for the switches built using PD SOI devices in FB and BT structures featuring 30 fingers.

Type	Behavior	L_1	L_2	L_3	L_4	$ R_1$	R_2	R_3	R_4	Fig.
Black-box										
FB	IL	0.05	0.07	0.11	0.18	1	0	3	0	Fig. 7.20a
	Iso	0.08	0.15	0.22	0.15	0	23	15	9	Fig. 7.20b
ВТ	IL	0	0	0.12	0.18	3	3	10	0	Fig. 7.20d
	Iso	0.11	0.11	0.25	0.06	0	20	6	9	Fig. 7.20d
Eldo-RF										
FB	IL	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.24	0	0	3	0	Fig. 7.21b
	Iso	0.27	0.39	0	0	0	0	0	134	Fig. 7.21d
BT	IL	0.02	0.09	0.12	0	2	2	11	1	Fig. 7.21e
	Iso	0.23	0.41	0	0	0	0	0	90	Fig. 7.21f

disregarded for all the other curves, yet a very good fitting is achieved, since the presence of the pad capacitance makes no change to the simulated curves).

It is interesting to notice that a very good fitting is also achieved without even using the black-boxes for the ON transistors. The simple use of the extracted $R_{\rm ON}$ to represent the ON transistors (see Fig. 7.25) can result in a very good fitting (the value of $C_{\rm OFF}$ is kept the same while the value of $R_{\rm ON}$ is finely tuned) as shown in Fig. 7.23e.

Table 7.2.: Characteristics of the RF antenna switches built using PD SOI transistors in FB and BT structures featuring 30 and 90 fingers.

	Insertion Loss (dB)			Isolation (dB)			
Frequency (GHz)	2.4	5	10	2.4	5	10	
BT (30 fingers)	-1.165	-1.345	-1.946	-37.16	-30.94	-24.18	
FB (30 fingers)	-1.023	-1.152	-1.572	-38.84	-32.89	-26.06	
BT (90 fingers)	-0.8068	-1.421	-2.775	-35.21	-27.89	-19.6	
FB (90 fingers)	-0.6197	-0.8681	-1.669	-37.43	-30.1	-21.39	

	$ R_{\rm ON} (\Omega)$	$ C_{\rm OFF} ({\rm fF})$
BT (30 fingers)	14	39
FB (30 fingers)	10	46
BT (90 fingers)	4.5	120
FB (90 fingers)	5	102



Fig. 7.22.: ADS schematic used to simulate the effect of metal lines using blackboxes of measured S-parameters for the transistors in ON state while using C_{OFF} to represent the transistors in OFF state.

7.9 LINEARITY MEASUREMENTS

The power handling properties or the linearity of the RF antenna switch is characterized using a 4-port Agilent PNA-X. A special calibration kit is associated with these measurements which contains orthogonal SOLR structures. Both single-tone and two-tone measurements are possible using this setup. For the single-tone measurement, a sweep in power from -30 to 10 dBm at a single frequency point is applied to the LNA or the PA port of the RF antenna switch and the output measured at the Antenna port, or vice versa. The calibration step has to be repeated for each frequency point. A power sweep calibration, a response calibration as well as a traditional S-parameters calibration are needed to completely correct for the errors of the equipment (including the embedded power sources and receivers) and the cables. The single-tone measurement allows for the measurement of the 1-dB compression point P_{1-dB} .

On the other hand, the two-tone measurement does not need any calibration steps since the PNA-X operates as a spectrum analyzer. It applies two signals with a certain frequency offset and having the same power. The measurements are performed using different signal power values ranging from -10 to 10 dBm. A simple calculation allows to evaluate the third intercept point IP_3 .

ſ

Isolation (dB)





(a) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing FB structure.





(c) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure.

(d) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing BT structure.



(e) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure without using the black-box for ON transistor and replacing it with R_{ON} .

Fig. 7.23.: Comparison between 2-port measurements and ADS simulations using the simple approach for RF antenna switches employing 30 fingers FB and BT PD SOI transistors.

7.9.1 Gain Compression $P_{1-\mathrm{dB}}$

The results of the single-tone measurements for PD SOI devices are shown in Fig. 7.26. The three structures considered in PD SOI are compared using two geometries, one containing devices featuring 30 fingers and the other built using devices featuring 90 fingers. For the 30-fingers case (Fig. 7.26a), the DT switch


(a) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing FB structure.

(b) Insertion loss of RF antenna switch employing BT structure.



(c) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing FB structure.

(d) Isolation of RF antenna switch employing BT structure.

Fig. 7.24.: Comparison between 2-port measurements and ADS simulations using the simple approach for RF antenna switches built using 90-fingers FB and BT PD SOI transistors.

shows a high P_{1-dB} compared to the other switches but then falls fast as frequency increases. Nevertheless, it is still comparable to the FB switch, whereas the BT switch shows the best power handling capabilities especially the stable behavior with frequency. This better power handling capability is significantly confirmed in the case of switches with 90-fingers transistors (Fig. 7.26b). The connection between the body and the source protects the source/drain-body junctions from becoming forward biased. On the other hand, the floating body (in the FB case) and the body to gate connection (in the DT case) makes the transistors more vulnerable for a forward biased junction which highly affects the compression point of the device as explained in section 7.2.2. Consequently, increasing the number of fingers of the transistor (from 30 to 90) makes this phenomena more manifested.

7.9.2 Third Intercept Point IP_3

The two-tone measurement used to characterize the IP_3 behavior of the switches employs two signals of equal power and a frequency offset of 1 MHz. The power

220 RF ANTENNA SWITCH



Fig. 7.25.: ADS schematic used to simulate the effect of metal lines using $R_{\rm ON}$ to represent the transistors in ON state and $C_{\rm OFF}$ to represent the transistors in OFF state.



Fig. 7.26.: The 1-dB compression point, P_{1-dB} , obtained through single-tone measurements, for RF antenna switches using PD SOI devices in FB, BT, and DT structures and two gate compositions; 30 and 90 fingers.

level at the power source is fixed at -7 dBm. For the switches built using transistors of 30-fingers gate, the results are shown in Fig. 7.27a. At 900 MHz, the BT switch shows the highest IP_3 indicating its immunity to intermodulation up till 27.5 dBm. The FB switch comes next with 24.7 dBm then the DT switch with 23.4 dBm. As frequency increases, the IP_3 of the BT switch falls while those of FB and DT switches show a relatively stable behavior. A quite similar behavior is noticed for switches built using 90-fingers transistors as shown in Fig. 7.27b. The values for the three switches are closer than the 30-fingers case, yet the switch using the DT transistor shows a relatively more stable behavior with frequency as compared to the other two switches.



Fig. 7.27.: The third intercept point, IP_3 , obtained through two-tone measurements, for RF antenna switches using PD SOI devices in FB, BT, and DT structures and two gate compositions; 30 and 90 fingers.

7.10 CONCLUSION

The design of the RF antenna switch is based on a series of optimization decisions. The designer is limited by the optimization between the three figures of merit of the operation of the switch, i.e. insertion loss, isolation, and power handling (linearity). Practically, the designer should target a certain application with certain requirements and targets to meet. As presented earlier, optimizing the insertion loss could highly affect the isolation and vice versa. The power handling capabilities of the switch, or its linearity, is also an important parameter. The choice of the transistor structure could also help to reach a better optimization between the three figures of merit. It was shown that a special structure of bulk devices, the deep n-well protected transistor, could result in a performance comparable and even better than switches built using comparable SOI technologies. In the same technology the choice of the structure and geometry of the transistor could highly affect its performance.

It was also shown that a simple model of the RF antenna switch, only composed of $C_{\rm OFF}$ and $R_{\rm ON}$ of the transistor is a useful tool to predict the performance of the designed switch. The usual on-wafer measurements could easily underestimate the performance of the switch due to the connecting metal lines which are not simple to completely de-embed in a three terminal circuit like the RF antenna switch. More complicated models, using compact models of the transistors or black-boxes of measured transistors do not add to the accuracy of the simulation of the RF antenna switch. Mostly, compact models are not optimized for the ON/OFF operation of the transistors especially in the RF frequency range. An optimized large-signal (nonlinear) transistor model could be useful if correctly implemented.

222 RF ANTENNA SWITCH

Bibliography

- K. W. Angel, "An RF activated antenna switch," *IEEE Trans. Vehicular Communications*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 77–80, Mar. 1966.
- [2] L. Fanucci, A. Hopper, B. Neri, and D. Zito, "A novel fully integrated antenna switch for wireless systems," in *Proc. 33rd Conference on European Solid-State Device Research (ESSDERC'03)*, Estoril, Portugal, Sep. 16–18, 2003, pp. 553–556.
- [3] C. Tinella, J.-M. Fournier, D. Belot, and V. Knopik, "A 0.7dB insertion loss CMOS-SOI antenna switch with more than 50dB isolation over the 2.5 to 5GHz band," in *Proc. 28th European Solid-State Circuits Conference* (*ESSCIRC'02*), Florence, Italy, Sep. 24–26, 2002, pp. 483–486.
- [4] F.-J. Huang and K. O, "A 0.5-μm CMOS T/R switch for 900-MHz wireless applications," *IEEE Trans. Syst. Sci. Cybern.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 486–492, Mar. 2001.
- [5] J.-P. Raskin, A. Viviani, D. Flandre, and J.-P. Colinge, "Substrate crosstalk reduction using SOI technology," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 2252–2261, Dec. 1997.
- [6] D. Kelly, C. Brindle, C. Kemerling, and M. Stuber, "The state-of-the-art of silicon-on-sapphire CMOS RF switches," in *Dig. IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium*, (CSIC'05), Palm Springs, CA, Oct./Nov. 30–2, 2005, pp. 200–203.
- [7] C. Tinella, J. M. Fournier, D. Belot, and V. Knopik, "A high-performance CMOS-SOI antenna switch for the 2.5–5-GHz band," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1279–1283, Jul. 2003.
- [8] Y. Jin and C. Nguyen, "Ultra-compact high-linearity high-power fully integrated DC-20-GHz 0.18-μm CMOS T/R switch," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 30–36, Jan. 2007.
- [9] A. Poh and Y. P. Zhang, "Design and analysis of transmit/receive switch in triple-well CMOS for MIMO wireless systems," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 458–466, Mar. 2007.
- [10] Q. Li and Y. P. Zhang, "CMOS T/R switch design: Towards ultra-wideband and higher frequency," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 563– 570, Mar. 2007.
- [11] M. Emam, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and J.-P. Raskin, "High temperature DC and RF behavior of partially depleted soi versus deep n-well protected bulk MOSFETs," in *Proc. IEEE Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'09)*, San Diego, CA, Jan. 19–21, 2009, pp. 1–4.

- [12] M. Emam, M. El Kaamouchi, M. S. Moussa, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "High temperature antenna switches in 130 nm SOI technology," in *Proc. IEEE International SOI Conference*, Indian Wells, CA, Oct. 1–4, 2007, pp. 121–122.
- [13] Advanced Design System (ADS), Agilent Technologies. [Online]. Available: http://www.agilent.com/find/eesof-ads
- [14] Eldo RF, Mentor Graphics[®]. [Online]. Available: http://www.mentor.com/ products/ic_nanometer_design/analog-mixed-signal-verification/eldo-rf/

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis, an elaborated comparison study of three technologies and several device structures including novel structures like the GCMOS and the deep n-well protected bulk devices (see Table 8.1 for a summary of the devices studied in this thesis). As stated in the introduction, the target is not to draw a final conclusion about the best device or a device that outperforms all the other devices. The main objective is to fill the gap between the devices domain and the circuit design domain. A RF circuit designer could find sufficient information through the comparisons presented in this thesis to allow for an optimized circuit design that meets the goals and the requirements of a certain application. The correct choice of the device structure and the technology could be critical for an optimum performance of the RF circuit.

8.1 GENERAL REMARKS

The different characterization schemes presented in this thesis resulted in some important remarks:

 The advantages of SOI over conventional bulk technologies are certain and confirmed through so many publications [1–3]. These advantages are even more important for RF performance based on the reduced capacitances

226 CONCLUSIONS

and substrate coupling [4]. However, taking into account the larger market share owned by bulk technology, it is not unlikely that the SOI would not acquire more market share. In this thesis, the deep n-well protected bulk device has been characterized and compared to the corresponding SOI structures. The comparable performance, and sometimes the better performance of the deep n-well protected bulk device highlights the probability that bulk devices could even regain more market share. Thus the passage SOI to bulk to SOI could still be possible [5]. The area constraint would still be a problem for the deep n-well protected bulk devices, but for simple (yet important) circuits like the RF antenna switch, the area is not a limiting requirement.

- The correct choice of the small-signal equivalent circuit is usually of crucial importance for the correct characterization of a certain device. However, in this these, one standard small-signal equivalent circuit (Fig. 3.40) was used throughout without the need for specific modifications for each transistor technology or structure. The only exception is the DTMOS transistor whose extraction has not been guaranteed using this standard equivalent circuit due the complicated physics associated. A specific equivalent circuit should have been used (Fig. 2.10) which has been out of the scope of this work; i.e. validating different small-signal equivalent circuits. As a consequence, some extractions have not been possible for DTMOS resulting in some vacancies in the tables throughout the thesis. The most critical drawback of these vacancies is the inability to show the advantage of DTMOS in LVLP operation through chapter 4.
- Dynamic Threshold MOSFET (DTMOS) was shown to deliver compatible behavior to FB and BT SOI devices for RF applications. Insertion loss, isolation, and even power handling capabilities of RF antenna switches built using DTMOS show interesting characteristics compared to other switches. The operation of DTMOS in common gate configuration can overcome the limitations of the DTMOS in RF regime of operation.
- The high temperature conditions of operation was shown to be beneficial for low voltage low power applications if the correct biasing scheme is chosen. Contrary to what is well known about device characteristics degradation at high temperatures, it was shown that operating the device at certain points could result in enhancing the dc and RF characteristics of the device as temperature increases. This result could be very important for new applications that require a significant reduction of power consumption while suffering at the same time from increasing temperature conditions due to increased number of transistors per chip or harsh environmental conditions.
- Scaling down the dimensions of the transistors is not always the solution to enhance its performance. Although this trend is fueled by the largest market, which is the digital market, scaling should in all cases slow down since

the physical limits of the silicon are being approached. Research groups are examining several alternatives. In this thesis, the lateral asymmetric channel (or the Graded Channel MOS, GCMOS) is presented as a potential solution. It has been shown that this simple alternative, which is also compatible with mainstream CMOS technology fabrication process, can provide an enhancement in the different aspects of operation including, dc, analog, RF, nonlinear, low frequency noise, and, in this thesis, high temperature operation and high frequency noise.

- Experimental high frequency noise characterization, along with analytical study and noise model parameter extraction, confirmed the lower minimum noise figure of GCMOS over the whole range of operation as compared to the corresponding classical (symmetric channel) MOSFET devices. Not only the minimum noise figure, but also a better noise matching of the device as made evident through a better optimum input reflection coefficient. These advantages where shown to be true for academic scale as well as for industrial commercial technologies. It was also shown to be valid for partially-depleted devices as for fully-depleted devices of nano-scale channel lengths.
- The enhanced RF noise behavior of the GCMOS motivated the verification of the existing noise models. It has been shown that for lateral asymmetric channel devices, as is the case of GCMOS, a 3-parameter model is required to correctly describe the RF noise behavior of the device. The assumption used for the 2-parameter model is clearly violated by the high correlation coefficient which characterizes the lateral asymmetric channel devices. In this thesis, the experimental evidence for this verification has been provided.
- Optimization is always a keyword in the RF circuit design. A trade-off should always be found between the different figures of merit that characterize the performance of the RF circuit. In the case of the RF antenna switch, the three figures of merit: insertion loss, isolation, and power handling, are difficult to be maximized all at the same time. However, the choice of the best device for the targeted application could help achieve a better optimization. Some novel structures could also be beneficial for a successful design of a RF antenna switch. DNW bulk devices were shown to be able to deliver significant optimization between the different figures of merit. DTMOS is another important solution, yet not frequently employed, that could give an optimized performance.

The remarks listed above are the result of an extended characterization of the devices considered in this thesis. A complete cycle of characterization including dc, ac, RF, nonlinear, high temperature, low voltage low power, high frequency noise, and finally circuit level characterization including design, simulation, fabrication, and measurements. The results of these characterization steps

228 CONCLUSIONS

are summarized in Table 8.2 for dc analysis, in Table 8.3 for ac analysis, and in Table 8.4 and Table 8.5 for RF characterization. Table 8.6 shows the low voltage low power LVLP characteristics of the compared devices. Figures of merit are compared at room temperature and then their variation with temperature (per degree Celsius) are also compared. These figures of merit and their variation with temperature are to serve as relative indications not as absolute values. In other words, these are not state-of-the art values of the shown figures of merit but they are to be regarded in the context of comparing different device structures and technologies.

On the other hand, a RF circuit design does not only depend on the choice of the transistor, also known as the active part of the circuit. A crucial aspect of the design is the passive part which includes capacitors, inductors, and resistors. Nevertheless, this thesis does not provide information regarding the passive part, yet this issue is fairly covered in literature [4, 6-9]. Mostly, the published work in the passive domain put the SOI technology ahead for its advantages compared to the bulk technology. On top of these advantages, for RF applications, comes the capability of the SOI technology to suppress crosstalk due to the presence of the buried oxide [4]. In a world in which the trend is to put all the system on one chip, the isolation between the digital circuitry and the analog and RF circuitry is crucial. Apparently, the SOI technology takes the lead in this domain.

8.2 APPLICABILITY

Is it necessary to follow such an extensive characterization cycle for an optimized use of MOSFETs in RF circuits?

The answer comes intuitively from the standard specifications of basic RF circuits. These specifications can be found in any data sheet or website of a commercial product. Taking the low noise amplifier (LNA) as an example, the standard specifications are listed below along with the type of characterization needed to each specification:

- Operating DC Voltage (dc)
- Current Consumption (dc)
- Gain (ac)
- Gain Flatness (ac)
- Frequency Range (RF)
- Input/Output Return Loss (RF)
- Noise Figure (noise)
- 1-dB Compression Point (nonlinearity)
- Operating Temperature (temperature)

Hence, it is clear that, to cover all the aspects of the design of the LNA, an extensive characterization approach, such as the one presented in this thesis, is highly needed. The same applies for other RF circuits like the voltage controlled oscillator (VCO), the power amplifier (PA), the RF antenna switch (as presented in chapter 7), etc.

If a hypothetical example of the design of a LNA is considered, the characterization approach presented in this thesis would take the form presented in the next section.

8.3 THE DESIGN OF A LOW NOISE AMPLIFIER

Based on the proposed characterization approach, the RF circuit designer is basically faced by four phases of design/choice:

- The wafer used in the fabrication of the circuit: bulk or SOI.
- The technology applied: partially-depleted, fully-depleted, or DNW protected (bulk).
- The structure of the transistor: floating-body, body-tied, or dynamicthreshold.
- The channel engineering employed: classical (uniformly doped) or graded channel.

Combining the specifications of the LNA and the above list of choices, a proposed design scheme would be:

- SOI wafer to overcome parasitics in bulk especially for better performance of crosstalk.
- A partially-depleted technology which is more stable and cheaper than fully-depleted technology. Based on Table 8.2 and Table 8.3 PD also shows better stability with temperature especially for subthreshold slope, $I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio (including higher values at room temperature), and leakage current (although FD shows lower leakage at room temperature). In addition, PD features a better location of ZTC points with respect to V_T which promotes it for a better LVLP operation.
- Considering the two structures of the PD SOI devices presented in the different tables at the end of this chapter, a choice of FB structure is evident especially for the better stability with temperature.
- The graded channel MOSFET (GCMOS) is a natural choice for a LNA circuit since it outperforms the classical nMOS in nearly all aspects of operation and for the operation of the LNA it is crucial for the following reasons (comparing two structures of the same drawn channel length):
 - Higher drive current
 - Higher transconductance
 - Higher $g_m/I_{\rm DS}$ ratio
 - Higher Early voltage $V_{\rm EA}$
 - Higher intrinsic gain A_{v0}
 - Higher cutoff frequencies f_T and f_{max}
 - Maximum of g_m , f_T , and f_{max} occurring at lower V_{GS} which promotes LVLP operation
 - Kink effect occurring at higher values of $V_{\rm DS}$
 - Better linearity $(IP_3 \text{ and } P_{1-dB})$

230 CONCLUSIONS

- Lower minimum noise figure $NF_{\rm min}$ and closer optimum reflection coefficient $\Gamma_{\rm opt}$ from the 50 Ω cycle on the smith chart (for better matching)

Therefore, based on the characterization approach proposed in this thesis, the decision of a RF circuit designer for a LNA circuit could be a SOI wafer using partially-depleted technology and a floating-body structure with a graded channel engineering.

8.4 CONCLUSION

In this thesis, an extensive characterization approach is introduced to cover the gap between the devices domain and the circuits domain. The characterization flow starts by a complete dc characterization which constitutes the basis for the all the next characterization steps. The figures of merit for the different aspects of dc operation serve later as the building blocks for the figures of merit for the other regimes of operation. The next step is to characterize the device for ac operation. The following step is the RF characterization which covers the cutoff frequencies extraction (current gain cutoff frequency and maximum oscillation frequency) and the extraction of the elements of the small-signal equivalent circuit (extrinsic and intrinsic elements). The extraction of these elements in the OFF state then in the ON state of the transistor helps to acquire a deep understanding of the RF behavior. In addition, these elements form a main part in the figures of merit of the high frequency noise behavior of the transistor. The correct understanding of the small-signal equivalent circuit also provides the grounds for an ameliorated low voltage low power operation, which is the next step in the characterization flow. A new approach for an enhanced design near and below threshold voltage is introduced through the low voltage low power characterization step. The optimized operation of the transistor has a lower limit and an upper limit. The upper limit, the nonlinearities of the transistor, forms the next step in the proposed characterization approach. The nonlinear characterization is crucial for some key RF circuits like the RF antenna switch. The lower limit for the transistor operation is the noise. The high frequency noise behavior is the next characterization step. The high frequency noise is a wide and deep research area that requires experimental, analytical, and modeling aspects of analysis. The accurate noise characterization assists in a successful design of main RF circuits like the low noise amplifier.

In order for this characterization flow to be efficient, it is completely based on accurate on-wafer measurements for a wide range of MOSFET transistors (different wafers, technologies, structures, and channel engineering schemes). The measurements and the characterization flow also cover a wide range of temperature (25° C to 250° C) and a wide range of frequency (dc to 40 GHz). The measured characteristics are then used to extract the different figures of merit (for the different characterization steps) and the elements of the small-signal equivalent circuit (for high frequency operation). For generality, a standard and simple

equivalent circuit is used for all the devices presented in this thesis. The results show the successful application of this equivalent circuit with the exception of one structure (DTMOS) which needs a more complicated equivalent circuit to account for its specific physical structure.

The extensive characterization flow is then evaluated through a detailed study of a key RF circuit; the RF antenna switch. Another evaluation is established by considering a hypothetical design example of a low noise amplifier in the sense of summarizing the concept of this characterization approach.

A similar characterization approach, not included in this thesis, could also be proposed for the passive part of the RF circuit; resistors, inductors, and capacitors.

The proposed characterization approach is, therefore, able to provide the RF circuit designer with the required information for the best choice of the transistors to be used in a specific circuit for a specific application.

	DNW Bulk			P	D SOI	FD S	OI 1			
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT		
	Foundry X							Foundry Y		
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15		
$W(\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5		
$N_{\rm finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48		
$t_{\rm Si}(\rm nm)$				150	150	150	40	40		
$t_{\rm ox}(\rm nm)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	2.5	2.5		
$t_{\rm box}({\rm nm})$	—			400	400	400	145	145		

Table 8.1.: A summary of the devices considered in this work. (a) Group 1

(b)	Group	2
-----	-------	----------

		FD SC)I 2		PD SOI 2			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
	Foundr	yY, d	Foundry Z					
$L \ (\mu m)$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
$W(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3	
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12	
$t_{\rm Si}({\rm nm})$	40	40	40	40	100	100	100	
$t_{\rm ox}(\rm nm)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	4.5	4.5	4.5	
$t_{\rm box}(\rm nm)$	145	145	145	145	400	400	400	

232

	. ,	-					
D	NW Bul	k]	PD SOI :	1	FD S	OI 1
FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	\mathbf{FB}	BT
0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
0.24	0.28	0.26	0.35	0.36	0.34	0.46	0.47
-0.4	-0.63	-0.54	-0.63	-0.68	-0.54	-0.55	-0.53
780.8	777.1		627.3	700.2		390	405.1
-1.05	-1.03		-0.68	-0.79		-0.54	-0.57
77.6	81.2	75	75.3	82	74.3	71.5	75.1
0.33	0.33	0.26	0.32	0.31	0.23	0.55	0.28
8.6	7.1	6.4	11	2.6	8.1	3.4	2.6
8.5	9.5	5.4	10.9	7.2	5.3	15.7	2.7
0.43	0.43	0.4	0.55	0.55	0.52	0.63	0.64
0.27	0.27	0.28	0.4	0.41	0.3	0.48	0.49
0.16	0.16	0.12	0.15	0.14	0.22	0.15	0.15
0.19	0.15	0.14	0.2	0.19	0.18	0.17	0.17
0.03	-0.01	0.02	0.05	0.05	-0.04	0.02	0.02
0.32	0.51	0.51	0.45	0.63	0.52	0.56	0.6
0.19	0.3	0.3	0.27	0.42	0.35	0.36	0.39
0.13	0.21	0.21	0.18	0.21	0.17	0.2	0.21
0.1	0.21	0.25	0.16	0.23	0.16	0.21	0.24
-0.03	0	0.04	-0.02	0.02	-0.01	0.01	0.03
	$\left \begin{array}{c} \text{FB} \\ 0.13 \\ 2 \\ 30 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 0.24 \\ -0.4 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 780.8 \\ -1.05 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 77.6 \\ 0.33 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 8.6 \\ 8.5 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 0.43 \\ 0.27 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 0.16 \\ 0.19 \\ 0.03 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 0.32 \\ 0.19 \\ \end{array}\right \\ \begin{array}{c} 0.13 \\ 0.1 \\ \end{array}\right $	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0.13 & 0.13 & 0.13 \\ 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 30 & 30 & 30 \\ \end{vmatrix} $	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Table 8.2.: A summary of the dc characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

(a) Group 1

(b) Group 2										
		FD S	OI 2			PD SOI 2				
	nMOS	GC	\mathbf{GC}	\mathbf{GC}	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC			
$\overline{L \ (\mu m)}$	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5			
$W ~(\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3			
$N_{ m finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12			
V_T (V)	0.65	0.64	0.7	0.74	0.55	0.46	0.51			
$\Delta V_T \ (\mathrm{mV}/^{o}\mathrm{C})$	-0.58	-0.63	-0.64	-0.7	-0.93	-0.85	-0.87			
$g_{m,\max} \ (mS/mm)$	453.8	421.3	394.2	362.9	217	261.6	205.8			
$\Delta g_{m,\max}$	-0.57	-0.47	-0.54	-0.56	-0.33	-0.44	-0.37			
$\overline{S \text{ (mV/dec)}}$	58.5	55	54.8	67.9	76.58	109	88.11			
$\Delta S(\%/^{o}\mathrm{C})$	0.33	0.35	0.42	0.42	0.36	0.34	0.33			
$\overline{I_{\text{Leakage}} (\text{mA/mm}) (\times 10^{-6})}$	4.95	0.18	0.13	0.19						
$\Delta I_{\text{Leakage}} (\times 10^{-3})$	10.3	13.4	12.3	10.5						
$\overline{ZTC_{IDS}}$ (V) (Lin.)	0.83	0.8	0.89	0.93	0.7	0.56	0.61			
ZTC_{gm} (V) (Lin.)	0.66	0.65	0.71	0.73	0.495	0.43	0.44			
$\overline{ZTC_{IDS} - ZTC_{qm}}$ (Lin.)	0.17	0.18	0.18	0.2	0.205	0.13	0.17			
$ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$ (Lin.)	0.18	0.19	0.18	0.19	0.15	0.1	0.1			
$ZTC_{gm} - V_T$ (Lin.)	0.01	0.01	0.01	-0.01	-0.055	-0.03	-0.07			
$\overline{ZTC_{IDS}}$ (V) (Sat.)	0.59	0.56	0.58	0.77	0.42	0.55	0.79			
ZTC_{gm} (V) (Sat.)	0.44	0.46	0.56	0.68	0.33	0.42	0.59			
$\overline{ZTC_{IDS} - ZTC_{gm}}$ (Sat.)	0.15	0.1	0.02	0.09	0.09	0.13	0.2			
$ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$ (Sat.)	0.12	0.01	-0.11	-0.08	-0.06	0.02	0.16			
$ZTC_{gm} - V_T$ (Sat.)	-0.03	-0.09	-0.13	-0.17	-0.15	-0.11	-0.04			

Table 8.2.: A summary of the dc characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

	D	DNW Bulk			D SOI 1		FD S	OI 1
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W \; (\mu \mathrm{m})$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
N_{finger}	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^6)$	0.0013	0.0071	0.08	0.0075	0.081	95	0.15	0.7
$I_{\rm OFF} \ ({\rm mA/mm}) \ (\times 10^{-6})$	250000	39000	45000	33000	2400	3100	2800	610
$\Delta I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^{-3})$	-5.6	-8.5	-8	-7.7	-10.8	-9.8	-13.3	-12.5
$\Delta I_{\rm OFF} (\times 10^{-3})$	5	8.1	7.8	7.3	10.7	10.2	12.8	12.1
$V_{\rm EA} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} ({\rm V})$	5.1	7.72		8.55	24.2		10.56	8.44
$\Delta V_{\rm EA} \ ({\rm mV}/{^o{\rm C}})$	-4.3	-4.8		-21.1	-64.2		-17.6	-10.7

Table 8.3.: A summary of the analog characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

(a) Group 1

(b) Grou	ıр 2	2
----------	------	---

		FD S	OI 2		PD SOI 2			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
L (µm)	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
$W \; (\mu \mathrm{m})$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3	
N_{finger}	32	48	48	48	12	12	12	
$\overline{I_{\text{ON}}\text{-to-}I_{\text{OFF}}}$ (×10 ⁶)	48	720	2500	1900	3.6	0.292	5.56	
$I_{\rm OFF} \ ({\rm mA/mm}) \ (\times 10^{-6})$	11	0.62	0.15	0.23	58.8	910	28	
$\Delta I_{\rm ON}$ -to- $I_{\rm OFF}~(\times 10^{-3})$	-18.2	-19.9	-19.9	-18.3	-11.9	-8.82	-12.3	
$\Delta I_{\rm OFF} (\times 10^{-3})$	17.6	19.3	18.9	16.2	10.77	7.87	11.78	
$V_{\rm EA} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} ({\rm V})$	4.45	7.78	8.92	14.8	6.5	11.34	17.34	
$\Delta V_{\rm EA} \ ({\rm mV}/{^o{\rm C}})$	-7.7	12.9	54.7	76	7.1	-7.9	-29.6	

CONCLUSION

			()					
	DNW Bulk]	PD SOI 1		FD S	OI 1
	\mathbf{FB}	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
$N_{ m finger}$	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
$f_T @ 25^{o}C (GHz)$	70.8	70.1	24.9	71.8	55.1	62.2	83.4	73.8
$f_{\rm max}$ @ 25°C (GHz)	211.2	140.3	77.8	200.2	98.6	103.8	114.8	86
$f_{\rm max}/f_T @ 25^o{\rm C}$	2.98	2	3.12	2.79	1.79	1.67	1.37	1.17
$\Delta f_T \; (\mathrm{GHz}/^{o}\mathrm{C})$	-0.12	-0.11	-0.08	-0.092	-0.062	-0.09	-0.16	-0.08
$\Delta f_{\rm max} ~({\rm GHz}/{^o{\rm C}})$	-0.56	-0.36	0.7	-0.42	-0.22	0.003	-0.02	-0.19
$R_{\rm g} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} (\Omega)$	5	4.7		5.72	6.96		5.99	8.61
$R_{\rm d} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} (\Omega)$	2.5	2.6		2.3	2.35		1.76	1.78
$R_{\rm s} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} (\Omega)$	1.72	1.85		1.3	1.63		1.3	1.29
$\overline{\Delta R_{\rm g} (\Omega/^{o} {\rm C}) (\times 10^{-3})}$	7	6		1.1	20		5	20
$\Delta R_{\rm d} \ (\Omega/^{o}{\rm C}) \ (\times 10^{-3})$	5	3		5	4		0.7	0.04
$\Delta R_{\rm s} (\Omega/^{o} {\rm C}) (\times 10^{-3})$	4	4		3	3		4	3

Table 8.4.: A summary of the RF characteristics: cutoff frequencies and extrinsic resistances. (a) Group 1

·		(b)	Group 2	-				
-		FD S	OI 2		PD SOI 2			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
L (µm)	0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
$W (\mu m)$	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3	
$N_{\rm finger}$	32	48	48	48	12	12	12	
$f_T @ 25^o C (GHz)$	49.4	23.4	16.2	13.4	16.8	20.3	17.3	
$f_{\rm max} @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$	108.7	57.3	38.2	27.4	50.2	65.8	50.6	
$f_{\rm max}/f_T @ 25^{o}{\rm C}$	2.2	2.45	2.36	2.04	2.99	3.2	2.92	
$\Delta f_T \; (\mathrm{GHz}/^{o}\mathrm{C})$	-0.069	-0.018	-0.012	-0.02	-0.035	-0.042	-0.037	
$\Delta f_{\rm max} \; ({\rm GHz}/{^o \rm C})$	-0.21	-0.096	-0.07	-0.06	-0.11	-0.14	-0.02	
$R_{\rm g} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} (\Omega)$	10.9	5.31	4.23	3.56	5.9	5.03	4.65	
$R_{\rm d} @ 25^{o} { m C} (\Omega)$	3.41	4.11	4.29	3.73	6.1	9.2	10.03	
$R_{\rm s} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} (\Omega)$	1.63	1.87	1.17	0.43	6.65	6.6	12.3	
$\overline{\Delta R_{\rm g} (\Omega/^{o} \rm C) (\times 10^{-3})}$	-0.3	0.3	0.2	-10	-10	-12	-18	
$\Delta R_{\rm d} (\Omega/^{o}{\rm C}) (\times 10^{-3})$	12	11	15	16	30	35	45	
$\Delta R_{\rm s} \ (\Omega/^{o}{\rm C}) \ (\times 10^{-3})$	7.7	7.4	12	11	28	24	52	

Table 8.4.: A summary of the RF characteristics: cutoff frequencies and extrinsic resistances.

CONCLUSION 237

Table 8.5.: A	summary	of the	\mathbf{RF}	characteristics:	intrinsic	elements.

		()						
	DNW Bulk			I	PD SOI 1	FD SOI 1		
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	\mathbf{FB}	BT
L (µm)	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.15
$W (\mu m)$	2	2	2	2	2	2	5	5
N_{finger}	30	30	30	30	30	30	48	48
OFF state								
$C_{\rm gs}$ @ 25°C (fF/mm)	649.7	653.3		618.9	952.3		319.4	408.3
$C_{\rm gd} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} ({\rm fF/mm})$	543.6	529.2		557	510.3		329.6	349.4
$C_{\rm ds}$ @ 25°C (fF/mm)	447	497.9		339.5	677.9		146	158.5
$\Delta C_{\rm gs} \; ({\rm fF/mm/^oC})$	0.96	1.04		0.28	0.5		-0.09	0.03
$\Delta C_{\rm gd} ~({\rm fF/mm/^oC})$	0.03	0.045		0.11	0.036		0.054	0.08
$\Delta C_{\rm ds} \ ({\rm fF/mm/^oC})$	0.45	0.35		0.21	0.37	—	0.008	-0.036
ON state								
$C_{\rm gs}$ @ 25°C (fF/mm)	1107	1096		1032	1742		958.9	
$C_{\rm gd} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} ~({\rm fF/mm})$	610.9	598.9		597.8	644.4		374.4	358.6
$C_{\rm ds} @ 25^{o} {\rm C} ~({\rm fF/mm})$	310.2	419.2		870.6	2232		532.5	880.9
$G_{mi} @ 25^{\circ} C (mS/mm)$	852.3	855.9		703.7	776.8		452.1	500.8
$G_{\rm dsi}$ @ 25°C (mS/mm)	176.8	167		174	139.6		94.36	89.2
$\Delta C_{\rm gs} \; ({\rm fF/mm/^oC})$	-0.015	-0.04		0.07	-0.12		-5.9	
$\Delta C_{\rm gd} \ ({\rm fF}/{\rm mm}/{^o{\rm C}})$	0.05	0.066		0.055	0.14		0.24	0.11
$\Delta C_{\rm ds} \; ({\rm fF/mm/^oC})$	0.24	0.02		-0.65	1.95		-1.67	-3
$\Delta G_{mi} (mS/mm/^{o}C)$	-0.89	-0.93		-0.57	-0.7		-0.65	-1
$\Delta G_{\rm dsi} \ ({\rm mS/mm/^oC})$	-0.07	-0.057		-0.07	-0.005		-0.02	-0.04

(a) Group 1

	FD S	SOI 2		PD SOI 2				
nMOS	\mathbf{GC}	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC		
0.15	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		
2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	3.3	3.3	3.3		
32	48	48	48	12	12	12		
584.8	556.4	566.1	647.8	598.2	598.2	813.9		
568.6	470.2	481	510.9	468.7	481.4	472.1		
150.9	105.6	84.26	86.34	258.1	262.4	268.1		
0.1	0.11	0.16	0.23	0.81	0.85	0.93		
0.09	0.064	0.073	0.07	0.2	0.17	0.18		
-0.08	-0.07	-0.07	-0.09	0.56	0.57	0.36		
1313	1658	2124	3047	2248	2023	1748		
507.6	924.5	1295	1655	514.7	800.5	871.2		
245.8	679.3	826.2	285.8	318.1	457.7	350.2		
537	449.9	391.3	412.4	280.6	315.4	253.1		
80.92	47.09	25.42	12.99	20.65	20.61	9.807		
-0.16	-0.64	-0.47	0.023	0.26	1.1	0.7		
0.072	0.25	0.38	0.62	0.18	0.42	0.4		
-0.74	-1.73	-2.08	-0.369	0.51	1.37	0.8		
-0.43	-0.34	-0.31	-0.55	-0.53	-0.56	-0.43		
-0.025	0.04	0.037	0.026	-0.02	0.029	0.033		
	$\left \begin{array}{c} 0.15\\ 2.5\\ 32\\ \end{array}\right \\ 584.8\\ 568.6\\ 150.9\\ \hline\\ 0.1\\ 0.09\\ -0.08\\ \hline\\ 1313\\ 507.6\\ 245.8\\ 537\\ 80.92\\ \hline\\ -0.16\\ 0.072\\ -0.74\\ -0.43\\ \end{array}\right $	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0.15 & 0.24 & 0.35 \\ 2.5 & 2.5 & 2.5 \\ 32 & 48 & 48 \\ \end{vmatrix} $	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		

Table 8.5.: A summary of the RF characteristics: intrinsic elements.

(b) Group 2

239

· ·		(a) Grou	ıp 1					
	DNW Bulk			F	PD SOI 1		FD SOI 1	
	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT	DT	FB	BT
$\overline{\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}}=0.6~\mathbf{V}~\mathrm{and}~\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{GS}}=\mathbf{ZTC}_{\mathbf{IDS}}}$								
$g_{m,\max} \ (mS/mm)$	720.8	712.8		691.7	631.6		350	350
$V_{\rm GS} @ g_{m,\max} ({\rm V})$	0.76	0.79		0.83	0.85		1	1
ZTC_{IDS} (V)	0.46	0.52	0.51	0.58	0.64	0.52	0.65	0.66
$ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$	0.24	0.22	0.25	0.29	0.24	0.16	0.3	0.3
$\Delta f_T @ ZTC_{IDS} (GHz/^{o}C)$	-0.066	-0.09		-0.082	-0.073		-0.075	-0.04
$P_{dc} @ ZTC_{IDS} @ 25^{\circ}C (mW/mm)$	52.79	65.76		57.14	73.98		28.7	28.5
$P_{dc} @ ZTC_{IDS} @ 200^{\circ}C (mW/mm)$	52.79	65.76		57.14	73.98		28.7	28.5
$\overline{\Delta f_T @ g_{m,\max} (\mathrm{GHz}/^o\mathrm{C})}$	-0.12	-0.11		-0.092	-0.08		-0.11	-0.12
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} @ 25^{o}C (mW/mm)$	174.4	175.4		148.9	157.3		102.1	98.2
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} @ 200^{o} C (mW/mm)$	138.1	144.8		125	136.8		81.4	79
$\overline{\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}} = 0.6~\mathbf{V}~\mathbf{and}~\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{GS}} < \mathbf{ZTC_{gm}}}$								
ZTC_{qm} (V)	0.29	0.33	0.33	0.39	0.44	0.44	0.42	0.43
$ZTC_{gm} - V_T$	0.07	0.03	0.07	0.10	0.04	0.08	0.07	0.07
ZTC_{ft} (V)	0.28	0.33	0.3	0.4	0.42	0.46	0.46	0.485
$\overline{V_{\rm GS}}$ (V)	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
$f_T @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$	9.2	7.07	3.73	10.54	6.58	9.53	10.91	11.6
$f_{\rm max} @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$	35	24.66	10.75	37.33	22.24	20.25	17.1	12.48
$P_{dc} @ 25^{o} C (mW/mm)$	11.81	1.71	2.83	2.367	1.567	3.97	0.862	0.668
$\Delta f_T \; (\text{GHz}/^{o}\text{C})$	0.041	0.05	0.034	0.029	0.032	0.038	0.027	0.017
$\Delta f_{\rm max} \; ({\rm GHz}/{^o{\rm C}})$	0.044	0.09	0.05	0.055	0.039	0.11	0.013	0.024
$\Delta P_{dc} \; (\mathrm{mW/mm/^{o}C})$	0.045	0.035	0.045	0.034	0.038	0.063	0.008	0.0073

Table 8.6.: A summary of the LVLP characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

	(0)	Group 2						
		FD S	OI 2		PD SOI 2			
	nMOS	GC	GC	GC	nMOS	FB GC	BT GC	
$\overline{\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}}=0.6~\mathbf{V}~\mathrm{and}~\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{GS}}=\mathbf{ZTC}_{\mathbf{IDS}}}$								
$g_{m,\max} \ (mS/mm)$	429.4	379.2	327.4	300.5	181.6	219.3	202.1	
$V_{\rm GS} @ g_{m,\max} ({ m V})$					1.4	1.1	1.1	
ZTC_{IDS} (V)					0.72	0.69	0.79	
$ZTC_{IDS} - V_T$					0.24	0.16	0.16	
$\Delta f_T @ ZTC_{IDS} (GHz/^{o}C)$					-0.011	-0.031	-0.02	
$P_{dc} @ ZTC_{IDS} @ 25^{o}C (mW/mm)$					8.86	15.1	13.96	
$P_{dc} @ ZTC_{IDS} @ 200^{\circ}C (mW/mm)$					8.86	15.1	13.96	
$\Delta f_T @ g_{m,\max} (\text{GHz}/^{o}\text{C})$					-0.03	-0.038	-0.03	
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} @ 25^{o}C (mW/mm)$					77.1	66.4	43.6	
$P_{dc} @ g_{m,\max} @ 200^{o} C (mW/mm)$					50.2	45.9	31.7	
$\overline{\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}} = 0.6~\mathbf{V}~\mathrm{and}~\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{GS}} < \mathbf{ZTC_{gm}}}$								
ZTC_{gm} (V)					0.5	0.43	0.51	
$ZTC_{gm} - V_T$					0.02	-0.1	-0.12	
ZTC_{ft} (V)					0.56	0.47	0.56	
$\overline{V_{\rm GS}}$ (V)						0.2	0.3	
$f_T @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$						0.24	0.03	
$f_{\rm max} @ 25^{o} C (GHz)$						19.94		
$P_{dc} @ 25^{o} C (mW/mm)$						0.019	0.007	
$\Delta f_T \; (\mathrm{GHz}/^o\mathrm{C})$						0.006	0.006	
$\Delta f_{\rm max} ~({\rm GHz}/{^o{ m C}})$	_					0.2		
$\Delta P_{dc} \; (\mathrm{mW/mm/^{o}C})$	—					0.001	0.002	

Table 8.6.: A summary of the LVLP characteristics of the devices considered in this work.

(b) Group 2

241

242 CONCLUSIONS

Bibliography

- J.-P. Colinge, Silicon-on-Insulator Technology: Materials to VLSI, 3rd ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- [2] D. Flandre, J.-P. Raskin, and D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, "SOI CMOS transistors for RF and microwave applications," *International Journal of High Speed Electronics and Systems*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1159–1248, 2001.
- [3] D. Flandre, J.-P. Colinge, J. Chen, D. de Ceuster, J.-P. Eggermont, L. Ferreira, B. Gentinne, P. G. A. Jespers, A. Viviani, R. Gillon, J.-P. Raskin, A. Vander-Vorst, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, and F. Silveira, "Fully-depleted SOI CMOS technology for low-voltage low-power mixed digital/analog/microwave circuits," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Pro*cessing, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 213–228, Dec. 1999.
- [4] J.-P. Raskin, A. Viviani, D. Flandre, and J.-P. Colinge, "Substrate crosstalk reduction using SOI technology," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 2252–2261, Dec. 1997.
- [5] R.-H. Yan, A. Ourmazd, and K. F. Lee, "Scaling the Si MOSFET: From bulk to SOI to bulk," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 39, no. 7, p. 1704.
- [6] D. Lederer, R. Lobet, and J.-P. Raskin, "Enhanced high resistivity SOI wafers for RF applications," in *Proc. of International IEEE SOI Conference*, Charleston, South Carolina, Oct. 4–7, 2004, pp. 46–47.
- [7] D. Lederer and J.-P. Raskin, "RF performance of a commercial SOI technology transferred onto a passivated HR silicon substrate," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1664–1671, Jul. 2008.
- [8] F. Gianesello, D. Gloria, C. Raynaud, S. Montusclat, S. Boret, C. Clement, P. Benech, J. M. Fournier, and G. Dambrine, "State of the art 200 GHz passive components and circuits integrated in advanced thin SOI CMOS technology on high resistivity substrate," in *Proc. of International IEEE* SOI Conference, Charleston, South Carolina, Oct. 2–5, 2006, pp. 121–122.
- [9] F. Gianesello, D. Gloria, C. Raynaud, S. Montusclat, S. Boret, and P. Touret, "On the design of high performance RF integrated inductors on high resistively thin film 65 nm SOI CMOS technology," in *Proc. IEEE Topical meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'08)*, San Diego, California, Jan. 23–25, 2008, pp. 98–101.

APPENDIX A DE-EMBEDDING: S-PARAMETERS

In on-wafer measurements, an accurate de-embedding step is crucial. As shown in section 3.1.1 and section 3.1.2, the reference plane of measurement is set at the pads structure after the calibration step and the de-embedding step is needed to move it to the edges of the transistor or the device-under-test (DUT) as shown in Fig. A.1.



Fig. A.1.: Reference planes after a successful calibration and de-embedding procedures (Source: Agilent Technologies [1]).

Literature is rich in research work that deal with the de-embedding subject for on-wafer measurements [2–14]. In this thesis, a simple open-short de-embedding is employed. The results are quite satisfactory, therefore there is no need for a more complicated procedure.

244 DE-EMBEDDING: S-PARAMETERS

The same test structure used for the on-wafer measurements of the DUT is repeated twice, once with the transistor removed whereas the rest of the test structure remains the same (open structure) and once with the transistor removed whereas the pads are shorted together (short structure), as shown in Fig. A.2. The S-parameters of these test structures are then measured at every frequency point and each temperature point used in the measurement of the DUT. The simple procedure shown in Fig. A.2 is then applied in order to remove the parallel parasitic impedance and the series parasitic admittance shown in Fig. A.3.



Fig. A.2.: A schematic illustration of the de-embedding procedure.



Fig. A.3.: A schematic illustration of the parallel parasitic impedances and the series parasitic admittances associated with the pad structure.

The de-embedding procedure illustrated in Fig. A.2 is summarized in the following simple steps:

- The total (measured) S-parameters, S_{Total} , are transferred into a Y-parameters representation Y_{Total}^{1} .
- The measured Y-parameters of the open structure is then subtracted from Y_{Total} .

$$Y_{\rm DUT-Open} = Y_{\rm Total} - Y_{\rm Open} \tag{A.1}$$

- The resulting Y-parameters $(Y_{\text{DUT-Open}})$ are then converted into Z-parameters $(Z_{\text{DUT-Open}})$.
- The de-embedded Z-parameters of the DUT are then obtained by subtracting the measured Z-parameters of the short structure from $Z_{\text{DUT-Open}}$:

$$Z_{\rm DUT} = Z_{\rm DUT-Open} - Z_{\rm Short} \tag{A.2}$$

¹For all the transformations between different electrical representation (i.e. S, Y, Z, or A) see Appendix C.

– The de-embedded Z-parameters can be easily converted to any other representation (S, Y, etc).

Bibliography

- [1] Agilent Technologies. [Online]. Available: http://www.agilent.com
- [2] H. Cho and D. E. Burk, "A three-step method for the de-embedding of high-frequency S-parameter measurements," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1371–1375, Jun. 1991.
- [3] J. Weng, "A universal de-embedding procedure for the "on-wafer" GHz probing," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 1703–1705, Sep. 1995.
- [4] T. E. Kolding, "On-wafer calibration techniques for Giga-Hertz CMOS measurements," in *Poc. IEEE 1999 Int. Conf. on Microelectronic Test Structures*, vol. 12, Mar. 1999, pp. 105–110.
- [5] E. P. Vandamme, D. M. M.-P. Schreurs, and C. van Dinther, "Improved three-step de-embedding method to accurately account for the influence of pad parasitics in silicon on-wafer RF test-structures," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 737–742, Apr. 2001.
- [6] M.-H. Cho, G.-W. Huang, K.-M. Chen, and A.-S. Peng, "A novel cascadebased de-embedding method for on-wafer microwave characterization and automatic measurement," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, vol. 2, Jun. 6–11, 2004, pp. 1237–1240.
- [7] R. Torres-Torres, R. Murphy-Arteaga, and J. A. Reynoso-Hernández, "Analytical model and parameter extraction to account for the pad parasitics in RF-CMOS," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1335–1342, Jul. 2005.
- [8] L. F. Tiemeijer, R. J. Havens, A. B. M. Jansman, and Y. Bouttement, "Comparison of the "pad-open-short" and "open-short-load" deembedding techniques for accurate on-wafer RF characterization of high-quality passives," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 723–729, Feb. 2005.
- [9] M.-H. Cho, G.-W. Huang, C.-S. Chiu, and K.-M. Chen, "Unified parasitic de-embedding methodology of on-wafer multi-port device characterization," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, Jun. 12–17, 2005, pp. 1307–1310.
- [10] M.-H. Cho, G.-W. Huang, Y.-H. Wang, and L.-K. Wu, "A scalable noise de-embedding technique for on-wafer microwave device characterization," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 649–651, Oct. 2005.

- [11] K. Wu and L. Li, "Numerical calibration and de-embedding techniques for CAD and equivalent circuit models of electromagnetic structures," *Microwave Review*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 7–19, Jun. 2005.
- [12] M.-H. CHO, Y.-H. WANG, and L.-K. WU, "Scalable short-openinterconnect S-parameter de-embedding method for on-wafer microwave characterization of silicon MOSFETs," *IEICE TRANS. ELECTRON.*, vol. E90-C, no. 9, pp. 1708–1714, Sep. 2007.
- [13] X. Wei, G. Niu, S. L. Sweeney, Q. Liang, X. Wang, and S. S. Taylor, "A general 4-port solution for 110 GHz on-wafer transistor measurements with or without impedance standard substrate (ISS) calibration," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 10, pp. 2706–2714, Oct. 2007.
- [14] M. Ferndahl, C. Fager, K. Andersson, P. Linnér, H.-O. Vickes, and H. Zirath, "A general statistical equivalent-circuit-based de-embedding procedure for high-frequency measurements," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 56, no. 12, pp. 2692–2700, Dec. 2008.

APPENDIX B DE-EMBEDDING: NOISE

The measurement of the high frequency noise using the Tuner method deliver four parameters: NF_{\min} , R_n , and $Y_{opt} = G_{opt} + jB_{opt}$ (see section 6.4.2 for details). In the case of on-wafer measurements, the pad-parasitics network highly affects the noise parameters measured using the Tuner method. The calibration of the Tuner (presented in Appendix G) along with the calibration of the vector network analyzer (VNA) and the de-embedding of the measured S-parameters (see Appendix A) are not enough to remove this pad-parasitics network from the four noise parameters. The procedure described in this Appendix is used in this work to achieve the de-embedding of the noise parameters.

B.1 THEORETICALLY

This section gives the theoretical basis for the noise de-embedding procedure. The test structure used to measure RF transistors is presented in Fig. B.1 which illustrates the RF measurement pads (Ground-Signal-Ground GSG pads). For the current used technologies, the pads are usually 50 μ m x 50 μ m. This big area of metal layers highly affect the four noise parameters. This test structure can be represented as 2-port network as shown in Fig. B.2.



Fig. B.1.: The test structure for on-wafer measurements of RF transistors including the transistor and the Ground-Signal-Ground (GSG) pads.

250 DE-EMBEDDING: NOISE



Fig. B.2.: The 2-port representation of the test structure.

As explained in chapter 6, the output network of the pads ($Open_{out}$) does not affect the noise performance of the DUT. Therefore, the input network ($Open_{in}$) only is considered in this de-embedding procedure.

To get $(Open_{in})$, the complete Open is split into two parts $(Open_{in})$ and $(Open_{out})$ using the network shown in Fig. B.3.



Fig. B.3.: The 2-port representation of the test structure.

If the admittance of the complete Open structure is given by

$$Y_{\rm Open} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.1)

therefore, the input part Y_{OpenIn} is given by

$$Y_{\text{Open}_{\text{IN}}} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_1 + 2Y_2 & -2Y_2 \\ -2Y_2 & 2Y_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} - Y_{12} & 2Y_{12} \\ 2Y_{12} & -2Y_{12} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.2)

Next, the noise de-embedding is based on the relation

$$[C_{A_{\text{total}}}] = [A_{\text{OpenIN}}] [C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}] [A_{\text{OpenIn}}]^{+} + [C_{A_{\text{OpenIN}}}]$$
(B.3)

where $C_{A_{\text{total}}}$ is the total chain matrix (DUT+pads), $A_{\text{Open}_{\text{IN}}}$ is the chain representation of $Y_{\text{Open}_{\text{IN}}}$, $C_{A_{\text{Open}_{\text{IN}}}}$ is the chain matrix of the input network of the open structure, and $C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}$ is the chain matrix of the DUT only (or the deembedded chain matrix). The later, $C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}$, is the only unknown in the previous equation since the other variables are calculated from measured data as follows [1]:

 $C_{A_{\text{total}}}$ is calculated directly from the measured four noise parameters:

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{A_{\text{total}}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{e^2} & \overline{ei^*} \\ \overline{e^*i} & \overline{i^2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= 4kT_0\Delta f \begin{bmatrix} R_n & \frac{NF_{\min} - 1}{2} - R_n Y_{\text{opt}}^* \\ \frac{NF_{\min} - 1}{2} - R_n Y_{\text{opt}} & R_n |Y_{\text{opt}}|^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.4)

To calculate $C_{A_{\text{OpenIN}}}$, $C_{Y_{\text{OpenIN}}}$ is first calculated from:

$$C_{Y_{\text{OpenIN}}} = 2kT\Re\left\{Y_{\text{OpenIN}}\right\}$$
(B.5)

then $C_{A_{\text{OpenIn}}}$ is calculated as (see Appendix D)

$$\left[C_{A_{\text{OpenIN}}}\right] = \left[T\right] \left[C_{Y_{\text{OpenIN}}}\right] \left[T\right]^{+} \tag{B.6}$$

where [T] in this case is equal to:

$$[T] = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A_{12} \\ 1 & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.7)

Therefore, $C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}$ is directly calculated from:

$$[C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}] = [A_{\text{Open}_{\text{In}}}]^{-1} \left\{ [C_{A_{\text{total}}}] - [C_{A_{\text{Open}_{\text{In}}}}] \right\} \left\{ [A_{\text{Open}_{\text{IN}}}]^{+} \right\}^{-1}$$
(B.8)

PRACTICALLY **B.2**

The steps of the de-embedding procedure is summarized as follows:

- Y_{Open} and A_{Open} are calculated from measured S_{Open}^{1} .
- $-C_{A_{\text{total}}}$ is calculated from measured noise parameters using (B.4).
- $-C_{A_{\text{total}}}$ is converted to $C_{Y_{\text{total}}}$ using Appendix D.
- $-C_{Y_{\text{Open}}}$ is calculated using (B.5).
- $\begin{array}{l} \ C_{Y_{\rm DUT}} = C_{Y_{\rm total}} C_{Y_{\rm Open}}.^2 \\ \ C_{Y_{\rm DUT}} \ \text{is converted to } C_{A_{\rm DUT}} \ \text{using Appendix D.} \end{array}$
- The de-embedded four noise parameters are then calculated using (B.4) as follows: For simplicity, the de-embedded $C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}$ is called C_A . Therefore,

$$R_n = \frac{C_{A_{11}}}{4kT} \tag{B.9}$$

¹For all transformations between different electrical representation (i.e. S, Y, Z, or A) see Appendix C.

²If a short structure is available, an extra step can be added where $C_{Y_{\text{DUT}}}$ is converted to $C_{Z_{\text{DUT}}}$ which is then used to get $C'_{Z_{\text{DUT}}} = C_{Z_{\text{DUT}}} - C_{Z_{\text{Short}}}$.

252 DE-EMBEDDING: NOISE

$$\left|Y_{\rm opt}\right|^2 = \frac{C_{A_{22}}}{4kTR_n} \tag{B.10}$$

$$B_{\rm opt} = \frac{\Im \{C_{A_{12}}\} - \Im \{C_{A_{21}}\}}{8R_n kT}$$
(B.11)

$$G_{\rm opt} = \sqrt{\left|Y_{\rm opt}\right|^2 - B_{\rm opt}^2} \tag{B.12}$$

$$NF_{\min} = 2\left[\frac{C_{A_{12}}}{4kT} + R_n Y_{\text{opt}}^*\right] + 1$$
 (B.13)

B.3 INTRINSIC NOISE PARAMETERS

In chapter 6, the four noise parameters are presented in their "intrinsic" form, which is the noise parameters of the transistor after removing the effect of the thermal noise of the extrinsic resistances $R_{\rm g}$, $R_{\rm s}$, and $R_{\rm d}$. The procedure to calculate these intrinsic noise parameters is very similar to the procedure explained above for the de-embedding of the noise parameters. It simply consists of:

- The extrinsic impedance matrix Z_{ext} is calculated as:

$$Z_{\text{ext}} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}} & R_{\text{s}} \\ R_{\text{s}} & R_{\text{d}} + R_{\text{s}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.14)

- The impedance matrix of the DUT Z_{DUT} is calculated from the deembedded measured S-parameters of the DUT.
- The intrinsic impedance matrix of the DUT Z_{int} is calculated as $Z_{int} = Z_{DUT} Z_{ext}$. This is needed for the T matrix required from the transfer from $C_{A_{DUT}}$ to $C_{Z_{DUT}}$ in the next step.
- The chain matrix of the DUT (calculated from (B.4) and using the deembedded noise parameters) $C_{A_{\text{DUT}}}$ is converted into the impedance representation $C_{Z_{\text{DUT}}}$.
- The intrinsic impedance matrix $C_{Z_{int}}$ is calculated from

$$C_{Z_{\text{int}}} = C_{Z_{\text{DUT}}} - 4kTZ_{\text{ext}} \tag{B.15}$$

- The intrinsic chain matrix $C_{A_{int}}$ is then calculated from $C_{Z_{int}}$.
- The intrinsic noise parameters are calculated from $C_{A_{\text{int}}}$ using (B.9) to (B.13).

Bibliography

 H. Hillbrand and P. H. Russer, "An efficient method for computer aided noise analysis of linear amplifier networks," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 235–238, Apr. 1976.

APPENDIX C TRANSFORMATION OF ELECTRICAL MATRICES

Any electrical two-port network, as the one shown in Fig. C.1, can be represented in one of the following representations:

- Impedance representation (Z-parameters):

$$V_1 = Z_{11}I_1 + Z_{12}I_2$$

$$V_2 = Z_{21}I_1 + Z_{22}I_2$$
(C.1)

- Admittance representation (Y-parameters):

$$I_1 = Y_{11}V_1 + Y_{12}V_2$$

$$I_2 = Y_{21}V_1 + Y_{22}V_2$$
(C.2)

- Chain representation (ABCD-parameters or simply A-parameters):

$$V_1 = A_{11}V_2 - A_{12}I_2$$

$$I_1 = A_{21}V_2 - A_{22}I_2$$
(C.3)

- Scattering representation (S-parameters):

$$b_1 = S_{11}a_1 + S_{12}a_2 b_2 = S_{21}a_1 + S_{22}a_2$$
(C.4)

The passage from one electrical representation to another is assured through simple mathematical calculations as shown in the table presented at the end of this appendix [1–3]. Notice that, all matrices are normalized with respect to the characteristic impedance Z_0 , i.e. $Z = Z(\text{from table}) \times Z_0$, $Y = Y(\text{from table}) \times \frac{1}{Z_0}$, etc. Also, the source and load impedances are assumed to be equal to Z_0 .

254 TRANSFORMATION OF ELECTRICAL MATRICES



Fig. C.1.: Two-port network representations.

Bibliography

- R. Marks and D. Williams, "A general waveguide circuit theory," Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 533–562, Sep./Oct. 1992.
- [2] D. Pozar, Microwave Engineering, 3rd ed. Wiley, 2004.
- [3] D. A. Frickey, "Conversions between S, Z, Y, h, ABCD, and T parameters which are valid for complex source and load impedances," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 205–211, Feb. 1994.
| | [S] | [Z] | [Y] | [A] |
|-----|---|---|---|---|
| [S] | $\begin{bmatrix} S_{11} & S_{12} \\ S_{21} & S_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ | $S_{12} = \frac{2Z_{12}}{(Z_{11}+1)(Z_{22}+1) - Z_{12}Z_{21}}$ $S_{21} = \frac{2Z_{21}}{(Z_{11}+1)(Z_{22}+1) - Z_{12}Z_{21}}$ | $S_{11} = \frac{(1 - Y_{11})(1 + Y_{22}) + Y_{12}Y_{21}}{(1 + Y_{11})(1 + Y_{22}) - Y_{12}Y_{21}}$ $S_{12} = \frac{-2Y_{12}}{(1 + Y_{11})(1 + Y_{22}) - Y_{12}Y_{21}}$ $S_{21} = \frac{-2Y_{21}}{(1 + Y_{11})(1 + Y_{22}) - Y_{12}Y_{21}}$ $S_{22} = \frac{(1 + Y_{11})(1 - Y_{22}) + Y_{12}Y_{21}}{(1 + Y_{11})(1 + Y_{22}) - Y_{12}Y_{21}}$ | $S_{12} = \frac{2(A_{11}A_{22} - A_{12}A_{21})}{A_{11} + A_{12} + A_{21} + A_{22}}$ $S_{21} = \frac{2}{A_{11} + A_{12} + A_{21} + A_{22}}$ |
| [Z] | $Z_{11} = \frac{(1+S_{11})(1-S_{22})+S_{12}S_{21}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Z_{12} = \frac{2S_{12}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Z_{21} = \frac{2S_{21}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Z_{22} = \frac{(1-S_{11})(1+S_{22})+S_{12}S_{21}}{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}$ | $\begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} & Z_{12} \\ Z_{21} & Z_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\frac{1}{\det\left(Y\right)} \begin{bmatrix} Y_{22} & -Y_{12} \\ -Y_{21} & Y_{11} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\frac{1}{A_{21}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & \det(A) \\ 1 & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ |
| [Y] | $Y_{11} = \frac{(1 - S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}}{(1 + S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Y_{12} = \frac{-2S_{12}}{(1 + S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Y_{21} = \frac{-2S_{21}}{(1 + S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}}$ $Y_{22} = \frac{(1 + S_{11})(1 - S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}}{(1 + S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) - S_{12}S_{21}}$ | $\frac{1}{\det\left(Z\right)} \begin{bmatrix} Z_{22} & -Z_{12} \\ -Z_{21} & Z_{11} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\frac{1}{A_{21}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{22} & -\det(A) \\ -1 & A_{11} \end{bmatrix}$ |
| [A] | $A_{11} = \frac{(1+S_{11})(1-S_{22})+S_{12}S_{21}}{2S_{21}}$ $A_{12} = \frac{(1+S_{11})(1+S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}{2S_{21}}$ $A_{21} = \frac{(1-S_{11})(1-S_{22})-S_{12}S_{21}}{2S_{21}}$ $A_{22} = \frac{(1-S_{11})(1+S_{22})+S_{12}S_{21}}{2S_{21}}$ | $\frac{1}{Z_{21}} \begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} & \det(Z) \\ 1 & Z_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\frac{1}{Y_{21}} \begin{bmatrix} -Y_{22} & -1\\ -\det\left(Y\right) & -Y_{11} \end{bmatrix}$ | $\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \qquad $ |

APPENDIX D

The different representations of noise sources results in different noise correlation matrix representations as summarized in Table D.1 by Hillbrand and Russer in 1976 [1]:

	Admittance Representation	Impedance Representation	Chain Representation	
Equivalent Noise Circuit	$V_1 \underbrace{I_1}_{I_1 \bigoplus I_1} \underbrace{I_2}_{I_1} \underbrace{I_2}_{I_2} V_2$	$V_1 \underbrace{I_1 \underbrace{V_1}_{I_1} \underbrace{Noiseless}_{I_2} V_2}_{I_1} \underbrace{I_2}_{I_2} V_2$	$V_1 \underbrace{I_1 \underbrace{V_1}_{I_1 \bigoplus}}_{I_1} \underbrace{Noiseless}_{I_2} \underbrace{I_2}_{I_2} V_2$	
Correlation Matrix	$C_Y = \begin{bmatrix} C_{i_1 i_1^*} & C_{i_1 i_2^*} \\ C_{i_2 i_1^*} & C_{i_2 i_2^*} \end{bmatrix}$	$C_{Z} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{v_{1}v_{1}^{*}} & C_{v_{1}v_{2}^{*}} \\ C_{v_{2}v_{1}^{*}} & C_{v_{2}v_{2}^{*}} \end{bmatrix}$	$C_A = \begin{bmatrix} C_{vv^*} & C_{vi^*} \\ C_{iv^*} & C_{ii^*} \end{bmatrix}$	
Electrical Matrix	$Y = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	$Z = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} & Z_{12} \\ Z_{21} & Z_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	

Table D.1.: Noise correlation matrices of different representations.

The manipulation of complex noisy two-ports requires the transformation from one representation to another in order to simplify and solve the noise problem as explained in section 6.2.2 [1]. The transformation is achieved through a

258 NOISE MATRICES

		From $[C]$			
		Admittance	Impedance	Chain	
C']	Admittance	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} -Y_{11} & 1\\ -Y_{21} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	
To $[C']$	Impedance	$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{11} & Z_{12} \\ Z_{21} & Z_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & -Z_{11} \\ 0 & -Z_{21} \end{bmatrix}$	
	Chain	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A_{12} \\ 1 & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & -A_{11} \\ 0 & -A_{21} \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	

Table D.2.: Transformation from one representation of noise correlation matrix to another.

simple equation:

$$[C'] = [T] [C] [T]^+$$
(D.1)

where [C'] is the new required noise correlation matrix representation, [C] is the original noise correlation matrix, [T] is the transformation matrix, and the superscript + denotes the Hermitian conjugate (transposed conjugate) of the transformation matrix. Table D.2 summarizes the different transformation matrices needed for the different possible transformation schemes [1].

Bibliography

 H. Hillbrand and P. H. Russer, "An efficient method for computer aided noise analysis of linear amplifier networks," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 235–238, Apr. 1976.

APPENDIX E ANALYTICAL FORMULA FOR THE INTRINSIC ASSOCIATED GAIN

A derivation is presented hereafter for the intrinsic associated gain G_{ass} which depends only on the intrinsic characteristics of the device [1].

The general equation that describes associated gain in FETs was previously introduced as [2]

$$G_{\rm ass} = \frac{|Y_{21}|^2 \,\Re(Y_{\rm opt})}{|Y_{11} + Y_{\rm opt}|^2 \,\Re(Y_{\rm out})} \tag{E.1}$$

with $Y_{\rm out}$ being the output admittance and expressed as

$$Y_{\rm out} = \frac{Y_{11}Y_{22} - Y_{12}Y_{21} + Y_{22}Y_{\rm opt}}{Y_{11} + Y_{\rm opt}}$$
(E.2)

The intrinsic admittance matrix of the transistor can be calculated from Fig. E.1 as

$$Y = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} j\omega \left(C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd} \right) & -j\omega C_{\rm gd} \\ G_{\rm mi} & G_{\rm dsi} + j\omega \left(C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(E.3)

whereas $Y_{\text{opt}} = G_{\text{opt}} + jB_{\text{opt}}$ can be expressed as [3]

$$G_{\rm opt} = \omega C_{\rm gg} \sqrt{\frac{R}{P}} \sqrt{1 - C^2}$$
(E.4)

$$B_{\rm opt} = \omega C_{\rm gg} \left(C \sqrt{\frac{R}{P}} - 1 \right) \tag{E.5}$$

where $C_{\rm gg} = C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd}$.

259

260 ANALYTICAL FORMULA FOR THE INTRINSIC ASSOCIATED GAIN



Fig. E.1.: Small-signal equivalent circuit used to characterize devices in high frequency regime of operation.

It is easier to analyze (E.1) part by part:

$$|Y_{11} + Y_{\text{opt}}|^2 = |j\omega C_{\text{gg}} + G_{\text{opt}} + jB_{\text{opt}}|^2$$

$$= \omega^2 C_{\text{gg}}^2 \frac{R}{P}$$
(E.6)

$$Y_{\rm out} = G_{\rm dsi} + \frac{j\omega C_{\rm gd}G_{\rm mi}}{j\omega C_{\rm gg} + G_{\rm opt} + jB_{\rm opt}} \times \frac{G_{\rm opt} - j\left(\omega C_{\rm gg} + B_{\rm opt}\right)}{G_{\rm opt} - j\left(\omega C_{\rm gg} + B_{\rm opt}\right)}$$
(E.7)

Therefore

$$\Re(Y_{\text{out}}) = \frac{G_{\text{dsi}}\omega^2 C_{\text{gg}}^2 \frac{R}{P} + \omega^2 C_{\text{gd}} C_{\text{gg}} G_{\text{mi}} C \sqrt{\frac{R}{P}}}{\omega^2 C_{\text{gg}}^2 \frac{R}{P}}$$

$$\approx \frac{C_{\text{gd}}}{C_{\text{gg}}} \frac{G_{\text{mi}} C}{\sqrt{\frac{R}{P}}}$$
(E.8)

Then, applying (E.4)–(E.8) into (E.1), the intrinsic associated gain can be expressed as

$$G_{\rm ass} = \frac{f_T}{f} \frac{\sqrt{1 - C^2}}{C} \frac{C_{\rm gg}}{C_{\rm gd}} \tag{E.9}$$

Bibliography

- M. Emam, P. Sakalas, D. Vanhoenacker-Janvier, J.-P. Raskin, T. C. Lim, and F. Danneville, "Experimental investigation of RF noise performance improvement in graded channel MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 1516–1522, Jul. 2009.
- [2] G. Niu, J. D. Cressler, S. Zhang, A. Joseph, and D. Harame, "Noise-gain tradeoff in RF SiGe HBTs," in *Digest of Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF'01)*, Ann Arbor, MI, Sep. 12–14, 2001, pp. 187–191.
- [3] F. Danneville, G. Pailloncy, A. Siligaris, B. Iniguez, and G. Dambrine, "High frequency noise of SOI MOSFETs: Performances and limitations," in *Proc.* SPIE, vol. 5844, May 2005, pp. 185–199.

APPENDIX F F_{50} CALCULATION

F.1 SIMPLIFIED EXPRESSION

In this derivation, the effect of pad capacitances is neglected. The noise figure of a system with a source of admittance $Y_{\rm s} = G_{\rm s} + jB_{\rm s}$ [1, 2]

$$F = NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_s} \left| Y_s - Y_{opt} \right|^2 \tag{F.1}$$

where

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + 2R_n \left(G_{\text{opt}} + G_{\text{cor}}\right) \tag{F.2}$$

For a source of 50 Ω impedance ($Y_{\rm s}=G_0=20$ mS), the noise figure F_{50} is given by [3]

$$F_{50} = NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} |G_0 - Y_{opt}|^2$$

= $NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \left[(G_0 - G_{opt})^2 + B_{opt}^2 \right]$
= $1 + 2R_n G_{opt} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \left[G_0^2 + G_{opt}^2 - 2G_0 G_{opt} + B_{opt}^2 \right]$
= $1 + R_n G_0 + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \left[G_{opt}^2 + B_{opt}^2 \right]$ (F.3)

where the equivalent noise resistance is given by [4]

$$R_{n} = \frac{(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_{m} + P}{g_{m}}$$
(F.4)

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\text{opt}}^{2} + B_{\text{opt}}^{2} &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left[PR \left(1 - C^{2}\right) \\ &+ \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right] \\ &+ \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right)^{2} \\ &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left[PR \left(1 - C^{2}\right) \\ &+ \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m} + C^{2}PR + P^{2} - 2CP\sqrt{PR}\right] \\ &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left[P \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right] \\ &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) \left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right] \\ &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) \left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right] \\ &= \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\text{gg}}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) \left[P + (R_{\text{g}} + R_{\text{s}}) g_{m}\right] \end{aligned}$$
(F.5)

$$\frac{R_n}{G_0} \times \left(G_{\text{opt}}^2 + B_{\text{opt}}^2\right) = \frac{\omega^2 C_{\text{gg}}^2}{G_0 g_m} \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)$$
(F.6)

Therefore, the simplified form of ${\cal F}_{50}$ can be written as:

$$F_{50} = 1 + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m}\right)G_0 + \frac{\omega^2 C_{\rm gg}^2}{G_0 g_m}\left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)$$
(F.7)

In this case, the effect of pad capacitances, $C_{\rm p},$ can be accounted for, approximatively, by adding another term to F_{50} as follows:

$$F_{50} = 1 + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m}\right)G_0 + \frac{\omega^2 C_{\rm gg}^2}{G_0 g_m}\left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) + \frac{P}{Gm}G_{\rm cor} \ (F.8)$$

where

$$G_{\rm cor} \approx \Re \left(Y_{11} \right) \approx R_{\rm i} C_{\rm tot}^2 \omega^2$$
 (F.9)

with

$$C_{\rm tot} = C_{\rm gg} + C_{\rm p} \tag{F.10}$$

However, this is not an exact representation of the effect of the pad capacitance on the noise figure.

F.2 EXACT EQUATION (WITH PADS)

Starting by the general equation of F_{50}

$$F_{50} = NF_{\min} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} |Y_s - Y_{opt}|^2$$
(F.11)

The right hand side can be analyzied as follows:

$$|Y_{\rm s} - Y_{\rm opt}|^2 = (G_0 - G_{\rm opt})^2 + (\omega C_{\rm p} - B_{\rm opt})^2$$

= $G_0^2 - 2G_0G_{\rm opt} + G_{\rm opt}^2 + \omega^2 C_{\rm p}^2 + B_{\rm opt}^2 - 2\omega C_{\rm p}B_{\rm opt}$ (F.12)

$$R_n = R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m} \tag{F.13}$$

$$G_{\rm opt} = \frac{\omega C_{\rm tot}}{\left[P + (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_m\right]} \sqrt{PR \left(1 - C^2\right) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_m}$$
(F.14)

$$B_{\rm opt} = \frac{\omega C_{\rm tot}}{\left[P + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}\right)g_m\right]} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right) \tag{F.15}$$

$$G_{\rm opt}^{2} = \frac{\omega^{2} C_{\rm tot}^{2}}{\left[P + (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_{m}\right]^{2}} \left[PR\left(1 - C^{2}\right) + \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_{m}\right]$$
(F.16)

$$B_{\rm opt}^2 = \frac{\omega^2 C_{\rm tot}^2}{\left[P + (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s}) g_m\right]^2} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right)^2$$
(F.17)

$$NF_{\min} = 1 + 2R_n G_{\text{opt}} \tag{F.18}$$

Therefore, substituting (F.12)–(F.18) in (F.11):

$$F_{50} = 1 + 2R_n G_{\text{opt}} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \left(G_0^2 - 2G_0 G_{\text{opt}} + G_{\text{opt}}^2 + \omega^2 C_p^2 + B_{\text{opt}}^2 - 2\omega C_p B_{\text{opt}} \right)$$

$$= 1 + 2R_n G_{\text{opt}} + R_n G_0 - 2R_n G_{\text{opt}} + \frac{R_n}{G_0} G_{\text{opt}}^2 + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \omega^2 C_p^2 + \frac{R_n}{G_0} B_{\text{opt}}^2$$

$$- \frac{R_n}{G_0} 2\omega C_p B_{\text{opt}}$$

$$= 1 + \left(R_g + R_s + \frac{P}{g_m} \right) G_0 + \frac{R_n}{G_0} \left(G_{\text{opt}}^2 + B_{\text{opt}}^2 + \omega^2 C_p^2 - 2\omega C_p B_{\text{opt}} \right)$$

(F.19)

Taking into account that:

$$\frac{R_n}{G_0} \times \left(G_{\text{opt}}^2 + B_{\text{opt}}^2\right) = \frac{\omega^2 C_{\text{tot}}^2}{G_0 g_m} \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right)$$
(F.20)

266 F_{50} CALCULATION

and

$$\frac{R_n}{G_0} \times \left(\omega^2 C_p^2 - 2\omega C_p B_{opt}\right) = \frac{\omega^2 C_p^2 \left[P + (R_g + R_s) g_m\right]}{G_0 g_m} - \frac{2\omega C_p \left[P + (R_g + R_s) g_m\right]}{G_0 g_m} \times \frac{\omega C_{tot}}{\left[P + (R_g + R_s) g_m\right]} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right) \\
= \frac{\omega^2 C_p^2 \left[P + (R_g + R_s) g_m\right]}{G_0 g_m} - \frac{2\omega^2 C_{tot} C_p}{G_0 g_m} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right) \\
= \frac{\omega^2}{G_0 g_m} \left\{C_p^2 \left[P + (R_g + R_s) g_m\right] - 2C_p C_{tot} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right)\right\} \tag{F.21}$$

The exact formula of F_{50} with the pad capacitances taken into account is written as:

$$F_{50} = 1 + \left(R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s} + \frac{P}{g_m}\right)G_0 + \frac{\omega^2}{G_0 g_m} \left\{C_{\rm tot}^2 \left(P + R - 2C\sqrt{PR}\right) + C_{\rm p}^2 \left[P + (R_{\rm g} + R_{\rm s})g_m\right] - 2C_{\rm p}C_{\rm tot} \left(C\sqrt{PR} - P\right)\right\}$$
(F.22)

Bibliography

- H. Rhote and W. Dahlke, "Theory of noisy fourpoles," Proc. IRE, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 811–818, Jun. 1956.
- [2] J. Lange, "Noise characterization of linear twoports in terms of invariant parameters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 37–40, Jun. 1967.
- [3] G. Dambrine, H. Happy, F. Danneville, and A. Cappy, "A new method for on wafer noise measurement," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 375–381, Mar. 1993.
- [4] F. Danneville, G. Pailloncy, A. Siligaris, B. Iniguez, and G. Dambrine, "High frequency noise of SOI MOSFETs: Performances and limitations," in *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 5844, May 2005, pp. 185–199.

APPENDIX G NOISE MEASUREMENTS: TUNER CALIBRATION

The measurements of the four noise parameters $(NF_{\rm min}, R_n, \text{and } Y_{\rm opt})$ presented in chapter 6 are achieved using the Tuner method (see section 6.4.2). The tuner noise measurement system utilized in this work is represented in Fig. G.1. The main equipments employed are a HP4142B semiconductor parameter analyzer, a HP8510C vector network analyzer (VNA) controlled by ICCAP 2006B software, a mechanical tuner system from Maury Microwaves in the 1-8-GHz frequency range, an Agilent E440A noise meter, and a noise source.



Fig. G.1.: Tuner measurement setup

In order to calibrate such a complicated system, a special procedure has to be followed:

- (1) Make one-port (S-parameters) calibration using the VNA connected at (a) and connecting the three standards *open*, *short*, and *load* at the reference plane "1".
- (2) Repeat step (1) but this time by connecting the three standards at "2".

- (3) Subtract (1) from (2) to obtain the S-parameters of the "RF switch" separately.
- (4) Connect the noise source to measure its losses. Note that the Agilent E440A biases the noise source in pulses, whereas we need to measure the reflection of the noise source in "Hot" state, thus we use another voltage source to bias the noise source at 28 V.
- (5) Connect the VNA to (b) to start calibrating the other path as in steps (1) and (2).
- (6) To characterize cable (c), we measure the S-parameters (one-port calibration) from (d) till (b) then from (d) till DUT, then subtract to get cable (c) separately.
- (7) Repeat step (7) for the input path.
- (8) Perform a two-port S-parameters calibration for the whole system.
- (9) Perform a noise calibration versus frequency (12 impedance points).